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CABLEVISIÓN HOLDING S.A.  

 

2017 ANNUAL REPORT  

 

 

 

To the Shareholders of  

 

Cablevisión Holding S.A.  

 

We hereby submit for your consideration the Annual Report and Exhibit, the Parent Company Only 

Balance Sheet, the Parent Company Only Comprehensive Statement of Income, the Parent Company 

Only Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity and the Parent Company Only Statement of Cash 

Flows and Notes of Cablevisión Holding S.A. (hereinafter, “the Company”, “Cablevisión Holding” or 

“CVH”) for fiscal year No. 1 ended December 31, 2017 and the Consolidated Financial Statements as of 

December 31, 2017.  

 

The main subsidiary of the Company is Cablevisión S.A. (hereinafter, “Cablevisión” or “CVSA”), a 

telecommunication operator.  

 

 

 

2017 MACROECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT   

 

During 2017, the performance of the Argentine economy was marked by, on the one hand, the gradual 

progress in its normalization process, and, on the other hand, the typical political conditionings of an 

election year. This dichotomy contributed to the partial accomplishment, during this second year of 

administration, of the results originally envisaged.   

 

A glimpse at the events that took place during 2017 shows that the economy made headway with the 

disinflationary process and grew again, avoiding the exacerbated growth of primary public spending in an 

election year.  

 

In order to achieve the foregoing, the large fiscal gap in Argentine pesos was financed with external 

indebtedness. This scenario, far from being innocuous, generated a slide of the Ps./USD exchange rate 

lower than the inflation rate, which, even though it served as an anchor, it did so at the expense of 

triggering a marked deterioration of the external front.  

 

The performance of the price index at national level surveyed by the INDEC throughout the year 

represents the extent of the progress made in that disinflationary process. In fact, the price index closed 

the year at 24.8%, which represents a clear decrease compared to the 36.6% recorded in 2016. However, 

that percentage outstripped the upper level of the target established by the Government (15% with +/-2 

percentage points), which brought to light both the difficulties to meet the targets adjusting relative prices 

(basically public utilities tariffs), and the limited scope of the Central Bank's reference rate to sterilize the 

monetization of the fiscal deficit and achieve the targeted inflation levels. 

 

During 2017, amid this disinflationary path achieved under a scenario marked by high interest rates in 

Argentine Pesos, the GDP grew 2.9% compared to 2016. Said figure, slightly lower than the projected 

level of 3.5%, reverses the 2.2% decline recorded last year. This was influenced by a certain level of 

recovery of the purchasing power of salaries and pensions and the resurgence of bank lending. The key 

role played by gross domestic investment -it grew slightly over three times as much as the level recorded 

by the GDP- provided sustainability and partially explains the growth prospects for 2018.  

 

The gradual recovery allowed the Government, for the first time since 2004, to maintain the growth rate 

of primary spending lower than that of the revenues, thus reducing tax pressure and primary spending as a 

percentage of the GDP. As a result, Argentina's primary fiscal and financial imbalances closed the year at 

around 3.9% and 6.1% of the GDP. The first of these figures, which does not include the imbalances of 

the provinces or the quasi-fiscal deficit of the Argentine Central Bank, was 0.4 percentage points below 

the 4.3% level recorded in 2016 (which incorporated the extraordinary revenues from the tax 

regularization scheme for ~1,3% of the Gross Product.) However, and as a result of larger interest 
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payments derived from the growing indebtedness, the total fiscal deficit closed the year with a year-on-

year increase of 0.2 percentage points.   

 

On the other hand, the level of public debt continued to show an upward trend, reaching by the end of the 

year approximately USD 320.0 Bn, accounting for 58% of the GDP (28.5% when considering only the 

net debt with third parties). The level of indebtedness of the Argentine Central Bank, as a result of the 

issuance of Bills, followed this trend and closed the year at almost Ps. 1.2 Bn (~11% of the GDP and 

+66% above the level recorded by the end of 2016).  

 

The high fiscal imbalance had a significant impact on the external front, which showed a premature 

deterioration in this early stage of recovery mainly as a result of the delay in the adjustment of the 

Ps./USD exchange rate. This deterioration was due to the lack of dynamism of exports, the exponential 

surge of imports, the higher interest payments on sovereign debt and the strong demand for foreign 

currency for savings and tourism purposes. In this sense, the trade balance showed a sharp and premature 

reversal, from a surplus of almost USD 2.0 Bn to a deficit of USD 8.5 Bn from one year to the other. The 

above worsened the current account deficit, which closed the year at around USD 28.0 Bn (4.5% of the 

GDP.)   

 

The above suggests that the unwinding of many of the existing imbalances will take more time than 

expected. Therefore, two relevant considerations concerning the current strategy should not be 

overlooked. First, it should be noted that the current cycle of indebtedness (which, if naturalized, could be 

dangerous) only delays the unavoidable adaptation of the economy to its ability of genuinely generating 

foreign exchange and its necessary fiscal balance.  

 

Secondly, it should be noted that even though the possibility of leveraging the economy allows the 

country to spread over time the adjustment of relative prices, the convergence towards a balanced position 

in public accounts is essential to make sustainable progress along a foreseeable path of disinflation. In 

fact, as history shows, the mere presence of high and sustained levels of fiscal deficits, whatever its 

source of financing, always represents a potential source of imbalances for the rest of the economic 

fundamental variables.  

 

Perspectives for the Upcoming Year 

 

Argentina still has to face significant challenges to make headway in its normalization process. In 

addition, apart from the above-mentioned progress (including the favorable results of the election), 

Argentina can benefit from the impetus from the Brazilian economy, which is expected to consolidate the 

slight recovery achieved during the year, with a projected growth of around 3% (the highest of the last 

five years.) 

 

The main challenge for the economy in 2018 will be to make headway in the scheduled reduction of the 

primary fiscal deficit by one point of the GDP, trying to preserve the economy within the virtuous lane of 

growth, disinflation and generation of genuine employment, while preventing the Ps./USD exchange rate 

from continuing to part from its balance. 

 

The projected unwinding of the fiscal imbalance seeks to achieve in 2018 a primary fiscal deficit of 

around 3.2% of the GDP (almost a percentage point below the level estimated for 2017.) This fiscal 

effort, partially offset with higher interest payments, would drive the fiscal imbalance to 5.5% of the GDP 

(0.6 percentage points below the level recorded in 2017.)  

 

In this sense, it should be noted that this overspending above revenues involves financing needs for 

approximately USD 30.0 Bn (including direct aid from the Central Bank to the National Treasury for Ps. 

140.0 Bn.) On the other hand, the public debt/GDP ratio is expected to stabilize by 2020, according to 

official estimates. It would grow again coming close to 60% of the GDP for the first time since 2007 

(~31% corresponding to third parties.) 

 

In order to meet this fiscal target, the rate at which primary public spending grows must remain below 

that of the revenues. According to the Government, this would be achieved with the scheduled cutting of 

economic subsidies (as from this year, the Government introduced a reduction in transport subsidies in 

the city of Buenos Aires), such as the impact of the recently enacted social security reform.   

The Government will have to sustain in time the growth of the GDP in order to boost revenues and 

gradually reduce the high level of participation of primary spending in the economy. In retrospect, it 
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should be noted that, even when the last monthly market expectations survey developed by the Argentine 

Central Bank anticipates an increase that would be more moderate than official projections, GDP growth 

will represent, for the second consecutive year, a turning point in the behavior pattern observed from 

2011 to date, of exacerbated increases in election years followed by subsequent downturns as a result of 

the need to adjust those excesses in non-election years.  

 

Lastly, it should be noted that almost by the end of the year under review, the Government decided to 

loosen up inflation targets for the following three years 2018-2020, so as to bring them into line with the 

projected path of tax convergence and their own private expectations. The target set for 2018 in particular 

is 15% and even when it is 5 percentage points above the previous figure of 10% (+/- 2 percentage 

points), the Government still faces the challenge of maintaining inflation levels above those expected by 

the private sector.  

 

This redesign of the inflationary path expected for the following years suggests the government's decision 

to gradually redirect the course of the economy towards a new balance that will be less restrictive as far as 

domestic interest rates are concerned and more competitive in terms of the exchange rate. 

 

 

 

 

REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 2017  

 

Decree No. 267/15, issued on December 29, 2015 and published in the Official Gazette on January 4, 

2016, created the National Communications Agency (ENACOM, for its Spanish acronym) as a 

decentralized and autarchic agency under the jurisdiction of the Ministry of Communications and vests 

the new agency with authority to enforce Laws Nos. 26,522 and 27,078, as amended and regulated.  

 

Accordingly, the licenses for physical link and for radio-electric link subscription television services held 

by Cablevisión and its subsidiaries that had been granted under Laws Nos. 22,285 and 26,522 are now 

called “Registrations” of a Licencia Única Argentina Digital. 

 

As established by this amendment (Section 7 of Decree No. 267 which amends, among others, Section 10 

of Law No. 27,078), all the services exploited by cable operators (such as Cablevisión) are now governed 

by the Digital Argentina Act.  

 

Subsequently, the ENACOM issued Resolution No. 1,394/16 which approved the new General Rules for 

Physical Link Subscription Television Services and/or Radio-electric Link Subscription Television 

Services. The new General Rules order providers of both types of services to guarantee their compliance 

with a programming grid in each Coverage Area.  

 

The Executive Branch issued Decree No. 1,340/16 on December 30, 2016 and published it on the Official 

Gazette on January 2, 2017. Among other things, the Decree: 

 

• Provides for the protection for fifteen years of last mile fixed NGN for broadband Internet services that 

may be deployed by the licensees of TIC services. 

 

• Orders the issuance of regulations for the following purposes: 

 

o To call for a Public Bid for the allocation of new frequency bands for mobile services. 

 

o To ensure the re-allocation of radio-electric spectrum frequencies with economic compensation 

to render mobile services or fixed wireless services with LTE or higher technologies. 

 

To allocate radio electric spectrum frequencies on demand, imposing compensation, deployment and 

coverage obligations on the current local or regional providers of TIC services and on the current 

providers of mobile communication services. 

 

• Sets forth that the persons restricted under Decree No. 267/15 from rendering physical or radio-electric 

link subscription television services may request the corresponding registration and begin to provide those 

services in certain areas as from January 1st, 2018. 
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• Recognizes that the holders of satellite link subscription television service licenses that as of 

December 29, 2015 rendered TIC services may maintain the ownership of both services. 

 

• Orders the Ministry of Communications to guarantee the interconnection principles provided 

under the applicable legislation in order to ensure the impartiality, non-discrimination and fair 

competition among providers of mobile services. 

 

Supply Law 

 

The effects of Resolution No. 50/2010 of the Secretariat of Domestic Trade and subsequent resolutions 

issued in connection thereto, which arbitrarily and discriminatorily sought to impose a limit on 

Cablevisión S.A.'s monthly basic subscription price, are still suspended by the decision rendered by the 

Federal Court of the City of Mar del Plata in response to a claim filed by the Argentine Cable Television  

Association.  

 

ENACOM Resolution No. 5644-E/2017 

 

On December 22, 2017, the Board of the Ente Nacional de Comunicaciones (National Communications 

Agency, “ENACOM”, for its Spanish acronym) granted the administrative approval of the transfer of the 

licenses of Cablevisión S.A. (subsidiary of CVH) to Telecom within the framework of the merger process 

between both companies.  

 

The ENACOM held that both companies together exceed the radio electric spectrum limit established 

under effective regulations. Therefore, the merged company must return said excess. 

 

That agency also held that in locations with less than 80,000 inhabitants where it provides television 

services, the merged company may not offer integrated services packages.  

 

In addition, it requested the new company to open its networks in different geographical areas. And it 

held that the merged company may not provide services in locations with less than 80,000 inhabitants. If 

it already provides services in said locations, it may not offer integrated services packages until January 1, 

2019.  

 

THE COMPANY. ORIGIN, EVOLUTION AND PROFILE 

 

Cablevisión Holding is the first Argentine Holding engaged in the development of infrastructure and 

delivery of convergent telecommunications services, focused on Argentina and the region. CVH was 

created on May 1, 2017 as a result of the spin-off process of Grupo Clarín S.A. that began in September 

2016 to promote the specialization of the assets of each company and its subsidiaries, allowing for the 

implementation of differentiated growth strategies and goals for each segment. 

 

At the time of its creation, the company was the holder of 60% of the capital stock of Cablevisión S.A., a 

telecommunications operator which is the main provider subscription television and broadband Internet 

services.  

 

CVH focuses its investments on the telecommunications sector through the distribution of video, voice 

and data under the global technological convergence process, which tends towards the integrated 

provision of TIC services. 

 

Cablevisión Holding S.A. focuses, through its subsidiaries, on investing in technology, developing 

convergent networks and providing competitive high quality integrated services, which will increasingly 

provide universal access to knowledge society. The companies, products and brands of Cablevisión 

Holding are benchmark providers in the telecommunications and content distribution industries. 

 

Cablevisión Holding’s controlling shareholders are Argentine. It competes with major local and 

international players, providing quality services across all the segments in which it operates. 

 

On August 30, 2017, CVH obtained authorization for admission to the public offering regime and the 

listing of its shares on the Buenos Aires Stock Exchange. On February 21, 2018, CVH’s global depositary 
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shares (GDSs) represented by global depositary receipts were admitted to the official list of the United 

Kingdom Listing Authority (“UKLA”) to be traded on the main market of the London Stock Exchange. 

 

 

 

RELEVANT EVENTS 

 

During 2017, Cablevisión S.A., a subsidiary of Cablevisión Holding, was absorbed by Telecom Argentina 

S.A. under a merger by acquisition process. 

 

On June 30, 2017, the directors of both companies approved the pre-merger commitment. The transaction 

sought to be in line with the global convergence process in the provision of fixed and mobile 

telecommunication services and the distribution of video a Internet, known as quadruple play. The 

combination of both companies will boost the investment in more modern mobile technology 

infrastructure, as well as the deployment of a high-speed fiber optic network.  

 

The transaction was consummated through the absorption of Cablevisión S.A. by Telecom Argentina 

S.A., which continued with the operations of both companies, under a merger by acquisition process. The 

terms of the merger were based on the valuation of both companies. Telecom Argentina S.A. (TEO) was 

valued in USD 5.000 billion and Cablevisión was valued in USD 6.111 billion. Therefore, CVH, which at 

the time of the merger was the holder of 60% of the capital stock of Cablevisión, retained 33% of the 

merged company. 

 

In addition, Cablevisión Holding S.A. executed a shareholder agreement with Fintech Advisory Inc. -and 

its subsidiaries- (shareholders of Telecom Argentina S.A.), whereby it is entitled to appoint the majority 

of the members of Telecom Argentina S.A.'s Board of Directors. In addition, on July 7, 2017 it executed a 

share call option agreement (with Fintech) for 6.08% of Telecom Argentina S.A. after the merger. Said 

option was exercised on December 27, 2017. As a result, CVH holds a 39.1% equity interest in Telecom 

Argentina S.A. as from the effective date of the merger, January 1, 2018. 

 

On September 25, 2017, the Company executed a loan agreement with Citibank, N.A., Goldman Sachs 

Bank USA, Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited, Dubai (DIFC) Branch, Itaú Unibanco 

S.A., Nassau Branch for USD 750,000,000. The funds from the loan were used for the payment of the 

Exercise Price under the Option Agreement signed by the Company, Fintech Advisory Inc and its 

subsidiaries –Fintech Telecom LLC and Fintech Media LLC-. The maturity date shall be the earlier of 18 

months counted as from the date of disbursement or the date on which the loan becomes due and payable 

pursuant to acceleration events provided under the loan offer, whichever occurs first.  

 

On December 22, 2017, the Ente Nacional de Comunicaciones (National Communications Agency, 

“ENACOM”, for its Spanish acronym) authorized the transfer to Telecom Argentina S.A. of the licenses 

and frequencies of subscription television, broadband Internet and mobile telecommunications held by 

Cablevisión and approved the change of control in Telecom Argentina. 

 

 

CABLEVISIÓN HOLDING AND ITS BUSINESS AREAS IN 2017 

 

2017 was the first fiscal year of CVH. It was an irregular year of only eight months. During that period, 

the Company focused its businesses on the subscription television, Internet access and IDEN Telephony 

sectors, through the operations of its subsidiary Cablevisión. The business segments in which the 

Company operated are: 

 

a. Cable television and Internet access. 

 

b. IDEN Telephony Services. 

 

c.  Other (income and expense of CVH as a holding company) 

 

Consolidated net sales stood at Ps. 28.399 billion and the consolidated gross financial indebtedness of 

CVH (including sellers financing, accrued interest and fair value adjustments) stood at Ps. 24.648 billion.  
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Telecommunications 

 

As of December 31, 2017, Cablevisión Holding held among its assets Cablevisión S.A. (subsequently 

merged into Telecom Argentina S.A.), one of the main regional cable television and broadband systems. 

This company's revenues mainly derived from monthly subscriptions to cable television service and high-

speed Internet access, through Fibertel. Its revenues also derived from connection and advertising 

charges, sales of premium and pay-per-view programming, digital packages, DVR, HD, VOD (Video On 

Demand) services, the recently launched Flow services, and the magazine. 

 

During 2016, Cablevisión acquired Nextel, a mobile telephony operator. Nextel is now a subsidiary of 

Cablevisión. 

 

As of December 31, 2017, Cablevisión network passed through approximately 7.9 million households and 

provided a bi-directional broadband capacity of more than 750 MHz at approximately 80% of cabled 

households. Through these networks, it not only offers cable and broadband Internet access services, but 

also value-added products and services. 

 

Cablevisión has cable networks in the metropolitan area of Buenos Aires, a unit that includes the City of 

Buenos Aires, suburban areas and that, together with the City of la Plata, make up the “AMBA Region”. 

In addition, it operates in other cities of the provinces of Buenos Aires, Santa Fe, Entre Ríos, Córdoba, 

Corrientes, Formosa, Misiones, Salta, Chaco, Neuquén and Río Negro. Through its subsidiary Telemás 

S.A., the Company provides services in Uruguay. 

 

As of December 31, 2017, Cablevisión had 3,91 million customers in Argentina (2,19 million customers 

received broadband services, and 3,52 million, cable television), and 142,600 in Uruguay. 

 

 

Cable Television, Internet and Mobile Telephony Services 

 

Cablevisión offers a basic service that includes the main signals of the programming grid and premium 

packages. These packages offer additional signals, with exclusive contents not available for the basic 

service, differentiated by genre. Cablevisión’s programming comes from more than 50 providers and 

transmits broadcast television stations of the different locations where it operates. 

 

Cablevisión also offers its subscribers a basic digital package, a High Definition (HD) package and a 

Video On Demand (VOD) package. Cablevisión provides digital services in the AMBA region, in the 

City of La Plata and in the main locations of the provinces. This service enables to broaden the signal 

offering and features an on-screen programming guide.  

 

Since November 2016, Cablevisión has been operating a new on line content service, Flow. The 

distribution of contents is based on IP infrastructure and QAM Digital TV with the possibility of using 

new functionalities such as linear streaming, Start Over, Reverse EPG, Cloud DVR and access to VOD 

contents, among others. Its programming is supported from a new user interface supplemented with 

advanced search and recommendation systems available in any type of device. It is the first platform of 

this kind in Latin America and required heavy investments, not only for its development, but also for the 

adjustments made to the company's networks.  

 

In 2017, Cablevisión participated for the first time in the co-production of audiovisual contents, with the 

series La Fragilidad de los Cuerpos and El Maestro with Turner, Polka and ARTEAR, and Un Gallo 

para Esculapio with Turner, Telefé and Underground. The first episodes were premiered in traditional 

broadcast linear TV and, at the end of those first episodes, Cablevisión offered the full seasons in its on-

demand platforms. 

 

Cablevisión has been offering high-speed cable modem Internet access through its networks under the 

Fibertel brand since September 1997. Cablevisión's Internet access products provide specific solutions, 

virtual private network (VPN), traditional Internet Protocol (IP) connections and corporate products. 

Currently, its subscribers have access to its network at average speeds of 17 megabytes. During 2017, it 

massively launched the 100-mega connection product. In addition, the company launched a mass upgrade  
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campaign called Duplicate, which allowed customers to multiply browsing speed permanently and for 

free. 

 

In 2010, the Company created FiberCorp, Fibertel’s corporate business unit that provides comprehensive 

telecommunications solutions to large, medium-sized and small-sized companies. It has a broad 

communication network for data, voice and video transport. This enables it to provide dedicated Internet 

access solutions, dynamic connections, symmetric access, and IP video surveillance, among other 

services. 

 

Until 2017, CVH provided mobile telecommunications services exclusively through Nextel 

Communications Argentina, a subsidiary of Cablevisión.  Nextel uses, to render its Radio Electric 

Trunking (“SRECE”, for its Spanish acronym), iDEN technology (Integrated Dispatch Enhanced 

Network) developed by Motorola. This allows the company to unify in only one equipment Direct 

Connection services (two-way digital radio), telephone interconnection, messaging, and data 

transmission. As of December 31, 2017, Nextel had 0.5 million postpaid mobile customers. 

 

On June 22, 2016, Nextel acquired, together with Cablevisión, 100% of Fibercomm S.A. and Gridley 

Investments S.A., owners of Trixco S.A., holder of the radio-electric spectrum 900Mhz bands. They also 

acquired all the capital stock of WX Telecommunications LCC and Greenmax Telecommunications LCC, 

which through its subsidiaries rendered wireless telecommunication services and radio-electric spectrum 

services in 2.5 Ghz bands. These transactions allow Nextel to enhance its current services and incorporate 

new value-added services. In 2017, they were absorbed by Nextel. 

 

 

 

Commercialization and Customer Service 

 

Cablevisión uses several market positioning mechanisms. These include promotions, customer service 

center locations, newsletters about the company, institutional information and programming through its 

websites. It advertises its services in the print, audiovisual and digital media and over its own 

broadcasting signals. In addition, it publishes a monthly magazine called “Miradas”, which is sold to a 

portion of its subscribers.  

 

Customer service is provided through an integrated Contact Center that offers round-the-clock support. 

Customers can contact the Company by phone, email and chat through Cablevisión’s website. Subscribers 

may also post their comments via social networks, mainly Twitter and Facebook.  Cablevisión is certified 

under the model of the COPC (Customer Operations Performance Center) standards, which foster 

improvements in the processing of customer's inquiries.  

 

The satisfaction indicators remained above the target of 85%, according to Top Two Box. Its customer 

service is an attribute that differentiates Cablevisión from its competitors and is highly valued by 

customers. 

 

 

 

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY, SUSTAINABILITY AND HUMAN RESOURCES  

 

CVH, through its subsidiary Cablevisión, established certain policies on social corporate responsibility 

and sustainability. During 2017, it continued with the implementation of those policies. CVH believes in 

taking an active role in the contribution that the telecommunications industry can make to the sustainable 

development of Argentina, meeting the expectations of the different stakeholders. 

 

In addition, CVH believes in providing quality and up-to-date information to its investors and to the 

financial market. Through its daily activities, it actively promotes transparency policies and ethical 

standards. 

 

In 2016, Cablevisión formalized its Sustainability Policy. This Policy defines sustainability as a 

management model that promotes respect for people, communities and the environment, ensuring that the 

development of its business contributes to the construction of a fairer, more inclusive and sustainable 

society. In addition, the Company focuses on the capacity of people, organizations and networks to boost 

the creation of shared value through solid, dynamic and sustainable connections. 
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In this framework, and together with the approval of the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals, 

Cablevisión designed “Connections that transform”, its 2016-2020 Sustainability Strategy. This 

commitment is undertaken in 3 ecosystems: 

 

 

1. Economic → NODE: Promote employment and productive development. 

 

2. Social → LAB: Promote digital inclusion and social innovation. 

 

3. Environmental → BIO: Manage the infrastructure and environmental aspects, boosting positive 

impacts and mitigating negative impacts.  

 

Cablevisión adhered to the Global Compact and has been incorporated to the Global Compact Argentine 

Network, thus committing to its 10 fundamental principles. It has also maintained its participation in the 

Argentine Business Council for Sustainable Development (CEADS, for its Spanish acronym), the 

AmCham CSR Committee, the IDEA CSR Committee and is a founding member of Red de Empresas por 

la Diversidad (R.E.D.). 

 

During 2017, Cablevisión published its first sustainability report, within the framework of its CSR 

strategy and the economic, social and environmental performance of the company in its operations in 

Argentina and Uruguay. The report was prepared under strict international standards: G4 Guide of the 

Global Reporting Initiative - GRI), the “Core” conformity option, and the Media Sector Supplement, 

United Nations Sustainable Development Goals 2015/2013 and the 10 principles of the United Nations 

Global Compact. 

 

 

 

NODE - Employment and Productive Development 

 

Cablevisión promotes the development of its employees as active drivers of the Company’s performance. 

To this end, the Company offers training opportunities and access to new jobs with a view to their 

professional development and the alignment of their personal goals with those of the organization. 

 

During 2016 and 2017, the Company worked on the implementation and improvement of a tool called 

Smart (management tool). This tool is used to conduct several work processes and procedures, such as 

performance management, succession, vacation logs, obtaining information about structures, applying for 

internal job postings, learning about news reported by the Company, etc. It may be accessed from any 

device connected to the Internet. 

 

As to the composition and diversity of Cablevisión’s payroll, it should be noted that the percentage of 

employees by sex and age follows the usual parameters of companies in the industry. 

 

 

 

Employees by sex Number of employees 

 

Female employees 2,425 

 

Male employees 9,193 

 

Total  11,618 

 

  

Employees by type of employment Number of employees 

 

Part-time    460 

Full-time    11,158 

 

Total     11,618 
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Employees by type of contract Number of employees 

 

Permanent employment contract 11,342 

Fixed-term employment contract 255 

Temporary employment Contract 21 

Total    11,618 

 

 

 

Sustainability Goals  

Cablevisión has set “Sustainability Goals in Human Resources Management” that seek to improve the 

quality of employment and the development of the employees strengthening in this way business 

management and the quality of the service provided to its customers. The focus of these goals is 

threefold: Promoting the inclusion of diversity; generating a work environment that allows for achieving a 

balance between the employees’ personal and working life and fostering and consolidating a culture that 

promotes values and transparency within Cablevisión. 

 

Unions and Collective Bargaining Agreements  

 

Cablevisión promotes an open dialog with union representatives, recommending and empowering all 

levels of supervision to maintain periodic meetings with internal union commissions, fostering mutual 

understanding and addressing complaints and grievances as fast and as close to the source as possible. 

Since 2013, the training programs for heads and supervisors include training sessions about the 

development of a relationship with unions. The Company also provided customized workshops aimed at 

areas that have specific issues. Cablevisión takes an active role in meetings with unions called by the 

Argentine Cable Television Association, in the understanding that a transparent and straightforward 

communication is necessary to favor cooperation between the unions and the Company. 

 

Cablevisión’s employees exercise freely their right to join unions. They are currently represented by the 

Argentine Union of Television, Audiovisual, Interactive and Data Services, the Argentine Association of 

Announcers, the Press Association of Santa Fe and first-degree press unions represented by the Argentine 

Federation of Press Workers and the Argentine Federation of Telephone Companies Workers and 

Employees (NEXTEL). 

 

 

 

Occupational Health, Safety and Assistance  

 

Cablevisión has an occupational safety and health policy where it undertakes the commitment to ensuring 

safe and healthy work environments, focusing its best efforts on preventing occupational accidents, 

injuries and diseases.   

 

It develops and offers on a regular basis information, campaigns and actions aimed at employees with an 

integration and cross-sector approach, seeking to ensure a good working environment. 

 

In addition, the Company has a Joint Health and Safety Committee made up of representatives of 

occupational safety of Cablevisión, referents of Human Resources and Labor Relations and union 

representatives. 
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On the other hand, Cablevisión conducts annual medical exams to detect and prevent potential health 

problems. The Company also develops and implements workplace quality life promotion and protection 

programs; addiction prevention programs; vaccination campaigns; fire and emergency brigades; among 

others. 

 

 

 

Training  

 

During 2017, Cablevisión implemented corporate training programs related to different competences: 

Professional and learning skills, staff management and development, integrity, effective communication, 

change management, results-oriented, strategic thinking, negotiation, productive creativity, effective 

management, customer satisfaction and commitment to the team. The Company developed programs at 

several universities: UADE, San Andrés, Di Tella, Palermo, IAE and Universidad Austral targeted at 

different hierarchical levels of the company.  

 

In line with modern and inclusive training models, the Company put in place a virtual campus where 

employees can have access to online training on several subjects irrespective of their position. These 

training sessions are available at any time so that each employee may manage his/her own training 

according to his/her needs and the time available for self-training.  

 

 

LAB - Digital inclusion and social innovation 

 

Puente Digital – Digital Inclusion Policy 

 

Since 2007, Puente Digital has been the policy that provides for free cable TV and Internet services to 

schools, hospitals and community organizations, whereby Cablevisión seeks to contribute to digital 

inclusion and social innovation, providing access to technology to face social and environmental 

challenges, in alliance with local, provincial and national governments, civil society organizations, 

universities and other companies. The actions carried out by Cablevisión in connection with this program 

include comprehensive design and donation of connectivity, development of cloud technology to face 

education, health, emergency and citizenship challenges, digital training and literacy so that women and 

girls can have access to technology and young people can have access to employment opportunities. 

Currently, Cablevisión provides 14,386 free connections under the program Puente Digital.  

 

 

 

BIO - The Environment 

 

Environmental Management Systems and Policy 

 

Cablevisión has in place an Environmental Policy, which establishes its commitment to manage its 

operations within a framework of environmental preservation and protection, strengthening the 

sustainability of its actions as a telecommunications company in the provision of cable television and 

Internet services, setting action pillars that support its policy, environmental management and strategic 

goals. For many years now, Cablevisión has been gathering information related to environmental 

management indicators in line with the voluntary reporting guidelines of the Global Reporting Initiative 

(GRI).  

 

It should be noted that Cablevisión passed the audit regarding the re-certification of the ISO 14001:2015 

standard in Rosario operations, a certification obtained in 2014. In addition, the Company is working on 

an environmental awareness program through training and campaigns with the participation of all the 

employees of Cablevisión. 
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Consumption of Resources  

 

Cablevisión’s consumption of resources is closely related to the provision of its services - and are 

therefore extremely heterogeneous - from the materials used in the offices to the materials that make it 

possible for customers to have access to Internet and cable TV services. Among the main materials 

consumed, the most remarkable in terms of volume and strategic relevance for the provision of services 

are: 

 

 

 

 

Material used     Consumption in kg. 

 

Cable - Non-renewable     3,367,515  

 

Customer-provided equipment (CPEs) - Non-renewable 2,047,616  

 

Paper - Renewable     30,771  

 

 

 

Cablevisión has processes in place to reduce the consumption of set-top units nationwide, developing 

mechanisms to recover set-top units delivered to subscribers under gratuitous bailment agreements. 

 

The control on consumption and the management of energy use are key to minimize the carbon footprint 

and the impact derived from climate change. At its main warehouse, the Company replaced its traditional 

lighting equipment with LED equipment. 

 

At facilities located in the City of Buenos Aires, Mar del Plata and the Provinces of Córdoba, Buenos 

Aires, Santa Fe and Salta, the Company implemented the sorting at source of household-like waste. 

Currently, 60% of the employees nationwide separates waste at source. The Company will continue with 

this course of action until it has been implemented in all of the Company's facilities. The Company works 

on waste management together with the cooperatives Madreselva, Alelí, Recolectores Urbanos del Oeste, 

El Álamo, El Amanecer de los Cartoneros and Cartoneros del Sur in the City of Buenos Aires, Crece in 

the Province of Córdoba 

 

Cablevisión donates technological equipment to institutions that receive free Fibertel connection seeking 

to make another contribution towards citizenship connectivity and to contribute to environmental care by 

reusing equipment. Since 2002, the Company has been providing its support to Fundación Garrahan's 

Recycling Program. In 2017, the Company donated 10,929 kg of paper, which avoided the felling of 220 

medium-sized trees and 120 kg of plastic tops.  

 

 

 

TRANSPARENCY AND ETHICS 

 

Cablevisión Holding believes that one of the pillars of a good management is transparency. Therefore, 

through its communication it seeks to make available as much information as possible about its operations 

and businesses. In addition, it establishes ethical standards for the development of its operations. 

 

The Company has a policy called Code of Ethics and Conduct, which, among other things, seeks to avoid 

potential conflicts between the Company's -and its subsidiaries’- interests and the personal interests of its 

directors and employees and their respective direct relatives. The code describes objective scenarios 

where a conflict of interest may arise and provides a non-exhaustive list of examples that standardize 

conflicts. 

 

The Code of Ethics and Conduct deals with the handling of confidential information by the Company's 

officers, where confidential information is understood as all such information that has not become 

publicly known and that may be important for an investor to make a buy, sell or hold decision concerning 

any of the Company's securities. The Code prohibits the use of such information by the Company's 

officers for their own benefit or for the benefit of a third party.  
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Cablevisión Holding makes available to its investors and shareholders all the relevant information about 

its performance. CVH has employees who are in charge of the relationship with investors and 

shareholders, answering their inquiries and providing financial and operating information. The Company 

issues and distributes quarterly reports and holds periodic conference calls during which the information 

provided is discussed. All the reports are subsequently uploaded to the corporate website. 

 

The Company maintains communication channels with the minority shareholders through the disclosure 

of relevant information in the stock exchanges where its shares and GDSs are listed and through 

information disclosed in the Company's web site. 

 

 

 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE, ORGANIZATION AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM  

 

Cablevisión Holding S.A.'s Board of Directors is responsible for the Company's management and 

approves its policies and overall strategies. Pursuant to the By-laws, the Board of Directors is comprised 

by ten permanent directors and ten alternate directors who are elected at the Ordinary Shareholders' 

Meeting on an annual basis. Four of them (two permanent and two alternate members) are required to be 

independent directors, appointed in accordance with the requirements provided under the CNV rules.  

 

 

 

Members of the Board of Directors  

 

Cablevisión Holding's Board of Directors is comprised by the following members, appointed at the 

Annual Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting and Special Meeting per Class of Shares, held on September 28, 

2016: 

  

Urricelqui, Alejandro Alberto Chairman 

Cassino, Damián Fabio Vice Chairman  

Bardengo, Sebastián Permanent Director 

Novoa, Nicolás Sergio Permanent Director  

Sáenz Valiente, Ignacio José María Permanent Director 

Acevedo, Francisco Iván Permanent Director 

Salaber, Sebastián1 Permanent Director 

Blaquier, Gonzalo1 Permanent Director 

Whamond, Alan1 Permanent Director 

Pozzoli, Nelson Damián1 Permanent Director 

Romero, María Lucila Alternate Director 

Ostergaard, Claudia Irene Alternate Director 

Paez, María de los Milagros Alternate Director 

Gomez Sabaini, Patricio1 Alternate Director 

Rio, Alejandro1 Alternate Director 

Colombres, Gervasio1 Alternate Director 

Saravia, Francisco1 Alternate Director 

 
1 Independent members of the Board of Directors. 

 
2 Upon the resignation of Pablo C. Casey, Marcelo A. Trivarelli and Hernán P. Verdaguer, there are 

three vacancies. 
 

 

Cablevisión Holding also has a Supervisory Committee comprised of 3 permanent members and 2 

alternate members, who are also appointed on an annual basis at the Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting. The 

Board of Directors, through an Audit Committee, is in charge of the ongoing oversight of all matters  
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related to control information systems and risk management, and issues an annual report on these topics. 

The members of the Company's Audit Committee may be nominated by any member of the Board of 

Directors and a majority of its members must meet the independence requirement provided under CNV 

rules.  

 

 

 

Supervisory Committee  

 

Cablevisión Holding's Supervisory Committee is comprised by the following members, appointed at the 

Annual Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting and Special Meeting per Class of Shares, held on September 28, 

2016:  

 

 

Carlos A. P. Di Candia1   Permanent Member   

Hugo Ernesto López1   Permanent Member 

Pablo San Martín1  Permanent Member   

Rubén Suárez1    Alternate Member 

Miguel Ángel Mazzei1  Alternate Member 

 

1 Independent members of the Supervisory Committee 

2 Upon the resignation of Raúl A. Morán, the position of the third alternate member of the Supervisory 

Committee is vacant. 

 

Audit Committee  

 

The Audit Committee is comprised as follows:  

 

Bardengo, Sebastián                    Chairman 

Whamond, Alan                          Vice Chairman 

Pozzoli, Néstor Damián              Permanent Member 

Río, Alejandro                             Alternate Member 

Gomez Sabaini, Patricio              Alternate Member 

 

The overall criteria used to appoint Cablevisión Holding S.A.’s management are based on the background 

and experience in the position and the industry, companies they have worked for, age, professional and 

moral aptitude, among other factors.  

 

In order to identify opportunities and streamline structures and systems with the aim of improving 

processes and making informed decisions, Cablevisión Holding S.A. sets forth several procedures and 

policies for controlling the Company's operations. The areas responsible for the Company's internal 

controls, both at the Company level and at the level of its subsidiaries and affiliates, contribute to the 

safeguarding of shareholders' equity, the reliability of financial information and the compliance with laws 

and regulations. 

 

 

 

Compensation of the Members of the Board of Directors and Senior Management  

 

Compensation of the members of the Board of Directors is decided at the Shareholders' Meeting after the 

close of each fiscal year, considering the cap established by Section 261 of Law No. 19,550 and related 

regulations of the CNV. 

 

Cablevisión Holding will have compensation arrangements with all of its officers in executive and 

managerial positions, which contemplate a fixed and variable remuneration scheme. Fixed compensation 

is tied to the level of responsibility attached to each position, prevailing market salaries and performance. 

The annual variable component is tied to performance during the fiscal year based on the objectives set at 

the beginning of the year.  
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During 2017, CVH did not have any employees, only through its subsidiary. As from January, the 

Company has its own employees.  

 

In addition, the parameters used in fixing compensations as from January 2018 are in line with market 

practices, using market surveys issued by prestigious consultancy firms and the evaluation of the 

positions based on the size of the company and the complexity of the assigned tasks. 

 

 

 

Dividend Policy  

 

CVH does not have a formal dividend policy governing the amount and payment of dividends or other 

distributions. According to its By-laws and the Argentine Corporate Law, CVH may lawfully pay and 

make declarations of dividends only out of the retained earnings stated in the Company's annual Financial 

Statements prepared in accordance with Argentine GAAP and CNV regulations and approved at the 

Shareholders' Meeting. In such case, dividends must be paid on a pro rata basis to all holders of shares of 

common stock as of the relevant record date.  

 

 

 

Set-up of reserves  

 

Pursuant to the Argentine Corporate Law and CNV resolutions, CVH is required to set up a legal reserve 

of no less than 5% of each year's retained earnings until such reserve reaches 20% of its outstanding 

capital stock plus the corresponding adjustment. The legal reserve is not available for distribution to 

shareholders. 

 

 

 

Code of Corporate Governance  

In addition to the aforementioned and in conformity with the CNV's decisions concerning the filing of the 

report about compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance (Resolution No. 606/12), Cablevisión 

Holding prepared the report for the year under analysis, which is attached as an exhibit to this annual 

report.  

 

 

BUSINESS PROJECTIONS AND PLANNING 
 

Cablevisión Holding seeks to consolidate its role as leading holding company engaged in investing in 

convergent telecommunications, focused on Argentina and the region.  

 

Its subsidiary will strive to seize opportunities, seeking to reinforce, improve and expand the range of 

products and services offered; reach new customers and promote permanent innovations in all of its 

activities.  

 

Cablevisión Holding will continue to optimize even more the productivity and efficiency levels in all of 

the areas of CVH and its subsidiary. It will seek to develop and apply best practices in each of its 

processes.  

 

At a corporate level, it will continue to focus on the main processes that allow sustainable, healthy and 

efficient growth from different perspectives: Financial structure, management control and business 

strategy. Cablevisión Holding will continue to analyze alternative new ventures related to its mission and 

strategic objectives both in Argentina and abroad, as long as they add value to shareholders and are 

feasible and viable under the prevailing economic environment.  

 

Cablevisión Holding was created as result of Grupo Clarín’s corporate spin-off, which sought to deepen 

the specialization of each of the organizations. In this way, each company was able to adjust even further 

its strategic, financial and operational focus with the global demands of each of these markets, allowing 

them to enhance their competitiveness.  
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Cablevisión Holding renews its sustained commitment to regulatory compliance, the customers of its 

subsidiary and the country.  

 

 

SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION  

 

The information included in the Supplementary Financial Information is part of this Annual Report and, 

therefore, both should be read in conjunction.  

 

 

FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESULTS OF ITS OPERATIONS 

 

As mentioned in Note 1 to the Company's parent company only financial statements, Cablevisión Holding 

was created as a company that was spun off Grupo Clarín S.A., being the Effective Date of the Spin-off 

May 1, 2017. As from that date, Cablevisión Holding S.A. began its operations, the accounting and tax 

effects of the Spin-off became effective, and Grupo Clarín transferred to Cablevisión Holding S.A. the 

operations, risks and benefits. 

 

As a result of the spin-off, Grupo Clarín S.A. transferred to the Company mainly the direct and indirect 

equity interests it held in Cablevisión S.A. and in GCSA Equity, LLC. In this way, the Company became 

the direct and indirect holder of approximately 60% of the capital stock and votes of Cablevisión S.A. and 

of 100% of the capital stock of GCSA Equity LLC. The Company was allocated a USD 6 million loan 

with VLG Argentina, LLC and a USD 23 million financial debt with Cablevisión S.A.  

 

During this irregular year, the main changes in the Company's financial position and results of its 

operations were the following: 

 

Working capital (current assets minus current liabilities) at year-end decreased by Ps. 534.1 million 

compared to the balances transferred to the Company on May 1, 2017, from (positive) Ps. 100.9 million 

to (negative) Ps. 433.2 million. This decrease is mainly due to the amount of bank and financial debt, 

detailed in note 4.9 to the parent company only financial statements, which were classified as current in 

the amount of Ps. 2.7752 billion net of: (i) the Company's cash (item Cash and Cash Equivalents) for Ps. 

465.5 million; (ii) the other assets related to the reserve account mentioned in said note and (iii) the 

increase in Other current receivables for Ps. 1.4263 billion. 

 

With respect to non-current assets, the most significant variation was recorded under Investments in 

associates, mainly as a consequence of: (i) the net increase generated by the results obtained in the eight-

month period ended December 31, 2017 mainly related to the direct and indirect interest in Cablevisión 

S.A., (ii) the decrease generated by the distribution of dividends by Cablevisión S.A., and (iii) the 

payment and exercise of the irrevocable call option of an additional interest in VLG Argentina LLC of 

21.55%, as mentioned in note 6.d) to the parent company only financial statements. 

 

With respect to non-current liabilities, the most significant variation was recorded under Bank and 

Financial Debt, mainly as a consequence of: (i) the increase generated by the loan detailed in Note 4.9 to 

the parent company only financial statements and (ii) the repayment of the USD 23 million loan allocated 

to the Company as a result of the spin-off. In addition, the Company made contributions in GCSA Equity, 

LLC, which value under the equity method was negative as of May 1, 2017. 

 

The Statement of Income as of December 31, 2017, for the irregular eight-month year ended December 

31, 2017 recorded a net profit of Ps. 781.8 million. Said profit is due to the results generated by the 

investments in subsidiaries (mainly as a result of the direct and indirect interest in Cablevisión S.A.), 

which amounted to Ps. 2.0255 billion, net of financial costs which amounted to Ps. 1.1331 billion related 

to the financial debts detailed in Note 4.9 a to the parent company only financial statements. 

Cablevisión Holding S.A. is controlled by GC Dominio S.A., which holds 64.2% of its voting rights. 

Balances and transactions with related parties are detailed in Note 5 to the Parent Only Financial 

Statements. 
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PROPOSAL OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 

The financial statements of the Company as of December 31, 2017 recorded a net profit of Ps. 

781,846,087. Retained Earnings as of that date amounted to Ps. 1,616,204,146 of which Ps. 834,358,059 

are derived from the Retained Earnings under the spin-off. 

Cablevisión Holding is a holding company. Its results derive mainly from the operations of its 

subsidiaries. Therefore, its liquidity position depends, among other things, on the distribution of 

dividends of its subsidiaries -which have to meet their investment and interest payments needs-, the 

contributions required by its subsidiaries and the expected future cash flows from operating and financing 

activities. In addition, in accordance with the terms of the acceptance by Citibank, N.A., Goldman Sachs 

Bank USA, Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited, Dubai (DIFC) Branch, Itaú Unibanco 

S.A., Nassau Branch of the loan offer for USD 750 million (the “Loan”), CVH has to apply the dividends 

collected from its subsidiaries to the mandatory prepayments.  

Telecom Argentina S.A., surviving company of Cablevision S.A., reversed reserves to pay dividends in 

two installments. On February 15, 2018, Cablevisión Holding and its subsidiary VLG received the first 

installment of dividends for an aggregate amount of Ps. 5.083 billion. The payment of the second 

installment for Ps. 2.683 billion is scheduled to be made on April 30, 2018, being the Board empowered 

to make such payment on an earlier date if it deems it convenient.   

As of to date, in view of the prepayments made, the outstanding balance of the Loan amounts to USD 

349.9 million.  

In view of the above, the Board of Directors believes that it would be prudent and reasonable to propose 

to the Shareholders that net income for the year in the amount of Ps. 1,616,204,146 be appropriated to the 

creation of an Optional Reserve for financial obligations. 

The Board of Directors of CVH and its subsidiaries would like to thank its customers, suppliers, banking 

and financial institutions and other stakeholders, who are the key players in achieving the results obtained 

this fiscal year by the Company's management. 

The Board of Directors  

Buenos Aires, March 8, 2018 

 



 

1 

 

 

CABLEVISIÓN HOLDING S.A. 

 

EXHIBIT I - REPORT ON THE DEGREE OF COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE OF 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  

PRINCIPLE I. REVEAL THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE ISSUER AND THE 

ECONOMIC GROUP IT LEADS AND/OR BELONGS TO AND ITS RELATED PARTIES 

The corporate governance framework shall: 

Recommendation I.1. Ensure disclosure by the Board of Directors of the policies applicable to the 

relationship between the Issuer and the economic group it leads and/or belongs to and its related 

parties. 

Answer whether or not: 

The Issuer has an internal rule or policy governing the authorization of transactions between related 

parties pursuant to Section 73 of Law No. 17,811, operations carried out with shareholders and members 

of the Board of Directors, first-line managers and statutory auditors and/or members of the supervisory 

committee within the economic group it leads and/or belongs to. Specify the main guidelines of the 

internal rule or policy. 

Full compliance. 

The Company has a policy on transactions with related parties in place, in accordance with effective 

regulations. 

Recommendation I.2. Ensure that policies and procedures are in place to prevent conflicts of interests. 

Answer whether or not: 

The Issuer has, notwithstanding the effective regulations, clear and specific policies and procedures to 

identify, handle and solve potential conflicts of interests arising from the relationship between members 

of the Board of Directors, first-line managers and statutory auditors and/or members of the supervisory 

committee and the Issuer or its related parties. Describe the relevant aspects of such policies and 

procedures. 

Full compliance. 

The Company has a Code of Ethics and Conduct in place, which, among other things, seeks to avoid 

potential conflicts between the Company's interests and the personal interests of its directors and 

employees and their respective direct relatives. The code describes objective scenarios where a conflict of 

interest may arise and provides a non-exhaustive list of examples that standardize conflicts. 

Recommendation I.3. Prevent the misuse of privileged information. 

Answer whether or not: 

The Issuer has, notwithstanding the effective regulations, achievable policies and procedures to prevent 

the misuse of privileged information by members of the Board of Directors, first-line managers, statutory 

auditors and/or members of the supervisory committee, controlling shareholders or shareholders that exert 

significant influence on the Company, professionals involved and the other persons listed in Sections 7 

and 33 of Decree No. 677/01. Describe the relevant aspects of such policies and procedures. 
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Full compliance. 

The Code of Ethics and Conduct referred to in Item I.2. deals with the handling of confidential 

information by the Company's officers, where confidential information is understood as all such 

information that has not become publicly known and that may be important for an investor to make a buy, 

sell or hold decision concerning any of the Company's securities. The Code prohibits the use of such 

information by the Company's officers for their own benefit or for the benefit of a third party. The 

Company also has mechanisms in place to restrict the access to and internal distribution of information 

that supplement the measures implemented to prevent the use or disclosure of confidential information. 

PRINCIPLE II. LAY THE FOUNDATIONS FOR THE ISSUER TO HAVE A STRONG 

MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISION 

The corporate governance framework shall: 

Recommendation II.1. Ensure that Issuer's management and supervision and its strategic orientation 

are under the charge of the Board of Directors. 

The Board of Directors of Cablevisión Holding S.A., pursuant to legal and statutory provisions, is 

responsible for the Company's management. The Company’s main corporate purposes are investment and 

finance. Its main investment is the direct and indirect interest in its controlled company Cablevisión S.A. 

Answer whether or not:  

II.1.1. The Board of Directors is in charge of approving: 

II.1.1.1. The Company's strategic or business plan, as well as the management goals and annual budgets; 

Full compliance. 

The Company's Board of Directors reviews the business plan on an annual basis. That plan includes 

management goals and their respective budgets. 

II.1.1.2. The investment policy (in financial assets and capital expenditures) and the financing policy; 

Full compliance. 

The investment and financing policy is an integral part of the Company's business plan as described in 

Item II.1.1.1. 

II.1.1.3. The corporate governance policy (compliance with the Corporate Governance Code); 

Full compliance. 

As established by the effective regulations, the Board of Directors has approved the content of the report 

on the degree of compliance with the Corporate Governance Code, as a separate exhibit to the Annual 

Report. 

II.1.1.4. The policy on selection, assessment and compensation of Top Management;  

II.1.1.5. The policy on allocation of responsibilities among first-line managers; 

 II.1.1.6. The oversight of first-line managers' succession planning; 
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Non-compliance. 

The Company has a small number of employees (currently six.) Therefore, the Board of Directors 

believes it is not necessary to approve a policy on selection, assessment and compensation of top 

management, or allocation of responsibilities, or oversight of succession planning. 

II.1.1.7. The Corporate Social Responsibility policy; 

Partial compliance. 

The Board of Directors has not formalized the approval of the Company's Corporate Social Responsibility 

policy. However, it does have in place Sustainability Guidelines that require the Subsidiaries that have 

significant operations and scale to develop policies and procedures for the responsible management of 

their impacts, promoting positive ones, mitigating negative ones and disclosing on an ongoing basis its 

performance in this regard pursuant to relevant globally accepted standards and in line with the 

expectations of their stakeholders.   

II.1.1.8. The policies on comprehensive risk and internal control management and fraud prevention; 

Partial compliance. 

The Board of Directors has not formalized the approval of the policy on comprehensive risk and internal 

control management and fraud prevention. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the supervision of its 

application is carried out by the Audit Committee. 

II.1.1.9. The policy on ongoing training for members of the Board of Directors and first-line managers. 

Non-compliance. 

The Company’s Board of Directors has not formalized the approval of the policy for the training for 

members of the Board of Directors and first-line managers. 

II.1.2. If deemed relevant, add any other policy applied by the Board of Directors that has not been 

mentioned before, detailing its significant aspects.                            

The Company has other policies in place that are related to and supplement the above mentioned ones, 

such as: Authorization of transactions per amount and nature of the transaction; Procurement and 

Contracting, Register of Proxies, Register of Signatures, Information Security and Insurance.  

II.1.3. The Issuer has a policy in place to ensure the availability of the information necessary for the 

Board of Directors to make decisions and a direct channel to make inquiries to line managers in a 

symmetric and fair way for all of its members (external and independent executives), with sufficient time 

ahead to adequately analyze its content. Specify. 

Full compliance. 

The Company's information flow procedures allow all of the Board members to receive relevant 

information on the issues submitted to their consideration, with sufficient time ahead to allow for a 

comprehensive analysis that facilitates the decision-making process. The Company's Management is also 

available to answer any question the directors may have in that regard. 

II.1.4. The issues submitted to the consideration of the Board of Directors are supported by an analysis of 

the risks inherent to the decisions that may be adopted, taking into account the enterprise risk level the 

Issuer has defined as acceptable. Specify.                                                                                                                                                                                                                         
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Full compliance. 

Any decision submitted to the Board's consideration is supported by the relevant background, including 

the potential associated risks. 

Recommendation II.2. Ensure the effective Control of Issuer's Management 

Answer whether or not: 

The Board of Directors is in charge of verifying: 

II.2.1 Compliance with the annual budget and the business plan; 

Full compliance. 

The Board of Directors verifies compliance with the Company's annual budget and business plan. 

II.2.2. Top Management performance and their compliance with their respective goals (expected level of 

profits versus actual profits, financial rating, accounting reporting quality, market share, etc.). 

Full compliance. 

The Board of Directors verifies compliance with the above items, through the fulfillment of the annual 

budget. Moreover, the Audit Committee assesses the financial reporting reliability. See Item II.2.1 

Describe the relevant aspects of Issuer's Management Control policy, detailing the methods employed by 

the Board of Directors and the monitoring frequency. 

The Company's management prepares a monthly report comparing the month's actual results and the year-

to-date results against the budgeted results. This report also provides an explanation of the differences 

between budgeted and actual data, taking into account the changes between the expected activities and the 

actually executed activities. The Board of Directors takes note of said information on an ongoing basis. 

Recommendation II.3. Disclose the Board of Directors' performance assessment process and its 

related impact. 

Answer whether or not: 

II.3.1. Each member of the Board of Directors complies with the By-Laws and, where applicable, with the 

Board of Directors' Rules of Operation. Specify the main guidelines of these rules. Specify the degree of 

compliance with the By-Laws and the Rules of Operation. 

Full compliance. 

All members of the Board of Directors comply with the effective regulations of the Argentine General 

Business Associations Law No. 19,550, the Argentine Securities Commission (CNV) and the Buenos 

Aires Stock Exchange (BCBA), as well as with all the provisions of the Company's By-laws. 

II.3.2. The Board of Directors reports the results of its management activities based on the goals set at the 

beginning of the year so that shareholders may assess the degree of compliance with such goals, which 

entail financial as well as non-financial aspects. The Board of Directors also presents a diagnosis of the 

degree of compliance with the policies referred to in Recommendation II, Items II.1.1 and II.1.2. 
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Specify the main aspects of the assessment made at the General Shareholders' Meeting on the Board of 

Directors' degree of compliance with the goals set and the policies referred to in Recommendation II, 

Items II.1.1 and II.1.2, indicating the date of the meeting in which the assessment was presented. 

Partial compliance. 

Pursuant to the Argentine General Business Associations Law No. 19,550, the Board of Directors 

discloses the results of its management activities in the Annual Report, which is approved by the 

shareholders at the Annual Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting. Therefore, the Board of Directors considers 

that the assessment of its own management activities is embedded in that assessment. Said disclosure 

does not include specifically the diagnosis of the degree of compliance with the policies referred to in 

Items II.1.1 and II.1.2, although those issues are naturally addressed in general in the Annual Report. 

Recommendation II.4. That external and independent members account for a significant portion of the 

members of the Issuer's Board of Directors. 

Answer whether or not: 

II.4.1. The proportion of the Board of Directors' external and independent executive members 

(independent members as defined by the CNV's regulations) bears a relationship with the Issuer's capital 

structure. Specify. 

Full compliance. 

The Company's Board of Directors is comprised by members who are also managers of the Company, 

non-independent directors without executive responsibilities and independent directors. The distribution 

of directors bears relationship with the Company's capital structure, as provided by the effective 

legislation and the By-Laws. 

II.4.2. During the current year, at a General Shareholders' Meeting, the shareholders agreed to a policy 

aimed at maintaining at least 20% of independent members in the total number of Board of Directors' 

members. Describe the relevant aspects of such policy and of any other shareholders' agreement to 

understand how and for how long the members of the Board are appointed. Indicate if the independence 

of the Board members was challenged at any time during the year and if there was any abstention as a 

result of a conflict of interest. 

Full compliance. 

Even though the Company does not have in place a specific policy establishing the number of 

independent directors, at the Shareholders’ Meeting the shareholders appointed independent directors that 

represent over 20% of the total members of the Company's Board of Directors. During the year, there 

were no abstentions as a result of a conflict of interest or any objections questioning directors' 

independence. 

Recommendation II.5. Require that the Issuer implement rules and procedures for the selection and 

proposal of members of the Board of Directors and first-line managers. 

Answer whether or not: 

II.5.1. The Issuer has an Appointments Committee in place: 

II.5.1.1. comprised by at least three members of the Board of Directors, most of them independent 

directors; 

II.5.1.2. presided over by an independent member of the Board of Directors; 

II.5.1.3. comprised by members with proven expertise and experience in human capital policies; 
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II.5.1.4. which holds at least two meetings per year; 

II.5.1.5. which decisions in connection with the selection of Board members are not necessarily binding 

but rather consultative at General Shareholders' Meetings. 

II.5.2. If there is a Appointments Committee in place, answer whether or not: 

II.5.2.1. it verifies the annual review and assessment of its rules of operation and suggests amendments 

for the Board of Director's approval; 

II.5.2.2. it proposes the development of criteria (qualification, experience, professional reputation and 

ethics, among others) for the selection of new members of the Board of Directors and first-line managers; 

II.5.2.3. it identifies potential candidates to the Board of Directors to be proposed by the Committee at the 

General Shareholders' Meeting; 

II.5.2.4. it proposes the Board of Directors' members that should be part of the several Board of Director's 

committees, based on their respective backgrounds; 

II.5.2.5. it deems advisable that the positions of Board of Directors' Chairman and General Manager be 

held by different persons; 

II.5.2.6. it ensures that the resumes of the Board members and the first-line managers are available at the 

Issuer's website, specifying the Board members' term of office; 

II.5.2.7. it verifies that a Board member and first-line manager succession plan is in place. 

II.5.3. If deemed relevant, add any policy implemented by the Issuer's Appointments Committee that has 

not been mentioned in the above item. 

Non-compliance 

The Company does not have an Appointments Committee in place. Notwithstanding the fact that, 

pursuant to the Argentine Business Associations Law No. 19,550, the above mentioned functions 

concerning the appointment of Board members shall be exclusively carried out at the Shareholders' 

Meeting, for the time being the Company does not see a need for implementing said Committee. 

Recommendation II.6 Assess the convenience of the Board members and/or statutory auditors and/or 

members of the supervisory committee performing functions at several Issuers. 

Answer whether or not: 

The Issuer sets limits on Board members and/or statutory auditors and/or members of the supervisory 

committee in connection with the performance of functions at entities other than the economic group the 

Issuer leads and/or belongs to. Specify said limit and whether it was violated or not at any time during the 

year. 

Non-compliance 
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Certain members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Committee carry out functions in other 

companies. In practice, the performance of such other functions, particularly in companies that are not 

related to the Company, has not been found to cause inconveniences in the due compliance with the 

functions of such bodies. Should any inconvenience occur, the respective member of the Board or 

Supervisory Committee would not be reappointed. The Board does not deem it necessary to set that limit 

in light of the current circumstances. 

Recommendation II.7. Ensure the training and development of the Issuer's Board members and first-

line managers. 

Answer whether or not: 

II.7.1. The Issuer has ongoing Training Programs in place addressed to Board members and first-line 

managers that are related to the Issuer's current needs, and include training on their respective roles and 

responsibilities, comprehensive enterprise risk management, know-how on the business and its 

regulations, corporate governance dynamics and corporate social responsibility, as well as international 

accounting standards, auditing and internal control standards and capital market regulations for members 

of the Audit Committee. Describe the programs developed during the year and the degree of compliance. 

Partial compliance. 

The Company provides executive training programs delivered at prestigious educational institutions, 

which are supplemented with in-house training programs. Furthermore, every year the Company 

organizes information and discussion sessions to deal with the issues that concern senior management. 

These sessions are led by prestigious local and international specialists in the field. The members of the 

Audit Committee receive specific training on their incumbent issues, delivered by prestigious auditing 

firms in the market. 

II.7.2. The Issuer employs other means not specified in Item II.7.1 to encourage members of the Board of 

Directors and first-line managers to pursue ongoing training supplementing their education level in order 

to add value to the Issuer. Specify how. 

Non-compliance 

The Company considers that the actions mentioned in Item II.7.1 are sufficient to engage directors and 

managers in the training process. 

PRINCIPLE III. SUPPORT AN EFFECTIVE ENTERPRISE RISK IDENTIFICATION, 

MEASUREMENT, MANAGEMENT AND DISCLOSURE POLICY 

The corporate governance framework: 

Recommendation III. The Board of Directors shall have a comprehensive enterprise risk management 

policy in place and monitor its adequate implementation. 

Answer whether or not: 

III.1. The Issuer has comprehensive enterprise risk management policies (risk of compliance with 

strategic goals, operating risks, financial risks, accounting reporting risks and regulatory risks, among 

others). Describe the relevant aspects of such policies. 

Partial compliance. 
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The policy referred to in Item II.1.1.8 seeks to cover risks inherent to: (i) operational effectiveness and 

efficiency, (ii) financial reporting reliability, (iii) asset protection, and (iv) regulatory compliance. The 

Company employs the following tools: (i) the policy governing the authorization of transactions referred 

to in Item II.1.2, (ii) the monthly management reports referred to in Item II.2, (iii) external audits, (iv) 

internal audits, and (v) other policies referred to in Item II.1.2. The Company takes into account the 

COSO model to design its control system. 

III.2. There is a Risk Management Committee at the core of the Board of Directors or Senior 

Management. Report on the existence of manuals of procedures, specifying the main risk factors specific 

to the Issuer or its business and the implemented mitigation actions. In the absence of such Committee, 

describe the oversight role performed by the Audit Committee concerning risk management. Specify the 

interaction level between the Board of Directors or its Committees with Issuer's Senior Management in 

terms of comprehensive enterprise risk management. 

Partial compliance. 

The Company prepares a monthly management report to monitor the Company's operational risks. The 

Audit Committee carries out the following tasks on that report: (i) analyzing the methodology used to 

prepare the above mentioned reports; (ii) discussing with the Control Department the process to identify 

and assess risks, mitigate them and implement solutions; (iii) considering to which extent the risks are 

adequately reported according to applicable legal and accounting standards;  and (iv) reporting on 

monitoring completion in its annual report. In particular, that Committee assesses the risks of 

misstatements in the financial statements and other information made available to third parties. 

III.3. There is an independent function within Issuer's Senior Management that implements the 

comprehensive enterprise risk management policies (function of the Risk Management Officer or its 

equivalent). Specify.  

Non-compliance. 

Given the small structure of the Company, the Board of Directors believes it is not necessary to have in 

place a risk management officer. 

III.4. The comprehensive enterprise risk management policies are updated on an ongoing basis, according 

to related widely used recommendations and methodologies. Specify which. 

Partial compliance. 

See Item III.1. 

III.5. The Board of Directors reports the results of the risk management supervisory activities carried out 

jointly with Senior Management in the financial statements and the Annual Report. Specify the main 

aspects of the disclosures. 

Partial compliance. 

In reviewing the financial statements, the Board of Directors supervises the note on financial risk 

management. 

PRINCIPLE IV. SAFEGUARD FINANCIAL INFORMATION INTEGRITY THROUGH 

INDEPENDENT AUDITS 

The corporate governance framework shall: 
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Recommendation IV. Ensure the independence and transparency of the functions entrusted to the 

Audit Committee and the External Auditor. 

Answer whether or not: 

IV.1. In selecting the members of the Audit Committee, the Board of Directors assesses the convenience 

of appointing an independent member as Chairman, taking into consideration that most members must be 

independent. 

Non-compliance 

The Chairman of the Company's Audit Committee appointed by the members of that Committee on July 

5, 2017 is not an independent member.  

IV.2. There is an internal audit function that reports to the Audit Committee or the Board of Directors' 

Chairman and that is responsible for assessing the internal control system. Specify whether or not the 

Audit Committee or the Board of Directors perform an annual assessment on the performance of the 

Internal Audit Department and the degree of independence in the conduct of its professional practice; 

which means assessing whether the professionals in charge of that function are independent from other 

operating areas and whether they meet the independent requirements concerning controlling shareholders 

or related parties exerting significant influence on the Issuer. Also specify if the Internal Audit function 

carries out its activities in accordance with international auditing standards issued by the Institute of 

Internal Auditors (IIA). 

Non-compliance. 

The Board of Directors has deemed it unnecessary to have an internal audit function on a permanent 

basis, given the small structure of the Company and given the fact that investing is its corporate purpose. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company has hired internal audit services to verify the performance 

of critical controls. 

IV.3. The members of the Audit Committee annually review the know-how, independence and 

performance of the External Auditors appointed at the Shareholders' Meeting. Describe the relevant 

aspects of the procedures used to perform the assessment. 

Full compliance. 

The Audit Committee periodically evaluates external auditors in terms of independence, know-how and 

performance, among other issues. To this end, the Audit Committee reviews the following: (i) the 

auditors' professional and personal suitability (considering the experience and background of the partner 

in charge of the audit, analysis of the work methodology employed, the auditing firm's independence and 

quality control practices, the affidavits required by effective regulations); (ii) contracted services; (iii) 

audit plan; (iv) auditor's reports and internal control recommendations; and (v) discussion with 

Company's officers concerning the above mentioned items. 

IV.4. The Issuer has a policy in place on the rotation of Supervisory Committee members and/or the 

External Auditor, and specifically in the case of the latter, whether such rotation includes the external 

auditing firm or its individual members only. 

Non-compliance. 

In the Board of Directors' view, it is not necessary to adopt a specific policy providing for the rotation of 

the Supervisory Committee members and the External Auditor.  
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PRINCIPLE V. RESPECT SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS 

The corporate governance framework shall: 

Recommendation V.1. Ensure that shareholders have access to Issuer's information.  

Answer whether or not: 

V.1.1. The Board of Directors holds periodical informational meetings with the shareholders upon the 

presentation of the interim financial statements. Specify the number and frequency of the meetings held 

during the year. 

Full compliance. 

The Company communicates with its investors through its executives in charge of market relations and 

through regular informational meetings and conferences, in order to present the quarterly financial 

statements. The Company maintains communication channels with the minority shareholders through the 

disclosure of relevant information in the stock exchanges where its shares and GDSs are listed and 

through information disclosed in the Company's web site. 

V.1.2. The Issuer has mechanisms in place to keep investors informed and a special area dedicated to 

answering their questions. It also has a web site accessible to shareholders and other investors that serves 

as a channel to communicate with each other. Specify. 

Full compliance. 

The Company's management is in charge of the relationship with investors and shareholders and 

addresses their questions and concerns. It also provides public financial and operating information, 

provided such disclosure conforms to the law and does not affect the Company's strategy and forward-

looking plans. Management issues quarterly reports and holds regular conference calls to discuss further 

information requested by investors and shareholders. These reports and files can be found on the 

Company's web site. 

Recommendation V.2. Foster shareholders' active involvement. 

Answer whether or not: 

V.2.1. The Board of Directors takes actions that foster the involvement of all shareholders at General 

Shareholders' Meetings. Specify which, distinguishing actions required by law from the Issuer's voluntary 

actions. 

Full compliance. 

The Company encourages the participation of all shareholders at the meetings. It calls the meeting and 

distributes the agenda with sufficient anticipation, translated into English for shareholders domiciled 

abroad, through the GDS's depositary institution. The Company also complies with the publication 

requirements set forth under current legislation (publication in the Official Gazette, a newspaper with 

high circulation, the bulletin of the Buenos Aires Stock Exchange and the Financial Information Highway 

of the CNV) and with publication on the Company's web site. 

V.2.2. The General Shareholders' Meeting has rules of operation in place to ensure that the information is 

available to all shareholders with sufficient anticipation to make decisions. Describe the main guidelines 

of such rules. 
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Partial compliance. 

Besides the rules established in its Bylaws, the Company has not deemed it necessary to have formal rules 

of operations concerning General Shareholders' Meetings. Naturally, it ensures that the information is 

available to shareholders with sufficient anticipation to make decisions as stated in Items V.1. and V.2.1. 

V.2.3. The mechanisms implemented by the Issuer are applicable in order for minority shareholders to 

raise issues to be discussed at the General Shareholders' Meeting, in accordance with effective 

regulations. Specify the outcomes. 

Full compliance. 

The Company conforms to the effective regulations in connection with the minority shareholders' ability 

to raise issues for discussion at the General Shareholders' Meeting. Therefore, the issues raised by the 

shareholders present at the meeting are registered in the respective minutes, pursuant to the applicable 

mechanisms. 

V.2.4. The Issuer has policies in place to encourage the involvement of major shareholders, such as, 

institutional investors. Specify. 

Full compliance. 

See Item V.2.1. 

V.2.5. At Shareholders' Meetings where candidates to members of the Board of Directors are discussed, 

the following are disclosed prior to voting: (i) the position of each candidate as to the adoption or not of a 

Corporate Governance Code; and (ii) the rationale for such position. 

Non-compliance. 

The members of the Board of Directors have not stated their respective individual positions as to the 

adoption or not of a Corporate Governance Code. As members of the Board of Directors, they have 

adopted the recommendations addressed and the policies advised as rules and within the scope described 

herein and apply them diligently. In that sense, the Company is committed to the highest standards of 

ethics and transparency in its corporate governance structure On the other hand, as mentioned under 

II.1.1.3 and as established by the effective regulations, the Board of Directors has approved the content of 

the report on the degree of compliance with the Corporate Governance Code, as a separate exhibit to the 

Annual Report of the fiscal year.  

Recommendation V.3. Ensure the one-share-one-vote principle. 

Answer whether or not: 

The Issuer has a policy in place that fosters the one-share-one-vote principle. Describe the changes in the 

breakdown of outstanding shares per class over the last three years. 

Full compliance. 

Pursuant to Section 216 of the Argentine Business Associations Law No. 19,550, the Company may not 

issue shares with privileged voting rights after the authorization of the initial public offering of its shares. 

The Company strictly complies with the effective regulations. 

Recommendation V.4. Establish mechanisms to protect all shareholders from takeovers. 
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Answer whether or not: 

The Issuer abides by the mandatory tender offer rules. Otherwise, specify if there are other alternative 

statutory mechanisms, such as, the tag-along rights or others. 

 

Partial compliance 

As contemplated in the Company's By-laws, the Company opted out of the mandatory tender offer rules 

(as established by Decree No. 677/01). Section 90 of Capital Markets Law No. 26,831 provides that: “The 

tender offer rules regulated in this chapter and the residual interest regime regulated in the following 

chapter comprise all listed companies, including those which under the previous regime may have opted 

out of its application”. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the By-laws set forth mechanisms to protect the minority shareholders' 

interests against certain scenarios involving the acquisition of the Company's shares. 

Recommendation V.5. Encourage the dispersed ownership of the Issuer's shares. 

Answer whether or not: 

Ownership of at least 20% of the Issuer's common shares is dispersed. Otherwise, indicate if the Issuer 

has a policy in place to increase dispersed ownership in the market. Specify dispersed ownership as a % 

of the Company's share capital and its evolution over the last three years. 

Full compliance. 

Ownership of more than 20% of the Company's shares is dispersed. Such dispersed ownership has not 

changed significantly during the year. 

Recommendation V.6. Ensure that a transparent dividend policy is in place. 

Answer whether or not: 

V.6.1. The Issuer has a dividend distribution policy stated in its By-Laws and approved at the 

Shareholders’ Meeting setting forth the conditions to distribute dividends in cash or in kind. If such policy 

is in place, specify the criteria, frequency and conditions to be met for dividend payment. 

Non-compliance 

The Company's Bylaws does not establish a stringent dividend policy. The Shareholders’ Meetings 

determine in each fiscal year the amount and payment of the corresponding dividends. 

V.6.2. The Issuer has documented processes in place to propose the allocation of Issuer's accumulated 

income to set up legal, statutory or voluntary reserves, to be carried over to the next fiscal year and/or to 

pay dividends. Detail these processes specifying the minutes of Shareholders' Meetings in which the 

dividend distribution (in cash or in kind) was approved or not, if not provided for in the By-Laws. 

Full compliance. 

In the light of the Company's Business Plan, the Board of Directors prepares a retained earnings 

appropriation proposal that is included in the Annual Report. This proposal is then reviewed at the 

Shareholders' Meeting, according to the Argentine Business Associations Law.  

PRINCIPLE VI. KEEP A DIRECT AND RESPONSIBLE BOND WITH THE COMMUNITY 
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The corporate governance framework shall: 

Recommendation VI. Disclose to the community the issues concerning the Issuer and provide a direct 

communication channel with the company. 

Answer whether or not: 

VI.1. The Issuer has an updated public website which provides relevant information about the Company 

(such as, by-laws, economic group, structure of the Board of Directors, financial statements, Annual 

Report, etc.) and which also gathers users' concerns in general. 

Full compliance. 

The Company has a website with sufficient and updated information, which may be easily accessed from 

multiple channels. The available data includes relevant information on the Company (such as, by-laws, 

economic group, structure of the Board of Directors, annual and quarterly financial statements, Annual 

Report, etc.). The website includes contact information as well as several forms and mechanisms to gather 

concerns from the various users. 

VI.2. The Issuer issues an annual Statement of Social and Environmental Responsibility, verified by an 

independent External Auditor. If so, specify the legal and geographical scope or coverage of such 

statement and where it is available. Specify which standards or initiatives have been adopted to 

implement the Corporate Social Responsibility policy (Global Reporting Initiative and/or the United 

Nations Global Compact, ISO 26000, SA 8000, the Millennium Development Goals, the Forética's SGE 

standard, AA 1000, Ecuador's Principles, among others). 

Partial compliance 

The Company provides information on its performance and that of its subsidiaries in terms of 

sustainability; however, it does not have a specific audited statement. Through its Sustainability 

Guidelines, the Company promotes among its subsidiaries the issuance of annual sustainability reports, 

the certification of their activities pursuant to several standards, the adoption of the IO 26000 standard as 

a reference for its Social Responsibility Management, as well as the implementation of performance 

management programs with parameters such as those of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI), the 

principles of the United Nations Global Compact, the Sustainable Development Goals (SDG); WEP 

principles of UN Women, etc.  

PRINCIPLE VII. PAY FAIR AND RESPONSIBLE COMPENSATION 

The corporate governance framework shall: 

Recommendation VII. Set clear policies on the compensation of the Issuer's Board members and first-

line managers, with special emphasis on conventional or statutory restrictions, based on whether the 

Issuer has made a profit or not. 

Answer whether or not: 

VII.1. The Issuer has a Compensation Committee in place: 

VII.1.1. comprised by at least three members of the Board of Directors, most of them independent 

directors; 

VII.1.2. presided over by an independent member of the Board of Directors; 
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VII.1.3. comprised by members with proven expertise and experience in human capital policies; 

VII.1.4. which holds at least two meetings per year; 

VII.1.5. which decisions in connection with the compensation of Board's members are not necessarily 

binding but rather consultative at General Shareholders' Meetings.  

VII.2. If there is a Compensation Committee in place, answer whether or not: 

VII.2.1. it ensures that the performance of the key employees bears a clear relationship with their fixed 

and variable compensation, taking into account the risks assumed and the management thereof; 

VII.2.2. it supervises that the variable portion of the Board members' and first-line managers' 

compensation is linked to the Issuer's medium-term and long-term performance; 

VII.2.3. it reviews the competitive position of Issuer's policies and practices in terms of compensation and 

benefits granted by comparable companies and recommends changes, where necessary; 

VII.2.4. it defines and communicates the policy on retention, promotion, dismissal and suspension of key 

employees; 

VII.2.5. it informs the guidelines to be followed in determining the retirement plans of the Issuer's Board 

members and first-line managers; 

VII.2.6. it regularly reports to the Board of Directors and the Shareholders' Meeting on the actions carried 

out and the issues discussed at the meetings held; 

VII.2.7. it guarantees the presence of the Compensation Committee's Chairman at the General 

Shareholders' Meeting where the Board of Directors' fees are approved in order to explain the Issuer's 

policy concerning the compensation of Board members and first-line managers. 

VII.3. If deemed relevant, add any policy implemented by the Issuer's Compensation Committee that has 

not been mentioned in the above item. 

VII.4. If there is no Compensation Committee in place, please explain how the functions described in 

Item VII.2 are performed within the Board of Directors. 

Non-compliance 

Pursuant to the Argentine General Business Associations Law No. 19,550, the determination and 

approval of the Board members' fees shall be exclusively handled by the shareholders at the Shareholders' 

Meeting. For the time being, the Shareholders have not deemed it necessary to implement said 

Committee.  

PRINCIPLE VIII. ENCOURAGE CORPORATE ETHICS 

The corporate governance framework shall: 

Recommendation VIII. Ensure the Issuer's ethical conduct. 

Answer whether or not: 
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VIII.1. The Issuer has a Code of Corporate Conduct. Specify the main guidelines of the Code and whether 

or not it is publicly known. Said Code is signed by, at least, the Board members and the first-line 

managers. Specify if suppliers and clients are encouraged to implement the code.  

Full compliance. 

As mentioned in Item I.2, the Company has a Code of Ethics and Conduct which deals with issues, such 

as, conflicts of interests, relations with the personnel, political and governmental relationships, corporate 

asset protection, disclosure of confidential information, opinion on public issues or disloyalty to the 

Company. This Code is signed by the Company's executives, but it is not disclosed to third parties. 

VIII.2. The Company has mechanisms in place to report any unlawful or unethical conduct, either in 

person or by electronic means, securing the highest confidentiality and integrity standards concerning the 

reported information, as well as information recording and conservation. Specify if the reception and 

assessment of whistleblower reports are handled by the Company's employees or by external and 

independent professionals to further protect the whistle-blowers. 

Full compliance. 

The Company has a whistle-blower hot line through which whistle-blowers may report unlawful conducts 

anonymously and the information can be handled confidentially. Said line is managed by its own staff. 

VIII.3 The Issuer has policies, processes and systems in place to handle and address the whistle-blower 

reports mentioned in Item VIII.2. Describe the most relevant aspects of said policies, processes and 

systems and the degree of involvement of the Audit Committee in addressing whistle-blower reports, 

particularly those concerning internal control issues for accounting reporting and conducts of the Board 

members and first-line managers. 

Full compliance. 

The Company has a protocol to handle the anonymous reporting process. Said protocol embraces aspects 

related to: confidentiality, data management, notice to the Audit Committee, follow-up to prevent 

retaliation and adequate communication. 

PRINCIPLE IX: EXPAND THE SCOPE OF THE CODE 

The corporate governance framework shall: 

Recommendation IX. Encourage the inclusion of provisions inherent to good corporate governance 

practices in the By-Laws 

Answer whether or not: 

The Board of Directors assesses whether or not the provisions of the Corporate Governance Code should 

be totally or partially reflected in the By-Laws, including the Board of Directors' general and specific 

responsibilities. Specify which provisions have been actually included in the By-Laws from the Code's 

effective date up to the present. 

Non-compliance. 

The Company's By-laws include the corporate governance provisions required by effective legislation 

(such as the audit committee and the public offering regime). The Board of Directors is responsible for 

the adoption of general policies and strategies, which are updated based on the evolution of local and 
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international trends. No provision included in the Company's By-laws contradicts the existing 

recommendations on corporate governance. 
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Date of incorporation: December 1, 2016 

 

Date of registration with the Public Registry of Commerce: 

- Of the by-laws: April 27, 2017 

 

Business start date: May 1, 2017 

 

Registration number with the IGJ: 1,908,463 

 

Expiration of articles of incorporation: April 27, 2116 

 

Information on Parent company: 

Name: GC Dominio S.A. 

Registered office: Piedras 1743, Buenos Aires, Argentina 

 

Information on the subsidiaries in Note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements and Note 4.5 to the parent 

company only financial statements. 

 

 

CAPITAL STOCK STRUCTURE (See Note 10 to the parent company only financial statements) 

 

 

Type  

Number of votes 

per share  

Outstanding 

Shares  

Treasury 

Stock 

Total 

Subscribed, 

Registered 

and Paid-in 

Capital 

     Class “A” Common shares, Ps.1 par value                                      5            47,753,621 - 47,753,621 

Class “B” Common shares, Ps.1 par value                                      1            121,104,504 1,578 121,106,082 

Class “C” Common shares, Ps.1 par value                                      1            11,782,877 - 11,782,877 

     Total as of December 31, 2017  180,641,002 1,578 180,642,580 
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CABLEVISIÓN HOLDING S.A. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE IRREGULAR EIGHT-MONTH FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING MAY 1, 2017  

AND ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017 

 (In Argentine Pesos) 
 

 Notes 

Irregular eight-

month fiscal 

year ended 

12.31.2017  

    
    

Revenues 6.1 28,399,728,510  
    
Cost of Sales (1) 6.2 (13,468,412,972)  

    
Gross income  14,931,315,538  

    
Selling Expenses (1) 6.3 (4,200,797,027)  

    
Administrative Expenses (1) 6.3 (3,292,797,473)  

    
    
Other Income and Expenses, net  18,981,403  

    
Financial Costs 6.4 (3,363,337,211)  

    
Other Financial Results, net 6.5 (356,922,547)  

    
Financial Results  (3,720,259,758)  

    
Equity in Earnings from Associates 6.6   115,146,085  

    
Income before Income Tax and Tax on Assets  3,851,588,768  

    
Income Tax and Tax on Assets 8 (1,624,542,957)  

    
    
Net Income for the Year  2,227,045,811  

    
Other Comprehensive Income    

    

    
Items that can be reclassified to net income    
Variation in Translation Differences of Foreign Operations  413,752,409  

Total Comprehensive Income for the Year  2,640,798,220  

    

Net Income attributable to:    

    
Shareholders of the Controlling Company  781,846,087  

    
Non-Controlling Interest  1,445,199,724  

    

Total Comprehensive Income Attributable to:    
    

Shareholders of the Controlling Company  980,224,555  

    
Non-Controlling Interest  1,660,573,665  

    
Basic and Diluted Earnings per Share (See Note 12)  4.33  

 
(1) Includes Amortization of Intangible Assets and Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment for Ps. 2,743,936,192. 

 

  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CABLEVISIÓN HOLDING S.A. 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2017  

(In Argentine Pesos) 
 

 Notes December 31, 

2017 
  

ASSETS     

NON-CURRENT ASSETS     

Property, Plant and Equipment 7.1 22,067,606,191   

Intangible Assets  7.2 2,353,447,525   

Goodwill 7.3 3,583,758,710   
Investments in Associates and Other Companies 7.5 11,201,178,897   

Deferred Tax Assets 8 51,142,603   

Other Receivables 7.6 236,933,052   

Total Non-Current Assets  39,494,066,978   

     

CURRENT ASSETS     

Inventories 7.8 83,252,437    

Other Assets 7.10.2 377,510,288    
Other Receivables 7.6 956,152,259    

Trade Receivables 7.7 1,753,086,921    

Investments 7.4 109,796,025   
Cash and Cash Equivalents 7.9 4,879,099,136   

Total Current Assets  8,158,897,066    

 
    

Total Assets  47,652,964,044   

 
    

EQUITY (as per the corresponding statement) 
    

Attributable to Shareholders of the Parent Company 
    

Shareholders’ Contributions  1,263,686,300    

Other Items  944,214,897    

Accumulated Income  5,382,855,936    

Total Attributable to Shareholders of the Parent 

Company 
 

7,590,757,133  

  

     
Attributable to Non-Controlling Interests 14 4,659,914,397   

     
Total Shareholders’ Equity  12,250,671,530   

 
    

LIABILITIES 
    

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 
    

Bank and Financial Debt 7.10 20,935,858,689   
Deferred Tax Liabilities  8 266,095,297   

Provisions and Other Charges 7.11 1,091,885,130   

Taxes Payable 7.12 2,947,817   
Other Liabilities 7.13 134,499,011   

Total Non-Current Liabilities  22,431,285,944   

 
    

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
    

Bank and Financial Debt 7.10 3,712,141,565   

Taxes Payable 7.12 1,887,342,089   

Other Liabilities 7.13 1,734,338,409   
Trade and other payables 7.14 5,637,184,507   

Total Current Liabilities  12,971,006,570   

 
    

Total Liabilities  35,402,292,514   

     

Total Equity and Liabilities  47,652,964,044   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CABLEVISIÓN HOLDING S.A. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE IRREGULAR EIGHT-MONTH FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING MAY 1, 2017 AND ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017 

(In Argentine Pesos) 

 

 Equity attributable to Shareholders of the Parent Company  

Equity Attributable to 

Non-Controlling Interests 

 
 

 Shareholders’ Contributions 
 

Other Items 
 

Accumulated Income 

Total Equity of 

Controlling 

Interests 

 
 

 

 Capital Stock  

Inflation 

Adjustment on 

Capital Stock 

Additional Paid-

in Capital Subtotal 

 

Translation of Foreign 

Operations Other Reserves 

 

Legal Reserve 

Optional reserves 

(2) Retained Earnings  

 

Total Equity 

Balances as of May 1, 2017 180,642,580 194,762,882 888,280,838 1,263,686,300  749,470,539 (3,203,262)  75,081,092 3,691,570,698 834,358,059 6,610,963,426  4,625,189,831   11,236,153,257 

Exchange of Shares - Payment of 

fractions in cash (see Note 10 to the 

parent company only financial 

statements.) - - - -  - (430,848)  - - - (430,848)  -  (430,848) 

Dividends and Other Movements of 

Non-Controlling Interest (Note 

11.1) - - - -  - -  - - - -  (1,625,849,099)  (1,625,849,099) 

Net Income for the Year - - - -  - -  - - 781,846,087 781,846,087  1,445,199,724  2,227,045,811 

Other Comprehensive Income:        
 

        

Variation in Translation 

Differences of Foreign Operations - - - -  198,378,468 -  - - - 198,378,468  215,373,941  413,752,409 

Balances as of December 31, 

2017 (1) 180,642,580 194,762,882 888,280,838 1,263,686,300  947,849,007 (3,634,110)  75,081,092 3,691,570,698 1,616,204,146 7,590,757,133  4,659,914,397  12,250,671,530 

                 
 

(1) Includes 1,578 treasury shares. 

(2)  Broken down as follows: (i) Optional reserve for future dividends of Ps. 1,813,178,108; (ii) Optional reserve to ensure the liquidity of the Company and its subsidiaries of Ps. 659,951,291, (iii) Optional reserve for illiquidity of results of Ps. 436,412,739, and (iv) 

Optional reserve to provide financial aid to subsidiaries and in connection with the Audiovisual Communication Services Law of Ps. 782,028,560. 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CABLEVISIÓN HOLDING S.A. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE IRREGULAR EIGHT-MONTH FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING MAY 1, 2017 AND ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017 

 (In Argentine Pesos) 
 Irregular Eight-

month fiscal year 

ended 12.31.2017 

  

CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Net Income for the Year 2,227,045,811   
Income Tax and Tax on Assets 1,624,542,957   

Adjustments to reconcile net income for the year to cash provided by operating activities    

Equity in Earnings for the year from Associates (115,146,085)   
Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment 2,732,007,796   

Amortization of Intangible Assets 11,928,396   

Obsolescence of Materials 15,494,606   
Provisions 610,807,196   

Income from Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment (5,501,379)   

Accrued Interest, net 702,363,362   
Other Financial Results 2,510,350,941   

Other Income and Expenses, net  437,909   

Net Decrease of Property, Plant and Equipment 498,445,815   
Changes in Assets and Liabilities    

Trade Receivables 62,586,309   

Other Receivables 374,606,599   
Inventories 74,891,997   

Trade and other payables 1,499,721,999   

Taxes Payable 54,856,259   
Other Payables and Provisions (176,583,369)   

Change in Currency Translation of Foreign Operations 186,364,450   

Collections of Interest  165,177,323   
Income Tax Paid  (2,472,646,291)   

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 10,581,752,601   
 

 
  

CASH USED IN INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES    

Acquisition of Companies (19,663,984)   

Increase in Intangible Assets (20,296)   
Changes in Notes and Bonds, Net 158,976,756   

Payment for call option (10,945,425,056)   

Dividends collected 53,307,979   
Collection of repayment of bonds and other financial instruments 532,591,226   

Proceeds from Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment 5,501,379   

Increase in Property, Plant and Equipment (8,019,366,600)   

CASH USED IN INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES (18,234,098,596)   
    

CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Payment of Dividends to Non-Controlling Interests (Note 11.1) (800,000,000)   

Collection of Financial Instruments 10,108,100   

Increase in loans, net of application fees  13,235,771,367   
Payment of Interest (906,514,898)   

Reserve set-up (358,951,997)   

Payment of Fractions of Shares (430,848)   
Repayment of Loan Principal and Issuing Expenses of new loan (687,831,635)   

Cash Provided by Financing Activities 10,492,150,089   
 

 
  

Net Increase in Cash Flow  2,839,804,094   

Cash as of May 1, 2017 2,002,522,766   
Effect of the variation of the exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents 35,197,315   
Cash from Acquisition of Companies (See Note 4.e)) 1,574,961   

Cash at the end of the year (See Notes 2.22 and 7.9) 4,879,099,136 
  

     

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 



CABLEVISIÓN HOLDING S.A. 

Registration number with the IGJ: 1,908,463 

 

See our report dated 
March 8, 2018 

  

PRICE WATERHOUSE & CO. S.R.L. 

 

(Partner) 

 

Carlos Alberto Pedro Di Candia 

 Supervisory Committee 

 

 

C.P.C.E.C.A.B.A. Vol. 1 Fol. 17  

 
  

 
- 7 - 

 

 

 

CABLEVISIÓN HOLDING S.A. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE IRREGULAR EIGHT-MONTH FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING MAY 1, 2017  

AND ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017 

(In Argentine Pesos)  

 

NOTE 1 – GENERAL INFORMATION 

 

Cablevisión Holding S.A. is a holding company that operates in the telecommunications industry. Its operating 

income and cash flows derive from the operations of its subsidiaries in which it participates directly or indirectly. 

 

The Company has been incorporated as a spun-off company from Grupo Clarín S.A. At the Extraordinary 

Shareholders’ Meeting held on September 28, 2016, the shareholders of Grupo Clarín approved a corporate 

reorganization that consisted in (i) the merger of Southtel S.A., Vistone S.A., Compañía Latinoamericana de Cable 

S.A. and CV B Holding S.A. into Grupo Clarín and (ii) the subsequent partial spin-off of Grupo Clarín to create 

Cablevisión Holding S.A. 

 

The corporate reorganization was registered with the IGJ on April 27, 2017. In view of the above and taking into 

consideration that, under the terms of the spin-off, the effective date of the Spin-off (the “Effective Date of the 

Spin-off”) would be the first day of the month following the date on which the latest of the following registrations 

has been completed: (i) the registration of the Corporate Reorganization with the IGJ, or (ii) the registration of the 

incorporation of Cablevisión Holding S.A. with the IGJ, the Effective Date of the Spin-off is May 1, 2017. As 

from that date, Cablevisión Holding S.A. began its operations, the accounting and tax effects of the Spin-off 

became effective, and Grupo Clarín transferred to Cablevisión Holding S.A. the operations, risks and benefits. 

 

As a result of the spin-off, Grupo Clarín transferred to the Company mainly the direct and indirect equity interests 

it held in Cablevisión S.A. and in GCSA Equity, LLC. In this way, the Company became the direct and indirect 

holder of approximately 60% of the capital stock and votes of Cablevisión and of 100% of the capital stock of 

GCSA Equity.  

 

Its operations include the provision of cable television and Internet access and telephony services, with operations 

in Argentina and in some neighboring countries, through its subsidiary Cablevisión. That company is the largest 

cable television operator in Latin America in terms of subscribers. This company also provides high-speed Internet 

access under the trademark Fibertel and telephony services through Nextel. Cablevisión's reorganization process is 

described under Note 4.d) to these consolidated financial statements. 

 

 

NOTE 2 - BASIS FOR THE PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 

 

2.1. Basis for the preparation 

 

Through General Resolutions No. 562/09 and No. 576/10, the Argentine Securities Commission (“CNV”, for its 

Spanish acronym) provided for the application of Technical Resolutions (“TR”) No. 26 and No. 29 issued by the 

Argentine Federation of Professional Councils of Economic Sciences (“FACPCE”, for its Spanish acronym), 

which adopt the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting 

Standards Board (“IASB”) for entities subject to the public offering regime governed by Law No. 26,831, whether 

on account of their equity or their notes, or which have requested authorization to be subject to such regime. The 

FACPCE issues Adoption Communications in order to implement IASB resolutions in Argentina. 
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These consolidated financial statements of the Company for the irregular eight-month fiscal year beginning May 

1, 2017 and ended December 31, 2017 have been prepared under International Financial Reporting Standards 

(“IFRS”). Some additional matters were included as required by the Argentine General Associations Law and/or 

CNV regulations, including the supplementary information provided by the last paragraph of Section 1, Chapter 

III, Title IV of General Resolution No. 622/13. That information is included in the Notes to these consolidated 

financial statements, as provided under IFRS and CNV rules. The accounting policies are based on IFRS issued by 

the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the interpretations issued by the International 

Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). 

 

As mentioned in Note 1, Cablevisión Holding S.A. was created as a consequence of the spin-off of Grupo Clarín 

S.A. Consequently, the Company's Board of Directors has used as a general rule for the initial valuation of the 

assets received by the Company the valuation of those assets and liabilities as of the Effective Date of the Spin-off 

conducted by Grupo Clarín S.A. (“Predecessor Basis of Accounting"), which issues its financial statements under 

IFRS.  

 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared based on historical cost except for the fair value 

measurement of certain non-current assets and financial instruments (including derivatives). In general, the 

historical cost is based on the fair value of the consideration granted in exchange for the assets. 

 

International Accounting Standard (IAS) 29 “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies” requires that 

the financial statements of an entity that reports in the currency of a hyperinflationary economy be stated in terms 

of the measuring unit current at the balance sheet closing date of the reporting year and details a series of factors 

that may indicate that an economy is hyperinflationary.  Pursuant to the guidelines of IAS 29, there is not enough 

evidence to conclude that Argentina was a hyperinflationary economy and, therefore, the Company did not apply 

the restatement criteria to the financial information for the irregular year reported as established under IAS 29. 

 

The Company began operating on May 1, 2017. Therefore, these financial statements are not presented on a 

comparative basis. 

 

The attached consolidated information, approved by the Board of Directors of the Company at the meeting held on 

March 8, 2018, is presented in Argentine Pesos (Ps.), the Argentine legal tender, and arises from accounting 

records kept by Cablevisión Holding S.A. and its subsidiaries. 

 

2.2. Standards and Interpretations issued but not adopted to date  

 

The Company has not adopted the IFRS or revisions of IFRS issued, as per the detail below, since their 

application is not required for the year ended December 31, 2017: 

 

- IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments": Issued in November 2009 and amended in October 2010 and July 2014, IFRS 9 

introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities and for their 

derecognition. This standard is applicable to years beginning on or after January 1st, 2018. 

 

Upon conducting an analysis of the accounting standard, the Group identified that the main impact would be on 

the accounting policy concerning the allowance for doubtful trade receivables from the Cable Television, Internet 

Access and IDEN Telephony segments, as a result of the application of the model called “expected credit losses”. 

The estimated effect of the initial application of the standard as of January 1, 2018 is an increase in the amount of 

the allowance for approximately Ps. 70.5 million. 

 

- IFRS 15 “Revenue from ordinary activities under contracts with customers”: issued in May 2014 and applicable 

to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2018. This standard specifies how and when revenue will be 

recognized, as well as the additional information to be disclosed by the Company in the financial statements. The 

standard provides a single, principles based five-step model to be applied to all contracts with customers.  
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Upon conducting an analysis of the accounting standard, the Group has not identified significant impacts on the 

recognition of revenues from contracts with customers. 

 

- IFRS 16 "Leases": Issued in January 2016. It establishes the principles for the recognition, measurement, 

presentation and disclosure of leases. Said standard applies to years beginning January 1, 2019. As of the date of 

these financial statements, the Company cannot estimate its quantitative and qualitative impact because it is 

analyzing the corresponding accounting effects. 

 

2.3. Standards and Interpretations issued and adopted to date  

 

As of the date of these consolidated financial statements, no new standards have been issued that apply to the 

Company for this year. 

 

2.4. Basis for Consolidation 

 

These consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of Cablevisión Holding and of the 

subsidiaries and joint ventures controlled by it as “joint operations”. Control is presumed to exist when the 

Company has a right to variable returns from its interest in a subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns 

through its power over the subsidiary. This power is presumed to exist when it is evidenced by the voting rights, 

be it that the Company has the majority of voting rights or potential voting rights that are currently exercisable.  

 

For consolidation purposes, the intercompany transactions and the balances between the Company and the 

consolidated subsidiaries have been eliminated. Unrealized income has also been eliminated. Below is a detail of 

the most significant consolidated subsidiaries, together with the interest percentages held directly or indirectly in 

each subsidiary’s capital stock and votes as of December 31, 2017: 

 

  Interest in 

capital stock 

and votes 

 

Subsidiary Country December 31, 

2017 

 

    
Cablevisión Argentina 60%  

    
Nextel 

(2)
 Argentina -  

    
GCSA Equity 

(1)
 USA -  

(1)  Company dissolved on December 27, 2017. 

(2)  Company absorbed by Cablevisión on October 1, 2017 (See Note. 4.a)). 

 

The financial statements of the consolidated companies and other financial information required for the 

preparation of the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in 

equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows were prepared with the same closing date as that of the 

consolidated financial statements. The above-mentioned information has been prepared using exactly the same 

valuation criteria as those used by the Company, described in the notes to the financial statements or, where 

appropriate, significant adjustments were made as applicable. 

 

The Company considers those transactions executed with non-controlling companies that do not result in a loss of 

control as transactions among shareholders. A change in the equity interests held by the Company is considered as 

an adjustment in the book value of controlling interests and non-controlling interests to reflect the changes in its 

relative interests. The differences between the amount for which non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair 

value of the consideration paid or received and attributed to the shareholders of the controlling company will be 

directly recognized in equity under a specific reserve in the equity attributed to the parent company. 
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2.4.1. Consolidation of Special Purpose Entities 

 

The subsidiary Cablevisión, through one of its subsidiaries, has executed certain agreements with other companies 

for the purpose of rendering on behalf of and by order of such companies certain selling and installation services, 

collections, administration of subscribers, marketing and technical assistance, financial and general business 

advising, with respect to cable television services in Uruguay. In accordance with IFRS 10 “Consolidated 

Financial Statements”, these consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities and results of these 

companies. Since the Company does not hold an equity interest in these companies, the offsetting entry of the net 

effect of the consolidation of the assets, liabilities and results of these companies is disclosed under the line items 

“Equity attributable to non-controlling interests” and “Net Income attributable to non-controlling interests.” 

 

2.5. Business Combinations 

 

The Company applies the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations. The consideration for each 

acquisition is measured at fair value (on the date of exchange) of the assets acquired, the liabilities incurred or 

assumed and the equity instruments issued by the Company in exchange for the control of the acquired company. 

The costs related to the acquisition are expensed as incurred. 

 

The consideration for the acquisition, if any, includes any asset or liability arising from a contingent consideration 

arrangement, measured at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to such fair value, identified 

during the measurement period, are adjusted against the acquisition cost.  

 

The measurement period is the effective period that begins on the acquisition date and ends on the date on which 

the Company obtains all the information about the facts and circumstances existing on the acquisition date, which 

may not extend beyond one year after the acquisition date. All other changes in the fair value of the contingent 

consideration classified as assets or liabilities, outside the measurement period, are recognized in the statement of 

income. The changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration classified as equity are not recognized.   

 

In the cases of business combinations conducted in stages, the Company’s equity interest in the acquiree is 

remeasured at fair value on its acquisition date (i.e., the date on which the Company obtained control) and the 

resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognized in the statement of income or in other comprehensive income, as 

appropriate according to the source of the variation. 

 

The identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired company that meet the conditions for 

recognition under IFRS 3 (2008) are recognized at fair value at the acquisition date, except for certain particular 

cases provided by such standard. 

 

Any excess of the acquisition cost, be it incurred by the surviving company in the case of equity interests received 

at the time of the creation of the Company or by the Company in subsequent acquisitions (including the interest 

previously held, if any, and the non-controlling interest) over the Company's share in the net fair value of the 

subsidiary’s or associate’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities measured at the acquisition date 

is recognized as goodwill.  

 

Any excess of the Company’s share in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 

liabilities over the acquisition cost, after its measurement at fair value, is immediately recognized in the statement 

of income. 

 

The acquisition cost comprises the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest and the 

acquisition-date fair value of the acquirer's previously-held equity interest in the acquiree, if any. 

 

The Company initially recognizes any non-controlling interest as per its share in the amounts recognized for the 

net identifiable assets of the acquired company. 
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2.6. Investments in Associates and Other Companies 

 

An associate is an entity over which the Company has significant influence without exercising control. 

 

The associates’ net income and the assets and liabilities are disclosed in the financial statements using the equity 

method. Under the equity method, the investment in an associate is to be initially recorded at cost and the book 

value will be increased or decreased to recognize the investor’s share in the statement of income for the year or in 

other comprehensive income obtained by the associate, after the acquisition date. The distributions received from 

the associate will reduce the book value of the investment. The Company's investments in associates includes the 

goodwill identified at the time of the acquisition, net of any impairment losses. 

 

Any excess of the acquisition cost over the Company’s share in the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable 

assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities measured at the acquisition date is recognized as goodwill. Goodwill is 

included in the book value of the investment and tested for impairment as part of the investment. Any excess of 

the Company’s share in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the 

acquisition cost, after its measurement at fair value, is immediately recognized in the statement of income. 

 

Unrealized gains or losses on transactions between the Company (and its subsidiaries) and the associates are 

eliminated considering the Company’s interest in the associates. 

 

Adjustments were made, where necessary, to the associates’ financial statements so that their accounting policies 

are in line with those used by the Company. 

 

Investments in companies in which the company does not have control or significant influence have been valued 

at cost, which does not differ significantly from its fair value. 

 

The Company will record those transactions executed with non-controlling companies that do not result in a loss 

of control as equity transactions, i.e. as transactions with shareholders in their capacity as such. The difference 

between the fair value of the consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the book value of net assets of 

the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in 

equity. 

 

When the Company ceases to have control, any interest retained in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at the 

date when control is lost, and the change in the book value is recognized in the statement of income. The fair value 

is the initial amount for the purposes of its subsequent accounting of the interest retained as associate, joint 

venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income in 

respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Company had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. 

Consequently, the amounts previously recognized in Other Comprehensive Income may be reclassified to the 

statement of income.  

 

As of December 31, 2017, the Company included the acquisition cost of the shares acquired to be received from 

VLG Argentina, LLC, as a result of the exercise of the irrevocable call option described under Note 4.d) to these 

consolidated financial statements. 

   

2.7. Interests in Joint Operations 

 

A joint operation is a contractual arrangement whereby the Company and other parties undertake an economic 

activity that is subject to joint control, i.e., when the financial strategy and the operating decisions related to the 

company’s activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. 

 

In the cases of joint business arrangements executed through Uniones Transitorias de Empresas ("UTE"), 

considered joint operations under IFRS 11, the Company recognizes in its financial statements on a line-by-line 
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basis the assets, liabilities and net income subject to joint control in proportion to its share in such arrangements. 

Cablevisión indirectly holds a 50% share in the UTE Ertach – Prima. 

 

2.8. Goodwill 

 

Goodwill arises from the acquisition of subsidiaries and refers to the excess of the cost of acquisition over the net 

fair value at the date of acquisition of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The Company 

initially recognizes any non-controlling interest as per its share in the amounts recognized for the net identifiable 

assets of the acquired company.  

  

If, after the fair value measurement, the Company's share in the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the 

acquiree exceeds the amount of the transferred consideration, the amount of any non-controlling interest in such 

company and the fair value of the interest previously held by the acquirer in the acquiree (if any), that excess is 

immediately recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as income from purchase in very profitable 

terms. 

 

Goodwill is not amortized, but tested for impairment on an annual basis. For the purposes of impairment testing, 

goodwill is allocated to each of the Company's cash-generating units expected to render benefits from the 

synergies of the respective business combination. Those cash-generating units to which goodwill is allocated are 

tested for impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently, when there is any evidence of impairment. If the 

recoverable value of the cash-generating unit, i.e. the higher of the value in use or the fair value net of selling 

expenses, is lower than the value of the net assets allocated to that unit, including goodwill, the impairment loss is 

first allocated to reduce the goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit, on a pro rata 

basis, based on the valuation of each asset in the unit. The impairment loss recognized against the valuation of 

goodwill is not reversed under any circumstance. 

 

In case of a loss of control in a subsidiary, the amount attributable to goodwill is included in the calculation of the 

gain or loss for retirement. 

 

As of December 31, 2017, goodwill has not suffered any impairment. 

 

2.9. Revenue Recognition  

 

Sales of subscription for cable television, Internet, IDEN telephony or other services subscriptions are recognized 

as revenues for the year in which the services are rendered.  

 

Revenues from the installation of these services are accrued over the average term during which clients maintain 

their subscription to the service. Advertising sales revenues are recognized in the period in which advertising is 

published or broadcast. 

 

Revenues from transactions that include more than one item have been recognized separately to the extent they 

have commercial substance on their own. The amount of revenues allocated to each item is based on its fair value, 

which is assessed or estimated at market value. 

 

Revenues from the sale of assets are recognized only when the risks and benefits arising from the use of the 

disposed assets have been transferred, the amount of revenues may be fairly estimated, and it is probable that the 

Company will obtain economic benefits. 

  

Installment sales are recognized at the value of future income discounted at a market rate assessed at the beginning 

of the transaction. 

 

2.10. Leases 
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Leases are classified as financial leases when the terms of the lease transfer to the lessee substantially all the risks 

and benefits inherent to the property. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

 

The assets held under financial leases are recognized at the lower of the fair value of the Company’s leased assets 

at the beginning of the lease term, or the present value of the minimum lease payments. The liability held with the 

lessor is included in the consolidated balance sheet as an obligation under financial leases recorded under “Bank 

and Financial Debt”. 

 

Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the liabilities under the lease so 

as to achieve a constant interest rate on the outstanding balance. The finance charge is expensed over the lease 

term. 

 

The assets held under financial leases are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the assets or the lease 

term. 

 

Rentals under operating leases are charged to income on a straight line basis over the corresponding lease term. 

 

2.11. Foreign Currency and Functional Currency 

 

The parent company only financial statements of each of the entities consolidated by the Company are prepared in 

the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). For the 

purposes of the consolidated financial statements, the net income and the financial position of each entity are 

stated in Argentine Pesos (Argentina’s legal tender for all companies domiciled in Argentina), which is the 

Company’s functional currency, and the reporting currency of the consolidated financial statements. The 

functional currencies of the Uruguayan and Paraguayan companies are the Uruguayan Peso and the Guarani, 

respectively. 

 

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, the transactions in currencies other than the entity’s 

functional currency (foreign currency) are recorded at the exchange rates prevailing on the dates on which 

transactions are carried out. At the end of each reporting year, the monetary items denominated in foreign 

currency are retranslated at the exchange rates prevailing on such date. The exchange differences were charged to 

income for the year in which they were generated.  

 

In preparing the Company’s consolidated financial statements, asset and liability balances of the entities with 

functional currencies other than the Argentine peso, expressed in their own functional currency (Uruguayan Peso 

and Guarani) are translated to Argentine pesos at the exchange rate prevailing at the end of the year, while the net 

income is translated at the exchange rate prevailing on the transaction date. Translation differences are recognized 

in other comprehensive income as “Variation in Translation Differences of Foreign Operations” and in the 

consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity as “Translation of Foreign Operations”. 

 

2.12. Current and Deferred Income Tax 

 

The income tax charge reflects the sum of current income tax and deferred income tax. 

 

Current and deferred taxes are recognized as expense or income for the year, except when they are related to 

entries debited or credited to other comprehensive income or equity, in which cases taxes are also recognized in 

other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. In the case of a business combination, the tax 

effect is taken into consideration in the calculation of goodwill or in the determination of the excess of acquirer's 

interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost 

of the business combination. 

 

Current tax payable is based on the taxable income recorded during the year. Taxable income and net income 

reported in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income differ due to revenue or expense items that are 
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taxable or deductible in other fiscal years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Company's current 

tax liability is calculated using the tax rate in effect as of the date of these financial statements. Current tax charge 

is calculated based on the tax rules effective in the countries in which the consolidated entities operate. 

 

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the book value of the assets and liabilities included 

in the financial statements and the corresponding tax basis used to determine taxable income. Deferred tax 

liabilities are generally recognized for all temporary fiscal differences. Deferred tax assets are recognized for all 

deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be available 

against which those deductible temporary differences can be charged. These assets and liabilities are not 

recognized if the temporary differences arise from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a 

business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable income nor the 

accounting income. 

 

The book value of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each reporting year and reduced to the extent that it is no 

longer probable that sufficient taxable income will be available in the future to allow for the recovery of all or part 

of the asset. 

 

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries and associates, 

except in the case of deferred tax liabilities where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is 

controlled by the Company and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 

future. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applicable in the year in 

which the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the end of the period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the 

tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the entity expects, at the end of the reporting year, 

to recover or settle the book value of its assets and liabilities. 

 

Deferred tax assets are offset against deferred tax liabilities if the Company has a legally enforceable right to 

offset, before the tax authorities, the amounts recognized in those items, and if the deferred tax assets and 

liabilities arise from income taxes levied by the same tax authority and the Company intends to settle its assets and 

liabilities on a net basis. 

 

Under the IFRS, deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities, respectively. 

 

2.12.1 Tax on assets 

 

In Argentina, the tax on assets (impuesto a la ganancia mínima presunta) is supplementary to income tax. The 

Company assesses this tax at the effective rate of 1% on the taxable assets at year-end. The Company’s tax 

liability for each year will be equal to the higher of the tax on assets assessment or the income tax liability 

assessed at the legally effective rate on the estimated taxable income for the year. However, if the tax on assets 

exceeds the income tax liability in any given fiscal year, the excess may be creditable against any excess of 

income tax liability over the tax on assets in any of the following ten fiscal years. 

 

The tax on assets balance has been capitalized in the consolidated financial statements for the amounts paid and to 

be paid for this tax estimated to be recoverable within the statute of limitations, based on the current business 

plans of the Company and the subsidiaries. 

 

2.12.2. Tax Reform and Tax Consensus - Laws No. 27,429, No. 27,430 and No. 27,432 

 

2.12.2.1. Tax Reform 

 

On December 29, 2017, the Executive Branch enacted Law No. 27,430, which establishes a comprehensive reform 

of the tax system effective as from 2018. 
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The Law introduces, among other things, changes to income tax (both corporate and personal), Value Added Tax 

(“VAT”), excise taxes, employer’ social security contributions, the tax procedure regime and the criminal tax 

regime. 

 

The main changes that have an impact on corporate income tax are the following: 

2.12.2.1.1. Income Tax  

 

Changes to corporate income tax rate and withholding on distributed dividends  

 

The Law reduces the corporate income tax rate from 35% to 30% for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 

2018 up to and including December 31, 2019, and to 25% for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2020. 

 

In addition, the Law establishes a withholding tax regime on distributed dividends at a rate of 7% for distributions 

of profits generated during fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2018 up to and including December 31, 

2019, and at a rate of 13% for distributions of profits generated during fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 

2020. 

 

Profits generated during fiscal years ended until December 31, 2017 will not be subject to withholding at the time 

of their distribution. 

 

The new withholding rates apply only to distributions made to shareholders who are Argentine resident 

individuals and to nonresident shareholders. 

 

Additionally, the Law repeals the “equalization tax” (i.e., 35% withholding on dividend distributions exceeding 

accumulated taxable income) for distributions of profits generated during fiscal years beginning on or after 

January 1, 2018. 

 

Gain/Loss on purchase-sale of shares. 

 

The Law maintains the 15% capital gains tax rate for Argentine resident individuals or foreign beneficiaries (in the 

case of foreign beneficiaries, it is calculated on the presumed net gain equal to 90% of the sale price). In the case 

of local legal entities, the Law establishes a general rate of 30% for fiscal years 2018 and 2019, and 25% for the 

following years. 

 

In the case of individuals residing in Argentina, however, the results derived from transfers of shares are exempted 

from income tax to the extent that it the transfer consists in a public placement authorized by the CNV or that the 

transactions were carried out in markets authorized by that agency under segments that guarantee price/time 

priority and by crossing of offers (such as the shares of Cablevisión Holding) or carried out through a public 

tender offering and/or exchange authorized by the CNV. 

 

The foregoing exemption will also be applicable to foreign beneficiaries to the extent that said beneficiaries do not 

reside in, and the funds do not come from, non-cooperative jurisdictions. In the case of foreign beneficiaries, the 

exemption will also be applicable, among other things, to income from depositary receipts or certificates issued 

abroad representing shares, such as American Depositary Receipts (“ADRs”), provided that the underlying shares 

have been issued by entities domiciled in Argentina.  

 

Optional asset revaluation regime for tax purposes. 

 

The Law established, on a general basis, the adjustment for inflation of the cost of several assets -in case of 

transfers- and the adjustment for inflation of the depreciation of property, plant and equipment, for all the 

acquisitions or investments made as from January 1, 2018 based on the variation of the Domestic Wholesale Price 

Index (“IPIM”, for its Spanish acronym) as from that date. 
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In addition, the Law established an optional regime for the revaluation for tax purposes of assets located in 

Argentina that generate taxable income. In the case of the Company, the revaluation option is applicable to assets 

existing as of December 31, 2017. Pursuant to the Law, the new tax value of the assets will be determined by 

applying a "revaluation factor," set forth in the Law, according to the calendar year of the asset's acquisition or 

construction, to the tax value originally assessed, each year or period since the asset's acquisition or construction. 

In the case of real or personal property subject to amortization, the value may be assessed by an appraiser under 

certain conditions. 

 

The Law imposes a one-time special tax on the amount of the revaluation. Such tax is not deductible from income 

tax. The applicable rate will vary depending on the type of assets:  

 

 Real property (qualifying as property, plant and equipment) 8%; 

 Real property (qualifying as inventories): 15%; 

 Shares, membership interests and other participations owned by resident individuals: 5%; 

 All other assets: 10%. 

 

The taxpayer that opts for the special revaluation regime must do so for all the assets that belong to the same 

category. Once the taxpayer has opted for the special revaluation regime, it is entitled to calculate its amortization 

or costs, for income tax purposes, based on the revalued value of the assets. In addition, revalued values will be 

adjusted for inflation based on the variations of the IPIM as from January 1, 2018. 

 

The Law requires taxpayers that opt for the special asset revaluation regime to waive any judicial or administrative 

claims for the purpose of requesting the application, for tax purposes, of adjustments of any kind, with respect to 

the period of the option. Any taxpayers that have filed such claims with respect to fiscal years closed before the 

Law becomes effective are required to withdraw such claims and rights invoked.  

 

2.12.2.1.2. Excise Taxes and Tax Collection at Source for the benefit of the Ente Nacional de Alto 

Rendimiento Deportivo (National Board of High Performance Sports, ENARD, for its Spanish acronym) 

 

The Law also provides for an increase in the effective excise tax rate applicable to mobile telephony services, 

from 4.16% to 5.26%. In addition, the Law repeals the collection at source of the charge imposed for the benefit of 

the ENARD. 

 

In addition, pursuant to Decree No. 979/2017, as from November 15, 2017, the effective excise tax rate on the sale 

of imported mobile phones and other wireless network equipment is reduced from 20.48% to 11.73%. Said rate, 

pursuant to Law No. 27,430, will decrease gradually until its complete phase out as from January 1, 2024. In the 

case of goods manufactured in Tierra del Fuego, the rate is set at 0% as from November 15, 2017. 

 

2.12.2.1.3. Tax on Bank Credit and Debits 

 

Pursuant to Law No. 27,432, the National Executive Branch may establish that the percentage of the tax rate on 

bank credit and debits that to date may not be creditable against income tax, be gradually reduced by up to 20% 

per year as from January 1, 2018. The Executive Branch may provide that, by 2022, it be fully creditable against 

income tax. 

 

2.12.2.1.4. Social Security  
 

The Law gradually reduces the percentage of employers’ social security contributions paid by large companies 

from 21% to 19.5% by 2022. 
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The Law establishes a non-taxable base for calculating employers’ social security contributions of Ps. 2,400 for 

2018, which will increase to Ps. 12,000 by 2022. The Law gradually phases out employers’ social security 

contributions that are creditable against VAT. 

 

 

 

 

 

2.12.2.2. Tax Consensus  

 

On January 2, 2018, Law No. 27,429 - “Tax Consensus” was published in the Official Gazette. Said Law approves 

the Tax Consensus entered into among the National Executive Branch and the representatives of the Provinces and 

the Autonomous City of Buenos Aires. 

 

The Tax Consensus seeks to harmonize the tax structures of the different jurisdictions to promote employment, 

investment and economic growth and to promote uniform policies. For such purpose, the National Government, 

the Provinces and the Autonomous City of Buenos Aires agreed to fulfill certain commitments. Among the 

commitments undertaken by the Provinces, the most relevant are, with respect to Gross Turnover Tax, the 

immediate elimination of differential treatments based on the place of business or the location of the taxpayer's 

establishment or the location where goods are manufactured and the establishment of exemptions and the 

application of tax rates that shall not exceed those set forth for each activity and period in the Annex to the 

Consensus (in the case of communications 5% in 2018, which will decrease to 3% by 2022, and in the case of 

mobile telephony 7% in 2018, which will decrease to 5% by 2022.) With respect to stamp tax rates, for certain 

activities and contracts, the establishment of a maximum stamp tax rate of 0.75% as from January 1, 2019, with a 

gradual decrease until its complete phase out as from January 1, 2022, as well as the repeal of all taxes affecting 

payroll. 

 

2.13. Property, Plant and Equipment 

 

Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 

losses. 

 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is recognized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life.  

 

The estimated useful life, residual value and depreciation method are reviewed at each year-end, with the effect of 

any changes in estimates accounted for on a prospective basis. Land is not depreciated. 

 

Works in process are recorded at cost less any recognized impairment loss. Depreciation of these assets, as well as 

in the case of other property, begins when the assets are ready for their use. 

 

Repair and maintenance expenses are expensed as incurred. 

 

Borrowing costs attributable to the acquisition or construction of certain capital assets are capitalized as part of the 

cost of these assets until they are ready for their intended use or sale, under IAS 23 (“Borrowing Costs”.) The 

assets in respect of which borrowing costs are capitalized are those that necessarily take a substantial period of 

time to get ready for their intended use.  

 

The gain or loss arising from the retirement or disposal of an asset is calculated as the difference between income 

from the sale of the asset and the asset’s book value, and recognized under “Other Income and Expenses, Net” in 

the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 

The residual value of an asset is written down to its recoverable value, if the asset’s residual value exceeds its 

estimated recoverable value (see Note 2.15). 
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The value of property, plant and equipment does not exceed its recoverable value estimated at the end of the year. 

 

2.14. Intangible Assets 

 

Intangible assets include trademarks, software and other rights, the purchase value of the subscriber portfolio, 

radio electric trunking (“SRCE”, for its Spanish acronym) service license, public network links, radio-electric 

spectrum and other intangible assets. The accounting policies regarding the recognition and measurement of such 

intangible assets are described below. 

 

2.14.1. Intangible Assets Acquired Separately 

 

Intangible assets acquired separately are valued at cost, net of the corresponding accumulated amortization and 

impairment losses. Amortization is calculated on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the 

intangible assets. The Company reviews the useful lives applied, the residual value and the amortization method at 

each year-end, and accounts the effect of any changes in estimates on a prospective basis.   

 

 

2.14.2. Intangible Assets Acquired in a Business Combination 

 

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination (subscriber portfolio, SRCE license, public network links and 

radio-electric spectrum) are identified and recognized separately regarding goodwill when they meet the definition 

of intangible assets and their fair value can be measured reliably. Such intangible assets are recognized at fair 

value at acquisition date.  

 

After the initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are valued at cost net of 

accumulated amortization and impairment losses, with the same basis as intangible assets acquired separately. 

Amortization is calculated on a straight line basis to allocate the cost over the estimated useful life.  

 

2.14.3. Information Systems Projects  

 

Costs related to the development or maintenance of computer software are generally recorded as expenses as 

incurred. However, the costs directly related to the development, acquisition and implementation of the 

information systems are recorded as intangible assets when certain conditions are met, among them, the technical 

feasibility to complete the development of the intangible asset, the intent of the Company to complete the 

development of that asset and the way in which the intangible asset will generate probable economic benefits in 

the future. 

 

After the initial recognition, internally developed intangible assets are valued at cost net of accumulated 

amortization and impairment losses, with the same basis as intangible assets acquired separately. 

 

Those assets are included under the column “software.” See Note 7.2. 

 

2.15. Impairment of Non-Financial Assets, Except Goodwill 

 

At the end of each financial statement, the Company reviews the book value of its non-financial assets with 

definite useful life to determine the existence of any evidence indicating that these assets could be impaired. If 

there is any evidence of impairment, the recoverable value of these assets is estimated for the purposes of 

determining the amount of the impairment loss (in case the recoverable value is lower than the book value). Where 

it is not possible to estimate the recoverable value of an individual asset, the Company estimates the recoverable 

value of the cash-generating unit ("CGU") to which such asset belongs. Where a consistent and reasonable 

allocation base can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to an individual cash-generating unit or, 

otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a consistent allocation base can be identified.  



CABLEVISIÓN HOLDING S.A. 

Registration number with the IGJ: 1,908,463 

 

See our report dated 
March 8, 2018 

  

PRICE WATERHOUSE & CO. S.R.L. 

 

(Partner) 

 

Carlos Alberto Pedro Di Candia 

 Supervisory Committee 

 

 

C.P.C.E.C.A.B.A. Vol. 1 Fol. 17  

 
  

 
- 19 - 

 

 

 

 

The recoverable value of an asset is the higher of the fair value less selling expenses or its value in use. 

 

In measuring value in use, estimated future cash flows are discounted at their present value using a pre-tax 

discount rate, which reflects the current market assessments of the time value of money and, if any, the risks 

specific to the asset for which estimated future cash flows have not been adjusted. 

 

Assets with an indefinite useful life (for example, non-financial assets unavailable for use) are not amortized, but 

are tested for impairment on an annual basis. No impairment losses have been recorded for the year. 

 

Non-financial assets, except for goodwill, for which an impairment loss was recorded, are reviewed at each 

closing date for a possible reversal of the impairment loss. 

 

2.16. Inventories 

 

Inventories have been valued at acquisition cost under regular purchase conditions for the Company, net of the 

allowance for impairment. That allowance is calculated based on the recoverability analysis conducted by the 

Company at the end of the year, comparing to such end its valuation at cost with its net realizable value, which 

represents the cash selling price estimated in the ordinary course of business less the costs necessary to make such 

sale. The cost of inventories is determined under the weighted average price method. The value of inventories 

does not exceed its recoverable value at the end of the year. 

 

2.17. Other Assets 

 

The assets included in this item have been valued at acquisition cost. 

 

Investments denominated in foreign currency subject to restrictions on disposition under financial covenants have 

been valued at face value plus interest accrued as of year-end. 

 

2.18. Provisions and Other Charges 

 

Provisions for Lawsuits and Contingencies and the Accrual for Asset Retirement are recognized when the 

Company has a present obligation (be it legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, when it is probable that 

an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and when the amount of the obligation can be 

reliably estimated. 

 

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present 

obligation at the end of the reporting year, taking into consideration the corresponding risks and uncertainties. 

Where a provision is measured using the estimated cash flow to settle the present obligation, its book value 

represents the present value of such cash flow. 

 

If some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed, a receivable should be 

recognized under Assets, when it is virtually certain that the reimbursement will be received and the amount of the 

receivable is reliably measurable. 

 

In estimating its obligations, the Company takes into consideration the opinion of its legal advisors. 

 

2.19. Financial Instruments 

 

2.19.1. Financial Assets 

Purchases and sales of financial assets (including derivatives) are recognized at the transaction date when the 

Company undertakes to purchase or sell the asset, and is initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, 
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except for those financial assets classified at fair value with changes in the statement of income, which are initially 

measured at fair value. 

 

2.19.1.1. Classification of Financial Assets 

 

Financial assets are classified within the following specific categories: “financial assets at fair value with changes 

in net income” and “loans and receivables”. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial 

assets and is determined on initial recognition. 

 

 

 

2.19.1.2. Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets  

 

2.19.1.2.1. Financial Assets at Fair Value with Changes in Net Income 

 

Financial assets at fair value with changes in net income (mainly mutual funds) are recorded at fair value, 

recognizing any gain or loss arising from the measurement in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income. The net gain or loss recognized in the statement of income includes any gain or loss generated by the 

financial asset and is included under the item financial income or costs, as appropriate, in the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income. Derivatives are included in this category unless they are designated as a 

hedging instrument. 

 

The assets in this category are classified as current if they are expected to be realized within 12 months; otherwise, 

they are classified as non-current. 

 

The fair value of the financial instruments traded in active markets is calculated based on the current quoted 

market price of these instruments. 

 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in active markets is calculated using valuation 

techniques. 

 

2.19.1.2.2. Loans and Receivables  

 

Loans and trade receivables with fixed or determinable payments not traded in an active market are classified as 

“trade receivables and other”. Trade receivables and other (except for derivatives) are initially measured at fair 

value plus transaction costs, and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, 

less any impairment, if any. Interest income is recognized using the effective interest rate method, except for 

short-term balances for which the recognition of interest is not significant. 

 

Loans and receivables are classified as current, except for those with maturities beyond 12 months as from the 

closing date. 

 

In the case of balances in foreign currency, they were translated at the exchange rate effective as of the date on 

which the Company began operating for the settlement of these transactions. The exchange differences were 

charged to income for the year in which they were generated. 

 

2.19.1.3. Impairment of Financial Assets 

 

The Company tests financial assets or a group of assets for impairment at each closing date of the financial 

statements to assess if there is any objective evidence of impairment. The value of a financial asset or a group of 

assets is impaired, and an impairment loss is recognized, where there is objective evidence of the impairment as a 

result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and that loss 
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event or events have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or a group of assets, which 

may be reliably measured. 

 

The objective evidence of impairment may include, among others, significant financial difficulties of the issuer or 

obligor, or breach of contractual terms, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal payments. 

 

For certain categories of financial assets, such as accounts receivable and other receivables, the assets that are not 

impaired on an individual basis are tested for impairment on a collective basis. The objective evidence of 

impairment of a receivables portfolio includes the Company’s past collection experience, an increase in the 

number of delinquent payments in the receivables portfolio, as well as observable changes in the local economic 

situation affecting the recoverability of receivables. 

 

Where there is objective evidence of an impairment loss in the value of loans granted, receivables or held-to-

maturity investments recorded at amortized cost, the loss amount is measured as the difference between the book 

value and the present value of estimated future cash flows (without including future non-incurred losses), 

discounted at the original effective interest rate of the financial asset. The asset’s book value is written down under 

a contra asset account. The loss amount is recognized in the statement of income for the year.  

 

If, in subsequent periods, the impairment loss amount decreases and such decrease can be objectively related to an 

event occurring after the impairment has been recognized (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), 

the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed. A loss reversal can only be recorded to the extent the 

financial asset’s book value does not exceed the amortized cost that would have been determined if the 

impairment loss had not been recorded at the reversal date. The reversal amount is recognized in the statement of 

income for the year. 

 

 

2.19.1.4. Derecognition of Financial Assets 

 

The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows of such assets expire or 

when it transfers the financial asset and, therefore, all the risks and benefits inherent to the ownership of the 

financial asset are transferred to another entity. If the Company retains substantially all the risks and benefits 

inherent to the ownership of the transferred asset, it will continue to recognize it and will recognize a liability for 

the amounts received. 

 

2.19.2. Financial Liabilities 

 

Financial liabilities, except for derivatives, are valued at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  

 

2.19.2.1 Bank and Financial Debt 

 

Bank and Financial Debt is initially valued at fair value net of the transaction costs incurred, and subsequently 

valued at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Any difference between the initial value net of 

the transaction costs and the settlement value is recognized in the income statement over the term of the loan using 

the effective interest rate method. Interest expense has been allocated to “Financial Costs” in the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income, except for the portion allocated to the cost of works under construction 

recorded under “Property, Plant and Equipment” in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. 

 

2.19.2.2. Trade and other payables 

 

Trade payables with fixed or determinable payments not traded in an active market are classified as “Trade and 

other payables”. Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, and subsequently measured at 

amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Interest expense is recognized using the effective interest 

rate method, except for short-term balances for which the recognition of interest is not significant. 
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Trade and other payables are classified as current, except for those with maturities beyond 12 months from the 

closing date. 

 

Trade and other payables in foreign currency have been valued as mentioned above, at the exchange rates effective 

at the closing of each year. The exchange differences were charged to income for each year. 

 

2.19.2.3. Derecognition of Financial Liabilities 

 

The Company shall derecognize a financial liability (or part of it) when it has been extinguished, i.e., when the 

obligation specified in the corresponding agreement is discharged, canceled or expires. 

 

2.19.3 Derivatives and Hedge Accounting 

 

The Company executes certain financial instruments to manage its exposure to exchange risks.  

 

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value at the date of execution of the related contract and subsequently 

measured at fair value at the end of the reporting year. The resulting gain or loss is immediately recognized in the 

statement of income unless the derivate is designated as a hedging instrument, in which case the timing for its 

recognition will depend on the nature of the hedging relationship. The Company uses certain derivatives to hedge 

the fair value of its recognized liabilities (fair value hedge). 

 

The Company documents at the beginning of the transaction the existing relationship between the hedging 

instruments and the hedged items, as well as its objectives to manage risk and the strategy to carry out hedge 

transactions. The Company also documents its assessment, both at the beginning and on an ongoing basis, of the 

high effectiveness of its hedging transactions to offset the changes in the fair value of the hedged items. 

 

The fair value of hedging derivatives is fully classified as a non-current asset or liability if the hedged item 

matures in more than 12 months, and as a current asset or liability if the hedged item matures within 12 months.  

 

Fair Value Hedge 

 

Changes in the fair value of derivatives designated and classified as fair value hedges are charged to the statement 

of income, together with any change in the fair value of a hedged liability attributable to the hedged risk. The 

Company only applies fair value hedge accounting to cover the exchange rate fluctuations of a portion of the 

liabilities the Company holds in foreign currency. The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of foreign 

currency agreements is charged to the statement of income under Financial Costs. The loss or gain related to the 

ineffective portion, if any, is charged to the statement of income under Other Income and Expenses, net. Changes 

in the fair value of the Company’s hedged liabilities denominated in foreign currency, attributable to the risk 

detailed above, are charged to the statement of income under Financial Costs. 

 

2.19.4 Debt Refinancing - Restructuring 

 

Liabilities arising from the restructuring of Cablevisión's financial debt have been initially valued at fair value and 

will be subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 

 

2.20 Other Liabilities 

 

They have been valued at nominal value. 

 

2.21 Dividend Distribution 
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The distribution of dividends to the Company’s shareholders is recognized as a liability in the financial statements 

for the year in which the distribution of dividends is approved at the Shareholders’ Meeting. 

 

2.22 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

 

For the purposes of preparing the statement of cash flows, the item “Cash and Cash Equivalents” includes cash 

and bank balances, certain high liquidity short-term investments (with original maturities shorter than 90 days). 

Bank overdrafts payable on demand are deducted to the extent they are part of the Company’s cash management.  

 

Bank overdraft is classified under “Bank and Financial Debt” in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. 

 

 

 

 

 

In the irregular eight-month fiscal year ended December 31, 2017, the following transactions were carried out, 

which did not have an impact on cash and cash equivalents: 
 

 Irregular 

eight-month 

fiscal year 

ended 

12.31.2017 

 

   

Settlement of dividends payable with debts with Companies under Section 

33 of General Associations Law No, 19,550, as amended 8,400,000 
 

 8,400,000  

 

 

NOTE 3 - ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS 

 

In applying the accounting policies of the Company which are described in Note 2, the Company has to make 

judgments and prepare accounting estimates of the value of the assets and liabilities that may not be otherwise 

obtained. The estimates and related assumptions are based on historical experience and other pertinent factors. 

Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

 

The underlying estimates and assumptions are continually reviewed. The effects of the reviews of accounting 

estimates are recognized for the period in which estimates are reviewed. 

 

These estimates basically refer to: 

 

Measurement of the fair value of certain financial instruments 

 

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be purchased or sold between 

knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. If there is a quoted market price available for an 

instrument in an active market, the fair value is calculated based on that price. 

 

If there is not a quoted market price available for a financial instrument, its fair value is estimated based on the 

price established in recent transactions involving the same or similar instruments and, if not, based on valuation 

techniques regularly used in financial markets. The Company uses its judgment to select a variety of methods and 

makes assumptions based on market conditions at closing.  

 

The method used to measure the fair value of certain financial instruments is described in further detail in Note 

2.19. 
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Allowance for Doubtful Receivables 

  

The Company calculates the allowance for doubtful receivables for debt instruments that are not valued at fair 

value, taking into account the uncollectibility history and other circumstances known at the time of calculation. 

 

Impairment losses of certain assets other than accounts receivable (including property, plant and 

equipment and intangible assets) 

 

Certain assets, including property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are subject to impairment testing. 

The Company records impairment losses when it estimates that there is objective evidence of such losses or when 

the cost of such losses will not be recovered through future cash flows. The evaluation of what constitutes 

impairment is a matter of significant judgment. The impairment of non-financial assets is dealt with in more depth 

in Note 2.15. 

 

 

Recognition and Measurement of Deferred Tax Items 
  

As disclosed in Note 2.12, deferred tax assets are only recognized for temporary differences to the extent that it is 

probable that each entity, on an individual basis, will have enough future taxable income against which the 

deferred tax assets can be used. Deferred tax assets from unused tax loss carryforwards are only recognized when 

it is probable that each entity will have enough future taxable income against which they can be used. 

 

Pursuant to effective regulations, the use of the subsidiaries’ tax credits is based on a projection analysis of future 

income. 

 

The Company examines the recoverable value of deferred tax assets based on its business plans and books a 

valuation allowance, if appropriate, so that the net position of the deferred tax asset will reflect the probable 

recoverable value.  

 

Impairment of Goodwill 

 

The Company assesses goodwill for impairment on an annual basis. In determining if there is impairment of 

goodwill, the Company calculates the value in use of the cash generating units to which it has been allocated. The 

calculation of the value in use requires the determination by the entity of the future cash flows that should arise 

from the cash generating units and an appropriate discount rate to calculate the present value. No impairment 

losses have been recorded for goodwill at year-end. 

 

Provisions for Lawsuits and Contingencies 

 

The elements taken into consideration for the calculation of the Provision for Lawsuits and Contingencies are 

determined based on the present value of the estimated costs arising from the lawsuits brought against the 

Company. 

 

In estimating its obligations, the Company takes into consideration the opinion of its legal advisors. 

 

Determination of the Useful Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets  

 

The Company reviews the reasonableness of the estimated useful life of property, plant and equipment and 

intangible assets at each year-end.  

 

Measurement of the fair value of assets acquired in business combinations  
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See the accounting policies described in Note 2.5. 

 

 

NOTE 4 – ACQUISITION OF COMPANIES AND CORPORATE REORGANIZATION PROCESSES 

 

a) On March 31, 2017, Cablevisión's Board of Directors approved the Pre-Merger Commitment executed 

among Cablevisión, Nextel, Greenmax Telecommunications S.A.U., WX Telecommunications S.A.U., 

Gridley Investments S.A., Trixco S.A., Fibercomm S.A., Netizen S.A, Eritown Corporation Argentina S.A., 

Skyonline de Argentina S.A., Infotel Argentina S.A., Nextwave Argentina S.A. and Callbi S.A., whereby, as 

of the merger date, Cablevisión, in its capacity as absorbing company, will continue with the operations of 

Nextel, Greenmax Telecommunications S.A.U., WX Telecommunications S.A.U., Gridley Investments S.A., 

Trixco S.A., Fibercomm S.A., Netizen S.A, Eritown Corporation Argentina S.A., Skyonline de Argentina 

S.A., Infotel Argentina S.A., Nextwave Argentina S.A. and Callbi S.A. (the “Absorbed Companies”) thus 

generating the corresponding operating, accounting and tax effects. That merger was approved by the 

shareholders of Cablevisión at the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting held on May 17, 2017. On July 11, 

2017, the public deed related to the merger was issued. 

  

On September 18, 2017, the ENACOM authorized, under Resolution No. 2017-1734 APN ENACOM# MM, 

the transfer of the registrations, numbering and sign-posting resources, authorizations and frequency use 

permits granted to Nextel, Trixco S.A., Callbi S.A., Infotel Argentina S.A., Skyonline de Argentina S.A., 

Netizen S.A. and Eritown Corporation Argentina S.A. in favor of Cablevisión. 

 

As a result of the above-mentioned corporate reorganization process, the Absorbed Companies were 

dissolved without liquidation and Cablevisión assumed all the activities, receivables, property and all the 

rights and obligations of the above-mentioned companies, existing as of the first day of October 2017 

(“Effective Date of the Merger”), or any that may exist or arise due to previous or subsequent acts or 

activities. 

 

On December 1, 2017, the CNV issued Resolution RESFC-2017-19134-APN-DIR#CNV, whereby it granted 

the administrative approval of the above-mentioned merger and the File is currently pending before the 

Public Registry of Commerce of the City of Buenos Aires for the issuance of the certification stamps 

concerning the dissolution of the Absorbed Companies and the merger of Cablevisión.   

 

On February 23, 2018, the merger was registered with the IGJ under No. 3,469, Book 88, Volume - Stock 

Companies. 

 

b) On August 16, 2016, the Board of Directors of Cablevisión approved the Pre-Merger Commitment executed 

between Cablevisión, Copetonas Video Cable S.A., Dorrego Televisión S.A., Fintelco S.A., Indio Rico Cable 

Color S.A., Primera Red Interactiva de Medios Argentinos (PRIMA) S.A. (“Prima”), Cable Video Sur S.A., 

Wolves Televisión S.A. and Tres Arroyos Televisora Color S.A., whereby, on the effective date of the 

merger -October 1, 2016- (“Effective Date of the Merger”), Cablevisión, as absorbing company, continued 

with the operations of Copetonas Video Cable S.A., Dorrego Televisión S.A., Fintelco S.A., Indio Rico 

Cable Color S.A., Prima, Cable Video Sur S.A., Wolves Televisión S.A. and Tres Arroyos Televisora Color 

S.A. (the “Absorbed Companies”), thus generating the corresponding operating, accounting and tax effects. 

As a result of the above-mentioned corporate reorganization process, the Absorbed Companies were 

dissolved without liquidation. That merger was approved by the shareholders of Cablevisión at the 

Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting held on September 27, 2016, and on April 20, 2017 it was registered 

with the Public Registry of Commerce. 

 

In addition, at Cablevisión’s Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting held on September 27, 2016, the 

shareholders also unanimously approved: (i) the amendment of Article Three of the Bylaws in order to 

conform the core business of Cablevisión to the new regulatory framework under Laws Nos. 27,078 and 
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26,522, and (ii) the amendment of Articles Nine and Ten of the Bylaws in order to eliminate the Executive 

Committee. Both amendments of the Bylaws were registered with the Public Registry of Commerce. 

 

In view of the above, Cablevisión made a filing with the ENACOM in order to inform that Agency of the 

corporate reorganization to be implemented, so that it would consequently register under the name of the 

absorbing company, the “Area Authorizations” required to exploit Cable Television Services corresponding 

to Copetonas Video Cable S.A., Dorrego Televisión S.A., Indio Rico Cable Color S.A., Cable Video Sur 

S.A., and Tres Arroyos Televisora Color S.A. The license for Wolves Televisión S.A. was abandoned 

because Cablevisión already has an Area Authorization in the jurisdiction where Wolves Televisión S.A. 

exploited the cable television service.  

 

In addition, Prima and Cablevisión made a filing with the ENACOM in order to request that Agency to 

register the license that had been granted to Prima in favor of Cablevisión as a consequence of the corporate 

reorganization process. On August 25, 2017, the ENACOM authorized, under Resolution No. 2017-339 APN 

ENACOM# MM, the transfer of the registration of national and international long-distance telephony 

services, as well as the numbering and sign-posting resources, radioelectric frequencies and authorizations 

granted to Prima in favor of Cablevisión. 

 

c) On December 22, 2016, Adesol S.A., a subsidiary of Cablevisión, entered into a call option agreement (the 

“Call Option Agreement”) with the majority shareholder of the special purpose entities (see Note 2.4.1), 

whereby, Adesol has the right to exercise, until December 31, 2021, the irrevocable call option on the shares 

of those companies (the “Call Option”). If it exercises the Call Option, the purchase price has been 

preliminarily established in the amount of Ps. 127,600,002, subject to adjustment in case certain 

circumstances provided under the Call Option Agreement occur. 

 

In addition to the execution of the Call Option Agreement, Adesol S.A. paid to the grantor an option premium 

under the Call Option in the amount of Ps. 44,660,000. If Adesol S.A. does not exercise the Call Option, the 

seller shall irrevocably retain the amount paid by Adesol S.A., and the agreement will be terminated.   

 

If it exercises the Call Option, the assignment, sale and transfer of the shares in favor of Adesol S.A. shall be 

subject, as condition precedent, to the approval by the Communication Services Regulatory Agency of the 

Republic of Uruguay. 

 

On December 28, 2017, the parties executed an amendment to the Option Agreement and the Seller sent a 

notice to Adesol S.A., whereby: (i) the Call Option Period was extended for two additional years, thus the 

expiration date is now December 31, 2023; (ii) the Purchase Price of the Shares was set precisely and 

definitively at five million eleven thousand seven hundred forty-seven US dollars (USD 5,011,747) and forty-

four million, six hundred sixty thousand Argentine pesos (Ps. 44,660,000); (iii) Adesol S.A. undertook to 

pay, within ten (10) business days as from December 30, 2017, a Supplement to the Option Premium in the 

amount of USD 4,500,000; and (iv) in the event that Adesol S.A. has paid the Seller the Supplement to the 

Option Premium and Adesol S.A. does not exercise the Call Option within the Call Option Period, the Seller 

undertakes to return to Adesol S.A., within ten business days as from the expiration of the Call Option 

Period, the amount of USD 2,500,000 received as partial payment of the Supplement to the Call Option 

Premium. In view of the above, on January 16, 2018, Adesol S.A. paid to the Seller the Supplement to the 

Call Option Premium. 

 

d) On June 30, 2017, the Boards of Directors of Telecom Argentina S.A. and Cablevisión S.A., respectively 

approved a pre-merger commitment whereby Telecom Argentina S.A., a company organized and existing 

under the laws of Argentina with shares currently listed in the stock markets of New York and Buenos Aires 

(NYSE: TEO, BCBA: TECO2), in its capacity as absorbing company, absorbed Cablevisión, which was 

dissolved without liquidation as of the effective date of the merger, pursuant to the provisions of Sections 82 

and 83 of the General Associations Law No. 19,550 (the "Merger").   
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The purpose of the Merger is for Telecom Argentina S.A., in its capacity as merged company (“Merged 

Company”), to offer in an efficient manner, in line with the national and international trend, technological 

products for media and telecommunications that converge the different separate or independent modalities in 

which voice, data, sound and video transmission wired and wireless services are provided, into a single 

product or a series of products to be provided to users as a whole for the benefit of the users and consumers 

of those multiple individual services. Both companies understood that their respective operating and technical 

structures were highly complementary and could be optimized through a structural consolidation, achieving 

synergies and efficiencies in the development of convergence products along with the demand of the market. 

 

The effective date of the Merger (the “Effective Date of the Merger”) was established as from 0.00 hours of 

the day on which the Chairmen of the Boards of Directors of Telecom Argentina S.A. and Cablevisión signed 

the minutes regarding the transfer of operations, stating that: (i)Telecom Argentina S.A. had adjusted its 

technical-operative systems to undertake the operations and activities of Cablevisión S.A.; and (ii) the 

transfer of the operations and activities of Cablevisión to Telecom Argentina S.A. took effect on that 

Effective Date of the Merger because every and each of the following conditions precedent to which the 

Merger was subject had been fulfilled: 1) execution of the final merger agreement; and 2) authorization of the 

operation by ENACOM. 

 

On January 1, 2018, since the conditions precedent to which the Merger was subject had been fulfilled, the 

Chairmen of the Boards of Directors of both companies signed the minutes regarding the transfer of 

operations, marking the occurrence of the Effective Date of the Merger. 

 

As from the above-mentioned Effective Date of the Merger, (i) all the assets and liabilities, including the 

assets subject to registration, licenses, rights and obligations that belong to Cablevisión S.A. will be deemed 

to have been incorporated to the equity of Telecom Argentina S.A., (ii) Telecom Argentina S.A. continues 

with the operations of Cablevisión S.A., thus generating the corresponding operating, accounting and tax 

effects, (iii) the management and representation of Cablevisión S.A. was taken over by the management and 

representatives of Telecom Argentina S.A. 

 

Pursuant to Section 83, subsection c) of the Argentine General Associations Law No. 19,550, the parties have 

set the following exchange ratio: 1 common share of Cablevisión S.A. (either a Class A Share of Cablevisión 

S.A. or a Class B Share of Cablevisión) for each 9,871.07005 new shares of Telecom Argentina S.A. (the 

“Exchange Ratio”). This Exchange Ratio was deemed reasonable, from a financial standpoint, by the 

independent professional appraiser Lion Tree Advisors LLC. 

 

On June 30, 2017, the Boards of Directors of Telecom Argentina S.A. and Cablevisión S.A., respectively, 

decided to call an Ordinary and Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting in the case of Telecom Argentina S.A., 

and an Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting in the case of Cablevisión S.A., to be held on August 31, 2017 

to consider the pre-merger commitment and, with regard to Cablevisión, its consequent dissolution and with 

regard to Telecom Argentina S.A., the amendment of the Bylaws and the increase of its capital stock. 

 

On August 31, 2017, the shareholders of Telecom Argentina and Cablevisión held their respective 

Shareholders’ Meetings and, after making the publications required by law- since no oppositions to the 

above-mentioned corporate reorganization process were filed-, on October 31, 2017, they executed the final 

Merger Agreement which was cast onto Public Deed No. 2,142, transcribed to page No. 12,398 of Notarial 

Record Book No. 15 of Capital Federal (“Final Merger Agreement”.) 

 

Pursuant to the Pre-Merger Commitment and the Final Merger Commitment, on September 6, 2017, Telecom 

Argentina S.A. and Cablevisión made a joint filing with the ENACOM in order to request the authorization 

of the change of control, transfer of registrations and spectrum held by Cablevisión S.A. Consequently, after 

filing all the requested documentation, on December 22, 2017, Telecom Argentina S.A. and Cablevisión S.A. 

were served with ENACOM Resolution No. 5,644-E/2017, whereby that agency decided, among other 

things, to authorize Cablevisión S.A. to transfer in favor of Telecom Argentina: (i) the Registration of 



CABLEVISIÓN HOLDING S.A. 

Registration number with the IGJ: 1,908,463 

 

See our report dated 
March 8, 2018 

  

PRICE WATERHOUSE & CO. S.R.L. 

 

(Partner) 

 

Carlos Alberto Pedro Di Candia 

 Supervisory Committee 

 

 

C.P.C.E.C.A.B.A. Vol. 1 Fol. 17  

 
  

 
- 28 - 

 

 

 

physical and/or radio electric link broadcasting services, including permits/frequencies required to provide 

radio electric link subscription broadcasting services, as well as area authorizations to provide those services 

(via physical and radio electric link), which may operate in Area II, as defined under Decree No. 1,461/93, as 

amended, and the city of Rosario, Province of Santa Fe, and the city of Córdoba, Province of Córdoba, as 

from January 1, 2018, as provided under Article 5 of National Decree No. 1,340/2016, and in the rest of the 

areas authorized, on the dates and in the modalities provided under ENACOM Resolution No. 5,641/2017 

dated December 20, 2017; (ii) the Registration of the Radio Electric Trunking Service (SRCE); and (iii) the 

authorizations and frequency use permits and allocations of numbering and sign-posting resources to provide 

the above-mentioned services held by Cablevisión, pursuant to effective regulations (Annex IV of Decree No. 

764/2000), and the agreement executed by Nextel on April 12, 2017 (IF-2017-08818737-APN-

ENACOM#MCO), whereby Telecom Argentina S.A., in its capacity as absorbing company of Cablevisión, 

shall within a term of two years as from the date the merger is approved by the National Antitrust 

Commission and the ENACOM or by any agency that may substitute them in the future, return the radio 

electric spectrum that exceeds the limit set under Section 5 of Resolution No. 171-E/17 issued by the 

Ministry of Communications and/or any regulation that may replace it in the future. To that effect, Telecom 

Argentina shall file with the ENACOM, no later than one year prior to the expiration of the two-year term, a 

proposal to conform to that limit. The ENACOM may accept the proposal, reject it and/or request a new 

filing with any changes it may deem appropriate. In addition, through that Resolution, the ENACOM 

authorized the change of corporate control (as defined under Article 33 of the General Companies Law No. 

19,550) of Telecom Argentina that will occur once the merger becomes effective and the shareholders 

agreement dated July 7, 2017 enters into effect, as a result of which Cablevisión Holding S.A. would become 

the controlling company of Telecom Argentina S.A. as surviving company of Cablevisión. 

 
In connection with the above-mentioned transaction, on July 7, 2017, the Company, together with VLG 

Argentina LLC (“VLG”), Fintech Media LLC, Fintech Advisory Inc., GC Dominio S.A. and Fintech 

Telecom LLC executed a shareholders’ agreement that governs the exercise of the rights of the shareholders 

of Telecom Argentina S.A. (the “Agreement”) once the merger process between Telecom Argentina S.A. and 

Cablevisión S.A. is concluded and has become effective. Under such Agreement, the parties have provided 

for:  

 

 the representation in the corporate bodies establishing that, subject to the fulfillment of certain conditions 

established therein and provided Cablevisión Holding S.A. complies with certain minimum participation 

requirements in the Merged Company, it may appoint the majority of the members of the Board of 

Directors, the Executive Committee, the Audit Committee and the Supervisory Committee; and 

  

 a scheme of special majority requirements for the approval by the Board of Directors and/or the 

Shareholders, as applicable, of certain issues, such as: i) the Business Plan and the Annual Budget of the 

Merged Company, ii) the amendment of the bylaws, iii) the change of external auditors, iv) the creation 

of committees of the Board of Directors, v) the hiring of Key Employees, as defined in the Agreement, 

vi) the merger or consolidation of Telecom or any Controlled Company, vii) acquisitions of certain 

assets, viii) sales of certain assets, ix) increases of capital stock, x) incurring indebtedness above certain 

limits, xi) capital investments in infrastructure, plant and equipment above certain amounts, xii) related 

party transactions, xiii) contracts that impose restrictions on the distribution of dividends, xiv) new lines 

of business or the discontinuation of existing ones, and xv) actions to be taken in insolvency situations, 

among others. 

 

In addition, pursuant to the Agreement, (a) Fintech Telecom LLC and Cablevisión Holding (i) will each 

contribute certain shares of Telecom to a voting trust (the “Voting Trust”) which, once the shares in Telecom 

Argentina held by Cablevisión Holding are incorporated, will exceed fifty percent (50%) of the outstanding 

shares after the merger becomes effective, and (ii) will each appoint a co-trustee who will vote the shares 

pursuant to the terms of the voting trust to be executed by certain parties of the Agreement. The shares under 

the Voting Trust shall be voted as per the instructions of the co-trustee appointed by Cablevisión Holding, 

except in the case of certain issues subject to veto under the Agreement, in which case the co-trustee of 
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Fintech Telecom LLC will determine the vote with respect to the post-Merger shares under the Voting Trust, 

and (b) subject to the fulfillment by Cablevisión Holding and Fintech Telecom LLC of certain ownership 

thresholds regarding the shares of Telecom Argentina S.A., Cablevisión Holding will be entitled to appoint 

the general manager and other key employees of Telecom Argentina S.A. and Fintech Telecom LLC will be 

entitled to appoint the chief financial officer and the internal auditor. 

 

On the same date, Cablevisión Holding S.A. accepted an offer for an irrevocable call option granted by 

Fintech Advisory Inc. and its subsidiaries Fintech Telecom LLC and Fintech Media LLC for the acquisition 

of an equity interest of 13.51% in Telecom Argentina (which represents approximately 6% of Telecom 

Argentina’s capital stock once the Merger becomes effective) for USD 634,275,282 (the “Option”). The 

maximum term to exercise the Option is one year as from July 7, 2017. Cablevisión Holding had to pay to 

Fintech Advisory Inc., within a term of thirty days as from July 7, 2017, an option premium of USD 

3,000,000, which was settled on July 2017. 

 

On October 5, 2017, the Company made a prepayment of the aggregate exercise price under the Option for 

USD 634,275,282. Within the framework of the clauses established under the Option, once the prepayment 

had been made, Cablevisión Holding could only receive in consideration of said prepayment an equity 

interest equivalent to 13.51% in Telecom Argentina, even if Cablevisión Holding did not exercise the Option 

prior to its expiration date. The only thing pending was the election of the company through which the above-

mentioned interest in Telecom Argentina would be acquired. As guarantee for the above-mentioned 

prepayment, Fintech Media LLC pledged in favor of the Company a 21.55% interest in VLG. 

 

On December 27, 2017, the Company exercised the Option. As a result, it decided to receive an additional 

equity interest in VLG of 21.55% (which represents an indirect interest of approximately 6% in Telecom’s 

capital stock once the Merger becomes effective). In addition, within the framework of the option agreement, 

its price was finally established at USD 628,008,363. As a result of exercising said option, Fintech Media 

LLC became the holder of 28.45% of the capital stock of VLG and Cablevisión Holding S.A. became the 

holder of 71.55% of the capital stock of VLG.  As of December 31, 2017, the only thing pending was the 

formal delivery of the shares, whereby the Company became the holder for all purposes of 71.55% of VLG’s 

capital stock. 

 

Within the framework of the merger whereby Telecom Argentina S.A. absorbed Cablevisión S.A., Fintech 

Media LLC and Cablevisión Holding S.A. undertook to carry out certain corporate reorganization processes 

and to separate and split the whole capital stock of VLG between Fintech Media LLC and Cablevisión 

Holding S.A., in proportion to their respective holdings in VLG after the exercise an Option in favor of 

Cablevisión Holding S.A.  

 

In view of the above, VLG started a corporate reorganization process whereby it spun off, in proportion to the 

respective holdings of its shareholders Fintech Media LLC (28.45%) and Cablevisión Holding (71.55%), a 

portion of its equity to create a new company called “VLG Argentina Escindida LLC”, effective as of the 

Effective Date of the Merger. As a result of the above-mentioned spin-off process, Cablevisión Holding 

became the holder of 100% of VLG, which became the holder of 44,059 Class A shares of Cablevisión S.A.; 

and Fintech Media LLC became the holder of 100% of VLG Argentina Escindida LLC, which became the 

holder of 17,522 Class A shares of Cablevisión S.A.; in both cases together with all the rights inherent to 

those shares, including (i) the right to collect the dividends approved by the Board of Directors of 

Cablevisión S.A. on December 18, 2017, which resulted in VLG being entitled to collect Ps. 1,497,194,601 

and VLG Argentina Escindida LLC being entitled to collect Ps. 595,425,311, and (ii) as a result of the 

exchange ratio approved by the shareholders of Cablevisión S.A. at the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting 

held on August 31, 2017, the right to receive new shares to be issued by Telecom Argentina S.A. at the 

Exchange Ratio provided under the Pre-Merger Commitment and the Final Merger Agreement, i.e.: VLG 

received 434,909,475 Class D common, book-entry shares with nominal value of Ps. 1 each and entitled to 1 

vote per share of Telecom Argentina S.A., representing 20.2% of the capital stock of said company, and VLG 

Argentina Escindida LLC received 172,960,890 Class A common, book-entry shares with nominal value of 
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Ps. 1 each and entitled to 1 vote per share of Telecom Argentina S.A., representing 8.0% of the capital stock 

of that company. 

 

As a result of the transactions described above, as from January 1, 2018, Cablevisión Holding S.A. became 

the holder of a 39.08% equity interest in Telecom Argentina S.A. after the Merger became effective. 

 

In accordance with the Pre-Merger Commitment and the Final Merger Agreement, on January 1, 2018, 

Telecom Argentina S.A. increased its capital stock in the amount of Ps. 1,184,528,406, through the issuance 

of 1,184,528,406 common book-entry shares, with nominal value of ARS 1 each and entitled to one vote per 

share. The shareholders of Cablevisión S.A. received these new shares in exchange for the shares they held of 

that company, in the form of Class “A” or “D” Shares of Telecom Argentina S.A., as applicable, according to 

the Exchange Ratio. 

 

As from January 1, 2018, (i) all the assets and liabilities, including the assets subject to registration, licenses, 

rights and obligations that belong to Cablevisión S.A. are deemed incorporated to the equity of Telecom 

Argentina S.A., (ii) Telecom Argentina S.A. will continue with the operations of Cablevisión S.A., thus 

generating the corresponding operating, accounting and tax effects, (iii) the management and representation of 

Cablevisión S.A. is taken over by the management and representatives of Telecom Argentina S.A., and (iv) 

Cablevisión Holding is the legal controlling company of Telecom Argentina. 

 

Telecom recorded the Merger following the acquisition method, as described under IFRS 3. In the case of 

business combinations executed through an exchange of equity interests, IFRS 3 requires the consideration of 

all relevant facts and circumstances when identifying the acquirer. Pursuant to the terms of the Pre-Merger 

Commitment, Cablevisión S.A. (the company that is legally absorbed) must be considered the acquirer for 

accounting purposes and Telecom Argentina S.A. (the surviving company) must be considered the acquiree 

for accounting purposes. Therefore, this transaction qualifies as a “reverse acquisition” under IFRS. The 

grounds used to determine that Cablevisión S.A. is to be considered the acquirer for accounting purposes in 

the Merger were the following: 

 

1) Relative voting rights in the surviving company (55% for the shareholders of Cablevisión S.A. before the 

Effective Date of the Merger and 45% for the shareholders of Telecom Argentina S.A. before the 

Effective Date of the Merger, both percentages considered before the Effective Date of the Merger), 

2) the composition of the Board of Directors of the surviving company and other committees (Audit 

Committee, Supervisory Committee and Executive Committee), 

3) The relative fair value allocated to Telecom Argentina S.A. and Cablevisión S.A. and 

4) The composition of the key senior management of the surviving company.  

 

Consequently, the assets and liabilities of Cablevisión S.A. were recognized and measured in the financial 

statements at book value before the Merger, while the identifiable assets and liabilities of Telecom Argentina 

S.A. were recognized at fair value as of the Effective Date of the Merger. The goodwill obtained under the 

acquisition method was measured as the excess of the fair value of the consideration paid over the net fair 

value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Telecom Argentina S.A. The accumulated results and other 

balances of shareholders’ equity recognized in the financial statements of the combined entity are the sum of 

the respective balances of the individual financial statements of Telecom Argentina S.A. and Cablevisión S.A. 

immediately before the merger. 

 

IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”, in paragraphs 59 through 63, provides that when a significant business 

combination is executed between the closing date of the financial statements and their date of issuance, they 

must include certain disclosures regarding the transaction. The merger by acquisition between Telecom 

Argentina S.A. and Cablevisión that took place on January 1, 2018 qualifies as a business combination under 

IFRS 3. Therefore, the following information is disclosed to comply with said standard. 
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The figures disclosed below represent the best estimate made by Telecom based on information available to 

date. If the Company obtains new information about the events and circumstances existing on the date of 

acquisition, it will introduce changes reassessing the fair value of the net assets already identified and/or 

identifying any additional assets or liabilitiesduring the measurement period, which will not exceed one year 

as from the date of acquisition as provided under paragraph 45 of IFRS 3. 

 

Due to the fact that the Merger between Telecom Argentina S.A. and Cablevisión was a business combination 

carried out through an exchange of equity interests, the consideration is determined based on the fair value of 

the shares of Telecom as of the effective date of the Merger. The consideration amounted to Ps. 132 Bn, 

calculated based on the market price of the ADR of Telecom Argentina S.A. on the New York Stock 

Exchange (NYSE) on the effective date of the transaction (January 1, 2018.) 

 

Pursuant to IFRS 3, the acquired net identifiable assets were measured at fair value, which estimated value 

amounted to Ps. 74 Bn. Among those net identifiable assets, the following stand out: Property, Plant and 

Equipment, with an estimated fair value of Ps. 63 Bn and Intangible Assets, with an estimated fair value of Ps. 

40 Bn (which include the recognition of the Customer Portfolio for Ps. 10 Bn, Brands for Ps. 9 Bn and 

Licenses for Ps. 21 Bn.) In addition, the Company recognized a deferred income tax liability due to the higher 

value allocated to the net identifiable assets which, added to the book value as of the effective date of the 

transaction, amounted to Ps. 17 Bn.  

 

Telecom recognized a non-controlling interest estimated at Ps. 1 Bn, measuring the net identifiable assets 

pursuant to the equity method. The allocation of the purchase price of the acquired net assets generated a 

goodwill with an estimated value of Ps. 59 Bn. 

 

Goodwill represents the future economic benefits that are not individually identified or recognized separately. 

It represents the excess of the consideration and the non-controlling interest over the fair value of the net 

identifiable assets acquired under the business combination. Goodwill is not amortized. It shall be tested for 

impairment at least once a year as required under IAS 38. 

 

As a result of the business combination described in the previous paragraphs, as from January 1, 2018, 

Cablevisión Holding S.A. will prepare its consolidated financial statements incorporating the balances and 

transactions that arise from the financial information of Telecom Argentina.   

 

On December 28, 2017, Cablevisión offered to acquire one hundred percent (100%) of the capital stock of 

Inter Radios S.A., an Argentine sociedad anónima, a corporation with limited liability, incorporated under the 

laws of the Argentine Republic, the core business of which is the installation and exploitation of broadcasting 

services. The offer amounted to USD 1,024,166 and was accepted on December 28, 2017. As a result, 

Cablevisión became the owner of one hundred percent (100%) of the capital stock of that company. 

 

a) On October 2, 2017, the Company made a capital contribution in GCSA Equity for approximately USD 23.2 

million, which was used by that company to repay liabilities. In addition, on December 27, 2017, GCSA 

Equity was dissolved. 

 

 

NOTE 5 – SEGMENT INFORMATION 

 

The Company is mainly engaged in the cable television, Internet access and IDEN Telephony business which 

requires the development of several activities distributed among the companies in which it holds equity interests. 

Based on the nature, clients, and risks involved, the following business segments have been identified, which are 

directly related to the way in which the Company assesses its business performance: 

 

a. Cable television and Internet access, mainly comprised by its own operations through its equity interests 

in its subsidiaries. 
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b. IDEN telephony services through its interest in Nextel. 

The Company’s Board of Directors, the main operating decisions maker, uses adjusted EBITDA to measure the 

performance of the operating segments. Adjusted EBITDA is defined as revenues less cost of sales and selling and 

administrative expenses (excluding depreciation and amortization). The Company believes that adjusted EBITDA 

is a significant performance measure of its businesses, since it is commonly used in the industry to analyze and 

compare media companies based on operating performance, indebtedness and liquidity. However, adjusted 

EBITDA does not measure net income or cash flows generated by operations and should not be considered as an 

alternative to net income, an indication of the Company’s financial performance, an alternative to cash flows 

generated by operating activities or a measure of liquidity. 

 

Since adjusted EBITDA is not defined by IFRS, it is possible that other companies may calculate it differently. 

Therefore, the EBITDA reported by other companies may not be comparable to the Company’s adjusted EBITDA. 

 

Note 1 to these consolidated financial statements includes additional information about the Company’s businesses. 

 

The following tables include the information for the irregular eight-month fiscal year beginning May 1, 2017 and 

ended December 31, 2017, prepared under IFRS, for the business segments identified by the Company. 
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Cable Television and 

Internet Access (1) IDEN Telephony 

 

Other (2) 

Eliminations / 

Adjustments (3) Consolidated 

           
Information arising from the Consolidated 

Statement of Comprehensive Income  

For the Eight-month fiscal year ended 

12.31.2017   

  

      
           

Sales of services and goods to third parties 26,592,987,405  1,793,264,759  -   13,476,346  28,399,728,510 

Intersegment Sales 1,055,922  15,869,431  60,800,000   (77,725,353)  - 

Total Sales  26,594,043,327  1,809,134,190  60,800,000   (64,249,007)  28,399,728,510 

Cost of sales (excluding depreciation and 

amortization) (9,843,179,192)  (1,058,790,409)  -   (72,777,141)  (10,974,746,742) 

Expenses - excluding depreciation and 

amortization:           

Selling Expenses (3,460,952,941)  (646,388,282)  -   -  (4,107,341,223) 

Administrative Expenses (2,831,492,690)  (214,222,796)  (90,267,829)   -  (3,135,983,315) 

Intersegment Costs and Expenses (76,669,431)  (1,055,922)  -   77,725,353  - 

              

Adjusted EBITDA 10,381,749,073  (111,323,219)  (29,467,829)   (59,300,795)  10,181,657,230 

           
Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment           (2,732,007,796) 

Amortization of Intangible Assets           (11,928,396) 

Other Income and Expenses, net          18,981,403 

Financial Results          (3,720,259,758) 

Equity in Earnings from Associates          115,146,085 

Income Tax and Tax on Assets          (1,624,542,957) 

Net Income for the Year           2,227,045,811 

           
Total Assets 42,697,546,639  4,517,459,861  2,378,853,686   (1,940,896,142)  47,652,964,044 

           

Additional Consolidated Information as of 

December 31, 2017   

  

      

           
Acquisition of Property, Plant and Equipment 8,019,366,600  -  -   -  8,019,366,600 

Acquisition of Intangible Assets 20,296  -  -   -  20,296 

Acquisition of Companies 19,663,984  -  -   -  19,663,984 

Ordinary Income from Foreign Subsidiaries 739,556,668  -  -   -  739,556,668 

Non-Current Assets excluding deferred tax and 

financial assets in foreign subsidiaries 961,358,015  -  -   -  961,358,015 
  (1) It arises from internal information reviewed by the Board of Directors. 

(2) It corresponds to the results of the group that do not qualify as a reportable segment. 

(3) The eliminations and adjustments correspond to operations between the Company and its subsidiaries and to different valuation criteria applied related to the recognition of revenues from cable TV and Internet installation services 

and transactions including separate items. 
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NOTE 6 - BREAKDOWN OF THE MAIN ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

 

6.1 – Revenues 

 
  Eight-month fiscal 

year ended 

12.31.2017 

 

Cable Television Services  17,043,131,166  

Mobile Telephony Services  1,576,037,709  

Internet Services  9,185,890,676  

Sale of Goods  86,984,385  

Other   507,684,574  

Total  28,399,728,510  

 

6.2. - Cost of Sales 

 
  Irregular eight-

month fiscal year 

ended 12.31.2017 

 

Inventories as of May 1, 2017  203,251,482  

Purchases for the year, net  141,203,023  

Cost of services provided (Note 6.3)  13,239,535,319  

Inventories at year-end  (115,576,852)  

Total Cost of Sales   13,468,412,972  

  
6.3 – Cost of services provided, selling and administrative expenses 

 

 

 Cost of services 

provided Selling Expenses 

Administrative 

Expenses 

 Total for the 

irregular eight-

month fiscal year 

ended 12.31.2017  

Salaries, Social Security and Benefits to Personnel (1) 3,175,262,513 876,573,882 819,353,671 4,871,190,066  

Programming Costs 3,994,207,656 - - 3,994,207,656  

Severance Payments 65,872,285 55,865,523 63,417,993 185,155,801  

Public Utilities, Charges and Taxes 638,389,192 1,407,694,385 25,811,963 2,071,895,540  

Maintenance of Property, Plant and Equipment 1,368,620,257 145,835,688 442,627,645 1,957,083,590  

Leases 382,771,972 38,893,562 49,413,388 471,078,922  

Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment 2,481,737,834 93,455,804 156,814,158 2,732,007,796  

Fees for services 23,291,360 302,855,477 978,719,703 1,304,866,540  

Advertising and Promotion - 628,662,873 406,160 629,069,033  

Data Transfer Costs 582,487,803 - 964,559 583,452,362  

Bad Debts - 384,262,312 - 384,262,312  

Collection Expenses and Commissions 4,783,495 43,884,716 673,897,582 722,565,793  

Obsolescence of Materials 60,601,654 - - 60,601,654  

Lawsuits and Contingencies 104,687,914 95,495,264 (18,745,342) 181,437,836  

Amortization of Intangible Assets 11,928,396 - - 11,928,396  

Miscellaneous  344,892,988 127,317,541 100,115,993 572,326,522  

Total  13,239,535,319 4,200,797,027 3,292,797,473 20,733,129,819  

 

(1) In accordance with the decision rendered by Chamber II of the Court of Appeals on Federal Administrative Matters, as from September 2015, Cablevisión began 

calculating employer’s contributions as tax credit on VAT. The amount calculated for the eight-month period ended December 31, 2017 was approximately Ps. 696 

million.  
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6.4 - Financial Costs 

 
  Irregular eight-

month fiscal year 

ended 12.31.2017 

 

Interest  (715,860,550)  

Exchange Differences  (2,686,174,674)  

Financial Discounts on Debt  12,091,820  

Other Financial Results Related to the Financial Debt  26,606,193  

Total  (3,363,337,211)  

 

6.5 – Other Financial Results, net 

 
  Irregular eight-

month fiscal year 

ended 12.31.2017 

 

Interest   24,426,939  

Other Taxes and Expenses  (364,733,698)  

Exchange Differences   (69,285,488)  

Financial Discounts on Assets, debt and Other  22,835,429  

Results from Operations with Notes and Bonds  4,306,471  

Income from Changes in the Fair Value of Financial Instruments  25,527,800  

Total  (356,922,547)  

 

6.6 - Equity in Earnings from Associates 

 
  Irregular eight-

month fiscal year 

ended 12.31.2017 

La Capital Cable S.A.  18,469,950 

Teledifusora San Miguel Arcángel S.A.  28,882,166 

Ver TV S.A.  66,999,304 

Other  794,665  

Total  115,146,085  
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NOTE 7 - BREAKDOWN OF THE MAIN ITEMS OF THE CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

 

7.1 - Property, Plant and Equipment 

 

Cost or deemed cost and accumulated depreciation 

 

 

 

 
Buildings 

and Land 

Improvements in 

Leased Buildings 

Facilities, 

Machinery 

and 

Equipment 

Furniture 

and 

Fixtures 

Vehicles Tools 

Cables, Cable 

Laying and 

Assets under 

Loan for Use 

Works-In-

Progress 
Materials 

Telecommunication

s 

Allowance 

for 

Obsolescence 

of Materials 

Total 

 

 

Average Useful Life (in years) 50 3 10 10 5 5 15-3 - - 10 -  

Cost or deemed cost 512,054,356 27,741,814 1,729,454,832 65,596,112 409,917,429 204,648,264 11,206,378,182 3,562,650,885 4,218,074,377 529,239,354 (46,026,122) 22,419,729,483 

Accumulated Depreciation  (104,509,909) (21,428,622) (870,340,139) (45,698,344) (201,875,741) (159,574,914) (3,507,307,339) - - (373,829,276) - (5,284,564,284) 

Residual Value as of May 1, 2017 

407,544,447 6,313,192 859,114,693 19,897,768 208,041,688 45,073,350 7,699,070,843 3,562,650,885 4,218,074,377 155,410,078 (46,026,122) 17,135,165,199 

Variation due to Translation 

Differences (Cost) 2,667,022 - 3,783,217 5,775,246 1,590,122 1,769,522 171,758,007 4,090,048 9,690,588 - (300,315) 200,823,457 

Increases 145,783,925 242,553 299,625,838 1,903,318 13,282,348 7,201,076 2,192,086,455 1,009,252,161 4,431,779,506 - (1,700,323) 8,099,456,857 

Decreases (584,571) - (409,157,443) (15,550,629) (6,346,549) - (1,702,327,834) (40,428,285) (442,411,231) (335,991,465) - (2,952,798,007) 

Transfers 7,411,428 - 183,291,915 1,048,969 999,354 45,134,582 3,151,951,765 740,639,089 (4,100,220,555) (30,256,547) - - 

Addition of balances from acquired 

companies (Note 4.e) 230,182 - 91,210 83,669 48,212 76,320 46,112,810 514,811 1,049,732 - (9,843,477) 38,363,469 

Accumulated Depreciation of 

Decreases 196,000 - 408,883,031 15,501,214 5,961,095 - 1,667,036,496 - - 335,991,465 - 2,433,569,301 

Variation due to Translation 

Differences (Depreciation) (1,660,982) - (3,482,750) (5,022,027) (1,489,461) (1,221,632) (115,755,186) - - - - (128,632,038) 

Addition of balances from acquired 

companies (Note 4.e) (229,760) - (91,210) (80,534) (48,212) (72,407) (25,812,128) - - - - (26,334,251) 

Depreciation (12,976,917) (4,602,107) (282,987,812) (3,240,291) (41,936,228) (33,199,148) (2,353,065,293) - - - - (2,732,007,796) 

Subtotal 548,380,774  1,953,638  1,059,070,689  20,316,703  180,102,369  64,761,663  10,731,055,935  5,276,718,709  4,117,962,417  125,153,531  (57,870,237)  22,067,606,191  

 

 

Total as of December 31, 2017 

            

Cost or deemed cost 667,562,342  27,984,367  1,807,089,569  58,856,685  419,490,916  258,829,764  15,065,959,385  5,276,718,709  4,117,962,417  162,991,342  (57,870,237)  27,805,575,259 

Accumulated Depreciation (119,181,568)  (26,030,729)  (748,018,880)  (38,539,982)  (239,388,547)  (194,068,101)  (4,334,903,450)  -  -  (37,837,811)  -  (5,737,969,068) 

Residual value as of December 31, 

2017 548,380,774  1,953,638  1,059,070,689  20,316,703  180,102,369  64,761,663  10,731,055,935  5,276,718,709  4,117,962,417  125,153,531  (57,870,237)  22,067,606,191  
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7.1.2 – Impairment losses for the year 
 

During 2017, the Company reviewed the recoverable amount of its property, plant and equipment in connection with 

the obsolescence of materials. As a result of said review, it was necessary to recognize an additional impairment loss 

of Ps. 1,700,323 in the eight-month period ended December 31, 2017.  

 

The evolution of the Allowance for Obsolescence of Materials is disclosed under Note 7.15. 

 

7.2 - Intangible Assets  

 

Cost or deemed cost, accumulated depreciation 

 

 
(1) Radio Electric Trunking Service License 

(2) The term of its useful life is calculated as from the beginning of the provision of the Advanced Mobile Communication Services or upon expiration of the 18-

month term provided under Section 10.1, subsection a), Annex I, Decree No. 764/2000 for the beginning of the provision of the Advanced Mobile 

Communication Services, whatever occurs first (See Note 9.4.3.3.) 

 

 
SRCE License 

(1) 

Public Network 

Links 

Radio-Electric 

Spectrum 
Software Other Total 

Average Useful Life (in years) 3 3 15 (2) 5   

Cost or deemed cost 517,527,295 3,998,211 1,860,549,580 175,821,257 44,346,502 2,602,242,845 

Accumulated Amortization (39,287,080) (3,998,211) - (150,239,328) (44,113,180) (237,637,799) 

Residual Value as of  May 1, 2017 478,240,215 - 1,860,549,580 25,581,929 233,322 2,364,605,046 

       

Variation due to Translation Differences 

(Cost) - - - - 114,775 114,775 

Increases  - - - 20,296 - 20,296 

Decreases (699) 699 - - - - 

Addition of balances from acquired 

companies (Note 4.e) - - - - 739,544 739,544 

Amortization - - - (11,777,414) (150,982) (11,928,396) 

Amortization of Decreases 699 (699) - - - - 

Variation due to Translation Differences 

(amortization) - - - - (103,740) (103,740) 

Subtotal 478,240,215 - 1,860,549,580 13,824,811 832,919 2,353,447,525 

 

 

Total as of December 31, 2017       

Cost or deemed cost 517,526,596 3,998,910 1,860,549,580 175,841,553 45,200,821 2,603,117,463 

Accumulated Amortization (39,286,381) (3,998,910) - (162,016,742) (44,367,902) (249,669,935) 

Residual Value as of December 31, 2017 478,240,215 - 1,860,549,580 13,824,811 832,919 2,353,447,525 
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7.3 – Goodwill 

 
 December 31, 

2017 

 

 

Cost    

Cablevisión Businesses 3,583,758,710   

Total 3,583,758,710   

 

Allocation of Goodwill to CGUs 

In order to assess its impairment, goodwill was allocated to the following groups of CGUs: 

 
 December 31, 

2017 

 

Uruguay Operation 15,578,824  

Argentina Operation 3,568,179,886  

Total 3,583,758,710  

   

The Company assesses the recoverability of goodwill considering each country where the Company has a subsidiary 

for which it records goodwill as a different cash generating unit (“CGU”) group. 

 

Cablevisión established that the UGE group with the most significant amount of goodwill, compared to the total 

goodwill as of December 31, 2017, was Argentina, which represents 99.6% of the total goodwill as of that date. 

 

The recoverable amount of each group of CGU has been determined as per its value in use, calculated based on 

operating cash flows estimated in the financial budgets approved by Management, which comprise a one-year 

period. Cash flows not included in that period are projected using a growth rate, assessed based on statistical data 

and historical indicators of Argentina, which does not exceed the long-term average growth of each business. 

 

The discount rate used in each case for the calculation of the value in use allocated to each group of CGU takes into 

account the risk-free rate, the country risk premium and the premium for risks specific to each business, and the 

indebtedness structure of each group of CGU. In particular, the annual discount rate applied to the projections of 

cash flows of Cablevisión's operations in Argentina is of approximately 7%.  

 

Cablevisión’s main source of revenues are its cable TV subscribers. The main premises are the evolution of its 

subscription prices and of its subscribers. In order to determine the key assumptions, Cablevisión relies on external 

sources of information and on Management’s judgment based on previous experiences. 

 

7.4 - Investments 

 
 December 31, 

2017 

 

 

Current    

Mutual Funds 73,545,910   

Notes and Bonds 36,250,115   

Total 109,796,025   
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7.5 - Investments in Associates and Other Companies 

 

Companies 

Main business 

activity Country 

Interest in 

Capital and 

Votes 

Valuation as of 

12.31.2017 

Ver T.V. S.A. (1) 

Cable Television 

Station Argentina 49.00 140,655,455 

Teledifusora San Miguel Arcángel S.A. (1) (3) 

Cable Television 

Station Argentina 50.10 60,477,311 

La Capital Cable S.A. 

Closed-Circuit 

Television Argentina 50.00 43,111,426 

Televisora Privada del Oeste S.A. 

Closed-Circuit 

Television Argentina 47.00 11,417,804 

Other investments valued under the equity method    91,845 

VLG – Acquired shares to be received (Note 4.d))  
(2)    10,945,425,056 

Total    11,201,178,897 
 

(1) The data about these associates arise from non-accounting information. 
(2) As of December 31, 2017, the only thing pending was the formal delivery of the shares, whereby the Company became the holder for all 

purposes of 71.55% of VLG’s capital stock. 
(3) Even though the Company has an interest of more than 50%, it does not exert control in accordance with the requirements of IFRS.  
 

The following is a detail of certain supplementary information required by IFRS about interests in associates. 

 
  December 31, 

2017 

  

Dividends received (1) 153,248,470 

Summarized financial information: 
 

Non-current assets 
718,665,435 

Current assets 
345,063,453 

Non-current liabilities 
(17,236,279) 

Current liabilities 
(540,625,689) 

Sales (1) 
1,265,740,758 

Income from Continuing Operations (1) 
232,680,426 

Total Comprehensive Income (1) 
232,680,426 

 
(1) Information for the eight-month period ended December 31, 2017 
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7.6 – Other Receivables  

 

 December 31, 

2017 

 

 

Non-Current    

Tax Credits 40,010,975   

Advances to Suppliers 165,292,563   

Prepaid Expenses 29,818,396   

Other 1,811,118   

Total 236,933,052   

 

 December 31, 

2017 

 
 

Current    

Tax Credits 98,324,651   

Prepaid Expenses 407,622,665   

Court-ordered and Guarantee Deposits 94,239,231   

Companies under Section 33 of General Associations Law No. 19,550, as 

amended, and related laws (Note 16) 26,416,037 

 

 

Advances  37,054,807   

Dividend Receivable (Note 16) 91,540,491   

Sundry Receivables 144,064,539   

Other 56,889,838   

Total 956,152,259   

 

7.7 – Trade Receivables 

 

 December 31, 

2017 

 

 

Current    

Trade Receivables 2,196,681,368   

Companies under Section 33 of General Associations Law No. 19,550, as 

amended, and related laws (Note 16) 39,725,649 

 

 

Allowance for Doubtful Receivables (Note 7.15) (483,320,096)   

Total 1,753,086,921   

 

7.8 – Inventories 

 

 December 31, 

2017 

 

 

Current    

Radio Equipment and Accessories 76,078,452   

Spare Parts 39,498,400   

Subtotal 115,576,852   

Allowance for Impairment of Inventories (32,324,415)   

Total 83,252,437   
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7.9 - Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
 December 31, 

2017 

  

Cash in Local Currency 6,029,760 

Cash in Foreign Currency 1,770,423 

Cash at banks in Local Currency 567,722,005 

Cash at banks in Foreign Currency 2,896,925,042 

To be deposited 23,782,252 

Fixed-Term Deposits 357,450,519  

Mutual Funds  948,010,924  

Other Placements 77,408,211  

Total 4,879,099,136 

 

7.10 – Bank and Financial Debt 

 

The following table details the changes in loans and indebtedness between May 1, 2017 and December 31, 2017: 

 
 2017 

Balance as of May 1 9,534,458,321 

New Loans and Financing(1) 13,235,771,367 

Interest 715,842,506 

Effect of exchange rate variation 2,686,174,669 

Offsetting of financial debt with other receivables (8,400,000) 

Payment of Interest (786,512,820) 

Repayment of Principal and Issuance Expenses (687,831,635) 

Other (29,410,334) 

Financial debt measured at present value and debt issuance expenses (12,091,820) 

Balances as of December 31 24,648,000,254 

 
(1) Includes the loan taken by the Company (see Note 7.10.2). Includes loans, taken by Cablevisión, to settle financial 

debts and to purchase capital assets and inventories.  

 

The following is a breakdown of the Company's loans and indebtedness: 

 
  

December 31, 2017 

 

Non-Current   

Notes issued by Cablevisión - principal  9,324,500,000  

For Acquisition of equipment–  principal 504,969,949  

Bank Loans - principal 11,363,911,512  

Financial debt measured at present value  (257,522,772)  

Total 20,935,858,689  

   

Current   

For Acquisition of equipment–  principal 836,981,830  

Accrued interest  40,101,147  

Loans with companies under Section 33 of General Associations Law No. 19,550, 

as amended, and related laws – principal (1) 4,000,000 

 

Financial debt measured at present value 4,337,042  

Bank Loans - principal 2,826,721,546  

Total 3,712,141,565  

 
(1) As of December 31, 2017, it accrues interest at an average fixed rate of 20.00%. 
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The following is a detail of bank and financial debt maturities: 

 
As of 12.31.2017 

 
1 year or less 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4-5 years Total 

Bank 2,826,721,547 11,284,476,172 43,654,132  23,854,138 11,927,069 14,190,633,058 

Notes - - - 9,324,500,000 - 9,324,500,000  

For Acquisition of 
equipment 836,981,830 379,028,194 121,499,499 2,387,501 2,054,755  1,341,951,779  

Accrued interest 40,101,147  - - - - 40,101,147  

Companies under 
Section 33 of General 

Associations Law No. 

19,550 and related 
laws 4,000,000  - - - - 4,000,000  

Financial debt 

measured at present 

value (187,858,687) (33,954,187) (27,077,423) (4,295,433) - (253,185,730) 

 3,519,945,837 11,629,550,179  138,076,208 9,346,446,206 13,981,824 24,648,000,254 

       

 

7.10.1 – Cablevisión 
 

The following are the main terms of the bank loans for the year: 

 
Date Issued Bank Currency Principal 

Amount 

Final Maturity Interest Rate 

Fixed 

September 2016 Banco Itaú Argentina S.A. USD 3.5  (2) September 2017 (1) 5.00% 

January 2017 ICBC  USD 5.1  (2) January 2022 6.00% 
February 2017 Banco Itaú BBA International 

PLC 

USD 5.3  (2) February 2020 5.00% 

 
(1) Repaid at maturity. 

(2) Funds used to fulfill the investment plan. 

 

On April 20, 2016, at the Annual General Ordinary and Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of Cablevisión, the 

shareholders of Cablevisión approved, among other matters: i) the extension of the authorization of the Global 

Program [for the Issuance of] Notes, which had been granted at the Annual General Ordinary and Extraordinary 

Shareholders’ Meeting of Cablevisión on April 28, 2014, increasing the maximum amount of the outstanding notes 

that may be issued under this Program from a nominal value outstanding at any time of USD 500,000,000 (or its 

equivalent in other currencies) to USD 1,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies). The Shareholders’ 

Meeting renewed the delegation on the Board of Directors of the broadest powers in connection with the Program. 

The Board of Directors may subdelegate all or some powers interchangeably to one or more directors or managers of 

the Company; and ii) the extension of the authorization of the Short-Term Debt Securities ("VCPs", for its Spanish 

acronym) program under the terms that had been originally approved.  

 

On June 1, 2016, pursuant to its delegated powers, the Board of Directors of Cablevisión authorized the issuance of 

Class A Notes for a nominal value of USD 500,000,000 (the “Class A Notes”), at a fixed annual nominal interest 

rate of 6.50%, payable semi-annually as from June 2016, with final maturity in June 2021. Proceeds will be used for: 

 

(i) The settlement of the outstanding debt as of that date; 

(ii) The investment in fixed assets and other capital expenditures with the balance of the net proceeds 

(approximately USD 89,100,000). 

 

On October 30, 2017, within the framework of the merger between Cablevisión and Telecom Argentina S.A., 

Cablevisión called for an Extraordinary Noteholders’ Meeting in order to request its holders of Class A Notes, the 

amendment and/or removal of certain clauses (or parts thereof) of such Notes and the Indenture Agreement executed 

on June 15, 2016 between Cablevisión, Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, Deutsche Bank S.A. and Deutsche 

Bank Luxembourg S.A.  
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On December 11, 2017, the holders of Class “A” Notes held an Extraordinary Noteholders’ Meeting with a quorum 

of 81.8621626 % of the total capital and votes under the Notes. At that Shareholders’ Meeting, the noteholders 

unanimously decided to approve the amendment and/or removal of certain clauses (or parts thereof) of such Notes 

and the Indenture. 
 

As a result of the amendment of such Notes and the Indenture referred to in  the previous paragraph, the covenants 

undertaken by Cablevisión under its Notes include: (i) limitation on the issuance of guarantees by Cablevisión and 

its subsidiaries; (ii) merger by acquisition and consolidation, (iii) limitation on incurring debt above certain approved 

ratios, and (iv) limitation on the issuance and sale of significant subsidiaries’ shares with certain exceptions, among 

others.  Certain clauses that restricted sales of assets under certain conditions, certain payments and related party 

transactions under certain circumstances and the distribution of dividends, were eliminated. 

 

During the year covered by these consolidated financial statements, the Company has complied with all applicable 

covenants. 

 

7.10.2 – Cablevisión Holding S.A. 

 

On September 24, 2017, the Company submitted to CITIBANK, N.A., GOLDMAN SACHS BANK USA, 

INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA LIMITED, DUBAI (DIFC) BRANCH, ITAÚ 

UNIBANCO S.A., NASSAU BRANCH (the “Lenders”), CITIBANK, N.A. and the branch of Citibank N.A. 

established in Argentina (the “Arrangers, Collateral Agents”) and CITIBANK, N.A. (the “Administrative Agent”) a 

Loan Offer for an aggregate principal amount of Seven Hundred Fifty Million United States Dollars (USD 

750,000,000). On September 25, 2017, the Company received communications from each of the Lenders, the 

Arrangers, the Collateral Agents and the Administrative Agent stating that they had accepted the Loan Offer, which 

disbursement was made on September 28, 2017. 

 

The loan accrues compensatory interest on the outstanding balances and until its effective cancellation, at a rate 

equal to LIBOR plus an applicable margin; of: (a) 3.5% per annum during the first six months as from the date of the 

first disbursement; or (b) 4% per annum during the period that begins on the day immediately following the sixth 

month after the date of the first disbursement and ends 12 months after such date; or (c) 4.5% per annum during the 

period that begins on the day immediately following the first anniversary of the first disbursement date and ends on 

the Maturity Date.  

 

Interest under the loan shall be paid in arrears on the last business day of each interest period: The maturity date shall 

be the earlier of 18 months counted as from the date of disbursement or the date on which the loan becomes due and 

payable pursuant to acceleration events provided under the loan offer, whichever occurs first. That loan provides for 

covenants and negative covenants and representations and guarantees, which are usual for this type of financing.  

 

Of the loan amount, USD 18.1 million were allocated to a reserve account, under the terms of the agreement. The 

Company shall maintain in that account, as of any given calculation date, an amount of cash that may not be lower 

than the aggregate amount of interest payable under the loan during the following six-month period. As of December 

31, 2017, the balance of said reserve account included under the item “Other Assets” amounted to USD 20.3 million. 

 

The funds from the loan were used, among other things, for the payment of the Exercise Price under the Option 

Agreement mentioned in Note 4.d) to these consolidated financial statements. 

 

In addition, for as long as the Loan is outstanding, the Company undertakes to create and maintain guarantees for an 

amount equivalent to 2.5 times the amount of the Loan. On September 27, 2017, the Company created a first priority 

pledge on 30,123 Class “A” book-entry common shares of nominal value Ps. 10,000 each and entitled to one vote 

per share, held by the Company in Cablevisión S.A., in favor of the Collateral Agent, acting for the benefit of the 

Lenders, Citibank, N.A. as Offshore Collateral Agent and the branch of Citibank N.A. established in Argentina as 

Onshore Collateral Agent, under the loan agreement. Subsequently, as a result of the merger between Telecom and 

Cablevisión mentioned in Note 4.d) to these consolidated financial statements, the Company approved the creation 
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of a pledge on 297,346,243 shares of Telecom Argentina S.A. which, according to the exchange Ratio, are 

equivalent to 30,123 Class A book-entry common shares of Cablevisión S.A. As of the date of these consolidated 

financial statements, the Lenders maintain a pledge on 199,518,894 shares of Telecom Argentina S.A. held by the 

Company. 

 

Among the main financial obligations undertaken under the loan is the obligation to apply (i) the net proceeds from 

any sale of material assets, (ii) the dividends received from its subsidiaries -after deducting any amount necessary to 

pay taxes and up to USD 10 million for current expenses-, (iii) the net proceeds from any public offering and (iv) the 

net proceeds from any debt issue; to the prepayment of the obligations under the loan. The Company undertakes to 

maintain certain consolidated debt ratios of its own and of Cablevisión and to guarantee a minimum amount to pay 

dividends from its subsidiary Cablevisión.  

 

On January 11, 2018 and on February 21, 2018, the Company made partial prepayments of principal and interest in 

the amount of USD 148.6 million and USD 253.8 million, respectively, pursuant to the terms and conditions of the 

Loan, which set out that the collections of dividends by the Company shall be applied to the prepayment of the Loan 

(see Note 11.) The amount of principal paid on January 11, 2018 was classified under Current Bank and Financial 

Debt, due to the fact that the approval of the distribution of dividends of Cablevisión was made in December 2017. 

As of the date of these consolidated financial statements, the outstanding principal amount of the Loan amounts to 

USD 349.9 million. 

 

During the year covered by these consolidated financial statements, the Company has complied with all applicable 

covenants. 

 

7.11 – Provisions and Other Charges 

 
 December 31, 

2017 
  

Non-Current    

Accrual for Asset Retirement 236,384,958   

Provisions for Lawsuits and Contingencies 855,500,172   

Total 1,091,885,130   

 

The evolution of the allowances and other charges is disclosed under Note 7.15. 

 

7.12 - Taxes Payable 

 
 December 31, 

2017 
  

Non-Current    

National Taxes 2,947,817   

Total 2,947,817   

    
Current    

National Taxes 1,788,309,697   

Provincial Taxes 22,832,414   

Municipal Taxes 76,199,978   

Total 1,887,342,089   

 

7.13 – Other Liabilities 

 
 December 31, 

2017 
 

Non-Current   

Revenues to be accrued 134,499,011  

Total 134,499,011  

 



CABLEVISIÓN HOLDING S.A. 

Registration number with the IGJ: 1,908,463 

 

See our report dated 

March 8, 2018 
  

PRICE WATERHOUSE & CO. S.R.L. 

 

(Partner) 

 

Carlos Alberto Pedro Di Candia 

 Supervisory Committee 

 

 

C.P.C.E.C.A.B.A. Vol. 1 Fol. 17  

 
  

 
- 45 - 

 

 

 December 31, 

2017 
 

Current   

Dividends Payable 1,632,995,102  

Revenues to be accrued 98,691,240  

Other 2,652,067  

Total 1,734,338,409  

 

7.14 - Trade and other payables 

 
 December 31, 

2017 
 

Current   

Suppliers and Trade Provisions 3,585,279,475  

Companies under Section 33 of General Associations Law No. 

19,500, as amended, and related laws (Note 16) 300,508,025 
 

Employer’s Contributions 1,751,397,007  

Total 5,637,184,507  

 

LONG-TERM SAVINGS PLAN FOR EMPLOYEES 

 

During the last quarter of 2007, Cablevisión, together with its subsidiaries, began to implement a long-term savings 

plan for certain executives (directors and managers comprising the “executive payroll”), which became effective in 

January 2008. Executives who adhere to such plan undertake to contribute regularly a portion of their salary 

(variable within a certain range, at the employee’s option) to a fund that will allow them to strengthen their savings 

capacity. Each company where those executives render services will match the sum contributed by such executives. 

This matching contribution will be added to the fund raised by the employees. Under certain conditions, the 

employees may access such funds upon termination of their participation in the long-term savings plan. 

 

Said plan provides for certain special conditions for those managers who were in the “executive payroll” before 

January 1st, 2007. Such conditions consist of supplementary contributions made by each company to the plan related 

to the executive’s years of service with the Company. As of December 31, 2017, such supplementary contributions 

made by the Company on a consolidated basis amount to approximately Ps. 2 million, and the charge to income is 

deferred until the retirement of each executive. 

 

During 2013, certain changes were made to the savings system, although its operation mechanism and the main 

characteristics with regard to the obligations undertaken by Cablevisión were essentially maintained. 

 

Pursuant to IAS No. 19, the above-mentioned savings plan qualifies as a Defined Contribution Plan, which means 

that the companies’ contributions shall be charged to income on a monthly basis as from the date the plan becomes 

effective. 

 

7.15 – Allowances 
 

For doubtful trade 

receivables 

Valuation 

Allowance for 

Deferred Tax 

Assets 

For  

impairment  

of inventories 

For  

obsolescence  

of materials 

     

Deducted from Assets     

Balance as of May 1, 2017 426,599,844 6,131,926 - 46,026,122 

Addition of balances from acquired 

companies (Note 4.e) 1,041,195 - 40,106,006 9,843,477 

Increases / reclassifications (1) 384,262,312 - 5,001,042 2,000,638 

Decreases (5) (328,583,255) (2) (5,804,335) (12,782,633) - 

Balances as of December 31, 2017 483,320,096 327,591 32,324,415 57,870,237 
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 For 

Lawsuits and 

Contingencies 

For 

retirement of assets 

   

Included in liabilities   

Balance as of May 1, 2017 740,046,753 232,206,313 

Increases / reclassifications (3) 220,028,486 4,178,645 

Decreases (4) (104,575,067) - 

Balances as of December 31, 2017 855,500,172 236,384,958 

 
(1) Charged to bad debts, see Note 6.3. 
(2) Charged to Income Tax and Tax on Assets 
(3) Ps. 181,437,836 charged to “Lawsuits and Contingencies” in Note 6.3 and Ps. 38,590,650 of interest charged to “Other financial income, net”. 
(4) Corresponds to payments and allocations made during the irregular year.  
(5) Includes the translation of foreign operations 

 

 
NOTE 8 - INCOME TAX 

 

  December 31, 

2017 

Income before Income Tax  3,851,588,768 

Tax rate (35% income tax)  35% 

Income Tax Assessed at the Current Tax Rate on Income before 

Income Tax  
 

1,348,056,069 

Permanent Differences:   

Equity in Earnings from Associates  (40,301,130) 

Difference in effective tax rates in foreign subsidiaries  (1,863,521) 

Change in income tax rate (1)  (154,659,789) 

Other Results, net  32,589,346 

Subtotal   1,183,820,975 

(Recovery) / Valuation allowance for net deferred tax assets and tax 

loss not recognized as deferred tax asset 
 

424,554,686 

Expired Tax Loss Carryforwards  
13,766,206 

Total income tax charge recognized in the statement of comprehensive 

income 
 

1,622,141,867 

Deferred Income Tax  (45,073,941) 

Current Income Tax    1,667,215,808 

Total   1,622,141,867 

Tax on assets  (1,246,405) 

Valuation Allowance  3,647,495 

  1,624,542,957 

 
(1) The changes in the income tax rates, as per the tax reform detailed in Note 2.12., must be applied to deferred tax assets and liabilities according to the year in which they are 

expected to be realized. 
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The balance of the item net deferred income tax is broken down as follows: 

 
 

May 1, 2017 

Addition of 

balances from 

acquired 

companies 

(Note 4.e) Net charge 

Variation in 

Translation 

Differences December 31, 

2017 

Trade Receivables and Other 188,438,990 609,571 (8,218,222) 2,608,106 183,438,445 

Taxes Payable 3,201,233 - (2,821,941) - 379,292 

Provisions and Other Charges 333,060,847 - (65,160,194) - 267,900,653 
Trade and other payables 12,740,415 - (1,808,728) - 10,931,687 

Amount of Tax Loss Carryforward 6,020,391 3,143,966 (5,692,722) - 3,471,635 

Bank and Financial Debt (198,327) - (16,530,030) - (16,728,357) 
Other Liabilities 86,707,543 - (23,313,093) 2,076,762 65,471,212 

Other Temporary Differences (22,130,595) 44,846 45,551,461 318,639 23,784,351 

Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible 

Assets, Net (864,800,981) (732,608) 114,945,653 (2,686,085) (753,274,021) 

Valuation Allowance for Net Deferred Tax 

Assets  (6,131,926) - 5,804,335 - (327,591) 

Total Net Deferred Tax Liabilities (263,092,410) 3,065,775 42,756,519 2,317,422 (214,952,694) 

 

Deferred tax assets from unused tax loss carryforwards are recognized to the extent their realization is probable 

against future taxable profits. The Company did not recognize deferred tax assets corresponding to tax loss 

carryforwards for Ps. 1,229,597,205, which may be offset against future taxable profits. Those tax losses may be 

used until 2022. 

 

As of December 31, 2017, the Company’s accumulated tax loss carryforwards amounted to approximately Ps. 

10,074,991, which calculated at the tax rate that will be effective at the time the Company estimates such tax loss 

carryforwards will be reversed, represent deferred tax assets in the amount of approximately Ps. 3,471,635.  

 

The following is a detail of the expiration dates corresponding to the estimated tax losses:  

 
Year in which 

the tax loss was 

generated 

 Amount of the tax loss 

as of 12.31.2017 

 Expiration year 

2015  7,523,653  2020 

2016  1,092,230  2021 

2017  1,231,056,313  2022 

  1,239,672,196   

 

 

NOTE 9 – REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

 

9.1. Audiovisual Communication Services Law 

 

Cablevisión is the holder of licenses for the exploitation of subscription television services that were originally 

granted under Law No. 22,285. The COMFER was the enforcement authority established by that law. Under Law 

No. 22,285 subscription television companies in Argentina required a non-exclusive license from the COMFER in 

order to operate. Other approvals were also required, including, for some services, authorization by municipal 

agencies.  

 

The Audiovisual Communication Services Law (Law No. 26,522) was passed and enacted on October 10, 2009, 

with strong criticism about its content and enactment procedure. Even though the new Law became effective on 

October 19, 2009, not all of the implementing regulations provided by the law were issued. That vacuum resulted in 

the continued application of Law No. 22,285 with respect to the matters that had not been regulated. 
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Law No. 26,522 provided for the replacement of the COMFER by the Audiovisual Communication Services Law 

Federal Enforcement Authority (AFSCA, for its Spanish acronym) as a decentralized and autarchic agency under the 

jurisdiction of the Executive Branch, and vests the new agency with authority to enforce the law. 

 

Through Emergency Decree No. 267/15 (the "Emergency Decree") issued on December 29, 2015, the Executive 

Branch created the ENACOM as a decentralized and autarchic agency under the jurisdiction of the Ministry of 

Communications (currently under the jurisdiction of the Ministry of Modernization.) Among other powers, the 

ENACOM has all the same powers and competences that Law No. 26,522 had vested in AFSCA (See Note 9.3). 

 

9.2. Telecommunication Services 

 

The regulatory framework of the Argentine telecommunications sector is undergoing a process of change. In 

December 2014, the Argentine Congress passed Law No. 27,078, known as the “Digital Argentina Act”, which 

partially repealed National Telecommunications Law No. 19,798. The new law subjects the effectiveness of Decree 

No. 764/00, which deregulated the telecommunications market, to the enactment of four new sets of rules that will 

govern the License, Interconnection, Universal Service and Radio-electric Spectrum regimes. 

 

Law No. 27,078 maintained the single country-wide license scheme and the individual registration of the services to 

be rendered, but replaced the name telecommunication services with Information and Communications Technology 

Services (“TIC Services”, for their Spanish acronym). Notwithstanding this, the scope of the licenses originally 

granted to Cablevisión, its merged companies and/or subsidiaries and related companies that exploited 

telecommunication licenses and their respective registrations of services, remained unaltered. 

 

The license was named “Licencia Única Argentina Digital” and allows licensees to render any telecommunication 

services to the public, be they fixed or mobile, wired or wireless, national or international, with or without the 

licensee’s own infrastructure.  

 

The TIC Services registered with the Argentine Secretariat of Communications under the name of Cablevisión, its 

merged companies and/or subsidiaries and related companies that exploit telecommunication licenses are the 

following: Data Transmission, Paging, Videoconference, Community Retransmission, Transport of Broadcast 

Signals, Value-Added, Radio-Electric Trunking, Internet Access, Public Telephony, Local Telephony and National 

and International Long-Distance Telephony. 

 

Law No. 27,078 created a new enforcement and oversight Authority as a decentralized agency under the jurisdiction 

of the Executive Branch, the AFTIC. 

 

Said law also maintained the obligation to contribute 1% of telecommunication service revenues, net of taxes and 

charges, to be used for Universal Service investments (this obligation had been imposed by Decree No. 764/00 on all 

service providers as from January 1, 2001), but the Universal Service Trust Fund was placed under State control. 

Until August 2015, the manager of such trust fund was Banco Itaú Argentina S.A., which received the joinder 

requests filed by Cablevisión and its merged companies and/or subsidiaries and related companies that exploit 

telecommunication licenses to join the Trust Agreement. 

 

The Argentine Secretariat of Communications has yet to decide on the approval of the Project submitted by 

Cablevisión on June 21, 2011, within the framework of SECOM Resolution No. 9/2011 which created the program 

“Infrastructure and Equipment”, whereby telecommunication service providers were allowed to submit projects 

aimed at developing new infrastructure, updating existing infrastructure and/or acquiring equipment for areas 

without coverage or with unmet needs, in order to meet the obligation to make contributions to the Universal Service 

Trust Fund for the amounts accrued as from January 2001 until the entry into force of Decree No. 558/08.  

 

Another innovation of Law No. 27,078 was the creation of a new public service under the name “Public and 

Strategic Infrastructure Access and Use Service for and among Providers”. The right of access included “providers 

having to make available to other providers their network elements, associated facilities or services to render TIC 

services, even when such elements are used to render audiovisual content services.” Under this scheme, the 
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government seeks to make private companies that were created and developed in competition share their networks 

with other companies that had not made any investments. 

 

The foregoing applied to any provider that had its own infrastructure or networks, because the term “Associated 

facilities” is defined as physical infrastructures, systems, devices, associated services or other facilities or elements 

associated with a telecommunications network or with TIC Services that enable or support the provision of services 

using that network or service, or that have the potential to do so; and will include, inter alia, buildings or building 

entrances, building wiring, antennas, towers and other supporting constructions, ducts, masts, manholes, and 

cabinets (See Note 9.3.). 

 

As of the date of these consolidated financial statements, Law No. 27,078 has been partially regulated. 

 

9.3. Emergency Decree No. 267/15. Convergence 

 

Emergency Decree No. 267/15, issued on December 29, 2015 and published in the Official Gazette on January 4, 

2016, creates the ENACOM as a decentralized and autarchic agency under the jurisdiction of the Ministry of 

Communications (currently under the jurisdiction of the Ministry of Modernization) and vests the new agency with 

authority to enforce Laws Nos. 26,522 and 27,078, as amended and regulated. The ENACOM has all the same 

powers and competences that had been vested in AFSCA and AFTIC by Laws Nos. 26,522 and 27,078, respectively. 

 

Among the main amendments introduced by the Emergency Decree with respect to both laws, the most remarkable 

is the repeal of Section 161 of Law No. 26,522, which set forth the obligation to comply with the limits established 

under this law with respect to ownership conditions and number of licenses. Section 45 of Law No. 26,522, which 

establishes the multiple license regime, has been significantly amended. As a result, Cablevisión and the subsidiaries 

that are licensees and/or owners of audiovisual communication services already comply with the new regulatory 

framework.  

 

Under the new regulatory framework, the licenses for physical link and for radio-electric link subscription television 

services held by Cablevisión and its subsidiaries that had been granted under Laws Nos. 22,285 and 26,522 are now 

called “Registrations” for the exploitation of physical link and radio-electric link subscription television services of a 

Licencia Única Argentina Digital. 

 

Pursuant to this amendment (Section 7 of the Emergency Decree, which amends, among others, Section 10 of Law 

No. 27,078), all the services exploited by Cablevisión and some of its subsidiaries and related companies are now 

governed by the Digital Argentina Act. The only license held by the Company that could be considered to be subject 

to the LSCA is the registered title of the signal METRO, since this signal is broadcast through other services that 

acquire it for that purpose, and, therefore, it has a registration number issued by AFSCA which must be renewed on 

an annual basis. 

 

Insofar as Cablevisión and its subsidiaries are concerned, Decree No. 267/15 eliminates:  

 

i) The incompatibility to render in the same location broadcast television services and subscription television 

services. When subscription television services are exploited through physical or radio-electric link, they 

will be subject to the Digital Argentina Act pursuant to Section 7 of the Emergency Decree which amends, 

among others, Section 10 of Law No. 27,078;  

 

ii) The limit of 10 licenses for radio-electric link subscription television services and 24 licenses for physical 

link subscription television services, which are considered to be TIC services as from January 4, 2016, date 

on which the decree became effective; and  

 

iii) The limit that provided that physical link and radio-electric link subscription television services may not 

reach more than 35% of all subscribers.  
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As far as Cablevisión is concerned, the Emergency Decree repeals Section 15 of Law No. 27,078, which created a 

new public service under the name “Public and Strategic Infrastructure Access and Use Service for and among 

Providers”. The right of access included “providers having to make available to other providers their network 

elements, associated facilities or services to render TIC services, even when such elements were used to render 

audiovisual content services.”  

 

Due to the fact that physical link and radio-electric link subscription television services are now subject to the 

Digital Argentina Act: 

 

i) These services no longer fall within the scope of Section 45 of the LSCA, which sets forth the new multiple 

license regime for Audiovisual Communication Services; 

 

ii) The registration of physical link subscription television services is no longer limited to a specific territorial 

area. The same is not the case with radio-electric link subscription television services because of the portion 

of the spectrum allocated to render these services;  

 

iii) Both registrations, for physical link subscription television services and for radio-electric link subscription 

television services, are no longer subject to expiration terms. However, the portions of the spectrum 

allocated to render radio-electric link subscription television services do have expiration terms. The 

duration of such services shall be the longest of the term provided under their original title, or 10 years as 

from January 1, 2016.  

 

Notwithstanding point iii) above, ENACOM Resolution No. 427/2016 provides that licensees that hold only one 

license to provide a certain type of service and have requested an extension of its term but have not obtained an 

express decision in this respect must ratify their requests. Accordingly, some of the companies in which Cablevisión 

holds an equity interest made filings to such end. 

 

However, it should be noted that pursuant to Section 21 of the Emergency Decree and until the enactment of a law 

that shall unify the fee regime provided under Laws Nos. 26,522 and 27,078, the physical link and radio-electric link 

subscription television services exploited by Cablevisión and/or its Subsidiaries will continue to be subject only to 

the fee regime provided under Law No. 26,522. Therefore, they shall not be subject to the investment contribution or 

the payment of the Control, Oversight and Verification Fee provided under Sections 22 and 49 of Law No. 27,078. 

 

Cablevisión has duly complied with the procedure established under ENACOM Resolution No. 427/16 in order to 

report, using the online application provided by the ENACOM to such end, the territorial location of its services, 

indicating the original coverage area, the supplementary territorial units and/or area extensions in which it currently 

renders services. 

 

Through Resolution No. 1,663/2017, the ENACOM registered under the name of Cablevisión all the area 

authorizations (formerly, under Law No. 22,285, broadcasting licenses) originally granted to Cablevisión and/or the 

companies merged into it to render physical and/or radio-electric link subscription television services and the radio 

electric frequencies allocated to the latter. 

 

In addition, and pursuant to ENACOM Resolution No. 1.394/16, which approves the General Rules for Physical 

Link Subscription Television Services and/or Radio-Electric Link Subscription Television Services, in those cases in 

which Cablevisión and/or any of its Subsidiaries purchased bidding forms to apply for a new license when the term 

had expired or to apply for an area extension, the applicants amended their filings and converted them into a request 

an authorization of coverage area. Since then, several area authorizations have been registered under the name of 

Cablevisión. 

 

The new General Rules also order providers of both types of services to guarantee their compliance with a 

programming grid in each Coverage Area. Cablevisión states that it complies with all the obligations set out under 

that Resolution. 
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Even though the General Rules approved under ENACOM Resolution No. 1,394/16 were repealed through 

Resolution No. E 697/2017 issued by the Ministry of Modernization, whereby such Ministry approved the new 

General Rules Governing Information and Communications Technology Services Licenses, the programming grid 

required under the repealed General Rules, as amended, is still in effect. 

 

We note that the Emergency Decree set a restriction for a term of two years counted as from January 1, 2016, which 

may be extended for an additional year, whereby providers of the Basic Telephone Service whose licenses were 

granted under the terms of Decree No. 62/90 and paragraphs 1 and 2 of Section 5 of Decree No. 264/98, as well as 

Mobile Telephone Service providers with a license granted pursuant to the list of bidding conditions approved by 

Resolution No. 575/93 of the then Ministry of Economy and Public Works and Services and ratified by Decree No. 

1,461/93, shall only be able to provide subscription broadcasting services by means of physical or radio-electric link 

the expiration of the restriction. 

 

The Emergency Decree was approved on April 6, 2016 by the Lower House of Congress. Therefore, it has full force 

and effect. 

 

Finally, in order to enhance the convergence of networks and services under conditions of competition, promote the 

deployment of next generation networks and the penetration of broadband Internet access services across the 

national territory, the Executive Branch issued Decree No. 1,340/16 on December 30, 2016. Among other things, the 

Decree: 

 

 Provides for the protection for fifteen years of last mile fixed NGN for broadband Internet services that may 

be deployed by the licensees of TIC services with respect to the rules for open access to broadband services. 

 

 Orders the issuance of regulations for the following purposes: 

 

o To call for a Public Bid for the allocation of new frequency bands for mobile services. 

 

o To ensure the re-allocation of radio-electric spectrum frequencies with economic compensation 

and shared use to frequencies previously allocated to other services, and to allocate such 

frequencies to providers of TIC Services that request to reuse them to render mobile services or 

fixed wireless services with LTE or higher technologies. 

 

o To allocate radio electric spectrum frequencies on demand, imposing compensation, deployment 

and coverage obligations on the current local or regional providers of TIC services and on the 

current providers of mobile communication services. 

 

 Sets forth that the persons restricted under Decree No. 267/15 from rendering physical or radio-electric link 

subscription television services may request the corresponding registration and begin to provide those 

services in certain areas as from January 1st, 2018. 

 

 Recognizes that the holders of satellite link subscription television service licenses that as of December 29, 

2015 rendered TIC services may maintain the ownership of both services. 

 

 Orders the Ministry of Communications to guarantee the interconnection principles provided under the 

applicable legislation in order to ensure the impartiality, non-discrimination and fair competition among 

providers of mobile services, restricting the possibility of delaying or hindering the technical, 

interconnection, operational or any other conditions that may create barriers for other providers to enter the 

market. 

 

9.4. Matters related to the regulatory situation of Cablevisión and its subsidiaries 

 

9.4.1. Fibertel License 
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The Ministry of Communications, as the highest government agency, replacing the MINPLAN with respect to this 

specific competence, issued Resolution No. 5/2016, which was notified on February 29, 2016, whereby it revoked 

SECOM Resolution No. 100/2010 for legitimacy reasons. This Resolution, which had been issued by the former 

Secretariat of Communications, had revoked the exclusive telecommunication service license held by Fibertel S.A., 

which was merged into Cablevisión S.A.  

 

 

The ENACOM issued Resolution No. 1,359/16, whereby it authorized the transfer of ownership of the Exclusive 

Telecommunication Service License that had been granted to Fibertel S.A., which was merged into Cablevisión S.A. 

effective as of April 1, 2003. 

 

9.4.2. Cablevisión's Shareholder Structure 

 

Cablevisión has requested the ENACOM to acknowledge the change in its shareholder structure as a result of the 

corporate reorganization carried out by Grupo Clarín. In the understanding that the above-mentioned change has not 

implied a change of control, it does not require that agency's authorization. 

 

9.4.3. NEXTEL 

 

9.4.3.1 Regulatory Approval of the Acquisition of Nextel 

 

On September 24, 2015, the Official Gazette published AFTIC Resolution No. 326/15, whereby that agency ordered 

Nextel to render without effect within a term of 30 days, the sale of a non-majority portion of its shares because it 

allegedly contravened effective legislation and could be sanctioned with the revocation of its license pursuant to the 

Communications and Information Technology Law.  

 

On October 9, 2015, Grupo Clarín S.A. and Cablevisión filed the corresponding appeals against Resolution No. 

326/2015, arguing that they had standing based on their acquisition of 49% of the licensee and stating that the 

change of control alleged by AFTIC had not occurred. 

 

Nextel requested the suspension of the effects of Resolution No. 326/2015 and also filed an appeal against that 

administrative act. 

 

On January 29, 2016, Cablevisión and Nextel made a filing before the ENACOM as established under Section 8 of 

Decree No. 267/15 which amends Section 13 of Law No. 27,078 in order to request authorization for the change of 

control in full compliance with the new legal framework. 

 

On February 22, 2016, the ENACOM issued Resolution No. 133/2016, whereby it partially admitted the appeals that 

had been filed against AFTIC Resolution No. 326/2015 in order to consider the Company's request for approval of 

the transfer of control. 

 

On March 7, 2016, the ENACOM issued Resolution No. 280/2016, whereby it authorized the change of control of 

NEXTEL in favor of Cablevisión.  

 

On April 12, 2017, the CNDC notified Cablevisión of Resolution No. 293/2017 dated April 10, 2017, whereby the 

CNDC authorized the economic concentration operation consisting of the acquisition by Cablevisión and Televisión 

Dirigida of 100% of the shares of Nextel, which were owned by NII Mercosur Telecom SLU and NII Mercosur 

Móviles S.L.U. 

 

9.4.3.2 Status of the frequencies allocated to Nextel 

 

Through Resolution No. 325/2015, AFTIC decided, abruptly and without prior notice of its decision, to dismiss the 

requests for extensions of certain frequencies allocated to NEXTEL, revoking them in that same act. 
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On October 9, 2015, Grupo Clarín and Cablevisión filed an appeal against Resolution No. 325/2015 grounding their 

legitimate interest on their acquisition of 49% of the licensee. 

 

NEXTEL first requested the suspension of the effects of Resolution No. 325/2015 and then filed an appeal against 

that administrative act. 

 

The ENACOM issued Resolution No. 134/2016, whereby it decided to grant partially the appeal filed by NEXTEL 

against AFTIC Resolution No. 325/2015. Even though this Resolution did not entail the automatic extension of the 

frequencies involved, the ENACOM ordered the corresponding areas to analyze each file to verify compliance with 

the requirements of the effective regulatory framework to be eligible for obtaining the requested extensions. 

 

The ENACOM issued Resolution No. 281/16, whereby it authorized the extensions for a term of 10 years counted as 

from the original expiration of the authorizations for the use of the frequencies that had been dismissed and revoked 

through Resolution No. 325/2015. 

 

9.4.3.3 Other requests for authorization filed with the ENACOM 

 

On June 22, 2016, NEXTEL made a filing with the ENACOM in order to request authorization for direct and 

indirect share transfers that would imply a direct and/or indirect change of control in favor of NEXTEL, pursuant to 

Section 13 of Law No. 27,078 with respect to the licensees of telecommunication services listed below: 

 

- Fibercomm S.A. 

- Trixco S.A. 

- Callbi S.A. 

- Infotel S.A. 

- Skyonline de Argentina S.A. 

- Netizen S.A. 

- Eritown Corporation Argentina S.A. 

 

Within the required term, on January 6, 2017, the ENACOM issued Resolution No. 111/2017, which under section 1 

authorizes the share transfers mentioned above. 

 

The filing made on June 22, 2016 also included a request to change the allocation of a portion of the spectrum that 

corresponds to the licensees acquired by the Company in order to render 4G services, which was not addressed in 

ENACOM Resolution No. 111/2017. 

 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, taking into consideration the new regulations provided under Decree No. 1,340/16 

and Resolution No. 171/2017 issued by the Ministry of Communications, Nextel reformulated the original request in 

accordance with the new effective regulations, thus initiating a new administrative file. In this last filing, the 

Company finally requested:  

 

 The beginning of a Refarming process with Economic Compensation as provided under Resolution 

No. 171/2017. 

 

 The authorization of the agreements executed by NEXTEL with the licensees acquired by Cablevisión 

to operate the services registered by NEXTEL with the portion of the spectrum allocated to those 

licensees to render their respective services; 

 

 The approval of the registration requested by NEXTEL of the Advanced Mobile Telecommunications 

Service; and, 

 

 The authorization of the change that would allow that company: 
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 To change the allocation and channeling on a primary basis of the 905-915 MHz and 950-960 

MHz bands to render advanced mobile communication services at national level with primary 

status; and, 

 

 To enhance the allocation of the frequency bands and change the channeling of the 2500 MHz 

band to the 2690 MHz band to render advanced mobile communication services at national 

level with primary status. 

 

By means of Resolution ENACOM No. 1,033/2017, the ENACOM provided for the use of the frequency bands 

between 905 and 915 MHz and between 950 and 960 MHz for the rendering of the ADVANCED MOBILE 

COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE (“SCMA”), and by means of Resolution ENACOM No. 1,034/2017, the 

ENACOM provided for the use of the frequency band between 2500 and 2690 MHz for the provision of SCMA, in 

addition to the current services when their coexistence is possible. 

 

On March 6, 2017, NEXTEL was served with Resolution No. 1,299/ENACOM/2017, which was published in the 

Official Gazette on March 7, 2017 and approves the project for Refarming with Economic Compensation, filed by 

that Company to provide Advanced Mobile Communication Services in the frequencies that had been subject to 

changes in allocation pursuant to ENACOM Resolutions No. 1,033 and 1,034/2017. 

 

In addition, the ENACOM decided to register Nextel as provider of Advanced Mobile Communication Services in 

the Registry of Services; and to authorize the use of the above-mentioned frequencies.  

 

In the same resolution and as part of the authorization, that agency imposed additional Coverage Obligations on 

Nextel.  

 

It also imposes two obligations that must be fulfilled prior to initiating the rendering of Advanced Mobile 

Communication Services: (i) the return of the proposed radio-electric spectrum; and (ii) the creation of a guaranty 

issued in favor of and satisfactory to ENACOM for an amount equal to the value of the radio-electric spectrum that 

is subject to return. 

 

The Resolution also orders that Nextel shall post a performance bond to guarantee the obligations and 

responsibilities undertaken by that company to be issued in favor and to the satisfaction of the ENACOM for the 

amount and under the terms that shall be set forth in the contract to be executed with the ENACOM. That contract 

shall establish, in addition to the economic compensation to be paid by Nextel, the terms, conditions, goals, 

obligations and other matters inherent to the rendering of the Advanced Mobile Communication Services authorized 

by that agency to which Nextel shall be bound 

 

On April 12, 2017, Nextel and the ENACOM executed the agreement referred to in the previous paragraph. On April 

28, 2017, pursuant to said Agreement, Nextel transferred to that agency the “economic compensation” of Ps. 

478,240,214, established by the ENACOM on April 26, 2017.  

 

Subsequently, in another agreement also executed on April 12, 2017, NEXTEL accepted and expressly consented to 

the authorization granted to the Chairman of the ENACOM to decide on, within a term of 2 years as from the date of 

the agreement, the replacement with economic compensation -to be paid by NEXTEL- of certain channels of the 

2500-2690 MHz frequency bands for frequencies in other bands, as established under Article 7 of ENACOM 

Resolution No. 1,034/2017. 

 

Also, on May 5, 2017, Nextel posted the performance bond provided under the agreement in order to guarantee: (i) 

compliance with the coverage obligations in the localities ordered by ENACOM; and (ii) the return of compromised 

radio spectrum.  

 

Through Resolution No. 3,909-E/2017 published on May 24, 2017, the ENACOM decided to record the agreements 

described in the previous paragraph. 
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On May 22, 2017, Cablevisión made a filing with the ENACOM in order to request the incorporation of the Licencia 

Única Argentina Digital held by Cablevisión to the records, resources, allocations, permits and authorizations held 

by Nextel, as well as those held by Trixco S.A., Callbi S.A., Infotel S.A., Skyonline de Argentina S.A., Netizen 

S.A., and Eritown Corporation Argentina S.A. as a result of the corporate reorganization process to be implemented 

whereby Cablevisión will absorb under a merger by acquisition process the above-mentioned licensees among which 

is Nextel, which will be dissolved without liquidation. (See Note 4.a)). 

 

 

9.4.4. Programming Grid 

 

AFSCA Resolution No. 296/2010, as amended and/or supplemented, provided guidelines for the organization of the 

programming grids that had to be followed by the owners of subscription television audiovisual services. This 

resolution regulated section 65, subsections a) and b) of the LSCA and supplemented the provisions of the 

regulations to the same section of Decree No. 1,225/2010.  

 

In spite of Cablevisión’s efforts to organize its programming grids in accordance with the provisions of section 65 of 

Law No. 26,522, AFSCA initiated multiple summary proceedings in connection with the cable television licenses of 

which Cablevisión is the lawful successor. AFSCA contended that Cablevisión had failed to comply with the 

regulations set forth by AFSCA Resolution No. 296/2010. Cablevisión submitted the responses set forth under 

section 1, Exhibit II of AFSCA Resolution No. 224/2010 in connection with such accusations. A decision has been 

rendered on some of the summary proceedings and, as a result, a fine was imposed on Cablevisión, while other 

proceedings are pending resolution. Cablevisión has appealed these decisions. Some of the appeals filed by 

Cablevisión have been decided against it and were appealed. 

 

Insofar as Cablevisión is concerned, as of the date of these financial statements, an injunction issued in re 

“CABLEVISIÓN S.A. v. NATIONAL GOVERNMENT AND OTHERS ON COMPLAINT FOR THE 

PROTECTION OF CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS” by the Federal Court of Appeals of the City of Mar del Plata, 

whereby that Court revoked the decision rendered in the First Instance, remains in full force and effect. The decision 

rendered in the First Instance had ordered the dismissal of Cablevisión’s request. The Court of Appeals ordered 

AFSCA to suspend – until a final decision was rendered on the matter – the application of the penalties derived from 

the alleged non-compliance with section 65 of Law No. 26,522 and Decree No. 1.225/2010. Therefore, it also 

suspended the application of section 6 of AFSCA Resolution No. 296/2010 on the grounds that Cablevisión’s 

alleged serious non-compliance was not contemplated in the Law or in the Decree. The National Government filed 

an appeal with the Supreme Court against this decision. Such appeal was dismissed. Consequently, AFSCA filed a 

direct appeal with the Supreme Court, which is still pending resolution. 

 

In re “AFSCA v. CABLEVISION SA Decree 1,225/10 – RES. 296/10 on/ Proceeding leading to a declaratory 

judgment” currently pending before the Federal Court of First Instance on Administrative Matters No. 9, on May 16, 

2012 the Court granted an injunction that had been requested by AFSCA, ordering Cablevisión and/or the pay 

television audiovisual services it exploits, to conform to Section 65, subsection 3 b of Decree No. 1,225/2010 and 

Sections 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 of AFSCA Resolution No. 296/2010, until a final judgment is rendered on the merits of the 

case. Cablevisión has appealed such injunction.  

 

On August 6, 2012, Cablevisión was served notice of a decision rendered by the Federal Court of First Instance on 

Administrative Matters No. 9 of the City of Buenos Aires, whereby that court imposed a fine on Cablevisión of Ps. 

20,000 per day for each day of delay in complying with the injunction that ordered Cablevisión to comply with 

Section 65 of Decree No. 1,225/2010 and AFSCA Resolution No. 296/2010. Cablevisión filed an appeal against that 

decision in due time and form. However, the Court of Appeals ignored the strong grounds asserted by Cablevisión; 

partially confirmed the decision rendered in the first instance; and reduced the fine to Ps. 2,000 per day for each day 

of delay, to be calculated as from the date the decision is deemed final. An appeal was filed with the Supreme Court 

of Argentina, which was dismissed by the intervening Chamber. Cablevisión filed an appeal against such decision, 

which was dismissed by the Supreme Court of Argentina. 
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On October 21, 2013 Cablevisión was served with new charges brought for alleged noncompliance with AFSCA 

Resolution No. 296/2010, clearly violating the preliminary injunction mentioned above. Accordingly, Cablevisión 

filed an appeal, but no decision has been rendered on the matter as of the date of these financial statements. 

 

On December 23, 2013, Cablevisión informed AFSCA of its new programming grid in digital and analogical 

systems, expressly maintaining the reserves brought to continue challenging the legality and constitutionality of 

section 65 of Decree No. 1,225/2010 and AFSCA Resolution No. 296/2010, as amended. 

 

Section 7 of the Emergency Decree which amends, among others, Section 10 of Law No. 27,078 provides that all the 

physical link and radio electric link subscription television services shall be governed by the Digital Argentina Act. 

Therefore, Cablevisión is no longer subject to Section 65 and its implementing regulations.  

 

“As a result of the issuance of Decree No. 267/2015, which excludes the physical link or radio-electric link 

subscription television services from the scope of Law No. 26,522, the claim that had been brought by AFSCA 

against Cablevisión in re “AFSCA v. CABLEVISION-DECREE No. 1,225/10-RESOL 296/10 ON/PROCEEDING 

LEADING TO A DECLARATORY JUDGMENT”, pending before the National Court of First Instance on Federal 

Administrative Matters No. 9, has become moot because Cablevisión is no longer subject to Section 65 of Law No. 

26,522, and is now subject to Law No. 27,078.” 

 

The new General Rules approved by ENACOM Resolution No. 1,394/16 order providers of both types of services 

(physical and radio-electric link) to guarantee their compliance with a programming grid in each Coverage Area. 

Cablevisión states that it complies with all the obligations set out under that Resolution. 

 

By means of Resolution No. 5,160/2017, the ENACOM provided that the inclusion of broadcast television signals 

within the coverage area by the holders of a physical link or radio electric link subscription television registration 

shall be subject to the conditions undertaken with the holder of the broadcast television service and its retransmission 

shall be mandatory only if they are delivered by its holders free of charge. In addition, the Resolution sets forth that 

the retransmission of cable news signals shall only be mandatory for 24-hour news signals provided that they 

broadcast live programming during 12 of those 24 hours.  

 

9.5. Requests for authorization filed with the ENACOM relating to the merger of Telecom Argentina S.A. and 

Cablevisión S.A. 

 

As a consequence of the corporate reorganization process described under Note 4.d), on September 6, 2017, 

Cablevisión and Telecom Argentina S.A. made a filing with the ENACOM requesting the authorization of: 

 

(i) The transfer and incorporation to the Licencia Única Argentina Digital held by Telecom of the 

registrations, resources, allocations and permits held by Cablevisión. 

(ii) The transfer in favor of Telecom of the authorizations for use and the resources allocated to provide the 

services registered under the name of Cablevisión and/or the companies merged into the latter, and 

(iii) The change of corporate control that will occur in Telecom Argentina S.A. once the above-mentioned 

authorization from the ENACOM has been obtained, the Merger becomes effective and the 

shareholders agreement dated July 7, 2017 enters into effect, which will result in Cablevisión Holding 

S.A. becoming the controlling company of Telecom Argentina S.A. as surviving company of 

Cablevisión. 

 

On December 22, 2017, Telecom Argentina and Cablevisión were served with ENACOM Resolution No. 5,644-

E/2017, whereby that agency decided, among other things, to authorize Cablevisión to transfer in favor of Telecom 

Argentina: (i) the Registration of physical and/or radio electric link subscription broadcasting services, including 

permits/frequencies required to provide radio electric link broadcasting services, as well as area authorizations to 

provide those services (via physical and radio electric link), which may operate in Area II, as defined under Decree 

No. 1,461/93, as amended, and the city of Rosario, Province of Santa Fe, and the city of Córdoba, Province of 

Córdoba, as from January 1, 2018, as provided under Article 5 of National Decree No. 1,340/2016, and in the rest of 

the areas authorized on the dates and in the modalities provided under ENACOM Resolution No. 5,641/2017 dated 
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December 20, 2017; (ii) the Registration of the Radio Electric Trunking Service (SRCE); and (iii) the authorizations 

and frequency use permits and allocations of numbering and sign-posting resources to provide the above-mentioned 

services held by Cablevisión, pursuant to effective regulations (Annex IV of Decree No. 764/2000), and the 

agreement executed by NEXTEL COMMUNICATIONS ARGENTINA S.R.L. on April 12, 2017 (IF-2017-

08818737-APN-ENACOM#MCO), whereby Telecom Argentina, in its capacity as absorbing company of 

Cablevisión, shall within a term of two years as from the date the merger is approved by the National Antitrust 

Commission and the ENACOM or by any agency that may substitute them in the future, return the radio electric 

spectrum that exceeds the limit set under Section 5 of Resolution No. 171-E/17 issued by the Ministry of 

Communications and/or any regulation that may replace it in the future. To that effect, Telecom Argentina shall file 

with the ENACOM, no later than one year prior to the expiration of the two-year term, a proposal to conform to that 

limit. The ENACOM may accept the proposal, reject it and/or request a new filing with any changes it may deem 

appropriate. In addition, through that Resolution, the ENACOM authorized the change of corporate control (as 

defined under Article 33 of the General Associations Law No. 19,550), of Telecom Argentina that occurred when 

the merger became effective and the shareholders agreement dated July 7, 2017 entered into effect, as a result of 

which Cablevisión Holding S.A. became the controlling company of Telecom Argentina as surviving company of 

Cablevisión. 

 

9.6. Audiovisual Communications Law of the Republic of Uruguay 

 

Law No. 19,307 was published in the Official Gazette of the Republic of Uruguay on January 14, 2015. This Law 

governs radio, television, and other audiovisual communication services (hereinafter, the “Audiovisual 

Communications Law”). Section 202 of this law provides that the Executive Branch shall issue its implementing 

regulations within a 120-day term, counted as from the day following publication of the Audiovisual 

Communications Law in the Official Gazette. As of the date of these consolidated financial statements, only Decree 

No. 45/015 has been issued, but the implementing regulations for most of the sections of this law are still pending. 

Such Decree provides that the concession for the use and allocation of the radio-electric spectrum for non-satellite 

audiovisual communication services shall be granted for a term of 15 years. 

 

Section 54 of the Audiovisual Communications Law provides that an individual or legal entity cannot be allocated 

the full or partial ownership of more than 6 authorizations or licenses to render television services to subscribers 

throughout the national territory of Uruguay. Such limit is reduced to 3 if one of the authorizations or licenses 

includes the department of Montevideo. Section 189 of this law provides that in the cases where such limits were 

exceeded as of the entry into force of the Law, the owners of those audiovisual communication services shall transfer 

the necessary authorizations or licenses so as not to exceed the limits mentioned above within a term of 4 years as 

from the date of entry into force of the Audiovisual Communications Law. 

 

The subsidiary Adesol S.A. is analyzing the possible impact on its business that could be derived from the change in 

the regulatory framework and the eventual legal actions it may bring to safeguard its rights and those of its 

shareholders. That company is also monitoring the different unconstitutionality claims filed by other companies 

against certain sections of the above-mentioned law to consider whether the decisions to be rendered by the Supreme 

Court in those proceedings may be favorable to the position of Adesol S.A. in the future. On April 7, 2016, 28 

unconstitutionality claims were brought against the above mentioned law. To date, the Supreme Court has issued 28 

decisions, whereby it declared the unconstitutionality of Sections 39 subsection 3, Section 55, 56 subsection 1, 

Section 60 point C, 98 subsection 2°, 117 subsection 2, 143 and 149 subsection 2 of Law No. 19,307. It is 

noteworthy that some of the decisions rendered in this respect by the Supreme Court dismissed the 

unconstitutionality claim filed by the claimant with respect to Section 54 of that Law. 

 

 

NOTE 10 – PROVISIONS AND OTHER CHARGES 

 

10.1. Judicial, administrative and other proceedings 

 

a) As from November 1, 2002 and until December 31, 2017, COMFER, then AFSCA, now ENACOM have initiated 

summary administrative proceedings against Cablevisión and Multicanal (merged into Cablevisión) for 
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infringements of regulations relating to programming content. Accordingly, a provision has been set up in this 

regard. 

 

b) The CNDC initiated three legal actions following complaints filed by other cable television companies under Law 

No. 25,156 alleging an improper refusal by Dayco Holdings Ltd. ("Dayco"), a subsidiary of Fintelco group, to sell 

rights to broadcast South American qualifying football matches for the Korea/Japan 2002 World Cup. On February 

14, 2003, the CNDC served Cablevisión notice of the complaint in one of those legal actions to provide 

explanations. 

 

Subsequently, the Technical Coordination Secretary of the Ministry of Economy and Production decided that the 

proceedings related to one of the actions above should be closed. Although Dayco timely submitted the answers 

required and Cablevisión did the same on March 10, 2003, the CNDC has not made any material decision. 

 

On July 16, 2010, the SCI served notice to Cablevisión and Multicanal of Resolution No. 219/2010 whereby the 

Secretariat of Domestic Trade found that both companies had engaged in market sharing practices in connection 

with the paid-television service in the City of Santa Fe and imposed a fine of Ps. 2,500,000 on each of them. On July 

26, 2010, both companies appealed the resolution, presenting new arguments in connection with the application of 

statutes of limitation, which had already been alleged prior to the issuance of the appealed resolution. 

 

On June 4, 2012, the Federal Court of Appeals of Rosario partially confirmed SCI Resolution No. 219/2010, 

whereby the Secretariat of Domestic Trade found that Cablevisión and Multicanal had engaged in market sharing 

practices in connection with the paid-television service in the City of Santa Fe and reduced the fine imposed on each 

of the companies involved from Ps. 2.5 million to Ps. 2 million. However, this decision is not yet final, because 

Cablevisión and Multicanal and the Ministry of Economy filed appeals, which are still pending before that Court of 

Appeals. On October 21, 2014, the Argentine Supreme Court dismissed the appeals; therefore, Resolution No. 

219/2010 became final. The case is currently pending with the Court of Appeals of Rosario, which shall order its 

referral to the SCI. The SCI, in turn, shall serve notice to the companies involved in order for them to pay the fine. 

 

On March 1, 2011, the SCI served notice to Multicanal and Cablevisión of Resolution No. 19/11 whereby the 

Secretariat of Domestic Trade found that both companies had engaged in market sharing practices in connection 

with the paid-television service in the City of Paraná and imposed a fine of Ps. 2.5 million on each of them. 

Cablevisión filed an appeal in due time and form. This appeal was dismissed by the Federal Court of Appeals of 

Paraná. Therefore, Cablevisión filed an appeal with the Argentine Supreme Court. On November 4, 2011, the appeal 

of SCI Resolution No. 19/11 filed by Cablevisión with the Supreme Court was partially granted by the Federal Court 

of Appeals of Paraná. 

 

On August 30, 2012, the Argentine Supreme Court dismissed the appeal filed by Cablevisión; therefore, Resolution 

No. 19/11 became final. The case is currently pending with the Court of Appeals of Paraná, which shall order its 

referral to the SCI. The SCI, in turn, shall serve notice to the companies involved in order for them to pay the fine. 

 

The ongoing investigations of the CNDC and SCI may lead to the imposition of fines pursuant to Law No. 25,156, 

which would be appealable. The eventual fines would be graduated based on: (i) the loss incurred by the people 

affected by the allegedly prohibited activity; (ii) the benefit obtained by all the people involved in the prohibited 

activity and (iii) the value of the assets involved owned by the people indicated in item (ii) above at the time the 

alleged violation was committed. To date, there is not any standard criterion on the application of the above-

mentioned parameters. 

 

While Cablevisión believes that its conduct and that of Multicanal have always been within the bounds of the 

Argentine Antitrust Law and regulations and that their positions in each of these proceedings are reasonably 

grounded, it can give no assurance that any of these cases will be resolved in its favor. 

 

c) In 2003, ELP Investments filed a criminal complaint in Argentina against certain individuals related to the Hicks 

Muse Tate & Furst Group (“HMTF”), including some who were Directors of Cablevisión. That criminal complaint, 

which was filed by a person that is not a shareholder or creditor of Cablevisión, challenged certain operations 
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undertaken by Cablevisión. Although Cablevisión believed that the party filing the complaint was not entitled to do 

so, and that the allegations by ELP Investments were false or wrongly presented, the court handling this case ordered 

searches at Cablevisión's offices, as well as the seizure of certain of Cablevisión's corporate books. On June 27, 

2003, the criminal court appointed an agent to gather information at Cablevisión's offices regarding the case within a 

forty five-day period. On September 16, 2003, this period was extended for forty five additional days. Cablevisión 

and certain Directors of that company each denied the challenges alleged by ELP Investments and offered 

supporting evidence and Cablevisión appealed the court’s appointment of the agent. On October 21, 2003, Chamber 

IV of the Criminal and Correctional Court of Appeals declared the nullity of all the decisions made and actions taken 

by the lower court judges. The litigation, however, continued through the filing of remedies before the highest 

criminal court of appeals (Cámara de Casación) and the Supreme Court of Argentina. The Cámara de Casación 

partially revoked the decision rendered by Chamber IV. The majority of the judges of this court of appeals upheld 

the principles and grounds held by Chamber IV. Notwithstanding the above-mentioned, the Cámara de Casación 

held that the proceedings related to the preliminary injunctions that are still pending should be resolved in the first 

place. It should be noted that, given the share transfers made in 2006, the companies represented by the parties 

involved in the above-mentioned case have ceased to be shareholders of Cablevisión. Cablevisión was never a party 

to the case. On July 3, 2009, Chamber IV of the Criminal Court of Appeals held that the intervention of Cablevisión 

was no longer in effect and, therefore, declared moot the claims that had been brought against that intervention. 

 

On May 11, 2010, the Criminal Court of First Instance declared that the legal action had become barred by the 

statute of limitations and permanently acquitted the accused from all the criminal offenses claimed by ELP 

Investments. That decision was appealed by the acting Prosecutor and is now pending before Chamber IV of the 

Criminal and Correctional Court of Appeals. That Chamber suspended the application of the statutes of limitation to 

the criminal action. The suspension is due to the fact that the former claimant ELP Investments brought a new claim 

requesting to be a party to this proceeding. To date, Chamber IV of the Criminal and Correctional Court of Appeals 

has not allowed the former claimant ELP Investments to be a party to this proceeding. ELP Investments filed an 

appeal against this decision, which is still pending. 

 

d) The Government of the City of Mar del Plata enacted Ordinance No. 9,163, governing the installation of cable 

television networks. Such ordinance was amended and restated by Ordinance No. 15,981 dated February 26, 2004, 

giving cable companies until December 31, 2007 to adapt their cable networks to the new municipal requirements. 

The ordinance sets forth that in those areas where street lighting has underground wiring, cable television networks 

are to be placed underground. In this sense, the Executive Department of the Municipality of General Pueyrredón 

has submitted to the Municipal Council a proposed ordinance extending the term provided until December 31, 2015. 

The term for legislators to discuss that proposed ordinance within the legislative period in which it was presented has 

expired. Even though the ordinance provides for certain penalties/ fines that may be imposed, the city has not 

imposed such penalties to cable systems that are not in compliance with such ordinance. 

 

e) Multicanal has brought several legal actions requesting the nullification of: i) all the Ordinary Shareholders’ 

Meetings of Supercanal Holding S.A. held from 2000 to date, and ii) the guarantees granted by Supercanal Holding 

S.A. on bank loans exclusively in favor of the group controlling Supercanal Holding S.A. (Grupo Uno S.A. and its 

affiliates). In addition, a claim for the dissolution and liquidation of Supercanal Holding S.A. was brought jointly 

with the action for the removal of all the members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Committee, and the 

dissolution of Supercanal Capital N.V. On March 29, 2000, Supercanal filed for insolvency proceedings before the 

National Court of First Instance on Commercial Matters No. 20, Clerk’s Office No. 40, which was admitted by the 

Court on March 27, 2001. On December 26, 2007, the Court rendered a decision whereby it dismissed the claims 

and approved the settlement proposal. That approval was appealed by the pledgees. On October 30, 2009, the Court 

of Appeals, rendered a decision whereby it revoked the approval of the proposal and requested the debtor to provide 

certain explanations and clarifications about the submitted proposal and to provide guarantee to the pledgees on the 

shares of the original shareholders. Supercanal made a filing stating that it complied with both requirements and 

provided a Ps. 2 million escrow for the pledgees. On March 3, 2011, the Court of First Instance approved once again 

the insolvency proceeding. That decision was once again appealed by the pledgees. On December 28, 2011, 

Chamber A of the Court of Appeals partially revoked the decision rendered by the Court of First Instance upholding 

the approval of the proposal submitted by Supercanal Holding S.A. but ordering that the guarantee for the pledgees 

should be of USD 30 million. 
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On April 23, 2012, a decision was rendered on one of the claims brought by Multicanal against Supercanal ordering 

the nullification of the decisions made at Supercanal’s Shareholders’ Meeting held on January 25, 2000 in 

considering points 2, 4, 5 and 6 relating to: i) the capital reduction to Ps. 12,000; ii) the cancellation of the shares 

corresponding to the reduced capital; iii) the capital increase to Ps. 83,012,000; iv) the delegation to the Board of 

Directors of the fixing of the term for the subscription and payment of the increase and the cancellation and 

registration of outstanding shares; and v) the amendment of the by-laws in connection with the changes in the capital 

stock in a new shareholders’ meeting. 

 

Such decision was appealed by both parties and the appeal is pending before the Court of Appeals. 

 

Upon the revocation of a preliminary injunction initially granted in favor of Multicanal in re “Multicanal S.A. v/ 

Supercanal Holding S.A. on summary proceedings” for the request for nullification of the Shareholders’ Meeting of 

Supercanal Holding S.A. held on January 25, 2000 at which the shareholders of that company decided to reduce the 

capital stock of Supercanal Holding S.A. to Ps. 12,000 and to subsequently increase the capital stock to Ps. 

83,012,000, Multicanal was served on December 12, 2001 with a claim filed by Supercanal Holding S.A. for 

damages caused by the above-mentioned preliminary injunction which was subsequently revoked. Supercanal 

Holding S.A. alleges that the suspension of the effects of its Shareholders’ Meeting that had been held on January 

25, 2000 caused its insolvency. Multicanal answered the claim denying any liability stating that the claimant’s 

insolvency took place, as per the documentary evidence provided by the very same claimant, before the date of the 

Shareholders’ Meeting, which effects were suspended by the preliminary injunction. On the other hand, the 

suspension of the effects of the Shareholders’ Meeting did not preclude the capitalization of Cablevisión by other 

alternative means. Based on legal and factual precedents of the case, Cablevisión, as successor of Multicanal’s 

operations, believes that the claim filed should be rejected in its entirety, and that the legal costs should be borne by 

the plaintiff. The proceeding is in the discovery stage. The Court of First Instance dismissed Supercanal Holding 

S.A.’s request that it be allowed to sue without paying court fees or costs. This decision has been ratified by the 

Federal Court of Appeals. 

 

Cablevisión cannot assure that, as a result of the actions brought, it may obtain a favorable economic or equity 

outcome. Currently and due to the ancillary jurisdiction of the insolvency proceedings of Supercanal Holding S.A. 

all the claims brought are pending before the above-mentioned court. 

 

f) Multicanal, which was merged into Cablevisión, has taken notice of a claim (with which it has not been served as 

of the date of these consolidated financial statements) brought against it by an entity representing consumers and 

alleged financial victims (and by six other individuals). Claimants are Multicanal noteholders -individuals who are 

not investment professionals or consumers- who claim to be allegedly affected by Multicanal’s APE Since neither 

Multicanal nor Cablevisión, as successor of Multicanal, has been served with that claim, we cannot estimate the 

impact it will have on Cablevisión. 

 

g) On January 22, 2010, Cablevisión was served notice of CNDC Resolution No. 8/10 issued within the framework 

of file No. 0021390/2010 entitled “Official Investigation of Cable Television Subscriptions (C1321)”. Pursuant to 

this Resolution, Cablevisión, among other companies, was ordered to refrain from conducting collusive practices 

and, particularly, from increasing the price of cable television subscriptions for a term of 60 days, counted as from 

the date compliance with all required notices is certified in the records of the case. As established by that Resolution, 

companies that have already increased the price of the subscriptions shall return to the price applicable in November 

2009 and maintain such price for the above-mentioned term. 

 

On February 2, 2010, by means of Resolution No. 13/10, the CNDC ordered Cablevisión to refund to its subscribers 

in the March 2012 invoices the amount of any price increase made after the date of CNDC Resolution No. 8/10. 

 

Cablevisión appealed both resolutions in due time and form and their effects were suspended by an injunction issued 

by Chamber No. 2 of the National Court of Appeals on Federal Civil and Commercial Matters at the request of 

Cablevisión. The National Government filed an appeal with the Supreme Court against this decision, and the appeal 

has been dismissed. 
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On October 4, 2011, Chamber No. 2 of the National Court of Appeals on Federal Civil and Commercial Matters 

granted the appeal filed against both decisions in re “Cablevisión and Other on Appeal against the Decision rendered 

by the National Antitrust Commission” (File 1,473/2010), declaring Resolution No. 8/10 moot and nullifying 

Resolution No. 13/10. 

 

The National Government filed an appeal with the Supreme Court of Argentina against the decision rendered by 

Chamber No. 2, which was granted, but it was dismissed by the Supreme Court of Argentina. 

 

h) The Secretariat of Domestic Trade issued Resolution No. 50/10, whereby it approved certain rules for the sale of 

pay television services. These rules provide that cable television operators must apply a formula to estimate their 

monthly subscription prices. The price arising from the application of the formula was to be informed to the Office 

of Business Loyalty (Dirección de Lealtad Comercial) between March 8 and March 22, 2010. Cable television 

operators must adjust such amount semi-annually and inform the result of such adjustment to said Office.  

 

Even though as of the date of these consolidated financial statements Cablevisión cannot assure the actual impact of 

the application of this formula, given the vagueness of the variables provided by the Resolution to calculate the 

monthly subscription prices, Cablevisión believes that Resolution No. 50/10 is arbitrary and bluntly disregards its 

freedom to contract, which is part of the right to freedom of industry and trade. Therefore, it has filed the pertinent 

administrative claims and has brought the necessary legal actions requesting the suspension of the Resolution’s 

effects and ultimately requesting its nullification. 

 

Even though Cablevisión, like other companies in the industry, has strong constitutional arguments to support its 

position, it cannot be assured that the final outcome of this issue will be favorable. Therefore, Cablevisión may be 

forced to modify the price of its pay television subscription, a situation that could significantly affect the revenues of 

its core business. This situation generates uncertainties about Cablevisión’s business, which could significantly 

affect the recoverability of the Company's relevant assets. Notwithstanding the foregoing, as of the date of these 

consolidated financial statements, in accordance with the decision rendered on August 1, 2011 in re “LA CAPITAL 

CABLE S.A. v/ Ministry of Economy-Secretariat of Domestic Trade”, the Federal Court of Appeals of the City of 

Mar del Plata has ordered the SCI to suspend the application of Resolution No. 50/10 with respect to all cable 

television licensees represented by the ATVC. Upon being served on the SCI and the Ministry of Economy on 

September 12, 2011, such decision became fully effective and may not be disregarded by the SCI. The National 

Government filed an appeal against the decision rendered by the Federal Court of Appeals of Mar del Plata to have 

the case brought before the Supreme Court. Such appeal was dismissed and so the National Government filed a 

direct appeal with the Supreme Court, which was also dismissed. 

 

On June 1, 2010, the SCI imposed a Ps. 5 million fine on Cablevisión alleging that it had failed to comply with the 

information regime set forth by Resolution No. 50/10, and invoking the Antitrust Law to impose such penalty. The 

fine was appealed and submitted to the National Court of Appeals on Federal Administrative Matters, Chamber No. 

5, which decided to reduce the fine to Ps. 300,000. Cablevisión appealed this decision by filing an extraordinary 

appeal with the Supreme Court of Argentina.  

 

On March 10, 2011 SCI Resolution No. 36/11 was published in the Official Gazette. This Resolution falls within the 

framework of SCI Resolution No. 50/10. Resolution No. 36/11 sets forth the parameters to be applied to the services 

rendered by Cablevisión to its subscribers from January through April 2011. These parameters are as follows: 1) the 

monthly basic subscription price shall be Ps. 109 for that period; 2) the price of other services rendered by 

Cablevisión should remain unchanged as of the date of publication of the resolution; and 3) the promotional benefits, 

existing rebates and/or discounts already granted as of that same date shall be maintained. The resolution also 

provides that Cablevisión shall reimburse users for any amount collected above the price set for that period. 

 

Cablevisión believes that Resolution No. 36/10 is illegal and arbitrary, since it is grounded on Resolution No. 50/10, 

which is absolutely null and void. Since the application of Resolution No. 50/10 has been suspended, the application 

of Resolution No. 36/11, which falls within the framework of the former, is also suspended. 
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The claim filed by Cablevisión seeking the nullification of Resolution No. 50/10 is currently pending before the 

Federal Administrative Court of First Instance No. 7 of the City of Buenos Aires. This claim was dismissed in view 

of the claim pending in the City of Mar del Plata. 

 

Subsequently, the SCI issued Resolutions Nos. 65/11, 92/11, 123/11, 141/11, 10/11, 25/12, 97/12, 161/12, 29/13, 

61/13, 104/13, 1/14, 43/14 and 93/14 pursuant to which the SCI extended the effectiveness of Resolution No. 36/11 

up to and including September 2014, and adjusted the cable television subscription price to Ps. 152. Cablevisión 

believes, however, that given the terms under which the Federal Court of the City of Mar del Plata granted the 

preliminary injunction, that is, ordering the SCI to suspend the application of Resolution No. 50/10 with respect to 

all cable television licensees represented by ATVC (among them, Cablevisión and its subsidiaries), and also given 

the fact that Resolutions No. 36/11, 65/11, 92/11, 123/11, 141/11, 10/11, 25/12, 97/12, 161/12, 29/13, 61/13, 104/13, 

1/14, 43/14 and 93/14 merely apply Resolution No. 50/10, Cablevisión continues to be protected by said preliminary 

injunction, and, therefore, the ordinary course of its business will not be affected. 

 

On April 23, 2013, Cablevisión was served notice of a decision rendered in re “Ombudsman of Buenos Aires v. 

Cablevisión S.A. on Complaint for the protection of constitutional rights Law 16,986 (Motion for Preliminary 

Injunction)” pending before Federal Court No. 2, Civil Clerk’s Office No. 4 of the City of La Plata in connection 

with the price of cable television subscriptions, whereby the court imposed on Cablevisión a cumulative daily fine of 

Ps. 100,000 per day on Cablevisión.  

 

Cablevisión appealed the fine on the grounds that Resolution No. 50/10 issued by Mr. Moreno, as well as its 

extensions and/or amendments were suspended, as mentioned above, by an injunction with respect to Cablevisión 

and its branches and subsidiaries prior to the imposition of the fine; pursuant to the collective injunction issued by 

the Federal Court of the City of Mar del Plata on August 1, 2011 in re “La Capital Cable and Others v. National 

Government and Others on Preliminary Injunction”. That injunction suspended the application of all the criteria set 

by the Secretariat of Domestic Trade under Mr. Guillermo Moreno. 

 

The Federal Court of Appeals of the City of La Plata reduced the fine to Ps. 10,000 per day. Cablevisión filed an 

appeal against that decision in due time and form. On October 16, 2013, the Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal 

filed by Cablevisión. As of the date of these consolidated financial statements, Cablevisión had settled the fine in the 

amount of Ps. 1,260,000 and compliance was recorded in the file. 

 

On June 11, 2013, Cablevisión was served notice of a resolution rendered in the above-mentioned case; whereby the 

court ordered the appointment of an expert overseer (perito interventor) specialized in economic sciences to: (i) 

verify whether or not the invoices corresponding to the basic cable television subscription issued by Cablevisión to 

subscribers domiciled in the Province of Buenos Aires, are actually prepared at the headquarters located at Gral. 

Hornos 690, and/or at Cablevisión’s branch offices, precisely detailing that process, (ii) identify the individuals 

responsible for that area, (iii) determine whether or not the administrative actions tending towards the effective 

compliance with the injunction issued on that case are underway, and (iv) identify the senior staff of Cablevisión that 

must order the invoice issuance area to prepare the invoices as decided under that injunction. 

 

 

Cablevisión timely appealed the appointment of said expert on the same grounds stated above. This appeal is also 

pending before the Federal Court of Appeals of the City of La Plata. 

 

For the purposes of enforcing the injunction, the court issued letters rogatory to the competent judge of the City of 

Buenos Aires. Upon the initiation of that proceeding, both the National Court on Federal Administrative Matters and 

the National Court on Federal Civil and Commercial Matters declined jurisdiction to enforce the injunction ordered 

by the Federal Judge of La Plata. Cablevisión has appealed the decision in connection with the lack of jurisdiction in 

due time and form. Chamber 1 of the Federal Court of Appeals on Civil and Commercial Matters confirmed the 

appealed decision. Accordingly, Cablevisión will file an extraordinary appeal in due time and form to have the case 

decided by the Supreme Court of Argentina. 
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It should be noted that, in the light of the corporate reorganization and at the request of both parties, that company 

requested in the file to suspend the procedural terms for 180 days, which was granted by the judge. Therefore, the 

procedural terms have been suspended until December 11, 2014. Given the decision rendered by the Supreme Court 

of Argentina in re “Municipality of Berazategui v. Cablevisión” mentioned below, the procedural periods remain 

suspended until the Federal Court of Mar del Plata renders a decision thereon. 

 

The file initiated by the Ombudsman before the Federal Court of La Plata, was sent to Mar del Plata, as established 

by the decision rendered in re Municipality of Berazategui v. Cablevisión referred to below, ordering that the 

preliminary injunction be revoked because it contradicts the injunction ordered in the proceeding initiated by ATVC. 

 

After the Federal Court of the City of Mar del Plata issued its injunction, several Municipal Offices of Consumer 

Information and several individuals filed claims requesting that Cablevisión comply with Resolution No. 50/10 and 

the subsequent resolutions that extended its effectiveness. In some cases, preliminary injunctions were granted. In 

every case, Cablevisión appealed such preliminary injunctions alleging that Resolution No. 50/10, as amended, 

and/or the subsequent resolutions that extended its effectiveness, had been suspended with respect to Cablevisión, its 

branches and subsidiaries prior to the issuance of such preliminary injunctions. 

 

On September 23, 2014, the Supreme Court of Argentina rendered a decision in re "Municipality of Berazategui v. 

Cablevisión" and ordered that the cases related to these resolutions continue under the jurisdiction of the Federal 

Court of Mar del Plata that had issued the decision on the collective action in favor of ATVC. 

 

Currently, all the claims related to this matter are pending before the Federal Courts of Mar del Plata The judge has 

not yet ordered discovery proceedings in respect of the main claim, “La Capital Cable v. National Government on 

Ordinary Proceeding”. 

 

Decisions made on the basis of these consolidated financial statements should consider the eventual impact that the 

above-mentioned resolutions might have on Cablevisión and its subsidiaries, and the Company's financial statements 

should be read in light of such uncertainty. 

 

i) On October 28, 2010, Cablevisión was served notice of the National Administration of Domestic Trade’s 

resolutions imposing two fines of Ps. 5 million each, for allegedly failing to observe the typographic character 

requirements under applicable regulations (Resolution No. 906/98) when informing its subscribers of the increase in 

the price of their cable television subscriptions. Cablevisión appealed the fines on November 12, 2010 because it 

believes it has strong grounds in its favor. However, it cannot assure that the outcome will be favorable. One of the 

files was assigned No. 1,280 and is pending before Chamber No. 1 of the Federal Administrative Court of Appeals, 

and the other one was assigned No. 1,278 and is pending before Chamber No. 5 of the Federal Administrative Court 

of Appeals. 

 

j) On January 13, 2012, the Secretariat of Domestic Trade issued Resolution No. 2/2012 granting Cablevisión 24 

hours to resume service to those subscribers who had duly paid their subscription fee in the amount established by 

the National Government. In its sixth section, the Resolution provides that, if the company does not comply with its 

obligations thereunder, penalties may be imposed as provided by Law No. 20,680. 

 

On February 10, 2012, Cablevisión received a fine of Ps. 1,000,000 for alleged non-compliance with such 

Resolution. Such fine has been appealed but no decision has been rendered on the matter yet. 

 

k) On November 27, 2012 the National Administration of Domestic Trade served Cablevisión with Resolution No. 

308/2012, whereby it imposed a Ps. 5 million fine on that company alleging that it had failed to comply with Section 

No. 4 of the Antitrust Law (increase in the subscription price of cable television services/wrongful information 

provided by Customer Service, which informed by mail SECOM Resolution No. 50 and the supplementing 

resolutions are suspended on grounds of unconstitutionality, when in fact they have been suspended by an 

injunction). On December 11, 2012 Cablevisión appealed Resolution No. 308/2012. The administrative file No. 

S01:0312056/2011 was sent by the National Administration of Domestic Trade to the National Court of Appeals on 
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Federal Administrative Matters. It is now pending before Chamber No. 1 in re “Cablevisión SA v. DNCI Res. 

308/12 and Other” (File 140/13). A decision has not been rendered yet. 

 

Cablevisión and its legal advisors believe that the company has strong arguments in its favor. Nevertheless, 

Cablevisión cannot assure that the fine will be revoked. 

 

l) On April 9, 2013, Cablevisión was served notice of AFIP Resolution No. 45/13 dated April 3, 2013, whereby such 

agency imposed penalties in a summary proceeding against Cablevisión with respect to compliance with General 

Resolution No. 3,260/12. Cablevisión filed an appeal, which has staying effects on the execution of those penalties. 

 

m) On May 30, 2013, Pem S.A. was served with a claim in re “TELEVISORA PRIVADA DEL OESTE S.A. v. 

GRUPO CLARÍN S.A. AND OTHERS on ORDINARY” File No. 99078/2011, which is pending before the Federal 

Commercial Court No. 16 of First Instance, Clerk’s Office No. 32. The claim seeks damages resulting from certain 

decisions made with respect to Televisora Privada del Oeste S.A. Cablevisión and Grupo Clarín, among others, are 

defendants in such lawsuit. Cablevisión was served with the claim and filed a response in due time and form. Notice 

of the claim is being served on the other co-defendants. According to Cablevisión’s legal advisors, the chances of 

success of the claim are low because the damages claimed are clearly overstated, the actual damage invoked does not 

exist and the claim is procedurally inappropriate, on both a factual and legal basis. Pem S.A. filed a response and the 

proceeding is now in the discovery stage. In view of the level of conflict that has arisen among the parties and the 

length of time it is taking to reach a solution, Cablevisión cannot ascertain the outcome of this claim. 

 

n) On July 5, 2013, the National Administration of Domestic Trade served notice to Cablevisión of Resolution No. 

134/2013, whereby it imposed a fine of Ps. 500,000 for breach of Section 2 of Resolution ex S.I.C. y M. No. 789/98, 

which regulates the Business Loyalty Law No. 22,802. Cablevisión appealed that resolution on July 16, 2013. The 

administrative file was sent by the National Administration of Domestic Trade to the National Court of Appeals on 

Federal Administrative Matters. It is now pending before Chamber No. 3 in re “Cablevisión SA v. DNCI Res. 

134/13 and Other” (File 36044/13). On May 20, 2014, Chamber No. 3 partially granted the appeal filed by 

Cablevisión and reduced the fine to Ps. 300,000 and ordered that each party shall bear its own legal costs. On June 9, 

2014, Cablevisión filed an appeal with the Argentine Supreme Court. On September 18, 2014, Cablevisión was 

served notice of the extraordinary appeal filed by the National Government and on October 2, 2014 that company 

filed a response. On October 9, 2014, the Chamber dismissed both appeals. 

 

On October 08, 2010, the National Administration of Domestic Trade served notice to Cablevisión of Resolution 

No. 697/2010, whereby it imposed a fine of Ps. 500,000 for breach of Section 21 of the Business Loyalty Law No. 

22,802. Cablevisión appealed that resolution on October 26, 2010. The administrative file was sent by the National 

Administration of Domestic Trade to the National Court of Appeals on Federal Administrative Matters. It is now 

pending before Chamber No. 3 in re “Cablevisión SA v. DNCI Res. 697/2010 (File S01:80822/10) and Other” (File 

1,277/2011). On December 29, 2011 the Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal filed by Cablevisión, and imposed 

court costs on Cablevisión. On February 22, 2012, Cablevisión filed an appeal with the Argentine Supreme Court. 

The appeal was dismissed by the Chamber on April 10, 2012. On April 26, 2012, Cablevisión filed an appeal against 

the above-mentioned dismissal. The Supreme Court of Argentina granted the appeal and revoked the decision 

against which Cablevisión had filed the appeal with legal costs to be borne by the National Administration of 

Domestic Trade, and ordered that the case be sent back to the court of first instance for it to render a new decision 

based on the precedent indicated in its ruling. 

 

o) As a result of a report on suspicious activities reported by the Argentine Federal Revenue Service (“AFIP”) 

concerning transactions carried out between Grupo Clarín and some of its subsidiaries, the Financial Information 

Unit pressed criminal charges against Cablevisión and its officers in office in the corresponding fiscal year for 

alleged money laundering in connection with intercompany movements between Cablevisión and certain 

subsidiaries during fiscal period 2008. The action is now pending before Federal Court No. 9, under Dr. Luis 

Rodriguez. 

 

During March 2014, the intervening prosecutor Dr. Miguel Angel Osorio broadened the request for evidence. 
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Cablevisión and its legal advisors believe that there are strong arguments in the Company's favor, since the 

suspected movements were regular and had been duly recorded, and have gathered evidence that supports the non-

existence of any such illegal maneuvers. However, they cannot assure that the outcome of this action will be 

favorable. 

 

p) Cablevisión, together with its merged companies and ATVC, brought a claim requesting the Judicial Branch, 

through a final decision rendered in a contradictory trial, to declare: 1) that the National Government undertook the 

obligation to provide an alternative solution to the repeal of the regime established under Section 52 of Decree No. 

1,387/01 for companies that render supplementary broadcasting services and cable television services, which shall 

contemplate the reasons for excluding these companies from the repeal of Decree No. 1,387/01 through Decree No. 

746/03, and 2) that while the Government considers the situation of those companies to find such an alternative 

solution, it shall maintain the effectiveness of the regime established under Section 52 of Decree No. 1,387/01 (cfr. 

fs.2/12). 

 

On October 1, 2015, Chamber II of the Court of Appeals on Federal Administrative Matters, in a single joint 

decision in re “AEDBA and other v. National Government - Decree No. 746/03 - AFIP on Incidental Procedure”, 

decided that, among other things, even though ATVC was not among the claimants that had been granted an 

injunction in the other two above-mentioned related cases, the situation was also applicable to the sector 

encompassed by that association, therefore, the decision shall also apply to this association. Under these conditions, 

the claims brought by the claimants shall be admitted - in the joinder of the three claims - and the claimants and the 

companies represented by them are entitled to have a differential VAT regime applicable to the sectors involved 

which shall be created, enforced and regulated by the authorities duly empowered by the Constitution to such end. 

This regime shall guarantee the full exercise of the rights recognized under Section 14 of the National Constitution, 

as well as the maintenance of the exception provided under Section 2 of Decree N° 746/03 from the repeal of 

Section 52 of Decree No. 1,387/01. On December 3, 2015, the Supreme Court of Argentina dismissed the appeal 

filed by the Executive Branch. Therefore, the decision rendered by the Court of Appeals became firm and final. 

 

As a result of the foregoing, Cablevisión and its subsidiaries started to calculate employer’s contributions as tax 

credit on VAT as from September 2015.  

 

q) On April 5, 2017, a subsidiary of the Cablevisión received a notification from the Under-Secretary of State for 

Taxation of the Treasury ("SET") of the Republic of Paraguay, whereby that subsidiary was informed that it had 

failed to determine the additional IRACIS rate on the accumulated results of the companies merged in 2014. The 

Company's subsidiary considers that it has solid arguments to support its position. 

 

10.2. Re-allocation of Frequencies in Uruguay 

 

The Executive Branch of Uruguay issued Decree No. 73/012, published in the Official Gazette on March 16, 2012, 

whereby it expressly repealed Decree No. 231/011, which had revoked certain signals' broadcast frequencies. 

However, the new decree ratified and repeated – virtually in identical terms - the decree that was being repealed, and 

added certain provisions that caused further detriment to the two affected companies with which a subsidiary of 

Cablevisión has contractual arrangements in place. Consequently, on March 23, 2012 the affected companies filed 

an appeal requesting that Decree No. 73/012 be revoked. The appeal is still pending resolution. 

 

In May 2012, the aforesaid companies brought a legal action with the Court in Administrative Litigation Matters 

requesting the nullification of the resolution and the suspension of its execution. This motion to suspend the 

execution of the challenged resolution was brought as a separate case, and progressed through the corresponding 

instances. The Office of the Attorney General for Administrative Litigation Matters, in its opinion No. 412/013 

advised the Court on Administrative Litigation Matters to grant the motion to suspend the execution of the 

challenged resolution for formal reasons, but the Court dismissed the motion of suspension. Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, as of the date of these financial statements, the governmental authorities have not yet enforced the decree. 

 

On September 30, 2014, the Court on Administrative Litigation Matters through its decisions No. 416/2014 and No. 

446/2014 revoked for formal reasons Decrees No. 73/012 and No. 231/011, respectively. 
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On March 9, 2015, Decree No. 82/015 was published in the Official Gazette, whereby the Executive Branch 1) 

repealed Decree No. 73/012; 2) 16 common stations are awarded to be held in common (the same stations) by 

BERSABEL S.A. and VISION SATELITAL S.A. (companies related to Adesol S.A.) for a term of 15 years: Two of 

the 16 stations are awarded on a secondary basis, which means that they may be exposed to interferences and they do 

not have the right to bring any claim in connection thereto; 3) use of existing stations must cease within 18 months 

of their award to mobile service operators; 4) both companies are expressly authorized to increase the number of TV 

signals (stations) included in their respective services making use of digitization techniques; 5) both companies shall 

submit before the Communication Services Regulatory Agency (“URSEC”, for its Spanish acronym), within a fixed 

term of 60 calendar days as from the date of publication of the Decree, a technical plan for the migration and release 

of stations, which plan shall be assessed and approved by such agency (such plan was submitted on May 7, 2015); 6) 

the Bidding Terms governing the bid for frequency bands that were owned by both companies shall include an 

economic compensation mechanism for both companies to cover the expenses incurred in adapting their systems to 

the new stations awarded to them, in the amount of USD 7,000,000. 

 

Even though both companies' request for the annulment of Decree No. 153/012 was granted for formal reasons 

(failure to serve prior notice) by the Court on Administrative Litigation Matters (decision 455 of June 11, 2015), this 

decision does not change prior considerations about the terms of Decree No. 82/015 with respect to both companies 

due to the fact that Decree No. 305/015 (which substituted Decree No. 153/012) confirmed the allocation of channels 

21 through 36 (512 MHz - 608 MHz) and 38 through 41 (614 MHz - 638 MHz), of 6 MHz each, in the UHF band 

exclusively for rendering accessible, free, digital broadcast television services all over the country, except for 

channels 35 (596-602 MHz), 36 (602-608 MHz) and 38 through 41 (614-638 MHz) only in the geographic area for 

which BERSABEL S.A. and VISION SATELITAL S.A. had received authorization, which will be used solely for 

rendering television services to subscribers through the codified UHF system, as it had been previously and 

expressly stated in Section 5 of Decree No. 82/015 (which repealed and amended the language of Section 1 of the 

above-mentioned Decree No. 153/012). 

 

On January 11, 2018, Decree No. 387/017 dated December 28, 2017 was published in the Official Gazette. Among 

other things, the Decree:  

 

i) provides that all subscription TV services provided through the Codified UHF System in the 512 MHZ - 

698 MHz band shall be migrated to the TDH Satellite system, without it entailing any changes to the original 

authorizations to operate or to the rest of the conditions established in the respective licenses. Such authorizations 

shall not undergo any changes in the authorized service areas;  

 

ii) sets a maximum term of 18 months counted as from the date the Decree was published, for the holders of 

subscription TV services licenses that use the UHF codified system to complete the migration to TDH systems. 

Upon expiration of said term, all the concessions for use and allocations to those holders of all the radio electric 

channels in the UHF band, shall cease; 

 

iii) entrusts the URSEC with the evaluation and approval of the technical migration plan that all the holders of 

subscriber TV services licenses that use UHF Codified systems must submit—within a term of 60 calendar days, 

counted as from the date the Decree was published—in connection with the migration from their UHF Codified 

system to the TDH system; and 

 

iv) maintains the effectiveness of the provision which establishes that Decrees Nos. 82/015 and 155/017 for all 

the aspects not expressly contemplated by the new Decree.  

 

On February 9, 2018, BERSABEL S.A. and VISION SATELITAL S.A. filed the plan described under iii), above, 

with the URSEC. 
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NOTE 11 - RESERVES, ACCUMULATED INCOME AND DIVIDENDS 

 
 December 31, 

2017 
  

Balances as of May 1, 2017:    

    
Legal Reserve 75,081,092   

Retained Earnings 834,358,059   

Other Items 746,267,277   

Optional Reserves 3,691,570,698   

    
Total  5,347,277,126   

Changes in Other Reserves (430,848)   

Variation in Translation Differences of Foreign Operations 198,378,468   

Net Income Attributable to the Shareholders of the Controlling Company 781,846,087   

Balance at the end of the year 6,327,070,833   

 

 

1. Cablevisión 

 

On March 30, 2017, at the Annual General Ordinary and Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of Cablevisión, its 

shareholders decided to appropriate the net income for the year ended December 31, 2016, which amounted to Ps. 

4,045,337,263, as per the following detail: (i) Ps. 1,600,000,000 to the distribution of cash dividends payable to the 

shareholders in proportion to their equity interests in Argentine Pesos or US Dollars, in two installments, the first 

one to be paid within a term of thirty days as from the date of such Shareholders’ Meeting and the second one to be 

paid on December 31, 2017 or earlier, as determined by the Board of Directors, and delegated on the Board of 

Directors the power to establish the time and payment method, (ii) Ps. 200,479,147 to the increase of the Legal 

reserve, and (iii) Ps. 2,244,858,116 to the Optional reserve to maintain Cablevisión’s level of capital expenditures 

and its current solvency level”. As of the date of these parent company only financial statements, Cablevisión paid 

all of the distributed dividends. 

 

On December 18, 2017, the Shareholders of Cablevisión at the General Extraordinary Shareholders' Meeting 

decided: (i) to partially reverse the Optional reserve to maintain the Company’s level of capital expenditures and its 

current solvency level in the amount of Ps. 4,000,000,000 and allocate such amount to increase the “Optional reserve 

for future dividend distribution” which, as a result, will amount to Ps. 4,151,000,000 and (ii) to delegate on the 

Board of Directors the power to reverse, totally or partially, the Optional reserve for future dividend distribution and 

distribute it as dividends in the manner (in cash or cash in periodic installments), amounts, currency, and on the dates 

to be established by the Board of Directors under the terms of applicable regulations provided that the Board of 

Directors of Telecom Argentina S.A. has previously approved the payment of dividends in advance of the Effective 

Date of the Merger and that the amount Cablevisión's Board of Directors decides to distribute is such that, taking 

into consideration the dividends approved by Telecom Argentina S.A., it will not be necessary to make changes to 

the Exchange Ratio. 

 

On December 18, 2017, the Board of Directors of Cablevisión, pursuant to its delegated powers, approved the partial 

reversal of the Optional reserve for future dividend distribution in the amount of Ps. 4,077,790,056 for the 

distribution of dividends to shareholders in one or more installments within 30 days as from that date, which 

comprises (i) Ps. 77,790,056 which added to the Ps. 800,000,000 already distributed total USD 50,000,000 allowed 

under the Pre-Merger Commitment without making any changes to the Exchange Ratio; and (ii) Ps. 4,000,000,000, 

which equalize the relative proportions taken into consideration at the time the Exchange Ratio was set. 

 

On January 8, 2018, Telecom Argentina S.A., surviving company of Cablevisión, effective as of January 1, 2018, 

settled all of Cablevisión's outstanding dividends owed to its shareholders in the amount of Ps. 4,077,790,056.  
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2. Telecom Argentina 

 

On January 31, 2018, the shareholders of Telecom Argentina S.A. held a General Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting at 

which they approved the changes in the composition of the Board of Directors and the delegation of the powers 

vested in the Board of Directors to decide on the total or partial reversal of the “Reserve for future cash dividends” 

of Telecom Argentina as of December 31, 2017 and the distribution of the funds so reversed as cash dividends, in 

the amounts and on the dates to be established by the Board of Directors.  

 

On January 31, 2018, the Board of Directors of Telecom Argentina approved: (i) pursuant to the powers delegated 

by the shareholders at the General Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting mentioned above, the reversal of Ps. 

9,729,418,019 of the “Reserve for future cash dividends” of Telecom Argentina as of December 31, 2017, and its 

distribution as cash dividends in two installments, the first one of Ps. 2,863,000,000 on February 15, 2018 and the 

second one of Ps. 6,866,418,019 on April 30, 2018, the Board being empowered to make such payment on an earlier 

date if it deemed it convenient in the future; (ii) the distribution of Ps. 5,640,728,444, paid on February 15, 2018, as 

interim cash dividends, corresponding to the net profit of the period between January 1, 2017 and September 30, 

2017, as reflected in the Special-Purpose Unconsolidated Financial Statements of Telecom Argentina as of 

September 30, 2017; and (iii) the distribution of Ps. 4,502,777,155, paid on February 15, 2018, as distribution of 

interim cash dividends, corresponding to the net profit of the period between January 1, 2017 and September 30, 

2017, as reflected in the Special-Purpose Unconsolidated Financial Statements of Cablevisión S.A.-absorbed by 

Telecom Argentina- as of September 30, 2017, which were audited by external auditors. 

 

On February 15, 2018, Telecom paid dividends for Ps. 13,006,505,599, corresponding to the above-mentioned 

distributions. Of that amount, approximately Ps. 5,083 million belong to the Company on account of its direct and 

indirect interest in Telecom as of that date. 

 

 

NOTE 12 – EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 

The following table shows the net income and the weighted average of the number of common shares used in the 

calculation of basic earnings per share: 

 
  Irregular eight-

month fiscal year 

ended 12.31.2017    

Net Income used in the Calculation of Basic Earnings per 

Share (gain): 

 

    
From Continuing Operations  781,846,087    

  781,846,087    

Weighted Average of the Number of Common Shares used in 
the Calculation of Basic Earnings per Share  

 

180,641,002    

Earnings per Share  4.33    

 

The weighted average of outstanding shares for the irregular eight-month fiscal year ended December 31, 2017 was 

180,641,002. Since no debt securities convertible into shares were recorded, the same weighted average should be 

used for the calculation of diluted earnings per share.  
 
 Irregular eight-

month fiscal year 

ended 12.31.2017    

     
Basic and Diluted Earnings per Share 4.33    

          
Total Earnings per Share 4.33    
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NOTA 13 – FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

13.1. Financial Risks Management  

 

Cablevisión Holding is a party to transactions involving financial instruments, which entail exposure to market, 

currency and interest rate risks. The management of these risks is based on the particular analysis of each situation, 

taking into account its own estimates and those made by third parties of the evolution of the respective factors.  

 

13.1.1 Capital Risk Management 

 

Cablevisión Holding manages its capital structure seeking to ensure its ability to continue as an ongoing concern, 

while maximizing the return to its shareholders through the optimization of debt and equity balances.  

 

As part of this process, Cablevisión Holding monitors its capital structure through the debt-to-equity ratio, which is 

equal to the quotient of its net debt (Debt less Cash and Cash Equivalents) divided by its adjusted EBITDA. The net 

debt-to-equity ratio over EBITDA (for the eight-month period) is of 1.94 as of December 31, 2017. In accordance 

with the commitments undertaken by the Company, this ratio must not exceed 2.25. 

 

 

 

13.1.2 Financial Risk Management 

 

Cablevisión Holding monitors and manages the financial risks related to its operations; these risks include market 

risk (including exchange risk, interest rate risk and equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 

 

Cablevisión Holding does not enter into financial instruments for speculative purposes as common practice.  

 

13.1.3 Exchange Risk Management 

  

The Company carries out transactions denominated in foreign currency. Therefore, it is exposed to exchange rate 

fluctuations. A portion of the Company's debt is denominated in US dollars while its revenues are generated in the 

currency of the country where it operates. 

 

Therefore, the Company entered into foreign currency forward transactions.  

 

The following table shows the monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency (USD) as of 

December 31, 2017: 

 
 December 31, 

2017 
 

 In Argentine 

pesos 

 

ASSETS   

Other Assets 377,510,288  

Other Receivables 239,256,244  

Investments 37,947,374  

Cash and Cash Equivalents 3,331,301,458  

Total Assets 3,986,015,364  

LIABILITIES   

Bank and Financial Debt 24,106,883,130  

Provisions and Other Charges 145,264  

Other Liabilities 1,213,920  

Trade and other payables 827,008,573  

Total Liabilities 24,935,250,887  
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Bid/offered exchange rates as of December 31, 2017 were of Ps. 18,549 and Ps. 18,649; respectively.  

 
13.1.5. Interest Rate Risk Management 

 

As of December 31, 2017, Cablevisión Holding is exposed to interest rate risk because the Company has taken a 

loan at a variable interest rate (see Note 7.10.2) and has not entered into hedge agreements to mitigate this risk. If 

interest rates had eventually been 100 basis points higher and all the variables had remained constant, the additional 

estimated loss before taxes would have been of approximately Ps. 36.5 million as of December 31, 2017. 

 

13.1.6. Equity Price Risk Management 

 

Cablevisión Holding is exposed to equity price risk in connection with its holdings of mutual funds, notes and bonds 

and foreign exchange agreements. 

 

 

The Company’s sensitivity to the variation in the price of these instruments is detailed below:  

 

 December 31, 2017 

Investments valued at quoted prices at closing  1,055,859,512 

 

The Company estimates that the impact of a 10% favorable/unfavorable fluctuation of the quoted price of mutual 

funds, assuming that all the other variables remain constant, would generate an income/loss before taxes of Ps. 112.8 

million as of December 31, 2017. While income from foreign exchange agreements in case of a 20% 

favorable/unfavorable fluctuation of the US dollar exchange rate would generate a gain/loss before taxes of Ps. 166.7 

million as of December 31, 2017. 

 

13.1.7 Credit Risk Management 

 

The credit risk affects cash and cash equivalents, deposits held at banks and financial institutions, as well as credit 

exposures with clients, including other remaining credits and transactions involved. The company actively monitors 

the credit worthiness of their treasury instruments and the counterparties related to derivatives in order to minimize 

credit risk. Upon expiration of invoices issued, if they are still outstanding, these companies file several claims for 

collection purposes. 

 

Bank deposits are held in renowned institutions. 

 

No significant credit risk concentration is observed concerning clients, due to the atomization of the subscriber base. 

 

As of December 31, 2017, non-impaired past due trade receivables amounted to Ps. 1,029.6 million. These trade 

receivables are mainly from Cablevisión and they are in most cases up to 3 months overdue. These receivables 

involve subscribers with no recent insolvency record. 

 

As of the same date, the allowance for bad debts amounted to Ps. 483.3 million. This allowance for trade receivables 

is sufficient to cover the past due doubtful trade receivables. 

 

13.1.8 Liquidity Risk Management 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that Cablevisión Holding may not be able to fulfill its financial obligations at maturity. 

Cablevisión Holding manages liquidity risk through the management of its capital structure and if possible, the 

access to different capital markets. It also manages liquidity risk through a constant review of the estimated cash 

flows to ensure that it will have enough liquidity to fulfill its obligations. 
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The following table shows the breakdown of financial liabilities by relevant groups of maturities based on the 

remaining period of the liabilities as from the date of the balance sheet through the contractual maturity date. The 

amounts disclosed in this table are stated in millions of Argentine pesos and represent undiscounted cash flows 

(principal plus contractual interest accrued and to be accrued). 

 

The Company believes that the cash flows generated by its operations and the access to financing sources will allow 

it to meet its financial obligations. 

 

 

 

Maturities 

Other 

Liabilities 

Financial 

Debts 

Total 

December 

31, 2017 

Matured 694 - 694 

Without term 363 - 363 

First Quarter 2018 6,511 3,421 9,932 

Second Quarter 2018 1,510 593 2,104 

Third Quarter 2018 1 599 600 

Fourth Quarter 2018 1,161 547 1,708 

January 2019 onwards 3 22,838 22,841 

 10,243 27,998 38,241 

 

 

13.2. Categories of Financial Instruments 

 
 

 
December 31, 

2017 

 

Financial Assets    

    
Loans and Receivables    

Loans and Receivables (1) (2)  4,199,309,982  

 Cash and Cash Equivalents  3,859,674,562  

Other Assets  377,510,288  

    
At fair value with an impact on net income    

Current Investments  108,200,817  

Investments considered as cash equivalents  1,019,424,574  

  9,564,120,223  

    
Financial Liabilities    
Amortized cost    

Debt  24,648,000,254  
Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities (3)  10,243,831,253  

  34,891,831,507  
(1) Net of Ps. 483,320,096 for the provision for doubtful receivables as of December 31, 2017. 

(2) Includes Ps. 66,141,686 of loans with related parties as of December 31, 2017. 
(3) Includes Ps. 300,508,025 of debt with related parties as of December 31, 2017. 
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13.3. Financial Instruments at Fair Value 

 

The following table shows the Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value as of December 31, 

2017: 

 

 

 

December 31, 2017 

 

Quoted Prices (Level 

1) 

 Other Significant 

Observable Items (Level 

2) 

Assets       

Current Investments  108,200,817  108,200,817  - 

Investments considered as cash 

equivalents 
 

1,019,424,574  948,010,924  71,413,650 

 

Financial assets are valued using quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities (Level 1), or the prices of similar 

instruments arising from sources of information available in the market (Level 2). If one or more significant inputs 

are not based on observable data, the instrument is included in Level 3. 

 

 

13.4. Fair Value of Financial Instruments  

 

The book value of cash, accounts receivable and current liabilities is similar to their fair value, due to the short-term 

maturities of these instruments. Non-current financial loans were executed on a date near the closing of the irregular 

year ended December 31, 2017. Therefore, their amortized cost approximates their fair value. 

 

Non-current investments classified as loans and receivables have been measured at amortized cost, and their book 

value approximates their fair value. 

 

Derivatives are measured at their fair value. 

 

The fair value of non-current financial liabilities (Level 2) is measured based on the future cash flows of those 

liabilities, discounted at a representative market rate available to Cablevisión Holding for liabilities with similar 

terms (currency and remaining term) prevailing at the time of measurement.  

 

The following table shows the estimated fair value of non-current financial liabilities (amounts stated in thousands of 

Argentine pesos) are the following (in millions of Argentine pesos):  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NOTE 14 -  NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 

 

 

December 31, 

2017 

Balance at the beginning of the year: 
4,625,189,831 

Equity in the Earnings of Other Companies for the year 
1,445,199,724 

Variation in Translation Differences of Foreign Operations 
215,373,941 

Distribution of Dividends to Non-Controlling Interests 
(1,625,849,099) 

Balance at the end of the year  
4,659,914,397 

 December 31, 2017  

 Book Value Fair Value   

Non-Current Debt 20,936 20,984   
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The following is a detail of certain supplementary information required by IFRS about the non-controlling interest in 

Cablevisión. The information corresponds to the subsidiary's identifiable assets and liabilities on which the 

Company values its investment. The amounts are stated in millions of pesos and do not take into consideration 

intercompany eliminations. 

 

 
 December 31, 

2017 

  

Country Argentina 

Non-controlling interest percentage 40.0% 

Comprehensive income for the year allocated to non-controlling interest (1) 132 

Accumulated non-controlling interest at year-end  4,093 

Summarized financial information:  

Dividends distributed to Non-Controlling Interests (2) 1,631 

  

Current assets 7,188 

Non-current assets 28,541 

Current liabilities 11,567 

Non-current liabilities 11,402 

  

Sales (1) 28,400 

Net Income from Continuing Operations (1) 3,526 

Other Comprehensive Income (1) 330 

Total Comprehensive Income (1) 3,856 

  

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Year-end 4,414 

 
(1) For the eight-month period beginning May 1, 2017 and ended December 31, 2017. 
(2) It corresponds to the participation in the dividends distributed by Cablevisión on December 18, 2017. In addition, see  

Note 11. 

 

 

NOTE 15 – OPERATING LEASE AGREEMENTS 

 

15.1. The Company as Lessee 

 

15.1.1. Lease Agreements  

 

The Company's operating leases are related to leases of retail stores, warehouses, use of networks and machinery, 

with lease term ranging from 1 to 18 years. All the operating lease agreements with terms of more than 5 years have 

market reviews clauses every 5 years. The Company does not have the option to purchase the leased lands on the 

expiration date of the lease periods. 

 

15.1.2. Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases 

 

The amounts disclosed in this table are stated in millions of Argentine pesos: 
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 December 31, 

2017 

1 year  467 

Between 1 and 5 years old 391 

5 years or more 25 

 883 

 

15.2. The Company as Lessor 

 

15.2.1. Lease Agreements  

 

The Company leases, to telecommunication operators, its infrastructure available in lands or terraces for the 

installation of equipment owned by those operators, required for rendering the services for which they have an 

authorization. 

 

15.2.2. Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases 

 

The amounts disclosed in this table are stated in millions of Argentine pesos: 
  

 December 31, 

2017 

1 year  19 

Between 1 and 5 years old 19 

  38 

 

 

NOTE 16 – BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

 

The following table contains the outstanding balances with related parties: 

 

 12.31.2017  

Other Receivables   

Current   

Associates 26,386,566  

Other Related Parties 29,471  

 26,416,037  

Dividends Receivable   

Associates 91,540,491  

 91,540,491  

Trade Receivables   

Current   

Other Related Parties 39,725,649  

 

 

 

39,725,649  
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 12.31.2017  

Trade and other payables   

Current   

Associates 3,368,511  

Other Related Parties 297,139,514  

 300,508,025  

   

Debt   

Current   

Associates 4,338,356  

 4,338,356  

Dividends Payable   

Current   

Other Related Parties 1,631,200,976  

 1,631,200,976  

 

 

The following table shows the operations with related parties for the year ended December 31, 2017:  

 
  Item  12.31.2017  

      Subsidiaries and Associates      
  Other Sales  22,359,215  
  Interest Expense  (268,876)  
  Other Purchases  (9,220,408)  

      
Other Related Parties      
  Advertising Sales  30,049,204  
  Other Sales  22,239,221  
  Programming Costs  (698,772,816)  
  Publishing and distribution of magazines  (166,053,095)  

  Advisory Services  (129,001,209)  
  Advertising and Promotion Expenses  (82,773,458)  

  Other Purchases  (6,314,130)  

       
The fees paid to the Board of Directors and the Upper Management of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2017 amounted to 

approximately Ps. 65 million. 

 

 

NOTE 17 – AWARD OF A BID OF THE CITY OF BUENOS AIRES 
 

On June 7, 2011, the Government of the City of Buenos Aires issued Decree No. 316, whereby it approved a public 

bidding process to contract comprehensive digital services for educational purposes for elementary school students 

in the City of Buenos Aires. Such services include, but are not limited to, the delivery of one netbook per student and 

one notebook per teacher under a gratuitous bailment agreement, connectivity, first and second level support, content 

access control, replacement in case of theft or damage and new license, both with certain limitations. The bid was 

awarded to PRIMA for a five-year term, which will start after certain requirements have been met. As consideration, 

PRIMA would receive an amount per student, teacher and school. As of December 31, 2011 the initial requirements 

had been met in order to bring the agreement into effect and to begin its billing. The contract expired on November 

28, 2016. However, the parties agreed to a one-year extension. 
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NOTE 18 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 

a) Note 4 describes the main events that took place after December 31, 2017 relating to the acquisition of 

companies and corporate reorganization processes. 

 

b) Note 7.10 describes the main events that took place after December 31, 2017 relating to bank and financial 

indebtedness. 

 

c) Note 11 describes the main events that took place after December 31, 2017 related to the distributions of 

dividends. 

 

 

NOTE 19 - APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

 

The Board of Directors of Cablevisión Holding has approved these consolidated financial statements and authorized 

their issuance for March 8, 2018. 
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Cablevisión Holding S.A. 

SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2017 

 

 

1. Company Activities 

 

On September 28, the shareholders of Grupo Clarín decided to implement the merger - spin-off process 

proposed by the Board of Directors during August 2016, mentioned in Note 1 to the consolidated financial 

statements. First, Grupo Clarín merged with certain subsidiaries, and then it spun off a portion of its equity to 

create a new company under the name Cablevisión Holding S.A.  

 

As part of the equity subject to the spin-off, Grupo Clarín transferred to Cablevisión Holding S.A. certain 

equity interests or participations, including the direct and indirect equity interests held by Grupo Clarín in 

Cablevisión and in GCSA Equity, LLC. Consequently, after the Corporate Reorganization was executed, 

Cablevisión Holding S.A. became the owner, directly or indirectly, of 60% of the capital stock and votes of 

Cablevisión and of 100% of the participation of GCSA Equity, LLC. Grupo Clarín retained and continued with 

all activities, operations, assets and liabilities that were not specifically allocated to Cablevisión Holding S.A.  

 

The Corporate Reorganization was registered with the IGJ on April 27, 2017. In view of the above and taking 

into consideration that the effective date of the Spin-off (the “Effective Date of the Spin-off”) was the first day 

of the month following the date on which the latest of the following registrations was completed: (i) the 

registration of the Corporate Reorganization with the IGJ, or (ii) the registration of the incorporation of 

Cablevisión Holding S.A. with the IGJ, the Effective Date of the Spin-off was May 1, 2017. As from this date, 

the Effective Date of the Spin-off, Cablevisión Holding S.A. began its activities on its own, and the accounting 

effects of the Spin-off became effective and the Company transferred the operations, risks and benefits 

described in the Exhibit to the Prospectus published by the Company as well as the assets and liabilities that 

make up the “Equity Subsequently Allocated” as decided by Grupo Clarín's Board of Directors on April 28, 

2017, pursuant to the powers delegated by Grupo Clarín’s Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting held on 

September 28, 2016. 

  

Cablevisión Holding S.A. requested authorization to be admitted to the public offering regime in Argentina and 

to the London Stock Exchange. Having obtained all of the required regulatory authorizations, on August 30, 

2017, Grupo Clarín and Cablevisión Holding exchanged their shares pursuant to the exchange ratio approved 

by the Grupo Clarín's shareholders at the time of approval of the spin-off process. 

 

Cablevisión, a subsidiary of the Company, informed on June 30, 2017 that its Board of Directors had approved 

the “Pre-merger Commitment” whereby Telecom Argentina S.A. (“Telecom Argentina”) would absorb 

Cablevisión under a merger by acquisition process subject to certain corporate and regulatory approvals. The 

Pre-Merger Commitment provides for: i) an exchange ratio of 9,871.07005 new common shares with nominal 

value of Ps. 1 each of Telecom Argentina to be issued, for each common share with nominal value of Ps. 

10,000 each of Cablevisión (the “Exchange Ratio”). ii) as a result of the Merger, Telecom Argentina will issue 

on the Effective Date of the Merger to be established, 1,184,528,406 new common book-entry shares with 

nominal value of Ps. 1 and entitled to one vote per share to be delivered to the shareholders of Cablevisión, 

under the form of Class “A” Shares of Telecom Argentina or Class “D” Shares of Telecom Argentina, as 

appropriate, in accordance with the exchange ratio, or the number of new shares resulting from the adjustments 

to the Exchange Ratio under the Pre-Merger Commitment. iii) the Exchange Ratio was deemed reasonable from 

a financial standpoint by the financial advisors.  

 

On August 31, 2017, the shareholders of Cablevisión and Telecom Argentina held their respective 

Shareholders’ Meetings, at which their shareholders approved the pre-merger commitment that had been 
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executed between them. On October 31, both companies executed the final merger agreement, which was filed 

with the CNV to request administrative approval. 

 

In addition, Cablevisión Holding informed that on July 7, 2017, it had executed with Fintech Telecom LLC, the 

controlling company of Telecom Argentina S.A. (“Telecom”) a shareholder agreement that will govern the 

exercise of the rights of the shareholders of Telecom (the “Agreement”) once the merger process between 

Telecom and Cablevisión S.A. informed on June 30, 2017 has concluded and become effective. The above-

mentioned merger process is subject to prior authorizations from their respective shareholders’ meetings and 

from the pertinent regulatory authorities. Under that Agreement, the parties have provided: i) The 

representation of the corporate bodies establishing that, subject to the fulfillment of certain conditions 

established therein and provided Cablevisión Holding S.A. complies with certain minimum holding 

requirements in the Merger Company, it may appoint the majority of the members of the Board of Directors, 

the Executive Committee, the Audit Committee and the Supervisory Committee; ii) a scheme of special 

majority requirements for the approval by the Board of Directors and/or the Shareholders’ Meeting, as 

appropriate, of certain issues, such as: i) the Business Plan and the Annual Budget of the Merged Company, ii) 

the amendment of the bylaws, iii) the change of external auditors, iv) the creation of committees of the Board of 

Directors, v) the hiring of Key Employees as defined under the Agreement, vi) the merger or consolidation of 

Telecom or any Controlled Company, vii) acquisition of certain assets, viii) sales of certain assets, ix) increases 

of capital stock, x) borrowing above certain limits, xi) capital investments in infrastructure, plant and equipment 

above certain amounts, xii) transactions with related parties, xiii) contracts that impose restrictions on the 

distribution of dividends, xiv) new business lines or the discontinuation of existing ones, xv) actions to be taken 

in insolvency situations, among others. 

 

On July 7, 2017, Company accepted an offer for a call option granted by Fintech Advisory Inc. and its 

subsidiaries for the acquisition of an equity interest of 13.51% of Telecom (which will represent approximately 

6% of Telecom’s capital stock once the merger process becomes effective) for USD 634,275,282. The 

maximum term to exercise the option is one year as from July 7, 2017.  On October 5, 2017, the Company paid 

the aggregate Exercise Price under the Irrevocable Call Option mentioned above for USD 634,275,282.  

 

On September 25, 2017, the Company's Board of Directors took note of the acceptance by Citibank, N.A., 

Goldman Sachs Bank USA, Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited, Dubai (DIFC) Branch, Itaú 

Unibanco S.A., Nassau Branch of the loan offer for USD 750,000,000 submitted by the Company. A portion of 

the funds from the loan was used for the prepayment of the Exercise Price under the Option Agreement signed 

by the Company, Fintech Advisory Inc and its subsidiaries –Fintech Telecom LLC and Fintech Media LLC-, 

dated July 7, 2017. 

 

On September 27, 2017, the Company's Board of Directors took note of the acceptance by the Lenders and the 

Collateral Agent- the branch of Citibank N.A. established in Argentina-, of the pledge offer submitted by the 

Company and, therefore, it created a first priority pledge on 30,123 Class “A” book-entry common shares of 

nominal value Ps. 10,000 each and entitled to one vote per share, held by the Company in Cablevisión, in favor 

of the Collateral Agent, acting for the benefit of Citibank, N.A. Goldman Sachs Bank USA, Industrial and 

Commercial Bank of China Limited Dubai (DIFC) Branch, Itaú Unibanco S.A., Nassau Branch as Lenders, 

Citibank, N.A. as Offshore Collateral Agent and the branch of Citibank N.A. established in Argentina as 

Onshore Collateral Agent, under the loan. 

 

As far as business management is concerned, Cablevisión continues to focus on subscriber loyalty initiatives, as 

well as on boosting penetration of its premium services, such as, Cablevisión HD, Pay Per View (PPV), Video 

On Demand (VoD) and Digital Video Recording (DVR) and expanding its broadband Internet access subscriber 

base. Progress was also made in the optimization of the reach of digital and premium services to cities and 

towns in the provinces.  
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In November 2016, Cablevisión launched a new online content service, Flow. The distribution of contents is 

based on IP infrastructure and QAM Digital TV with the possibility of using new functionalities such as linear 

streaming, Start Over, Reverse EPG, Cloud DVR and access to VOD contents, among others. These 

functionalities are supported from a new user interface supplemented with advanced search and 

recommendation systems available in any type of device. 

 

On December 27, 2017, the Company informed that it had exercised the call option under the Option 

Agreement executed between the Company, Fintech Advisory Inc. and its subsidiaries –Fintech Telecom LLC 

and Fintech Media LLC, dated July 7, 2017, whereby it purchased from Fintech Media LLC an equity interest 

in VLG Argentina LLC of 21.55 %, which represents a 6.08% interest in Telecom Argentina S.A. -post-merger. 

 

On January 1, 2018, the Company informed that its subsidiary Cablevisión S.A., within the framework of its 

Merger with Telecom Argentina S.A., had signed the minutes regarding the transfer of operations, in its 

capacity as Absorbed Company to the Absorbing Company, which supplements the Final Merger Agreement 

signed on October 31, 2017. Therefore, as provided under the Pre-Merger Commitment and under the Final 

Merger Agreement, as from 0.00 of January 1, 2018 the Merger entered into effect and, consequently, 

Cablevisión S.A. was dissolved without liquidation and Cablevisión Holding S.A. became the controlling 

company of Telecom Argentina S.A. 

 

On January 11, 2018 and on February 21, 2018, the Company made two partial prepayments of principal 

pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Loan for USD 750,000,000 executed with Citibank, NA, Goldman 

Sachs Bank USA, Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited, Dubai (DIFC) Branch and Itaú Unibanco 

S.A. Nassau Branch, which sets out, under clauses 2.10(b) y 2.11(a), that the collections of dividends by the 

Company shall be applied to the prepayment of the Loan. In January, the Company prepaid USD 

148,304,356.83 and in February it prepaid USD 253,831,455.62. After both prepayments, the outstanding 

principal of the Loan amounts to USD 349,891,073.33. 

 

On February 21, 2018, 121,106,082 global depositary shares GDSs represented by global depositary receipts 

were admitted to the official list of the United Kingdom Listing Authority (“UKLA”) to be traded on the main 

market of the London Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol CVH. 

 

2. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STRUCTURE 

 

Note: the amounts are rounded and stated in thousands of Argentine Pesos. The figures under total amounts may not 

represent the exact arithmetic sum of the other figures in the table. Pursuant to CNV regulations, the following table 

shows the balances and results for the year, prepared under IFRS. 

 

  
December 31, 

2017          

            

Non-current assets  39,494,067          

Current assets  8,158,897          

            Total Assets  47,652,964          

            

Equity of the Parent Company  7,590,757          

Equity of Non-Controlling 

Interests  4,659,914          

            Total Equity  12,250,671          

            

Non-current liabilities  22,431,286          

Current liabilities  12,971,007          
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Total Liabilities  35,402,293          

            Total Equity and Liabilities  47,652,964          

 

 

3. CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME STRUCTURE 

 

Note: the amounts are rounded and stated in thousands of Argentine Pesos. The figures under total amounts may not 

represent the exact arithmetic sum of the other figures in the table. Pursuant to CNV regulations, the following table 

shows the balances and results for the year, prepared under IFRS. 

 

  

Irregular 

eight-month 

fiscal year 

ended 

12.31.2017          

Operating income/loss from continuing operations (1) 

 

 7,437,721 

 

 

 

      

Financial Results   (3,720,260)          
Equity in Earnings from Associates  115,146          

Other Income and Expenses, net  18,981          

            

Income/loss from continuing operations before income tax 

and tax on assets  

 

 

 3,851,589 

 

 

 

      

Income tax and tax on assets 

 

 (1,624,543) 

 

 

 

      

            Net Income for the Year  2,227,046          

            Other Comprehensive Income for the Year  413,752          

            Total Comprehensive Income for the Year  2,640,798          

 
(1) Defined as net sales less cost of sales and expenses. 

 

 

4. Cash Flow Structure 

 

Note: the amounts are rounded and stated in thousands of Argentine Pesos. The figures under total amounts may not 

represent the exact arithmetic sum of the other figures in the table. Pursuant to CNV regulations, the following table 

shows the balances and results for the year, prepared under IFRS. 

 

 

 Irregular eight-

month fiscal year 

ended 12.31.2017         

Cash provided by (used in) Operating 

Activities 

 

10,581,753 

 

 

 

     

           
Cash provided by (used in) Investment 

Activities  

 

(18,234,099) 

 

 

 

     

           
Cash provided by (used in) Financing 

Activities 

 

10,492,150 

 

 

 

     

           
Total Cash provided (used) for the Year  2,839,804         

           
           

Financial Results Generated by Cash and 
Cash Equivalents 

 
35,197 

 
 

 
     

           
Total Changes in Cash  2,875,001         
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5. STATISTICAL DATA 
 

  
December 31, 

2017         

           

Cable TV subscribers (1)   3,502,586         

           
Cable TV homes passed (2)   7,878,144         
           
Cable TV churn ratio  14.6         

           
Internet access subscribers (1)  2,334,888         

           
 
(1)  Includes companies controlled, directly and indirectly, by Cablevisión (Argentina, Uruguay and Paraguay). 
(2)  Contemplates the elimination of the overlapping of networks between Cablevisión and subsidiaries (including Multicanal and Teledigital). 

 

 

6. RATIOS 
 

  
December 31, 

2017  

    
Liquidity (current assets / current liabilities)  0.63  

Solvency (equity / total liabilities)  0.35  

Capital assets (non-current assets / total assets)  0.83  
Return on equity (Comprehensive income for the year / Average 

shareholders’ equity)  0.22 

 

 
 

7. OUTLOOK 

 
The Company will provide high quality services through its subsidiaries. It will focus on maintaining and 

consolidating its presence in the telecommunications market to meet the growing demand for products and services 

mainly associated with broadband and mobility. Its long-term business strategy is aimed at upgrading the networks 

of its subsidiaries to improve the quality of the service provided to their customers and increase its penetration in the 

broadband business, which has the greatest potential for future growth. 

 

The purpose of the Merger is for Telecom Argentina S.A., in its capacity as merged company (“Merged Company”), 

to offer in an efficient manner, in line with the national and international trend, technological products for media and 

telecommunications that converge the different separate or independent modalities in which voice, data, sound and 

video transmission wired and wireless services are provided, into a single product or a series of products to be 

provided to users as a whole for the benefit of the users and consumers of those multiple individual services. Both 

companies understood that their respective operating and technical structures were highly complementary and could 

be optimized through a structural consolidation, achieving synergies and efficiencies in the development of 

convergence products along with the demand of the market. 

 

Cablevisión Holding will continue to focus on the core processes that allow for a sustainable and efficient growth 

from different perspectives: financial structure, management control, business strategy, human resources, innovation 

and corporate social responsibility. 

 

City of Buenos Aires, March 8, 2018.  



 

 

 

Free translation from the original prepared in Spanish  

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

  

To the Shareholders, President and Directors of  
Cablevisión Holding S.A.  
Legal domicile: Tacuarí 1842, Floor 4°  
Autonomous City of Buenos Aires  
CUIT No 30-71559123-1  
  

Report on the Financial Statements  

  

We have audited the attached consolidated financial statements of Cablevisión Holding S.A. 
and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) which comprise the consolidated balance sheet at 
December 31, 2017, the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, of changes in 
equity and of cash flows for the irregular eight-month fiscal year beginning May 1, 2017 and 
ended December 31, 2017 and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.  
  

Board of Directors’ responsibility  

  

The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for the reasonable preparation and 
presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the Argentine Federation of Professional 
Councils in Economic Sciences (FACPCE, for its Spanish acronym) as professional accounting 
standards and incorporated by the Argentine Securities Commission (CNV, for its Spanish 
acronym) into its regulations, as adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB). Further, the Board of Directors is responsible for the existence of adequate internal 
control to prepare consolidated financial statements free from material misstatements due to 
errors or irregularities.   
  

Auditor’s responsibility  

  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs), as adopted in Argentina by the FACPCE through Technical 
Resolutions No. 32 and its respective Adoption Communications. Those standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatements. 
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and other 
information disclosed in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement in the consolidated financial statements due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor must consider internal control relevant to the Company’s 
preparation and reasonable presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant estimates made by the Company’s management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.  
  
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.  
  

Opinion  

  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements mentioned in the first paragraph of this 
report present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Cablevisión 
Holding S.A. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2017, its consolidated comprehensive 
income and consolidated cash flows for the irregular eight-month fiscal year beginning May 1, 
2017 and ended December 31, 2017, in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards.  
 
Emphasis of Matter paragraph  

 
Without qualifying our opinion, we would like to emphasize the information contained in Note 
10.1.h., to the consolidated financial statements, which describes the situation related to the 
resolution issued by the regulator to calculate the monthly fee payable by the users of cable 
television services, whose decisions cannot be foreseen to date. 
   

Report on compliance with current regulations  

  

In accordance with current regulations in respect to Cablevisión Holding S.A., we report that:  
  

a) the consolidated financial statements of Cablevisión Holding S.A. have been 
transcribed to the “Inventory and Balance Sheet” book and comply with the General 
Associations Law and pertinent resolutions of the Argentine Securities Commission, as 
regards those matters within our competence;  
  

b) the parent company only financial statements of Cablevisión Holding S.A. arise from 
accounting records kept in all formal respects in conformity with legal regulations 
which maintain the security and integrity conditions on the basis of which they were 
authorized by the Argentine Securities Commission;  

  

c) we have read the supplementary financial information, on which, as regards those 
matters that are within our competence, we have no observations to make;  

  

d) at December 31, 2017 there is no debt accrued by Cablevisión Holding S.A. in favor of 
the Argentine Integrated Social Security System, according to the Company’s 
accounting records;  
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e) in accordance with the requirements of Article 21°, Subsection b), Chapter III, Section 
VI, Title II of the regulations of the Argentine Securities Commission, we report that 
the total fees for auditing and related services billed to the Company during the 
irregular eight-month fiscal year beginning May 1, 2017 and ended December 31, 2017 
represent:  
  

e.1) 100% on the total fees for services invoiced to the Company for all 
concepts in that irregular fiscal year;  

e.2) 16% on the total fees for audit and related services invoiced to the 
Company, its parent companies, subsidiaries and affiliates in that 
irregular fiscal year;  

e.3) 13% on the total fees for services invoiced to the Company, its parent 
companies, subsidiaries and affiliates for all concepts in that irregular 
fiscal year.  

  

f) we have applied the procedures on prevention of asset laundering and terrorism 
funding set forth in the relevant professional rules issued by the Professional Council 
for Economic Sciences of the Autonomous City of Buenos Aires.  

  

Autonomous City of Buenos Aires, March 8, 2018 
 
 
 
PRICE WATERHOUSE & CO. S.R.L. 

 

(Socio) 
C.P.C.E.C.A.B.A. Tº 1 Fº 17 

Dr. Carlos A. Pace 
Contador Público (UBA) 

C.P.C.E.C.A.B.A. T° 150  F° 106 
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CABLEVISIÓN HOLDING S.A. 

PARENT COMPANY ONLY STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  

FOR THE IRREGULAR EIGHT-MONTH FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING MAY 1, 2017 AND 

ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017  

 (In Argentine Pesos) 

 

 

 

 

Notes 

Irregular eight-

month fiscal 

year ended 

12.31.2017 

 

        

    
Equity in Earnings from Associates 4.5 2,025,562,960  
    
Management fees 5 60,800,000  
    
Administrative Expenses 4.1 (90,267,829)  

    
Financial Costs 4.2 (1,133,087,830)  

    
Other Financial Results, net 4.3 (75,748,564)  

    
Financial Results  (1,208,836,394)  

    

Income before Income Tax and Tax on Assets  787,258,737  

    

Income Tax and Tax on Assets 
4.4 (5,412,650)  

    
Net Income for the Year   781,846,087  

    Other Comprehensive Income    

Items that can be reclassified to net income    

Variation in Translation Differences of Foreign 

Operations   198,378,468  

    
Total Comprehensive Income for the Year  980,224,555  

    

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CABLEVISIÓN HOLDING S.A. 

PARENT COMPANY ONLY BALANCE SHEET 

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2017 

(In Argentine Pesos) 

 

 Notes 
December 31, 

2017 

 
 

ASSETS     

NON-CURRENT ASSETS     

Deferred Tax Assets 4.4 7,336,947   

Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates 4.5 19,045,399,306   

Total Non-Current Assets   19,052,736,253   

     

CURRENT ASSETS     

Other Assets 4.6 377,510,288   

Other Receivables 4.7 1,528,476,486   

Cash and Cash Equivalents 4.8 465,529,965   

Total Current Assets  2,371,516,739   

     

Total Assets   21,424,252,992   

     

EQUITY (as per the corresponding 

statement) 
 

   

Shareholders’ Contributions  1,263,686,300   

Other Items  944,214,897   

Accumulated Income  5,382,855,936   

Total Shareholders’ Equity  7,590,757,133   

     

LIABILITIES     

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES     
Bank and Financial Debt 4.9 11,028,826,318   

Total Non-Current Liabilities  11,028,826,318   

     

CURRENT LIABILITIES     

Taxes Payable 4.10 29,098,614   

Bank and Financial Debt 4.9 2,775,194,489   

Trade and other payables 4.11 376,438   

Total Current Liabilities  2,804,669,541   

     

Total Liabilities   13,833,495,859   

     

Total Equity and Liabilities   21,424,252,992   

     
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CABLEVISIÓN HOLDING S.A. 

PARENT COMPANY ONLY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  

FOR THE IRREGULAR EIGHT-MONTH FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING MAY 1, 2017 AND 

ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017  
 (In Argentine Pesos) 

 

 Equity attributable to Shareholders of the Parent Company 

 Shareholders’ Contributions 
 

Other Items 
 

Accumulated Income 

Total Equity of 

Controlling Interests  Capital Stock  

Inflation 

Adjustment on 

Capital Stock 

Additional Paid-in 

Capital Subtotal 

 

Translation of 

Foreign Operations Other Reserves 

 

Legal Reserve Optional reserves (2) Retained Earnings 

Balances as of May 1, 2017 180,642,580 194,762,882 888,280,838 1,263,686,300  749,470,539 (3,203,262)  75,081,092 3,691,570,698 834,358,059 6,610,963,426 

Exchange of Shares - Payment of fractions in Cash 

(see Note 10) - - - -  - (430,848)  - - - (430,848) 

Net Income for the Year - - - -  - -  - - 781,846,087 781,846,087 

Other Comprehensive Income:        
 

    

Variation in Translation Differences of Foreign 

Operations - - - -  198,378,468 -  - - - 198,378,468 

Balances as of December 31, 2017 (1) 180,642,580 194,762,882 888,280,838 1,263,686,300  947,849,007 (3,634,110)  75,081,092 3,691,570,698 1,616,204,146 7,590,757,133 

  
 

  
 

  
     

 
(1) Includes 1,578 treasury shares. See Note 10. 

(2)  Broken down as follows: (i) Optional reserve for future dividends of Ps. 1,813,178,108; (ii) Optional reserve for illiquidity of results of Ps. 436,412,739, (iii) Optional reserve to ensure the liquidity of the Company and its subsidiaries of Ps. 659,951,291, and 

(iv) Optional reserve to provide financial aid to subsidiaries and in connection with the Audiovisual Communication Services Law of Ps. 782,028,560. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CABLEVISIÓN HOLDING S.A. 

PARENT COMPANY ONLY STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE IRREGULAR EIGHT-MONTH FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING MAY 1, 2017 AND 

ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017  

 
 Irregular eight-

month fiscal year 

ended 12.31.2017 

  

CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Net Income for the Year 781,846,087   

Income Tax and Tax on Assets 5,412,650   

Accrued Interest, net 274,183,252   

Adjustments to reconcile net income for the year to cash used in operating 

activities:  

 

 

Exchange Differences and Other Financial Results 930,380,187   

Equity in Earnings from Associates (2,025,562,960)   

Changes in Assets and Liabilities:    

Other Receivables (22,551,251)   

Trade and other payables 570,857   

Taxes Payable (1,558,146)   

    Net Cash Flows used in Operating Activities (57,279,324)   

    CASH PROVIDED BY INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES    

    
Payment for call option (10,945,425,056)   

Payment of capital stock and contributions (402,212,488)   

    
Net Cash Flows used in Investment Activities (11,347,637,544)   

    CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES    

    
Loans, net of application fees 12,924,891,662   

Reserve set-up (358,951,997)   

Payment of Interest (189,676,297)   

Repayment of Loans (398,912,000)   

Payment of Fractions of Shares (430,848)   

    
Net Cash Flows provided by Financing Activities 11,976,920,520   

    FINANCING RESULTS GENERATED BY CASH (106,473,687)   

    
Net Increase in Cash Flow 465,529,965   

Cash and Cash Equivalents as of May 1, 2017 -   

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Closing of the Year (Notes 2.10 and 4.8) 465,529,965   

     
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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CABLEVISIÓN HOLDING S.A. 

NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY ONLY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE IRREGULAR EIGHT-MONTH FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING MAY 1, 2017  

AND ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017 

 (In Argentine Pesos)  
  

 

NOTE 1 – GENERAL INFORMATION 

 

The Company has been incorporated as a spun-off company from Grupo Clarín S.A. At the Extraordinary 

Shareholders’ Meeting held on September 28, 2016, the shareholders of Grupo Clarín approved a corporate 

reorganization that consisted in (i) the merger of Southtel S.A., Vistone S.A., Compañía Latinoamericana de Cable 

S.A. and CV B Holding S.A. into Grupo Clarín and (ii) the subsequent partial spin-off of Grupo Clarín to create 

Cablevisión Holding S.A. 

 

The corporate reorganization was registered with the IGJ on April 27, 2017. In view of the above and taking into 

consideration that, under the terms of the spin-off, the effective date of the Spin-off (the “Effective Date of the Spin-

off”) would be the first day of the month following the date on which the latest of the following registrations has 

been completed: (i) the registration of the Corporate Reorganization with the IGJ, or (ii) the registration of the 

incorporation of Cablevisión Holding S.A. with the IGJ, the Effective Date of the Spin-off is May 1, 2017. As from 

that date, Cablevisión Holding S.A. began its operations, the accounting and tax effects of the Spin-off became 

effective, and Grupo Clarín transferred to Cablevisión Holding S.A. the operations, risks and benefits. 

 

As a result of the spin-off, Grupo Clarín transferred to the Company mainly the direct and indirect equity interests it 

held in Cablevisión S.A. and in GCSA Equity, LLC. In this way, the Company became the direct and indirect holder 

of approximately 60% of the capital stock and votes of Cablevisión and of 100% of the capital stock of GCSA 

Equity. The operations of the subsidiaries of the Company include mainly the provision of cable television, Internet 

access, and mobile telephony services. The corporate reorganization process of its subsidiary Cablevisión is 

described under Note 6.d) to these parent-company only financial statements. 

 

 

NOTE 2 - BASIS FOR THE PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF THE PARENT COMPANY 

ONLY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.  

 

2.1. Basis for the preparation 

 

Through General Resolutions No. 562/09 and No. 576/10, the Argentine Securities Commission (“CNV”, for its 

Spanish acronym) provided for the application of Technical Resolutions (“TR”) No. 26 and No. 29 issued by the 

Argentine Federation of Professional Councils of Economic Sciences (“FACPCE”, for its Spanish acronym), which 

adopt the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting Standards 

Board (“IASB”) for entities subject to the public offering regime governed by Law No. 26,831, whether on account 

of their equity or their notes, or which have requested authorization to be subject to such regime. The FACPCE 

issues Adoption Communications in order to implement IASB resolutions in Argentina. 

 

Technical Resolution No. 43 “Amendment of Technical Resolution No. 26”, effective for fiscal years beginning on 

or after January 1, 2016, sets out that parent company only financial statements shall be prepared fully in 

accordance with IFRS without applying any changes, i.e. complying with the full contents of those standards as 

issued by the IASB and with the mandatory or guiding provisions established by IASB in each document.  

 

That Resolution provides that for its disclosure in parent company only financial statements of entities that are 

required to present consolidated financial statements, the investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 

shall be valued under the equity method as set out by IFRS. 
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In preparing these parent company only financial statements of the Company for the irregular eight-month fiscal 

year beginning May 1, 2017 and ended December 31, 2017, the Company has followed the guidelines provided by 

TR No. 43, and, therefore, these financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS.) Some additional matters were included as required by the Argentine General 

Associations Law and/or CNV regulations, including the supplementary information provided by the last paragraph 

of Section 1, Chapter III, Title IV of General Resolution No. 622/13. That information is included in the Notes to 

these parent company only financial statements, as provided by IFRS. The accounting policies are based on IFRS 

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the interpretations issued by the International 

Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  

 

As mentioned in Note 1, Cablevisión Holding S.A. was created as a consequence of the spin-off of Grupo Clarín 

S.A. Consequently, the Company's Board of Directors has used as a general rule for the initial valuation of the 

assets received by the Company the valuation of those assets and liabilities as of the Effective Date of the Spin-off 

conducted by Grupo Clarín S.A. (“Predecessor Basis of Accounting"), which issues its financial statements under 

IFRS. 

 

These parent-company only financial statements have been prepared based on historical cost except for the fair 

value measurement of certain non-current assets and financial instruments (including derivatives). In general, the 

historical cost is based on the fair value of the consideration granted in exchange for the assets. 

 

International Accounting Standard (IAS) 29 “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies” requires that the 

financial statements of an entity that reports in the currency of a hyperinflationary economy be stated in terms of the 

measuring unit current at the balance sheet closing date of the reporting year and details a series of factors that may 

indicate that an economy is hyperinflationary. Pursuant to the guidelines of IAS 29, there is not enough evidence to 

conclude that Argentina was a hyperinflationary economy and, therefore, the Company did not apply the 

restatement criteria to the financial information for the irregular year reported as established under IAS 29. 

 

The Company began operating on May 1, 2017. Therefore, these parent-company only financial statements are not 

presented on a comparative basis. 

 

The attached information, approved by the Board of Directors of the Company at the meeting held on March 8, 

2018, is presented in Argentine Pesos (Ps.), the Argentine legal tender, and arises from accounting records kept by 

the Company. 

 

2.2. Standards and Interpretations issued but not adopted to date 

 

The Company has not adopted the IFRS or revisions of IFRS issued, as per the detail below, since their application 

is not required for the year ended December 31, 2017: 

 

- IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments": Issued in November 2009 and amended in October 2010 and July 2014, IFRS 9 

introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities and for their 

derecognition. This standard is applicable to years beginning on or after January 1st, 2018.  

 

Upon conducting an analysis of the accounting standard, the Company and its subsidiaries identified that the main 

impact would be, given the direct and indirect interest in Cablevisión, on the accounting policy concerning the 

allowance for doubtful trade receivables from the Cable Television, Internet Access and IDEN Telephony segments, 

as a result of the application of the model called “expected credit losses”. The estimated effect of the initial 

application of the standard in Cablevisión as of January 1, 2018 is an increase in the amount of the allowance for 

approximately Ps. 70.5 million. 

 

- IFRS 15 “Revenue from ordinary activities under contracts with customers”: issued in May 2014 and applicable to 

fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2018. This standard specifies how and when revenue will be 

recognized, as well as the additional information to be disclosed by the Company in the financial statements. The 

standard provides a single, principles based five-step model to be applied to all contracts with customers. 
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Upon conducting an analysis of the accounting standard, the Company and its subsidiaries have not identified 

significant impacts on the recognition of revenues from contracts with customers. 

 

- IFRS 16 "Leases": Issued in January 2016. It establishes the principles for the recognition, measurement, 

presentation and disclosure of leases. Said standard applies to years beginning January 1, 2019. As of the date of 

these financial statements, the Company cannot estimate its quantitative and qualitative impact because it is 

analyzing the corresponding accounting effects. 

 

2.3. Standards and Interpretations issued and adopted to date 

 

As of the date of these consolidated financial statements, no new standards have been issued that apply to the 

Company for this year.  

 

2.4. Interests in Subsidiaries and Affiliates  

 

The Company records the interest in its subsidiaries and associates using the equity method, as established by TR 

43. 

 

A subsidiary is an entity over which the Company exercises control. Control is presumed to exist when the 

Company has a right to variable returns from its interest in a subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns 

through its power over the subsidiary. This power is presumed to exist when it is evidenced by the voting rights, be 

it that the Company has the majority of voting rights or potential voting rights that are currently exercisable. 

 

An associate is an entity over which the Company has significant influence, without exercising control, generally 

accompanied by equity holdings of between 20% and 50% of voting rights. 

 

The subsidiaries’ and associates’ net income and the assets and liabilities are disclosed in the financial statements 

using the equity method, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for 

under IFRS 5 “Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”. Under the equity method, the 

investment in a subsidiary or associate is to be initially recorded at the cost incurred by the surviving company in 

the case of the equity interests received as part of the process that comprised the creation of the Company, or that 

incurred by the Company in subsequent acquisitions. As from that moment, the book value will be increased or 

decreased to recognize the investor’s share in comprehensive income for the year obtained by the subsidiary or 

associate, after the acquisition date. The distributions received from the subsidiary or associate will reduce the book 

value of the investment.  

 

The losses incurred by an associate in excess of the Company’s interest in such company are recognized to the 

extent the Company has undertaken any legal or implicit obligation or has made payments on behalf of the 

associate. 

 

Any excess of the acquisition cost over the Company’s share in the net fair value of the subsidiary’s or associate’s 

identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities measured at the acquisition date is recognized as goodwill. 

Goodwill is included in the book value of the investment and tested for impairment as part of the investment. Any 

excess of the Company’s share in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 

over the acquisition cost, after its measurement at fair value, is immediately recognized in the statement of income. 

 

Unrealized gains or losses on transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries and the associates are 

eliminated considering the Company’s interest in those companies.  

 

Adjustments were made, where necessary, to the subsidiaries’ and associates’ financial statements so that their 

accounting policies are in line with those used by the Company. 

 

As of December 31, 2017, the Company included the acquisition cost of the shares acquired to be received from 

VLG Argentina, LLC, as a result of the exercise of the irrevocable call option described under Note 6.d) to these 

parent-company only financial statements. 
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2.4.1 Changes in the Company’s Interests in Existing Subsidiaries 

 

The changes in the Company’s interests in subsidiaries that do not generate a loss of control are recorded under 

equity. The book value of the Company’s interests is adjusted to reflect the changes in the relative interest in the 

subsidiary. Any difference between the amount for which an additional investment is recorded and the fair value of 

the consideration paid or received is directly recognized in equity.  

 

In case of loss of control and significant influence, any residual interest in the issuing company is measured at its 

fair value at such date, allocating the change in the recorded value with an impact on net income. The fair value is 

the initial amount recognized for such investments for the purposes of its subsequent valuation for the interest 

retained as associate, joint operation or financial instrument. Additionally any amount previously recognized in 

Other Comprehensive Income regarding such investments is recognized as if the Company had disposed of the 

related assets and liabilities. Consequently, the amounts previously recognized in Other Comprehensive Income 

may be reclassified to the statement of income. 

 

2.5 Business Combinations 

 

The Company applies the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations. The consideration for each 

acquisition is measured at fair value (on the date of exchange) of the assets assigned, the liabilities incurred or 

assumed and the equity instruments issued by the Company in exchange for the control of the acquired company. 

The costs related to the acquisition are expensed as incurred. 

 

The consideration for the acquisition, if any, includes any asset or liability arising from a contingent consideration 

arrangement, measured at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to such fair value, identified during 

the measurement period, are adjusted against the acquisition cost.  

 

The measurement period is the effective period that begins on the acquisition date and ends on the date on which the 

Company obtains all the information about the facts and circumstances existing on the acquisition date, which may 

not extend beyond one year after the acquisition date. All other changes in the fair value of the contingent 

consideration classified as assets or liabilities, outside the measurement period, are recognized in the statement of 

income. The changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration classified as equity are not recognized.   

 

In the cases of business combinations conducted in stages, the Company’s equity interest in the acquiree is 

remeasured at fair value on its acquisition date (i.e., the date on which the Company obtained control) and the 

resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognized in the statement of income or in other comprehensive income, as 

appropriate according to the source of the variation.  

 

The identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired company that meet the conditions for 

recognition under IFRS 3 (2008) are recognized at fair value at the acquisition date, except for certain particular 

cases provided by such standard. 

 

Any excess of the acquisition cost, be it incurred by the surviving company in the case of equity interests received at 

the time of the creation of the Company or by the Company in subsequent acquisitions (including the interest 

previously held, if any, and the non-controlling interest) over the Company's share in the net fair value of the 

subsidiary’s or associate’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities measured at the acquisition date is 

recognized as goodwill. Any excess of the Company’s share in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities 

and contingent liabilities over the acquisition cost, after its measurement at fair value, is immediately recognized in 

the statement of income. 

 

The acquisition cost comprises the consideration transferred and the acquisition-date fair value of the acquirer's 

previously-held equity interest in the acquiree, if any. 
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2.6  Goodwill 

 

Goodwill arises from the acquisition of subsidiaries and associates and refers to the excess of the sum of the 

consideration transferred, the fair value of the acquirer’s previously-held equity interest (if any) in the acquiree over 

the interest acquired in the net amount of the fair value at the date of acquisition of the identifiable assets acquired 

and liabilities assumed.  

 

If, after the fair value measurement, the Company's share in the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the 

acquiree exceeds the amount of the transferred consideration, the amount of any non-controlling interest in such 

company and the fair value of the interest previously held by the acquirer in the acquiree (if any), that excess is 

immediately recognized in the statement of comprehensive income as income from purchase in very profitable 

terms. 

 

Goodwill is not amortized, but tested for impairment on an annual basis. For the purposes of impairment testing, 

goodwill is allocated to each of the Company's cash-generating units expected to render benefits from the synergies 

of the respective business combination. Those cash-generating units to which goodwill is allocated are tested for 

impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently, when there is any evidence of impairment. If the recoverable 

value of the cash-generating unit, i.e. the higher of the value in use or the fair value net of selling expenses, is lower 

than the value of the net assets allocated to that unit, including goodwill, the impairment loss is first allocated to 

reduce the goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit, on a pro rata basis, based on the 

valuation of each asset in the unit. The impairment loss recognized against the valuation of goodwill is not reversed 

under any circumstance. 

 

In case of a loss of control in a subsidiary, the amount attributable to goodwill is included in the calculation of the 

gain or loss for retirement. 

 

As of December 31, 2017, goodwill did not undergo any impairment. 

 

2.7 Foreign Currency and Functional Currency 

 

The financial statements of each of the Company’s subsidiaries or associates are prepared in the currency of the 

primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). For the purposes of the 

Company’s parent company only balance sheet, the financial position of each entity is stated in Argentine Pesos 

(Argentina’s legal tender for all companies domiciled in Argentina), which is the Company’s functional currency.  

 

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, the transactions in currencies other than the entity’s 

functional currency (foreign currency) are recorded at the exchange rates prevailing on the dates on which 

transactions are carried out. At the end of each reporting year, the monetary items denominated in foreign currency 

are retranslated at the exchange rates prevailing on such date.  

 

The exchange differences were charged to income for the year in which they were generated. 

 

In preparing the Company’s parent company only financial statements, in order to measure, under the equity 

method, the Company’s interest in the entities which functional currency is different from the Argentine Peso, the 

assets and liabilities of such companies are translated to Argentine pesos at the exchange rate prevailing at the end 

of the year, while the net income is translated at the exchange rate prevailing on the transaction date. Translation 

differences are recognized in other comprehensive income as “Variation in Translation Differences of Foreign 

Operations”. 

 

2.8. Current and Deferred Income Tax  

 

The income tax charge reflects the sum of current income tax and deferred income tax. 
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Current and deferred taxes are recognized as expense or income for the year, except when they are related to entries 

debited or credited to other comprehensive income or directly to equity, in which cases taxes are also recognized in 

other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. In the case of a business combination, the tax effect 

is taken into consideration in the calculation of goodwill or in the determination of the excess of acquirer's interest 

in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of the 

business combination. 

 

Current Income Tax 

 

Current tax payable is based on the taxable income recorded during the year. Taxable income and net income 

reported in the parent company only statement of comprehensive income differ due to revenue or expense items that 

are taxable or deductible in other fiscal years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The current tax liability 

is calculated using the tax rate in effect as of the date of this Special Parent Company Only Financial Statement. 

 

Deferred Income Tax 

 

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the book value of the assets and liabilities included in 

these financial statements and the corresponding tax basis used to determine taxable income. Deferred tax liabilities 

are generally recognized for all temporary fiscal differences. Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible 

temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be available against which 

those deductible temporary differences can be charged. These assets and liabilities are not recognized if the 

temporary differences arise from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of 

other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable income nor the accounting income. 

 

The book value of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each reporting year and reduced to the extent that it is no 

longer probable that sufficient taxable income will be available in the future to allow for the recovery of all or part 

of the asset. 

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applicable in the period in 

which the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the end of the period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax 

consequences that would follow from the manner in which the entity expects, at the end of the reporting period, to 

recover or settle the book value of its assets and liabilities. 

 

Deferred tax assets are offset against deferred tax liabilities if effective regulations allow to offset, before the tax 

authorities, the amounts recognized in those items; and if the deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from income 

taxes levied by the same tax authority and the Company intends to settle its assets and liabilities on a net basis. 

 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities, respectively. 

 

2.8.1 Tax on Assets 

 

In Argentina, the tax on assets (impuesto a la ganancia mínima presunta) is supplementary to income tax. The 

Company assesses this tax at the effective rate of 1% on the taxable assets at year-end. The Company’s tax liability 

for each year will be equal to the higher of the tax on assets assessment or the income tax liability assessed at the 

legally effective rate on the estimated taxable income for the year. However, if the tax on assets exceeds the income 

tax liability in any given fiscal year, the excess may be creditable against any excess of income tax liability over the 

tax on assets in any of the following ten fiscal years. 

 

2.8. Tax Reform and Tax Consensus - Laws No. 27,429, No. 27,430 and No. 27,432 

 

2.8.2.1. Tax Reform 

 

On December 29, 2017, the Executive Branch enacted Law No. 27,430, which establishes a comprehensive reform 

of the tax system effective as from 2018. 
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The Law introduces, among other things, changes to income tax (both corporate and personal), Value Added Tax 

(“VAT”), excise taxes, employer’ social security contributions, the tax procedure regime and the criminal tax 

regime. 

 

The main changes that have an impact on corporate income tax are the following: 

 

2.8.2.1.1. Income Tax  

 

Changes to corporate income tax rate and withholding on distributed dividends  

 

The Law reduces the corporate income tax rate from 35% to 30% for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 

2018 up to and including December 31, 2019, and to 25% for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2020. 

 

In addition, the Law establishes a withholding tax regime on distributed dividends at a rate of 7% for distributions 

of profits generated during fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2018 up to and including December 31, 

2019, and at a rate of 13% for distributions of profits generated during fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 

2020. 

 

Profits generated during fiscal years ended until December 31, 2017 will not be subject to withholding at the time of 

their distribution. 

 

The new withholding rates apply only to distributions made to shareholders who are Argentine resident individuals 

and to nonresident shareholders. 

 

Additionally, the Law repeals the “equalization tax” (i.e., 35% withholding on dividend distributions exceeding 

accumulated taxable income) for distributions of profits generated during fiscal years beginning on or after January 

1, 2018. 

 

Gain/Loss on purchase-sale of shares. 

 

The Law maintains the 15% capital gains tax rate for Argentine resident individuals or foreign beneficiaries (in the 

case of foreign beneficiaries, it is calculated on the presumed net gain equal to 90% of the sale price). In the case of 

local legal entities, the Law establishes a general rate of 30% for fiscal years 2018 and 2019, and 25% for the 

following years. 

 

In the case of individuals residing in Argentina, however, the results derived from transfers of shares are exempted 

from income tax to the extent that it the transfer consists in a public placement authorized by the CNV or that the 

transactions were carried out in markets authorized by that agency under segments that guarantee price/time priority 

and by crossing of offers (such as the shares of Cablevisión Holding) or carried out through a public tender offering 

and/or exchange authorized by the CNV. 

 

The foregoing exemption will also be applicable to foreign beneficiaries to the extent that said beneficiaries do not 

reside in, and the funds do not come from, non-cooperative jurisdictions. In the case of foreign beneficiaries, the 

exemption will also be applicable, among other things, to income from depositary receipts or certificates issued 

abroad representing shares, such as American Depositary Receipts (“ADRs”), provided that the underlying shares 

have been issued by entities domiciled in Argentina.  

 

Optional asset revaluation regime for tax purposes. 

 

The Law established, on a general basis, the adjustment for inflation of the cost of several assets -in case of 

transfers- and the adjustment for inflation of the depreciation of property, plant and equipment, for all the 

acquisitions or investments made as from January 1, 2018 based on the variation of the Domestic Wholesale Price 

Index (“IPIM”, for its Spanish acronym) as from that date. 
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In addition, the Law established an optional regime for the revaluation for tax purposes of assets located in 

Argentina that generate taxable income. In the case of the Company, the revaluation option is applicable to assets 

existing as of December 31, 2017. Pursuant to the Law, the new tax value of the assets will be determined by 

applying a "revaluation factor," set forth in the Law, according to the calendar year of the asset's acquisition or 

construction, to the tax value originally assessed, each year or period since the asset's acquisition or construction. In 

the case of real or personal property subject to amortization, the value may be assessed by an appraiser under certain 

conditions. 

 

The Law imposes a one-time special tax on the amount of the revaluation. Such tax is not deductible from income 

tax. The applicable rate will vary depending on the type of assets:  

 

 Real property (qualifying as property, plant and equipment) 8%; 

 Real property (qualifying as inventories): 15%; 

 Shares, membership interests and other participations owned by resident individuals: 5%; 

 All other assets: 10%. 

 

The taxpayer that opts for the special revaluation regime must do so for all the assets that belong to the same 

category. Once the taxpayer has opted for the special revaluation regime, it is entitled to calculate its amortization or 

costs, for income tax purposes, based on the revalued value of the assets. In addition, revalued values will be 

adjusted for inflation based on the variations of the IPIM as from January 1, 2018. 

 

The Law requires taxpayers that opt for the special asset revaluation regime to waive any judicial or administrative 

claims for the purpose of requesting the application, for tax purposes, of adjustments of any kind, with respect to the 

period of the option. Any taxpayers that have filed such claims with respect to fiscal years closed before the Law 

becomes effective are required to withdraw such claims and rights invoked.  

 

2.8.2.1.2. Excise Taxes and Tax Collection at Source for the benefit of the Ente Nacional de Alto Rendimiento 

Deportivo (National Board of High Performance Sports, ENARD, for its Spanish acronym) 

 

The Law also provides for an increase in the effective excise tax rate applicable to mobile telephony services, from 

4.16% to 5.26%. In addition, the Law repeals the collection at source of the charge imposed for the benefit of the 

ENARD. 

 

In addition, pursuant to Decree No. 979/2017, as from November 15, 2017, the effective excise tax rate on the sale 

of imported mobile phones and other wireless network equipment is reduced from 20.48% to 11.73%. Said rate, 

pursuant to Law No. 27,430, will decrease gradually until its complete phase out as from January 1, 2024. In the 

case of goods manufactured in Tierra del Fuego, the rate is set at 0% as from November 15, 2017. 

 

2.8.2.1.3. Tax on Bank Credit and Debits 

 

Pursuant to Law No. 27,432, the National Executive Branch may establish that the percentage of the tax rate on 

bank credit and debits that to date may not be creditable against income tax, be gradually reduced by up to 20% per 

year as from January 1, 2018. The Executive Branch may provide that, by 2022, it be fully creditable against 

income tax. 

 

2.8.2.1.4. Social Security  
 

The Law gradually reduces the percentage of employers’ social security contributions paid by large companies from 

21% to 19.5% by 2022. 

 

The Law establishes a non-taxable base for calculating employers’ social security contributions of Ps. 2,400 for 

2018, which will increase to Ps. 12,000 by 2022. The Law gradually phases out employers’ social security 

contributions that are creditable against VAT. 
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2.8.2.2. Tax Consensus  

 

On January 2, 2018, Law No. 27,429 - “Tax Consensus” was published in the Official Gazette. Said Law approves 

the Tax Consensus entered into among the National Executive Branch and the representatives of the Provinces and 

the Autonomous City of Buenos Aires. 

 

The Tax Consensus seeks to harmonize the tax structures of the different jurisdictions to promote employment, 

investment and economic growth and to promote uniform policies. For such purpose, the National Government, the 

Provinces and the Autonomous City of Buenos Aires agreed to fulfill certain commitments. Among the 

commitments undertaken by the Provinces, the most relevant are, with respect to Gross Turnover Tax, the 

immediate elimination of differential treatments based on the place of business or the location of the taxpayer's 

establishment or the location where goods are manufactured and the establishment of exemptions and the 

application of tax rates that shall not exceed those set forth for each activity and period in the Annex to the 

Consensus (in the case of communications 5% in 2018, which will decrease to 3% by 2022, and in the case of 

mobile telephony 7% in 2018, which will decrease to 5% by 2022.) With respect to stamp tax rates, for certain 

activities and contracts, the establishment of a maximum stamp tax rate of 0.75% as from January 1, 2019, with a 

gradual decrease until its complete phase out as from January 1, 2022, as well as the repeal of all taxes affecting 

payroll. 

 

2.9 Financial Instruments 

 

2.9.1 Financial Assets 

 

Purchases and sales of financial assets (including derivatives) are recognized at the transaction date when the 

Company undertakes to purchase or sell the asset, and is initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, 

except for those financial assets classified at fair value with changes in the statement of income, which are initially 

measured at fair value. 

 

2.9.1.1 Classification of Financial Assets 

 

Financial assets are classified within the following specific categories: “financial assets at fair value with changes in 

net income”, “held-to-maturity investments” and “loans and receivables”. The classification depends on the nature 

and purpose of the financial assets and is determined on initial recognition. 

 

2.9.1.2  Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets 

 

2.9.1.2.1 Financial Assets at Fair Value with Changes in Net Income 

 

Financial assets at fair value with changes in net income are recorded at fair value, recognizing any gain or loss 

arising from the measurement in the parent company only statement of comprehensive income. The net gain or loss 

recognized in the statement of income includes any gain or loss generated by the financial asset and is included 

under the item other financial results, net in the parent company only statement of comprehensive income. 

Derivatives are included in this category unless they are designated as a hedging instrument. 

 

The assets in this category are classified as current if they are expected to be realized within 12 months; otherwise, 

they are classified as non-current. 

 

The fair value of the financial instruments traded in active markets is calculated based on the current quoted market 

price of these instruments. 

 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in active markets is calculated using valuation techniques. 

 

2.9.1.2.2 Held-to-maturity Investments 
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Held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method less any 

impairment, if any. 

 

The effective interest rate method calculates the amortized cost of a financial asset or liability and the allocation of 

financial income or cost over the whole corresponding period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 

discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument to the net 

book value of the financial asset or liability on its initial recognition. 

 

In the case of balances in foreign currency, they were translated at the exchange rate effective as of the date on 

which the Company began operating for the settlement of these transactions. The exchange differences were 

charged to income for the period in which they were generated. 

 

2.9.1.2.3 Loans and Receivables 

 

Loans and trade receivables with fixed or determinable payments not traded in an active market are classified as 

“trade receivables and other”. Trade receivables and other (except for derivatives) are initially measured at fair 

value, and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment in 

value, if any. Interest income is recognized using the effective interest rate method, except for short-term balances 

for which the recognition of interest is not significant. 

 

Loans and receivables are classified as current, except for those with maturities beyond 12 months as from the 

closing date. 

 

In the case of balances in foreign currency, they were translated at the exchange rate effective as of the date on 

which the Company began operating for the settlement of these transactions. The exchange differences were 

charged to income for the year in which they were generated. 

 

2.9.1.3 Impairment of Financial Assets 

 

The Company tests financial assets or a group of assets for impairment at each closing date to assess if there is any 

objective evidence of impairment. The value of a financial asset or a group of assets is impaired, and an impairment 

loss is recognized, where there is objective evidence of the impairment as a result of one or more events that 

occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and that loss event or events have an impact on the 

estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or a group of assets, which may be reliably measured. 

 

The objective evidence of impairment may include, among others, significant financial difficulties of the issuer or 

obligor; or breach of contractual terms, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal payments. 

 

The Company tests for impairment financial assets disclosed under Other Receivables on a case by case basis. 

 

Where there is objective evidence of an impairment loss in the value of loans granted, receivables or held-to-

maturity investments recorded at amortized cost, the loss amount is measured as the difference between the book 

value and the present value of estimated future cash flows (without including future non-incurred losses), 

discounted at the original effective interest rate of the financial asset. The asset’s book value is written down under a 

contra asset account. The loss amount is recognized in the statement of income for the year.  

 

If, in subsequent periods, the impairment loss amount decreases and such decrease can be objectively related to an 

event occurring after the impairment has been recognized (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the 

previously recognized impairment loss is reversed. A loss reversal can only be recorded to the extent the financial 

asset’s book value does not exceed the amortized cost that would have been determined if the impairment loss had 

not been recorded at the reversal date. The reversal amount is recognized in the statement of income for the year. 

  

2.9.1.4 Derecognition of Financial Assets 
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The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows of such assets expire or 

when it transfers the financial asset and, therefore, all the risks and benefits inherent to the ownership of the 

financial asset are transferred to another entity. If the Company retains substantially all the risks and benefits 

inherent to the ownership of the transferred asset, it will continue to recognize it and will recognize a liability for the 

amounts received. 

 

2.9.2 Financial Liabilities 

 

Financial liabilities are valued at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  

 

2.9.2.1. Bank and Financial Debt 

 

Bank and Financial Debt is initially valued at fair value net of the transaction costs incurred, and subsequently 

valued at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Any difference between the initial value net of the 

transaction costs and the settlement value is recognized in the income statement over the term of the loan using the 

effective interest rate method. Interest expense has been charged to the parent company only statement of 

comprehensive income under “Financial Costs”. 

 

2.9.2.2 Trade and other payables 

 

Trade payables with fixed or determinable payments not traded in an active market are classified as “Trade and 

other payables”. Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, and subsequently measured at 

amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  

 

Trade and other payables are classified as current, except for those with maturities beyond 12 months from the 

closing date. 

 

Trade and other payables in foreign currency have been valued as mentioned above, at the exchange rates effective 

at the closing of each year. The exchange differences were charged to income for each year. 

 

2.9.2.3 Derecognition of Financial Liabilities 

 

An entity shall derecognize a financial liability (or part of it) when, and only when, it has been extinguished, i.e., 

when the obligation specified in the corresponding agreement is discharged, cancelled or expires. 

 

2.10 Parent Company Only Statement of Cash Flows 

 

For the purposes of preparing the statement of cash flows, the item “Cash and Cash Equivalents” includes cash and 

bank balances, certain high liquidity short-term investments (with original maturities shorter than 90 days). Bank 

overdrafts payable on demand are deducted to the extent they are part of the Company’s cash management. 

 

2.11  Distribution of Dividends 

 

The distribution of dividends to the Company’s shareholders is recognized as a liability in the financial statements 

for the period in which the distribution of dividends is approved by the Shareholders’ Meeting. 

 

2.12 Revenue Recognition 

 

Management fees are recognized when such services are rendered at the fair value of the consideration received or 

to be received. 

 
 

NOTE 3 - ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS 

 

In applying the accounting policies of the Company which are described in Note 2, the Company has to make 
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judgments and prepare accounting estimates of the value of the assets and liabilities that may not be otherwise 

obtained. The estimates and related assumptions are based on historical experience and other pertinent factors. 

Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

 

The underlying estimates and assumptions are continually reviewed. The effects of the reviews of accounting 

estimates are recognized for the period in which estimates are reviewed. 

 

These estimates basically refer to: 

 

Impairment of Goodwill 

 

The Company assesses goodwill for impairment on an annual basis. In determining if there is impairment of 

goodwill, the Company calculates the value in use of the cash generating units to which it has been allocated. The 

calculation of the value in use requires the determination by the entity of the future cash flows that should arise from 

the cash generating units and an appropriate discount rate to calculate the present value. 

 

Recognition and Measurement of Deferred Tax Items 

 

As disclosed in Note 2.8, deferred tax assets are only recognized for temporary differences to the extent that it is 

probable that the entity will have enough future taxable income against which the deferred tax assets can be used. 

Deferred tax assets from unused tax loss carryforwards are only recognized when it is probable that the entity will 

have enough future taxable income against which they can be used. 

 

The Company examines the recoverable value of deferred tax assets based on its business plans and books a 

valuation allowance, if appropriate, so that the net position of the deferred tax asset will reflect the probable 

recoverable value.  

 

Measurement of the fair value of certain financial instruments 

 

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the instrument could be purchased or sold between 

knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. If there is a quoted market price available for an 

instrument in an active market, the fair value is calculated based on that price. 

 

If there is no quoted market price available for a financial instrument, its fair value is estimated based on the price 

established in recent transactions involving the same or similar instruments and, otherwise, based on valuation 

techniques regularly used in financial markets. The Company uses its judgment to select a variety of methods and 

makes assumptions based on market conditions at closing. 

 

 

NOTE 4 – BREAKDOWN OF MAIN ITEMS  

 

4.1 – Information Required under Section 64, Subsection b) of Law No. 19,550 

 
  Administrative 

Expenses 
  

     

Item 

 Irregular eight-

month fiscal year 

ended 12.31.2017 

  

     
Fees for services (1)   86,928,134   

Taxes, Duties and Contributions  2,016,058   

Advertising expenses  406,160   

Miscellaneous  917,477   

     
Total  90,267,829   

(1) Includes Directors' fees in the amount Ps. 1,872,000. 
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4.2 - Financial Costs 

 
  Irregular eight-

month fiscal year 

ended 12.31.2017 

  

     
Exchange Differences  (856,080,142)   

Interest and Other  (277,007,688)   

  (1,133,087,830)   

 

 

4.3 – Other Financial Results, net 

 
  Irregular eight-

month fiscal year 

ended 12.31.2017 

  

     
Exchange Differences   (74,300,045)   

Interest  2,824,436   

Other Taxes and Expenses  (4,272,955)   

  (75,748,564)   

 
4.4 – Deferred Tax Assets, Income Tax, and Tax on Assets. 

 

The balance of the item deferred income tax is broken down as follows: 

 
 December 31, 

2017 

  
Other 7,336,947 

  
Net Deferred Tax Assets 7,336,947 

 

Deferred tax assets from unused tax loss carryforwards are recognized to the extent their realization is probable 

against future taxable profits. The Company did not recognize deferred tax assets corresponding to tax loss 

carryforwards for Ps. 1,229,597,205, which may be offset against future taxable profits. Those tax losses may be 

used until 2022. 

 

The following table shows the reconciliation between the income tax and tax on assets charged to the statement of 

income for the irregular eight-month fiscal year beginning May 1, 2017 and ended December 31, 2017 and the 

income tax liability that would result from applying the current tax rate on income before income tax and tax on 

assets and the income tax liability assessed for the year: 

 
 Irregular eight-month 

fiscal year ended 

12.31.2017 

  Income Tax Assessed at the Current Tax Rate (35%) on Income before Income Tax (275,540,558) 

Permanent Differences:  

Gain/Loss on Investments in Subsidiaries 708,947,036 

Change in income tax rate (1) (2,934,779) 

Other  (3,124,237) 

Tax loss carryforwards not recognized as deferred tax assets (430,359,021) 

Income Tax (3,011,559) 

    

Deferred Taxes for the Year (3,011,559) 

Valuation Allowance (3,647,496) 
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Tax on assets  1,246,405 

  
Total Income Tax and Tax on Assets (5,412,650) 

 
(1) The changes in the income tax rates, as per the tax reform detailed in Note 2.8., must be applied to deferred tax assets and liabilities according to the year in which they are 

expected to be realized. 
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4.5 - Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates 

 

 

Companies Country Class Nominal Value Number 

Valuation as of 

December 31, 

2017 (1) Interest (%) 

Non-Current Investments:       

Cablevisión (3) Argentina Common Ps. 10,000 41,207 3,490,826,469 34.34% 

Cablevisión  – Goodwill     853,932,158  

VLG (2) (3) USA - - - 3,654,712,320 50% 

VLG – Goodwill     100,503,301  
VLG – Acquired shares to be received (3) 

(4) 
    10,945,425,056  

PEM Argentina Common Ps. 1 1 2 0.00000007% 

Total     19,045,399,306  

       
 

(1) In certain cases, the equity value does not correspond to the related shareholders’ equity due to: (i) the adjustment of the equity value to the 

Company’s accounting policies, as required by professional accounting standards, (ii) the elimination of goodwill generated by transactions 

between companies under the Company’s common control, (iii) the existence of irrevocable contributions, and (iv) adjustments to fair market 

value of net assets for acquisitions made by the Company. 
(2) Company through which an indirect interest is held in Cablevisión. 
(3) See Note 6.d). 
(4) As of December 31, 2017, the only thing pending was the formal delivery of the shares, whereby the Company became the holder for all 

purposes of 71.55% of VLG’s capital stock. 
 

 

The information about the issuer is detailed below: 

 

 

Companies Main business activity Date Capital Stock Net Income (1) Equity 

Cablevisión 

Provision of Information and Communications 

Technology Services (“TIC Services”) – 

Investments in Unconsolidated Affiliates 

December 31, 

2017 1,200,000,000 5,814,752,604 11,693,486,591 

 

Investing and financing 

December 31, 

2017 5,791,630,697 2,984,112,042 8,095,786,261 

PEM Investing December 31, 

2017 
13,558,511 25,651,475 81,149,681 

 
(1) Information for the twelve-month year. 

 

Equity in Earnings from Associates 

 
 Irregular eight-

month fiscal year 

ended 12.31.2017 

  

    
Cablevisión 1,191,038,208   

VLG 889,961,948   

GCSA Equity (1) (55,437,196)   

 2,025,562,960   
(1) See Note 6.f) 
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4.6 – Other Assets 

 
 December 31, 

2017 

  

Current    

Reserve account (Notes 4.9 and 4.13) 377,510,288   

Total 377,510,288   

 

4.7 – Other Receivables 
 

 December 31, 

2017 

  

Non-Current    

Income Tax Credit  3,647,496   

Valuation Allowance (Note 4.14) (3,647,496)   

Total -   

 

 

 

 

 

   
Current    

Related Parties (Note 5) 1,834   

Tax Credits 11,901,309   

Sundry Receivables (Note 4.13) 116,245,080   

Dividend Receivable (Note 5) 1,400,279,124   

Advances to Suppliers 49,139   

Total 1,528,476,486   

 

4.8 - Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
 December 31, 

2017 

  
Cash at banks in Local Currency 419,664 

Cash at banks in Foreign Currency (Note 4.13) 27,980,434 

Mutual Funds 30,647,080 

Interest-bearing accounts (Note 4.13) 71,413,650 

Term Deposits (Note 4.13) 335,069,137     

Total 465,529,965 

 

4.9 – Bank and Financial Debt 

 

The following is a breakdown of the Company's loans and indebtedness: 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 December 31, 2017  

Current   

Bank Loans - principal 2,765,727,954  

Bank Loans - Interest 9,466,535  

Total 2,775,194,489  

   

 

As of May 1, 2017, the Company held a loan with a related company for USD 23 million, due in June 2021. That 

loan accrued interest at an annual rate of 7.53% and interest would be due together with principal at maturity in June 

 December 31, 2017  

Non-Current   

Bank Loans - principal 11,221,022,047  

Financial debt measured at present value (192,195,729)  

Total 11,028,826,318  
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2021. On September 28, 2017, the Company informed its related company that it intended to make an early 

repayment of the above-mentioned loan. On October 2, 2017, the Company repaid the loan in full. 

 

On September 24, 2017, the Company submitted to CITIBANK, N.A., GOLDMAN SACHS BANK USA, 

INDUSTRIAL AND COMMERCIAL BANK OF CHINA LIMITED, DUBAI (DIFC) BRANCH, ITAÚ 

UNIBANCO S.A., NASSAU BRANCH (the “Lenders”), CITIBANK, N.A. and the branch of Citibank N.A. 

established in Argentina (the “Arrangers, Collateral Agents”) and CITIBANK, N.A. (the “Administrative Agent”) a 

Loan Offer for an aggregate principal amount of Seven Hundred Fifty Million United States Dollars (USD 

750,000,000). On September 25, 2017, the Company received communications from each of the Lenders, the 

Arrangers, the Collateral Agents and the Administrative Agent stating that they had accepted the Loan Offer, which 

disbursement was made on September 28, 2017. 

 

The loan accrues compensatory interest on the outstanding balances and until its effective cancellation, at a rate 

equal to LIBOR plus an applicable margin; of: (a) 3.5% per annum during the first six months as from the date of 

the first disbursement; or (b) 4% per annum during the period that begins on the day immediately following the 

sixth month after the date of the first disbursement and ends 12 months after such date; or (c) 4.5% per annum 

during the period that begins on the day immediately following the first anniversary of the first disbursement date 

and ends on the Maturity Date.  

 

Interest under the loan shall be paid in arrears on the last business day of each interest period: The maturity date 

shall be the earlier of 18 months counted as from the date of disbursement or the date on which the loan becomes 

due and payable pursuant to acceleration events provided under the loan offer, whichever occurs first. That loan 

provides for covenants and negative covenants and representations and guarantees, which are usual for this type of 

financing.  

 

Of the loan amount, USD 18.1 million were allocated to a reserve account, under the terms of the agreement. The 

Company shall maintain in that account, as of any given calculation date, an amount of cash that may not be lower 

than the aggregate amount of interest payable under the loan during the following six-month period. As of 

December 31, 2017, the balance of said reserve account included under the item “Other Assets” amounted to USD 

20.3 million. 

 

The funds from the loan were used, among other things, for the payment of the Exercise Price under the Option 

Agreement mentioned in Note 6.d) to these parent company only financial statements. 

 

In addition, for as long as the Loan is outstanding, the Company undertakes to create and maintain guarantees for an 

amount equivalent to 2.5 times the amount of the Loan. On September 27, 2017, the Company created a first 

priority pledge on 30,123 Class “A” book-entry common shares of nominal value Ps. 10,000 each and entitled to 

one vote per share, held by the Company in Cablevisión S.A., in favor of the Collateral Agent, acting for the benefit 

of the Lenders, Citibank, N.A. as Offshore Collateral Agent and the branch of Citibank N.A. established in 

Argentina as Onshore Collateral Agent, under the loan agreement. Subsequently, as a result of the Merger between 

Telecom and Cablevisión mentioned in Note 6.d) to these parent company only financial statements, the Company 

approved the creation of a pledge on 297,346,243 shares of Telecom Argentina S.A. which, according to the 

exchange Ratio, are equivalent to 30,123 Class A book-entry common shares of Cablevisión S.A. As of the date of 

these parent company only financial statements, the Lenders maintain a pledge on 199,518,894 shares of Telecom 

Argentina S.A. held by the Company. 

 

Among the main financial obligations undertaken under the loan is the obligation to apply (i) the net proceeds from 

any sale of material assets, (ii) the dividends received from its subsidiaries -after deducting any amount necessary to 

pay taxes and up to USD 10 million for current expenses-, (iii) the net proceeds from any public offering and (iv) 

the net proceeds from any debt issue; to the prepayment of the obligations under the loan. The Company undertakes 

to maintain certain consolidated debt ratios of its own and of Cablevisión and to guarantee a minimum amount to 

pay dividends from its subsidiary Cablevisión.  

 

On January 11, 2018 and on February 21, 2018, the Company made partial prepayments of principal and interest in 

the amount of USD 148.6 million and USD 253.8 million, respectively, pursuant to the terms and conditions of the 
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Loan, which set out that the collections of dividends by the Company shall be applied to the prepayment of the Loan 

(see Note 11.) The amount of principal paid on January 11, 2018 was classified under Current Bank and Financial 

Debt, due to the fact that the approval of the distribution of dividends of Cablevisión was made in December 2017. 

As of the date of these parent company only financial statements, the outstanding principal amount of the Loan 

amounts to USD 349.9 million. 

 

During the year covered by these parent company only financial statements, the Company has complied with all 

applicable covenants. 

 

The following table details the changes in loans and indebtedness in the irregular eight-month fiscal year ended 

December 31, 2017: 

 

 2017   

Balance as of May 1 364,039,967   

    
New Loans and Indebtedness 12,924,891,662   

Accrued Interest 277,007,668   

Exchange Differences 856,080,142   

Payment of Debts (398,912,000)   

Payment of Interest (189,676,297)   

Other (29,410,335)   

Balances as of December 31 13,804,020,807   
    

 

4.10 - Taxes Payable 

 
 December 31, 

2017 
  

Current    

National Taxes 29,098,614   

Total 29,098,614   

 

4.11 - Trade and other payables 

 
 December 31, 

2017 
  

Current    

Suppliers and Trade Provisions 376,438   

Total 376,438   
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4.12  - Assets and Liabilities in Foreign Currency 

 

 as of December 31, 2017 

Items 

Amount in 

Foreign 

Currency (1) 

Prevaili

ng 

Exchan

ge Rate 

(2) 

Amount 

In local 

 Currency 

  Ps. 

ASSETS       

CURRENT ASSETS    

Other Assets 20,352,056 18.549 377,510,288 

Other Receivables 6,266,919 18.549 116,245,080 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 23,422,460 18.549 434,463,221 

Total Current Assets 50,041,435  928,218,589 

Total Assets 50,041,435  928,218,589 

LIABILITIES    

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Bank and Financial Debt 591,389,689 18.649 11,028,826,318 

Total Non-Current Liabilities 591,389,689 18.649 11,028,826,318 

CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Bank and Financial Debt 148,811,973 18.649 2,775,194,489 

Total Current Liabilities 148,811,973  2,775,194,489 

Total Liabilities 740,201,662  13,804,020,807 

 
(1) US Dollars. 
(2) Bid/offered exchange rates, as appropriate.  

 

4.13 – Maturities of Investments, Receivables and Liabilities 

 

The following table shows the classification of investments, receivables and liabilities as of December 31, 2017 in 

the following categories: 

 
 

Investments  

(1) 
 

Other Assets 

(2) 

 

Receivables 

 

 

Other Liabilities  

(3) 

 

Bank and 

Financial Debt 

(4) 

 In Ps. 

          

Without any established term  102,060,730  -  1,834  -  - 

Due          

Within three months 335,069,137  179,970,745  1,528,474,652  29,475,052  2,775,194,489 

More than three months and up 
to six months -  197,539,543  -  -  - 

Between one and two years  -  -  -  -  11,028,826,318 

Total with upcoming 

maturity 335,069,137  377,510,288  1,528,474,652  29,475,052  13,804,020,807 

Total 437,129,867  377,510,288  1,528,476,486  29,475,052  13,804,020,807 

  
(1) Includes USD 21.9 million, the remaining balance is denominated in Argentine pesos of the total amount Ps. 335 million accrues interest at a fixed rate, the 

remaining balance accrues interest at a variable rate. Included in the item “Cash and Cash Equivalents.” 
(2)  Includes USD 20.4 million which does not accrue any interest. 
(3) Does not accrue any interest. Includes taxes payable, trade and other payables. 
(4) Includes USD 750 million which accrues interest at a variable rate. 
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4.14  Changes in Allowances 

 

Items  

Balances as of 

May 1, 2017  Increases  Decreases  

Balances as 

of 

December 

31, 2017   

           
Deducted from Assets           

           
Valuation Allowance  -  3,647,496 (1) -  3,647,496   

Valuation Allowance for Tax 

on Assets  1,246,405  -  (1,246,405)     (1) -       

           
Total  1,246,405  3,647,496  (1,246,405)    3,647,496   

(1)  Charged to Income Tax and Tax on Assets in the parent company only statement of comprehensive income.  
 

 

NOTE 5 – BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

 

The following table shows the breakdown of the Company’s balances with its related parties as of December 31, 

2017. 

 
Company  Item  December 31, 2017   

       
Subsidiaries       

       
Cablevisión  Dividends Receivable 

 
1,400,279,124   

       

Other Related Parties 

 

 

 

 

 

 

       
Grupo Clarín  Other Current Receivables 

 
1,834   

       
 

The following table details the transactions carried out by the Company with related parties for the irregular eight-

month fiscal year ended December 31, 2017: 

 

Company  Item  

Irregular 

eight-month 

fiscal year 

ended 

12.31.2017   

       
Subsidiaries       
       
Cablevisión  Management fees 

 
60,800,000   

  Interest Expense 
 

(12,348,903)   

       
Other Related Parties 

  

 

 

 

 

       
Grupo Clarín  Fees for services 

 
(26,848,503)   

Gestión Compartida 
 

Fees for services 
 

(1,385,000) 
 

 

 

The fees paid to the Board of Directors and the Upper Management of the Company for the irregular eight-month fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2017 amounted to approximately Ps. 2 million. 

 

 
NOTE 6 – ACQUISITION OF COMPANIES AND CORPORATE REORGANIZATION PROCESSES 

 

b) On March 31, 2017, Cablevisión's Board of Directors approved the Pre-Merger Commitment executed among 

Cablevisión, Nextel, Greenmax Telecommunications S.A.U., WX Telecommunications S.A.U., Gridley 

Investments S.A., Trixco S.A., Fibercomm S.A., Netizen S.A, Eritown Corporation Argentina S.A., Skyonline 
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de Argentina S.A., Infotel Argentina S.A., Nextwave Argentina S.A. and Callbi S.A., whereby, as of the 

merger date, Cablevisión, in its capacity as absorbing company, will continue with the operations of Nextel, 

Greenmax Telecommunications S.A.U., WX Telecommunications S.A.U., Gridley Investments S.A., Trixco 

S.A., Fibercomm S.A., Netizen S.A, Eritown Corporation Argentina S.A., Skyonline de Argentina S.A., 

Infotel Argentina S.A., Nextwave Argentina S.A. and Callbi S.A. (the “Absorbed Companies”) thus generating 

the corresponding operating, accounting and tax effects. That merger was approved by the shareholders of 

Cablevisión at the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting held on May 17, 2017. On July 11, 2017, the public 

deed related to the merger was issued. 

  

On September 18, 2017, the ENACOM authorized, under Resolution No. 2017-1734 APN ENACOM# MM, 

the transfer of the registrations, numbering and sign-posting resources, authorizations and frequency use 

permits granted to Nextel, Trixco S.A., Callbi S.A., Infotel Argentina S.A., Skyonline de Argentina S.A., 

Netizen S.A. and Eritown Corporation Argentina S.A. in favor of Cablevisión. 

 

As a result of the above-mentioned corporate reorganization process, the Absorbed Companies were dissolved 

without liquidation and Cablevisión assumed all the activities, receivables, property and all the rights and 

obligations of the above-mentioned companies, existing as of the first day of October 2017 (“Effective Date of 

the Merger”), or any that may exist or arise due to previous or subsequent acts or activities. 

 

On December 1, 2017, the CNV issued Resolution RESFC-2017-19134-APN-DIR#CNV, whereby it granted 

the administrative approval of the above-mentioned merger and the File is currently pending before the Public 

Registry of Commerce of the City of Buenos Aires for the issuance of the certification stamps concerning the 

dissolution of the Absorbed Companies and the merger of Cablevisión.   

 

On February 23, 2018, the merger was registered with the IGJ under No. 3,469, Book 88, Volume - Stock 

Companies. 

 

c) On August 16, 2016, the Board of Directors of Cablevisión approved the Pre-Merger Commitment executed 

between Cablevisión, Copetonas Video Cable S.A., Dorrego Televisión S.A., Fintelco S.A., Indio Rico Cable 

Color S.A., Primera Red Interactiva de Medios Argentinos (PRIMA) S.A. (“Prima”), Cable Video Sur S.A., 

Wolves Televisión S.A. and Tres Arroyos Televisora Color S.A., whereby, on the effective date of the merger 

-October 1, 2016- (“Effective Date of the Merger”), Cablevisión, as absorbing company, continued with the 

operations of Copetonas Video Cable S.A., Dorrego Televisión S.A., Fintelco S.A., Indio Rico Cable Color 

S.A., Prima, Cable Video Sur S.A., Wolves Televisión S.A. and Tres Arroyos Televisora Color S.A. (the 

“Absorbed Companies”), thus generating the corresponding operating, accounting and tax effects. As a result 

of the above-mentioned corporate reorganization process, the Absorbed Companies were dissolved without 

liquidation. That merger was approved by the shareholders of Cablevisión at the Extraordinary Shareholders’ 

Meeting held on September 27, 2016, and on April 20, 2017 it was registered with the Public Registry of 

Commerce. 

 

In addition, at Cablevisión’s Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting held on September 27, 2016, the 

shareholders also unanimously approved: (i) the amendment of Article Three of the Bylaws in order to 

conform the core business of Cablevisión to the new regulatory framework under Laws Nos. 27,078 and 

26,522, and (ii) the amendment of Articles Nine and Ten of the Bylaws in order to eliminate the Executive 

Committee. Both amendments of the Bylaws were registered with the Public Registry of Commerce. 

 

In view of the above, Cablevisión made a filing with the ENACOM in order to inform that Agency of the 

corporate reorganization to be implemented, so that it would consequently register under the name of the 

absorbing company, the “Area Authorizations” required to exploit Cable Television Services corresponding to 

Copetonas Video Cable S.A., Dorrego Televisión S.A., Indio Rico Cable Color S.A., Cable Video Sur S.A., 

and Tres Arroyos Televisora Color S.A. The license for Wolves Televisión S.A. was abandoned because 

Cablevisión already has an Area Authorization in the jurisdiction where Wolves Televisión S.A. exploited the 

cable television service.  
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In addition, Prima and Cablevisión made a filing with the ENACOM in order to request that Agency to register 

the license that had been granted to Prima in favor of Cablevisión as a consequence of the corporate 

reorganization process. On August 25, 2017, the ENACOM authorized, under Resolution No. 2017-339 APN 

ENACOM# MM, the transfer of the registration of national and international long-distance telephony services, 

as well as the numbering and sign-posting resources, radioelectric frequencies and authorizations granted to 

Prima in favor of Cablevisión. 

 

d) On December 22, 2016, Adesol S.A., a subsidiary of Cablevisión, entered into a call option agreement (the 

“Call Option Agreement”) with the majority shareholder of the special purpose entities (see Note 2.4.1 to the 

consolidated financial statements), whereby, Adesol has the right to exercise, until December 31, 2021, the 

irrevocable call option on the shares of those companies (the “Call Option”). If it exercises the Call Option, the 

purchase price has been preliminarily established in the amount of Ps. 127,600,002, subject to adjustment in 

case certain circumstances provided under the Call Option Agreement occur. 

 

In addition to the execution of the Call Option Agreement, Adesol S.A. paid to the grantor an option premium 

under the Call Option in the amount of Ps. 44,660,000. If Adesol S.A. does not exercise the Call Option, the 

seller shall irrevocably retain the amount paid by Adesol S.A., and the agreement will be terminated.   

 

If it exercises the Call Option, the assignment, sale and transfer of the shares in favor of Adesol S.A. shall be 

subject, as condition precedent, to the approval by the Communication Services Regulatory Agency of the 

Republic of Uruguay. 

 

On December 28, 2017, the parties executed an amendment to the Option Agreement and the Seller sent a 

notice to Adesol S.A., whereby: (i) the Call Option Period was extended for two additional years, thus the 

expiration date is now December 31, 2023; (ii) the Purchase Price of the Shares was set precisely and 

definitively at five million eleven thousand seven hundred forty-seven US dollars (USD 5,011,747) and forty-

four million, six hundred sixty thousand Argentine pesos (Ps. 44,660,000); (iii) Adesol S.A. undertook to pay, 

within ten (10) business days as from December 30, 2017, a Supplement to the Option Premium in the amount 

of USD 4,500,000; and (iv) in the event that Adesol S.A. has paid the Seller the Supplement to the Option 

Premium and Adesol S.A. does not exercise the Call Option within the Call Option Period, the Seller 

undertakes to return to Adesol S.A., within ten business days as from the expiration of the Call Option Period, 

the amount of USD 2,500,000 received as partial payment of the Supplement to the Call Option Premium. In 

view of the above, on January 16, 2018, Adesol S.A. paid to the Seller the Supplement to the Call Option 

Premium. 

 

e) On June 30, 2017, the Boards of Directors of Telecom Argentina S.A. and Cablevisión S.A., respectively 

approved a pre-merger commitment whereby Telecom Argentina S.A., a company organized and existing 

under the laws of Argentina with shares currently listed in the stock markets of New York and Buenos Aires 

(NYSE: TEO, BCBA: TECO2), in its capacity as absorbing company, absorbed Cablevisión, which was 

dissolved without liquidation as of the effective date of the merger, pursuant to the provisions of Sections 82 

and 83 of the General Associations Law No. 19,550 (the "Merger").   

 

The purpose of the Merger is for Telecom Argentina S.A., in its capacity as merged company (“Merged 

Company”), to offer in an efficient manner, in line with the national and international trend, technological 

products for media and telecommunications that converge the different separate or independent modalities in 

which voice, data, sound and video transmission wired and wireless services are provided, into a single product 

or a series of products to be provided to users as a whole for the benefit of the users and consumers of those 

multiple individual services. Both companies understood that their respective operating and technical structures 

were highly complementary and could be optimized through a structural consolidation, achieving synergies and 

efficiencies in the development of convergence products along with the demand of the market. 

 

The effective date of the Merger (the “Effective Date of the Merger”) was established as from 0.00 hours of the 

day on which the Chairmen of the Boards of Directors of Telecom Argentina S.A. and Cablevisión signed the 

minutes regarding the transfer of operations, stating that: (i)Telecom Argentina S.A. had adjusted its technical-

operative systems to undertake the operations and activities of Cablevisión S.A.; and (ii) the transfer of the 
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operations and activities of Cablevisión to Telecom Argentina S.A. took effect on that Effective Date of the 

Merger because every and each of the following conditions precedent to which the Merger was subject had 

been fulfilled: 1) execution of the final merger agreement; and 2) authorization of the operation by ENACOM. 

 

On January 1, 2018, since the conditions precedent to which the Merger was subject had been fulfilled, the 

Chairmen of the Boards of Directors of both companies signed the minutes regarding the transfer of operations, 

marking the occurrence of the Effective Date of the Merger. 

 

As from the above-mentioned Effective Date of the Merger, (i) all the assets and liabilities, including the assets 

subject to registration, licenses, rights and obligations that belong to Cablevisión S.A. will be deemed to have 

been incorporated to the equity of Telecom Argentina S.A., (ii) Telecom Argentina S.A. continues with the 

operations of Cablevisión S.A., thus generating the corresponding operating, accounting and tax effects, (iii) 

the management and representation of Cablevisión S.A. was taken over by the management and representatives 

of Telecom Argentina S.A. 

 

Pursuant to Section 83, subsection c) of the Argentine General Associations Law No. 19,550, the parties have 

set the following exchange ratio: 1 common share of Cablevisión S.A. (either a Class A Share of Cablevisión 

S.A. or a Class B Share of Cablevisión) for each 9,871.07005 new shares of Telecom Argentina S.A. (the 

“Exchange Ratio”). This Exchange Ratio was deemed reasonable, from a financial standpoint, by the 

independent professional appraiser Lion Tree Advisors LLC. 

 

On June 30, 2017, the Boards of Directors of Telecom Argentina S.A. and Cablevisión S.A., respectively, 

decided to call an Ordinary and Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting in the case of Telecom Argentina S.A., 

and an Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting in the case of Cablevisión S.A., to be held on August 31, 2017 to 

consider the pre-merger commitment and, with regard to Cablevisión, its consequent dissolution and with 

regard to Telecom Argentina S.A., the amendment of the Bylaws and the increase of its capital stock. 

 

On August 31, 2017, the shareholders of Telecom Argentina and Cablevisión held their respective 

Shareholders’ Meetings and, after making the publications required by law- since no oppositions to the above-

mentioned corporate reorganization process were filed-, on October 31, 2017, they executed the final Merger 

Agreement which was cast onto Public Deed No. 2,142, transcribed to page No. 12,398 of Notarial Record 

Book No. 15 of Capital Federal (“Final Merger Agreement”.) 

 

Pursuant to the Pre-Merger Commitment and the Final Merger Commitment, on September 6, 2017, Telecom 

Argentina S.A. and Cablevisión made a joint filing with the ENACOM in order to request the authorization of 

the change of control, transfer of registrations and spectrum held by Cablevisión S.A. Consequently, after 

filing all the requested documentation, on December 22, 2017, Telecom Argentina S.A. and Cablevisión S.A. 

were served with ENACOM Resolution No. 5,644-E/2017, whereby that agency decided, among other things, 

to authorize Cablevisión S.A. to transfer in favor of Telecom Argentina: (i) the Registration of physical and/or 

radio electric link broadcasting services, including permits/frequencies required to provide radio electric link 

subscription broadcasting services, as well as area authorizations to provide those services (via physical and 

radio electric link), which may operate in Area II, as defined under Decree No. 1,461/93, as amended, and the 

city of Rosario, Province of Santa Fe, and the city of Córdoba, Province of Córdoba, as from January 1, 2018, 

as provided under Article 5 of National Decree No. 1,340/2016, and in the rest of the areas authorized, on the 

dates and in the modalities provided under ENACOM Resolution No. 5,641/2017 dated December 20, 2017; 

(ii) the Registration of the Radio Electric Trunking Service (SRCE); and (iii) the authorizations and frequency 

use permits and allocations of numbering and sign-posting resources to provide the above-mentioned services 

held by Cablevisión, pursuant to effective regulations (Annex IV of Decree No. 764/2000), and the agreement 

executed by Nextel on April 12, 2017 (IF-2017-08818737-APN-ENACOM#MCO), whereby Telecom 

Argentina S.A., in its capacity as absorbing company of Cablevisión, shall within a term of two years as from 

the date the merger is approved by the National Antitrust Commission and the ENACOM or by any agency 

that may substitute them in the future, return the radio electric spectrum that exceeds the limit set under Section 

5 of Resolution No. 171-E/17 issued by the Ministry of Communications and/or any regulation that may 

replace it in the future. To that effect, Telecom Argentina shall file with the ENACOM, no later than one year 

prior to the expiration of the two-year term, a proposal to conform to that limit. The ENACOM may accept the 
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proposal, reject it and/or request a new filing with any changes it may deem appropriate. In addition, through 

that Resolution, the ENACOM authorized the change of corporate control (as defined under Article 33 of the 

General Companies Law No. 19,550) of Telecom Argentina that will occur once the merger becomes effective 

and the shareholders agreement dated July 7, 2017 enters into effect, as a result of which Cablevisión Holding 

S.A. would become the controlling company of Telecom Argentina S.A. as surviving company of Cablevisión. 

 
In connection with the above-mentioned transaction, on July 7, 2017, the Company, together with VLG 

Argentina LLC (“VLG”), Fintech Media LLC, Fintech Advisory Inc., GC Dominio S.A. and Fintech Telecom 

LLC executed a shareholders’ agreement that governs the exercise of the rights of the shareholders of Telecom 

Argentina S.A. (the “Agreement”) once the merger process between Telecom Argentina S.A. and Cablevisión 

S.A. is concluded and has become effective. Under such Agreement, the parties have provided for:  

 

 the representation in the corporate bodies establishing that, subject to the fulfillment of certain conditions 

established therein and provided Cablevisión Holding S.A. complies with certain minimum participation 

requirements in the Merged Company, it may appoint the majority of the members of the Board of 

Directors, the Executive Committee, the Audit Committee and the Supervisory Committee; and 

  

 a scheme of special majority requirements for the approval by the Board of Directors and/or the 

Shareholders, as applicable, of certain issues, such as: i) the Business Plan and the Annual Budget of the 

Merged Company, ii) the amendment of the bylaws, iii) the change of external auditors, iv) the creation of 

committees of the Board of Directors, v) the hiring of Key Employees, as defined in the Agreement, vi) the 

merger or consolidation of Telecom or any Controlled Company, vii) acquisitions of certain assets, viii) 

sales of certain assets, ix) increases of capital stock, x) incurring indebtedness above certain limits, xi) 

capital investments in infrastructure, plant and equipment above certain amounts, xii) related party 

transactions, xiii) contracts that impose restrictions on the distribution of dividends, xiv) new lines of 

business or the discontinuation of existing ones, and xv) actions to be taken in insolvency situations, 

among others. 

 

In addition, pursuant to the Agreement, (a) Fintech Telecom LLC and Cablevisión Holding (i) will each 

contribute certain shares of Telecom to a voting trust (the “Voting Trust”) which, once the shares in Telecom 

Argentina held by Cablevisión Holding are incorporated, will exceed fifty percent (50%) of the outstanding 

shares after the merger becomes effective, and (ii) will each appoint a co-trustee who will vote the shares 

pursuant to the terms of the voting trust to be executed by certain parties of the Agreement. The shares under 

the Voting Trust shall be voted as per the instructions of the co-trustee appointed by Cablevisión Holding, 

except in the case of certain issues subject to veto under the Agreement, in which case the co-trustee of Fintech 

Telecom LLC will determine the vote with respect to the post-Merger shares under the Voting Trust, and (b) 

subject to the fulfillment by Cablevisión Holding and Fintech Telecom LLC of certain ownership thresholds 

regarding the shares of Telecom Argentina S.A., Cablevisión Holding will be entitled to appoint the general 

manager and other key employees of Telecom Argentina S.A. and Fintech Telecom LLC will be entitled to 

appoint the chief financial officer and the internal auditor. 

 

On the same date, Cablevisión Holding S.A. accepted an offer for an irrevocable call option granted by Fintech 

Advisory Inc. and its subsidiaries Fintech Telecom LLC and Fintech Media LLC for the acquisition of an 

equity interest of 13.51% in Telecom Argentina (which represents approximately 6% of Telecom Argentina’s 

capital stock once the Merger becomes effective) for USD 634,275,282 (the “Option”). The maximum term to 

exercise the Option is one year as from July 7, 2017. Cablevisión Holding had to pay to Fintech Advisory Inc., 

within a term of thirty days as from July 7, 2017, an option premium of USD 3,000,000, which was settled on 

July 2017. 

 

On October 5, 2017, the Company made a prepayment of the aggregate exercise price under the Option for 

USD 634,275,282. Within the framework of the clauses established under the Option, once the prepayment had 

been made, Cablevisión Holding could only receive in consideration of said prepayment an equity interest 

equivalent to 13.51% in Telecom Argentina, even if Cablevisión Holding did not exercise the Option prior to 

its expiration date. The only thing pending was the election of the company through which the above-
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mentioned interest in Telecom Argentina would be acquired. As guarantee for the above-mentioned 

prepayment, Fintech Media LLC pledged in favor of the Company a 21.55% interest in VLG. 

 

On December 27, 2017, the Company exercised the Option. As a result, it decided to receive an additional 

equity interest in VLG of 21.55% (which represents an indirect interest of approximately 6% in Telecom’s 

capital stock once the Merger becomes effective). In addition, within the framework of the option agreement, 

its price was finally established at USD 628,008,363. As a result of exercising said option, Fintech Media LLC 

became the holder of 28.45% of the capital stock of VLG and Cablevisión Holding S.A. became the holder of 

71.55% of the capital stock of VLG.  As of December 31, 2017, the only thing pending was the formal delivery 

of the shares, whereby the Company became the holder for all purposes of 71.55% of VLG’s capital stock. 

 

Within the framework of the merger whereby Telecom Argentina S.A. absorbed Cablevisión S.A., Fintech 

Media LLC and Cablevisión Holding S.A. undertook to carry out certain corporate reorganization processes 

and to separate and split the whole capital stock of VLG between Fintech Media LLC and Cablevisión Holding 

S.A., in proportion to their respective holdings in VLG after the exercise an Option in favor of Cablevisión 

Holding S.A.  

 

In view of the above, VLG started a corporate reorganization process whereby it spun off, in proportion to the 

respective holdings of its shareholders Fintech Media LLC (28.45%) and Cablevisión Holding (71.55%), a 

portion of its equity to create a new company called “VLG Argentina Escindida LLC”, effective as of the 

Effective Date of the Merger. As a result of the above-mentioned spin-off process, Cablevisión Holding 

became the holder of 100% of VLG, which became the holder of 44,059 Class A shares of Cablevisión S.A.; 

and Fintech Media LLC became the holder of 100% of VLG Argentina Escindida LLC, which became the 

holder of 17,522 Class A shares of Cablevisión S.A.; in both cases together with all the rights inherent to those 

shares, including (i) the right to collect the dividends approved by the Board of Directors of Cablevisión S.A. 

on December 18, 2017, which resulted in VLG being entitled to collect Ps. 1,497,194,601 and VLG Argentina 

Escindida LLC being entitled to collect Ps. 595,425,311, and (ii) as a result of the exchange ratio approved by 

the shareholders of Cablevisión S.A. at the Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting held on August 31, 2017, the 

right to receive new shares to be issued by Telecom Argentina S.A. at the Exchange Ratio provided under the 

Pre-Merger Commitment and the Final Merger Agreement, i.e.: VLG received 434,909,475 Class D common, 

book-entry shares with nominal value of Ps. 1 each and entitled to 1 vote per share of Telecom Argentina S.A., 

representing 20.2% of the capital stock of said company, and VLG Argentina Escindida LLC received 

172,960,890 Class A common, book-entry shares with nominal value of Ps. 1 each and entitled to 1 vote per 

share of Telecom Argentina S.A., representing 8.0% of the capital stock of that company. 

 

As a result of the transactions described above, as from January 1, 2018, Cablevisión Holding S.A. became the 

holder of a 39.08% equity interest in Telecom Argentina S.A. after the Merger became effective. 

 

In accordance with the Pre-Merger Commitment and the Final Merger Agreement, on January 1, 2018, 

Telecom Argentina S.A. increased its capital stock in the amount of Ps. 1,184,528,406, through the issuance of 

1,184,528,406 common book-entry shares, with nominal value of ARS 1 each and entitled to one vote per 

share. The shareholders of Cablevisión S.A. received these new shares in exchange for the shares they held of 

that company, in the form of Class “A” or “D” Shares of Telecom Argentina S.A., as applicable, according to 

the Exchange Ratio. 

 

As from January 1, 2018, (i) all the assets and liabilities, including the assets subject to registration, licenses, 

rights and obligations that belong to Cablevisión S.A. are deemed incorporated to the equity of Telecom 

Argentina S.A., (ii) Telecom Argentina S.A. will continue with the operations of Cablevisión S.A., thus 

generating the corresponding operating, accounting and tax effects, (iii) the management and representation of 

Cablevisión S.A. is taken over by the management and representatives of Telecom Argentina S.A., and (iv) 

Cablevisión Holding is the legal controlling company of Telecom Argentina. 

 

Telecom recorded the Merger following the acquisition method, as described under IFRS 3. In the case of 

business combinations executed through an exchange of equity interests, IFRS 3 requires the consideration of 

all relevant facts and circumstances when identifying the acquirer. Pursuant to the terms of the Pre-Merger 
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Commitment, Cablevisión S.A. (the company that is legally absorbed) must be considered the acquirer for 

accounting purposes and Telecom Argentina S.A. (the surviving company) must be considered the acquiree for 

accounting purposes. Therefore, this transaction qualifies as a “reverse acquisition” under IFRS. The grounds 

used to determine that Cablevisión S.A. is to be considered the acquirer for accounting purposes in the Merger 

were the following: 

 

5) Relative voting rights in the surviving company (55% for the shareholders of Cablevisión S.A. before the 

Effective Date of the Merger and 45% for the shareholders of Telecom Argentina S.A. before the Effective 

Date of the Merger, both percentages considered before the Effective Date of the Merger), 

6) the composition of the Board of Directors of the surviving company and other committees (Audit 

Committee, Supervisory Committee and Executive Committee), 

7) The relative fair value allocated to Telecom Argentina S.A. and Cablevisión S.A. and 

8) The composition of the key senior management of the surviving company.  

 

Consequently, the assets and liabilities of Cablevisión S.A. were recognized and measured in the financial 

statements at book value before the Merger, while the identifiable assets and liabilities of Telecom Argentina 

S.A. were recognized at fair value as of the Effective Date of the Merger. The goodwill obtained under the 

acquisition method was measured as the excess of the fair value of the consideration paid over the net fair value 

of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Telecom Argentina S.A. The accumulated results and other balances 

of shareholders’ equity recognized in the financial statements of the combined entity are the sum of the 

respective balances of the individual financial statements of Telecom Argentina S.A. and Cablevisión S.A. 

immediately before the merger. 

 

IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”, in paragraphs 59 through 63, provides that when a significant business 

combination is executed between the closing date of the financial statements and their date of issuance, they 

must include certain disclosures regarding the transaction. The merger by acquisition between Telecom 

Argentina S.A. and Cablevisión that took place on January 1, 2018 qualifies as a business combination under 

IFRS 3. Therefore, the following information is disclosed to comply with said standard. 

  

The figures disclosed below represent the best estimate made by Telecom based on information available to 

date. If the Company obtains new information about the events and circumstances existing on the date of 

acquisition, it will introduce changes reassessing the fair value of the net assets already identified and/or 

identifying any additional assets or liabilitiesduring the measurement period, which will not exceed one year as 

from the date of acquisition as provided under paragraph 45 of IFRS 3. 

 

Due to the fact that the Merger between Telecom Argentina S.A. and Cablevisión was a business combination 

carried out through an exchange of equity interests, the consideration is determined based on the fair value of 

the shares of Telecom as of the effective date of the Merger. The consideration amounted to Ps. 132 Bn, 

calculated based on the market price of the ADR of Telecom Argentina S.A. on the New York Stock Exchange 

(NYSE) on the effective date of the transaction (January 1, 2018.) 

 

Pursuant to IFRS 3, the acquired net identifiable assets were measured at fair value, which estimated value 

amounted to Ps. 74 Bn. Among those net identifiable assets, the following stand out: Property, Plant and 

Equipment, with an estimated fair value of Ps. 63 Bn and Intangible Assets, with an estimated fair value of Ps. 

40 Bn (which include the recognition of the Customer Portfolio for Ps. 10 Bn, Brands for Ps. 9 Bn and Licenses 

for Ps. 21 Bn.) In addition, the Company recognized a deferred income tax liability due to the higher value 

allocated to the net identifiable assets which, added to the book value as of the effective date of the transaction, 

amounted to Ps. 17 Bn.  

 

Telecom recognized a non-controlling interest estimated at Ps. 1 Bn, measuring the net identifiable assets 

pursuant to the equity method. The allocation of the purchase price of the acquired net assets generated a 

goodwill with an estimated value of Ps. 59 Bn. 

 

Goodwill represents the future economic benefits that are not individually identified or recognized separately. It 

represents the excess of the consideration and the non-controlling interest over the fair value of the net 
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identifiable assets acquired under the business combination. Goodwill is not amortized. It shall be tested for 

impairment at least once a year as required under IAS 38. 

 

As a result of the business combination described in the previous paragraphs, as from January 1, 2018, 

Cablevisión Holding S.A. will prepare its consolidated financial statements incorporating the balances and 

transactions that arise from the financial information of Telecom Argentina.   

 

On December 28, 2017, Cablevisión offered to acquire one hundred percent (100%) of the capital stock of Inter 

Radios S.A., an Argentine sociedad anónima, a corporation with limited liability, incorporated under the laws of 

the Argentine Republic, the core business of which is the installation and exploitation of broadcasting services. 

The offer amounted to USD 1,024,166 and was accepted on December 28, 2017. As a result, Cablevisión 

became the owner of one hundred percent (100%) of the capital stock of that company. 

 

f) On October 2, 2017, the Company made a capital contribution in GCSA Equity for approximately USD 23.2 

million, which was used by that company to repay liabilities. In addition, on December 27, 2017, GCSA 

Equity was dissolved. 

 

 

NOTE 7 – REGULATORY FRAMEWORK 

 

7.1. Audiovisual Communication Services Law 

 

Cablevisión is the holder of licenses for the exploitation of subscription television services that were originally 

granted under Law No. 22,285. The COMFER was the enforcement authority established by that law. Under Law 

No. 22,285 subscription television companies in Argentina required a non-exclusive license from the COMFER in 

order to operate. Other approvals were also required, including, for some services, authorization by municipal 

agencies.  

 

The Audiovisual Communication Services Law (Law No. 26,522) was passed and enacted on October 10, 2009, 

with strong criticism about its content and enactment procedure. Even though the new Law became effective on 

October 19, 2009, not all of the implementing regulations provided by the law were issued. That vacuum resulted in 

the continued application of Law No. 22,285 with respect to the matters that had not been regulated. 

 

Law No. 26,522 provided for the replacement of the COMFER by the Audiovisual Communication Services Law 

Federal Enforcement Authority (AFSCA, for its Spanish acronym) as a decentralized and autarchic agency under 

the jurisdiction of the Executive Branch, and vests the new agency with authority to enforce the law. 

 

Through Emergency Decree No. 267/15 (the "Emergency Decree") issued on December 29, 2015, the Executive 

Branch created the ENACOM as a decentralized and autarchic agency under the jurisdiction of the Ministry of 

Communications (currently under the jurisdiction of the Ministry of Modernization.) Among other powers, the 

ENACOM has all the same powers and competences that Law No. 26,522 had vested in AFSCA (See Note 7.3). 

 

7.2. Telecommunication Services 

 

The regulatory framework of the Argentine telecommunications sector is undergoing a process of change. In 

December 2014, the Argentine Congress passed Law No. 27,078, known as the “Digital Argentina Act”, which 

partially repealed National Telecommunications Law No. 19,798. The new law subjects the effectiveness of Decree 

No. 764/00, which deregulated the telecommunications market, to the enactment of four new sets of rules that will 

govern the License, Interconnection, Universal Service and Radio-electric Spectrum regimes. 

 

Law No. 27,078 maintained the single country-wide license scheme and the individual registration of the services to 

be rendered, but replaced the name telecommunication services with Information and Communications Technology 

Services (“TIC Services”, for their Spanish acronym). Notwithstanding this, the scope of the licenses originally 

granted to Cablevisión, its merged companies and/or subsidiaries and related companies that exploited 

telecommunication licenses and their respective registrations of services, remained unaltered. 
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The license was named “Licencia Única Argentina Digital” and allows licensees to render any telecommunication 

services to the public, be they fixed or mobile, wired or wireless, national or international, with or without the 

licensee’s own infrastructure.  

 

The TIC Services registered with the Argentine Secretariat of Communications under the name of Cablevisión, its 

merged companies and/or subsidiaries and related companies that exploit telecommunication licenses are the 

following: Data Transmission, Paging, Videoconference, Community Retransmission, Transport of Broadcast 

Signals, Value-Added, Radio-Electric Trunking, Internet Access, Public Telephony, Local Telephony and National 

and International Long-Distance Telephony. 

 

Law No. 27,078 created a new enforcement and oversight Authority as a decentralized agency under the jurisdiction 

of the Executive Branch, the AFTIC. 

 

Said law also maintained the obligation to contribute 1% of telecommunication service revenues, net of taxes and 

charges, to be used for Universal Service investments (this obligation had been imposed by Decree No. 764/00 on 

all service providers as from January 1, 2001), but the Universal Service Trust Fund was placed under State control. 

Until August 2015, the manager of such trust fund was Banco Itaú Argentina S.A., which received the joinder 

requests filed by Cablevisión and its merged companies and/or subsidiaries and related companies that exploit 

telecommunication licenses to join the Trust Agreement. 

 

The Argentine Secretariat of Communications has yet to decide on the approval of the Project submitted by 

Cablevisión on June 21, 2011, within the framework of SECOM Resolution No. 9/2011 which created the program 

“Infrastructure and Equipment”, whereby telecommunication service providers were allowed to submit projects 

aimed at developing new infrastructure, updating existing infrastructure and/or acquiring equipment for areas 

without coverage or with unmet needs, in order to meet the obligation to make contributions to the Universal 

Service Trust Fund for the amounts accrued as from January 2001 until the entry into force of Decree No. 558/08.  

 

Another innovation of Law No. 27,078 was the creation of a new public service under the name “Public and 

Strategic Infrastructure Access and Use Service for and among Providers”. The right of access included “providers 

having to make available to other providers their network elements, associated facilities or services to render TIC 

services, even when such elements are used to render audiovisual content services.” Under this scheme, the 

government seeks to make private companies that were created and developed in competition share their networks 

with other companies that had not made any investments. 

 

The foregoing applied to any provider that had its own infrastructure or networks, because the term “Associated 

facilities” is defined as physical infrastructures, systems, devices, associated services or other facilities or elements 

associated with a telecommunications network or with TIC Services that enable or support the provision of services 

using that network or service, or that have the potential to do so; and will include, inter alia, buildings or building 

entrances, building wiring, antennas, towers and other supporting constructions, ducts, masts, manholes, and 

cabinets (See Note 7.3.). 

 

As of the date of these parent company only financial statements, Law No. 27,078 has been partially regulated. 

 

7.3. Emergency Decree No. 267/15. Convergence 

 

Emergency Decree No. 267/15, issued on December 29, 2015 and published in the Official Gazette on January 4, 

2016, creates the ENACOM as a decentralized and autarchic agency under the jurisdiction of the Ministry of 

Communications (currently under the jurisdiction of the Ministry of Modernization) and vests the new agency with 

authority to enforce Laws Nos. 26,522 and 27,078, as amended and regulated. The ENACOM has all the same 

powers and competences that had been vested in AFSCA and AFTIC by Laws Nos. 26,522 and 27,078, 

respectively. 

 

Among the main amendments introduced by the Emergency Decree with respect to both laws, the most remarkable 

is the repeal of Section 161 of Law No. 26,522, which set forth the obligation to comply with the limits established 



CABLEVISIÓN HOLDING S.A. 

Registration number with the IGJ: 1,908,463 
 

See our report dated 

 March 8, 2018 

  

PRICE WATERHOUSE & CO. S.R.L. 

 

(Partner) 

 

Carlos Alberto Pedro Di Candia 

 Supervisory Committee 

 

 

C.P.C.E.C.A.B.A. Vol. 1 Fol. 17   

 - 33 -   

 

 

under this law with respect to ownership conditions and number of licenses. Section 45 of Law No. 26,522, which 

establishes the multiple license regime, has been significantly amended. As a result, Cablevisión and the 

subsidiaries that are licensees and/or owners of audiovisual communication services already comply with the new 

regulatory framework.  

 

Under the new regulatory framework, the licenses for physical link and for radio-electric link subscription television 

services held by Cablevisión and its subsidiaries that had been granted under Laws Nos. 22,285 and 26,522 are now 

called “Registrations” for the exploitation of physical link and radio-electric link subscription television services of 

a Licencia Única Argentina Digital. 

 

Pursuant to this amendment (Section 7 of the Emergency Decree, which amends, among others, Section 10 of Law 

No. 27,078), all the services exploited by Cablevisión and some of its subsidiaries and related companies are now 

governed by the Digital Argentina Act. The only license held by the Company that could be considered to be subject 

to the LSCA is the registered title of the signal METRO, since this signal is broadcast through other services that 

acquire it for that purpose, and, therefore, it has a registration number issued by AFSCA which must be renewed on 

an annual basis. 

 

Insofar as Cablevisión and its subsidiaries are concerned, Decree No. 267/15 eliminates:  

 

i) The incompatibility to render in the same location broadcast television services and subscription television 

services. When subscription television services are exploited through physical or radio-electric link, they 

will be subject to the Digital Argentina Act pursuant to Section 7 of the Emergency Decree which amends, 

among others, Section 10 of Law No. 27,078;  

 

ii) The limit of 10 licenses for radio-electric link subscription television services and 24 licenses for physical 

link subscription television services, which are considered to be TIC services as from January 4, 2016, date 

on which the decree became effective; and  

 

iii) The limit that provided that physical link and radio-electric link subscription television services may not 

reach more than 35% of all subscribers.  

 

As far as Cablevisión is concerned, the Emergency Decree repeals Section 15 of Law No. 27,078, which created a 

new public service under the name “Public and Strategic Infrastructure Access and Use Service for and among 

Providers”. The right of access included “providers having to make available to other providers their network 

elements, associated facilities or services to render TIC services, even when such elements were used to render 

audiovisual content services.”  

 

Due to the fact that physical link and radio-electric link subscription television services are now subject to the 

Digital Argentina Act: 

 

i) These services no longer fall within the scope of Section 45 of the LSCA, which sets forth the new 

multiple license regime for Audiovisual Communication Services; 

 

ii) The registration of physical link subscription television services is no longer limited to a specific territorial 

area. The same is not the case with radio-electric link subscription television services because of the 

portion of the spectrum allocated to render these services;  

 

iii) Both registrations, for physical link subscription television services and for radio-electric link subscription 

television services, are no longer subject to expiration terms. However, the portions of the spectrum 

allocated to render radio-electric link subscription television services do have expiration terms. The 

duration of such services shall be the longest of the term provided under their original title, or 10 years as 

from January 1, 2016.  

 

Notwithstanding point iii) above, ENACOM Resolution No. 427/2016 provides that licensees that hold only one 

license to provide a certain type of service and have requested an extension of its term but have not obtained an 
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express decision in this respect must ratify their requests. Accordingly, some of the companies in which Cablevisión 

holds an equity interest made filings to such end. 

 

However, it should be noted that pursuant to Section 21 of the Emergency Decree and until the enactment of a law 

that shall unify the fee regime provided under Laws Nos. 26,522 and 27,078, the physical link and radio-electric 

link subscription television services exploited by Cablevisión and/or its Subsidiaries will continue to be subject only 

to the fee regime provided under Law No. 26,522. Therefore, they shall not be subject to the investment 

contribution or the payment of the Control, Oversight and Verification Fee provided under Sections 22 and 49 of 

Law No. 27,078. 

 

Cablevisión has duly complied with the procedure established under ENACOM Resolution No. 427/16 in order to 

report, using the online application provided by the ENACOM to such end, the territorial location of its services, 

indicating the original coverage area, the supplementary territorial units and/or area extensions in which it currently 

renders services. 

 

Through Resolution No. 1,663/2017, the ENACOM registered under the name of Cablevisión all the area 

authorizations (formerly, under Law No. 22,285, broadcasting licenses) originally granted to Cablevisión and/or the 

companies merged into it to render physical and/or radio-electric link subscription television services and the radio 

electric frequencies allocated to the latter. 

 

In addition, and pursuant to ENACOM Resolution No. 1.394/16, which approves the General Rules for Physical 

Link Subscription Television Services and/or Radio-Electric Link Subscription Television Services, in those cases 

in which Cablevisión and/or any of its Subsidiaries purchased bidding forms to apply for a new license when the 

term had expired or to apply for an area extension, the applicants amended their filings and converted them into a 

request an authorization of coverage area. Since then, several area authorizations have been registered under the 

name of Cablevisión. 

 

The new General Rules also order providers of both types of services to guarantee their compliance with a 

programming grid in each Coverage Area. Cablevisión states that it complies with all the obligations set out under 

that Resolution. 

 

Even though the General Rules approved under ENACOM Resolution No. 1,394/16 were repealed through 

Resolution No. E 697/2017 issued by the Ministry of Modernization, whereby such Ministry approved the new 

General Rules Governing Information and Communications Technology Services Licenses, the programming grid 

required under the repealed General Rules, as amended, is still in effect. 

 

We note that the Emergency Decree set a restriction for a term of two years counted as from January 1, 2016, which 

may be extended for an additional year, whereby providers of the Basic Telephone Service whose licenses were 

granted under the terms of Decree No. 62/90 and paragraphs 1 and 2 of Section 5 of Decree No. 264/98, as well as 

Mobile Telephone Service providers with a license granted pursuant to the list of bidding conditions approved by 

Resolution No. 575/93 of the then Ministry of Economy and Public Works and Services and ratified by Decree No. 

1,461/93, shall only be able to provide subscription broadcasting services by means of physical or radio-electric link 

after the expiration of the restriction. 

 

The Emergency Decree was approved on April 6, 2016 by the Lower House of Congress. Therefore, it has full force 

and effect. 

 

Finally, in order to enhance the convergence of networks and services under conditions of competition, promote the 

deployment of next generation networks and the penetration of broadband Internet access services across the 

national territory, the Executive Branch issued Decree No. 1,340/16 on December 30, 2016. Among other things, 

the Decree: 

 

 Provides for the protection for fifteen years of last mile fixed NGN for broadband Internet services that 

may be deployed by the licensees of TIC services with respect to the rules for open access to broadband 

services. 
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 Orders the issuance of regulations for the following purposes: 

 

o To call for a Public Bid for the allocation of new frequency bands for mobile services. 

 

o To ensure the re-allocation of radio-electric spectrum frequencies with economic compensation 

and shared use to frequencies previously allocated to other services, and to allocate such 

frequencies to providers of TIC Services that request to reuse them to render mobile services or 

fixed wireless services with LTE or higher technologies. 

 

o To allocate radio electric spectrum frequencies on demand, imposing compensation, deployment 

and coverage obligations on the current local or regional providers of TIC services and on the 

current providers of mobile communication services. 

 

 Sets forth that the persons restricted under Decree No. 267/15 from rendering physical or radio-electric link 

subscription television services may request the corresponding registration and begin to provide those 

services in certain areas as from January 1st, 2018. 

 

 Recognizes that the holders of satellite link subscription television service licenses that as of December 29, 

2015 rendered TIC services may maintain the ownership of both services. 

 

 Orders the Ministry of Communications to guarantee the interconnection principles provided under the 

applicable legislation in order to ensure the impartiality, non-discrimination and fair competition among 

providers of mobile services, restricting the possibility of delaying or hindering the technical, 

interconnection, operational or any other conditions that may create barriers for other providers to enter the 

market. 

 

7.4. Matters related to the regulatory situation of Cablevisión and its subsidiaries 

 

7.4.1. Fibertel License 

 

The Ministry of Communications, as the highest government agency, replacing the MINPLAN with respect to this 

specific competence, issued Resolution No. 5/2016, which was notified on February 29, 2016, whereby it revoked 

SECOM Resolution No. 100/2010 for legitimacy reasons. This Resolution, which had been issued by the former 

Secretariat of Communications, had revoked the exclusive telecommunication service license held by Fibertel S.A., 

which was merged into Cablevisión S.A.  

 

 

The ENACOM issued Resolution No. 1,359/16, whereby it authorized the transfer of ownership of the Exclusive 

Telecommunication Service License that had been granted to Fibertel S.A., which was merged into Cablevisión 

S.A. effective as of April 1, 2003. 

 

7.4.2. Cablevisión's Shareholder Structure 

 

Cablevisión has requested the ENACOM to acknowledge the change in its shareholder structure as a result of the 

corporate reorganization carried out by Grupo Clarín. In the understanding that the above-mentioned change has not 

implied a change of control, it does not require that agency's authorization. 

 

7.4.3. NEXTEL 

 

7.4.3.1 Regulatory Approval of the Acquisition of Nextel 

 

On September 24, 2015, the Official Gazette published AFTIC Resolution No. 326/15, whereby that agency ordered 

Nextel to render without effect within a term of 30 days, the sale of a non-majority portion of its shares because it 
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allegedly contravened effective legislation and could be sanctioned with the revocation of its license pursuant to the 

Communications and Information Technology Law.  

 

On October 9, 2015, Grupo Clarín S.A. and Cablevisión filed the corresponding appeals against Resolution No. 

326/2015, arguing that they had standing based on their acquisition of 49% of the licensee and stating that the 

change of control alleged by AFTIC had not occurred. 

 

Nextel requested the suspension of the effects of Resolution No. 326/2015 and also filed an appeal against that 

administrative act. 

 

On January 29, 2016, Cablevisión and Nextel made a filing before the ENACOM as established under Section 8 of 

Decree No. 267/15 which amends Section 13 of Law No. 27,078 in order to request authorization for the change of 

control in full compliance with the new legal framework. 

 

On February 22, 2016, the ENACOM issued Resolution No. 133/2016, whereby it partially admitted the appeals 

that had been filed against AFTIC Resolution No. 326/2015 in order to consider the Company's request for approval 

of the transfer of control. 

 

On March 7, 2016, the ENACOM issued Resolution No. 280/2016, whereby it authorized the change of control of 

NEXTEL in favor of Cablevisión.  

 

On April 12, 2017, the CNDC notified Cablevisión of Resolution No. 293/2017 dated April 10, 2017, whereby the 

CNDC authorized the economic concentration operation consisting of the acquisition by Cablevisión and Televisión 

Dirigida of 100% of the shares of Nextel, which were owned by NII Mercosur Telecom SLU and NII Mercosur 

Móviles S.L.U. 

 

7.4.3.2 Status of the frequencies allocated to Nextel 

 

Through Resolution No. 325/2015, AFTIC decided, abruptly and without prior notice of its decision, to dismiss the 

requests for extensions of certain frequencies allocated to NEXTEL, revoking them in that same act. 

 

On October 9, 2015, Grupo Clarín and Cablevisión filed an appeal against Resolution No. 325/2015 grounding their 

legitimate interest on their acquisition of 49% of the licensee. 

 

NEXTEL first requested the suspension of the effects of Resolution No. 325/2015 and then filed an appeal against 

that administrative act. 

 

The ENACOM issued Resolution No. 134/2016, whereby it decided to grant partially the appeal filed by NEXTEL 

against AFTIC Resolution No. 325/2015. Even though this Resolution did not entail the automatic extension of the 

frequencies involved, the ENACOM ordered the corresponding areas to analyze each file to verify compliance with 

the requirements of the effective regulatory framework to be eligible for obtaining the requested extensions. 

 

The ENACOM issued Resolution No. 281/16, whereby it authorized the extensions for a term of 10 years counted 

as from the original expiration of the authorizations for the use of the frequencies that had been dismissed and 

revoked through Resolution No. 325/2015. 

 

7.4.3.3 Other requests for authorization filed with the ENACOM 

 

On June 22, 2016, NEXTEL made a filing with the ENACOM in order to request authorization for direct and 

indirect share transfers that would imply a direct and/or indirect change of control in favor of NEXTEL, pursuant to 

Section 13 of Law No. 27,078 with respect to the licensees of telecommunication services listed below: 

 

- Fibercomm S.A. 

- Trixco S.A. 

- Callbi S.A. 
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- Infotel S.A. 

- Skyonline de Argentina S.A. 

- Netizen S.A. 

- Eritown Corporation Argentina S.A. 

 

Within the required term, on January 6, 2017, the ENACOM issued Resolution No. 111/2017, which under section 

1 authorizes the share transfers mentioned above. 

 

The filing made on June 22, 2016 also included a request to change the allocation of a portion of the spectrum that 

corresponds to the licensees acquired by the Company in order to render 4G services, which was not addressed in 

ENACOM Resolution No. 111/2017. 

 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, taking into consideration the new regulations provided under Decree No. 1,340/16 

and Resolution No. 171/2017 issued by the Ministry of Communications, Nextel reformulated the original request 

in accordance with the new effective regulations, thus initiating a new administrative file. In this last filing, the 

Company finally requested:  

 

 The beginning of a Refarming process with Economic Compensation as provided under Resolution 

No. 171/2017. 

 

 The authorization of the agreements executed by NEXTEL with the licensees acquired by Cablevisión 

to operate the services registered by NEXTEL with the portion of the spectrum allocated to those 

licensees to render their respective services; 

 

 The approval of the registration requested by NEXTEL of the Advanced Mobile Telecommunications 

Service; and, 

 

 The authorization of the change that would allow that company: 

 

 To change the allocation and channeling on a primary basis of the 905-915 MHz and 950-960 

MHz bands to render advanced mobile communication services at national level with primary 

status; and, 

 

 To enhance the allocation of the frequency bands and change the channeling of the 2500 MHz 

band to the 2690 MHz band to render advanced mobile communication services at national 

level with primary status. 

 

By means of Resolution ENACOM No. 1,033/2017, the ENACOM provided for the use of the frequency bands 

between 905 and 915 MHz and between 950 and 960 MHz for the rendering of the ADVANCED MOBILE 

COMMUNICATIONS SERVICE (“SCMA”), and by means of Resolution ENACOM No. 1,034/2017, the 

ENACOM provided for the use of the frequency band between 2500 and 2690 MHz for the provision of SCMA, in 

addition to the current services when their coexistence is possible. 

 

On March 6, 2017, NEXTEL was served with Resolution No. 1,299/ENACOM/2017, which was published in the 

Official Gazette on March 7, 2017 and approves the project for Refarming with Economic Compensation, filed by 

that Company to provide Advanced Mobile Communication Services in the frequencies that had been subject to 

changes in allocation pursuant to ENACOM Resolutions No. 1,033 and 1,034/2017. 

 

In addition, the ENACOM decided to register Nextel as provider of Advanced Mobile Communication Services in 

the Registry of Services; and to authorize the use of the above-mentioned frequencies.  

 

In the same resolution and as part of the authorization, that agency imposed additional Coverage Obligations on 

Nextel.  
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It also imposes two obligations that must be fulfilled prior to initiating the rendering of Advanced Mobile 

Communication Services: (i) the return of the proposed radio-electric spectrum; and (ii) the creation of a guaranty 

issued in favor of and satisfactory to ENACOM for an amount equal to the value of the radio-electric spectrum that 

is subject to return. 

 

The Resolution also orders that Nextel shall post a performance bond to guarantee the obligations and 

responsibilities undertaken by that company to be issued in favor and to the satisfaction of the ENACOM for the 

amount and under the terms that shall be set forth in the contract to be executed with the ENACOM. That contract 

shall establish, in addition to the economic compensation to be paid by Nextel, the terms, conditions, goals, 

obligations and other matters inherent to the rendering of the Advanced Mobile Communication Services authorized 

by that agency to which Nextel shall be bound 

 

On April 12, 2017, Nextel and the ENACOM executed the agreement referred to in the previous paragraph. On 

April 28, 2017, pursuant to said Agreement, Nextel transferred to that agency the “economic compensation” of Ps. 

478,240,214, established by the ENACOM on April 26, 2017.  

 

Subsequently, in another agreement also executed on April 12, 2017, NEXTEL accepted and expressly consented to 

the authorization granted to the Chairman of the ENACOM to decide on, within a term of 2 years as from the date 

of the agreement, the replacement with economic compensation -to be paid by NEXTEL- of certain channels of the 

2500-2690 MHz frequency bands for frequencies in other bands, as established under Article 7 of ENACOM 

Resolution No. 1,034/2017. 

 

Also, on May 5, 2017, Nextel posted the performance bond provided under the agreement in order to guarantee: (i) 

compliance with the coverage obligations in the localities ordered by ENACOM; and (ii) the return of compromised 

radio spectrum.  

 

Through Resolution No. 3,909-E/2017 published on May 24, 2017, the ENACOM decided to record the agreements 

described in the previous paragraph. 

 

On May 22, 2017, Cablevisión made a filing with the ENACOM in order to request the incorporation of the 

Licencia Única Argentina Digital held by Cablevisión to the records, resources, allocations, permits and 

authorizations held by Nextel, as well as those held by Trixco S.A., Callbi S.A., Infotel S.A., Skyonline de 

Argentina S.A., Netizen S.A., and Eritown Corporation Argentina S.A. as a result of the corporate reorganization 

process whereby Cablevisión will absorb under a merger by acquisition process the above-mentioned licensees 

among which is Nextel, which will be dissolved without liquidation. (See Note 6.a)). 

 

7.4.4. Programming Grid 

 

AFSCA Resolution No. 296/2010, as amended and/or supplemented, provided guidelines for the organization of the 

programming grids that had to be followed by the owners of subscription television audiovisual services. This 

resolution regulated section 65, subsections a) and b) of the LSCA and supplemented the provisions of the 

regulations to the same section of Decree No. 1,225/2010.  

 

In spite of Cablevisión’s efforts to organize its programming grids in accordance with the provisions of section 65 

of Law No. 26,522, AFSCA initiated multiple summary proceedings in connection with the cable television licenses 

of which Cablevisión is the lawful successor. AFSCA contended that Cablevisión had failed to comply with the 

regulations set forth by AFSCA Resolution No. 296/2010. Cablevisión submitted the responses set forth under 

section 1, Exhibit II of AFSCA Resolution No. 224/2010 in connection with such accusations. A decision has been 

rendered on some of the summary proceedings and, as a result, a fine was imposed on Cablevisión, while other 

proceedings are pending resolution. Cablevisión has appealed these decisions. Some of the appeals filed by 

Cablevisión have been decided against it and were appealed. 

 

Insofar as Cablevisión is concerned, as of the date of these financial statements, an injunction issued in re 

“CABLEVISIÓN S.A. v. NATIONAL GOVERNMENT AND OTHERS ON COMPLAINT FOR THE 

PROTECTION OF CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS” by the Federal Court of Appeals of the City of Mar del Plata, 
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whereby that Court revoked the decision rendered in the First Instance, remains in full force and effect. The decision 

rendered in the First Instance had ordered the dismissal of Cablevisión’s request. The Court of Appeals ordered 

AFSCA to suspend – until a final decision was rendered on the matter – the application of the penalties derived 

from the alleged non-compliance with section 65 of Law No. 26,522 and Decree No. 1.225/2010. Therefore, it also 

suspended the application of section 6 of AFSCA Resolution No. 296/2010 on the grounds that Cablevisión’s 

alleged serious non-compliance was not contemplated in the Law or in the Decree. The National Government filed 

an appeal with the Supreme Court against this decision. Such appeal was dismissed. Consequently, AFSCA filed a 

direct appeal with the Supreme Court, which is still pending resolution. 

 

In re “AFSCA v. CABLEVISION SA Decree 1,225/10 – RES. 296/10 on/ Proceeding leading to a declaratory 

judgment” currently pending before the Federal Court of First Instance on Administrative Matters No. 9, on May 

16, 2012 the Court granted an injunction that had been requested by AFSCA, ordering Cablevisión and/or the pay 

television audiovisual services it exploits, to conform to Section 65, subsection 3 b of Decree No. 1,225/2010 and 

Sections 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 of AFSCA Resolution No. 296/2010, until a final judgment is rendered on the merits of the 

case. Cablevisión has appealed such injunction.  

 

On August 6, 2012, Cablevisión was served notice of a decision rendered by the Federal Court of First Instance on 

Administrative Matters No. 9 of the City of Buenos Aires, whereby that court imposed a fine on Cablevisión of Ps. 

20,000 per day for each day of delay in complying with the injunction that ordered Cablevisión to comply with 

Section 65 of Decree No. 1,225/2010 and AFSCA Resolution No. 296/2010. Cablevisión filed an appeal against that 

decision in due time and form. However, the Court of Appeals ignored the strong grounds asserted by Cablevisión; 

partially confirmed the decision rendered in the first instance; and reduced the fine to Ps. 2,000 per day for each day 

of delay, to be calculated as from the date the decision is deemed final. An appeal was filed with the Supreme Court 

of Argentina, which was dismissed by the intervening Chamber. Cablevisión filed an appeal against such decision, 

which was dismissed by the Supreme Court of Argentina. 

 

On October 21, 2013 Cablevisión was served with new charges brought for alleged noncompliance with AFSCA 

Resolution No. 296/2010, clearly violating the preliminary injunction mentioned above. Accordingly, Cablevisión 

filed an appeal, but no decision has been rendered on the matter as of the date of these financial statements. 

 

On December 23, 2013, Cablevisión informed AFSCA of its new programming grid in digital and analogical 

systems, expressly maintaining the reserves brought to continue challenging the legality and constitutionality of 

section 65 of Decree No. 1,225/2010 and AFSCA Resolution No. 296/2010, as amended. 

 

Section 7 of the Emergency Decree which amends, among others, Section 10 of Law No. 27,078 provides that all 

the physical link and radio electric link subscription television services shall be governed by the Digital Argentina 

Act. Therefore, Cablevisión is no longer subject to Section 65 and its implementing regulations.  

 

“As a result of the issuance of Decree No. 267/2015, which excludes the physical link or radio-electric link 

subscription television services from the scope of Law No. 26,522, the claim that had been brought by AFSCA 

against Cablevisión in re “AFSCA v. CABLEVISION-DECREE No. 1,225/10-RESOL 296/10 ON/PROCEEDING 

LEADING TO A DECLARATORY JUDGMENT”, pending before the National Court of First Instance on Federal 

Administrative Matters No. 9, has become moot because Cablevisión is no longer subject to Section 65 of Law No. 

26,522, and is now subject to Law No. 27,078.” 

 

The new General Rules approved by ENACOM Resolution No. 1,394/16 order providers of both types of services 

(physical and radio-electric link) to guarantee their compliance with a programming grid in each Coverage Area. 

Cablevisión states that it complies with all the obligations set out under that Resolution. 

 

By means of Resolution No. 5,160/2017, ENACOM provided that the inclusion of broadcast television signals 

within the coverage area by the holders of a physical link or radio electric link subscription television registration 

shall be subject to the conditions undertaken with the holder of the broadcast television service and its 

retransmission shall be mandatory only if they are delivered by its holders free of charge. In addition, the Resolution 

sets forth that the retransmission of cable news signals shall only be mandatory for 24-hour news signals provided 

that they broadcast live programming during 12 of those 24 hours.  
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7.5. Requests for authorization filed with the ENACOM relating to the merger of Telecom Argentina S.A. 

and Cablevisión S.A. 

 

As a consequence of the corporate reorganization process described under Note 6.d), on September 6, 2017, 

Cablevisión and Telecom Argentina S.A. made a filing with the ENACOM requesting the authorization of: 

 

(i) The transfer and incorporation to the Licencia Única Argentina Digital held by Telecom of the 

registrations, resources, allocations and permits held by Cablevisión.  

(ii) The transfer in favor of Telecom of the authorizations for use and the resources allocated to provide 

the services registered under the name of Cablevisión and/or the companies merged into the latter, and 

(iii) The change of corporate control that will occur in Telecom Argentina S.A. once the above-mentioned 

authorization from the ENACOM has been obtained, the Merger becomes effective and the 

shareholders agreement dated July 7, 2017 enters into effect, which will result in Cablevisión Holding 

S.A. becoming the controlling company of Telecom Argentina S.A. as surviving company of 

Cablevisión. 

 

On December 22, 2017, Telecom Argentina and Cablevisión were served with ENACOM Resolution No. 5,644-

E/2017, whereby that agency decided, among other things, to authorize Cablevisión to transfer in favor of Telecom 

Argentina: (i) the Registration of physical and/or radio electric link subscription broadcasting services, including 

permits/frequencies required to provide radio electric link broadcasting services, as well as area authorizations to 

provide those services (via physical and radio electric link), which may operate in Area II, as defined under Decree 

No. 1,461/93, as amended, and the city of Rosario, Province of Santa Fe, and the city of Córdoba, Province of 

Córdoba, as from January 1, 2018, as provided under Article 5 of National Decree No. 1,340/2016, and in the rest of 

the areas authorized on the dates and in the modalities provided under ENACOM Resolution No. 5,641/2017 dated 

December 20, 2017; (ii) the Registration of the Radio Electric Trunking Service (SRCE); and (iii) the authorizations 

and frequency use permits and allocations of numbering and sign-posting resources to provide the above-mentioned 

services held by Cablevisión, pursuant to effective regulations (Annex IV of Decree No. 764/2000), and the 

agreement executed by NEXTEL COMMUNICATIONS ARGENTINA S.R.L. on April 12, 2017 (IF-2017-

08818737-APN-ENACOM#MCO), whereby Telecom Argentina, in its capacity as absorbing company of 

Cablevisión, shall within a term of two years as from the date the merger is approved by the National Antitrust 

Commission and the ENACOM or by any agency that may substitute them in the future, return the radio electric 

spectrum that exceeds the limit set under Section 5 of Resolution No. 171-E/17 issued by the Ministry of 

Communications and/or any regulation that may replace it in the future. To that effect, Telecom Argentina shall file 

with the ENACOM, no later than one year prior to the expiration of the two-year term, a proposal to conform to that 

limit. The ENACOM may accept the proposal, reject it and/or request a new filing with any changes it may deem 

appropriate. In addition, through that Resolution, the ENACOM authorized the change of corporate control (as 

defined under Article 33 of the General Associations Law No. 19,550), of Telecom Argentina that occurred when 

the merger became effective and the shareholders agreement dated July 7, 2017 entered into effect, as a result of 

which Cablevisión Holding S.A. became the controlling company of Telecom Argentina as surviving company of 

Cablevisión. 

 

7.6. Audiovisual Communications Law of the Republic of Uruguay 

 

Law No. 19,307 was published in the Official Gazette of the Republic of Uruguay on January 14, 2015. This Law 

governs radio, television, and other audiovisual communication services (hereinafter, the “Audiovisual 

Communications Law”). Section 202 of this law provides that the Executive Branch shall issue its implementing 

regulations within a 120-day term, counted as from the day following publication of the Audiovisual 

Communications Law in the Official Gazette. As of the date of these parent company only financial statements, 

only Decree No. 45/015 has been issued, but the implementing regulations for most of the sections of this law are 

still pending. Such Decree provides that the concession for the use and allocation of the radio-electric spectrum for 

non-satellite audiovisual communication services shall be granted for a term of 15 years. 

 

Section 54 of the Audiovisual Communications Law provides that an individual or legal entity cannot be allocated 

the full or partial ownership of more than 6 authorizations or licenses to render television services to subscribers 
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throughout the national territory of Uruguay. Such limit is reduced to 3 if one of the authorizations or licenses 

includes the department of Montevideo. Section 189 of this law provides that in the cases where such limits were 

exceeded as of the entry into force of the Law, the owners of those audiovisual communication services shall 

transfer the necessary authorizations or licenses so as not to exceed the limits mentioned above within a term of 4 

years as from the date of entry into force of the Audiovisual Communications Law. 

 

The subsidiary Adesol S.A. is analyzing the possible impact on its business that could be derived from the change in 

the regulatory framework and the eventual legal actions it may bring to safeguard its rights and those of its 

shareholders. That company is also monitoring the different unconstitutionality claims filed by other companies 

against certain sections of the above-mentioned law to consider whether the decisions to be rendered by the 

Supreme Court in those proceedings may be favorable to the position of Adesol S.A. in the future. On April 7, 2016, 

28 unconstitutionality claims were brought against the above mentioned law. To date, the Supreme Court has issued 

28 decisions, whereby it declared the unconstitutionality of Sections 39 subsection 3, Section 55, 56 subsection 1, 

Section 60 point C, 98 subsection 2°, 117 subsection 2, 143 and 149 subsection 2 of Law No. 19,307. It is 

noteworthy that some of the decisions rendered in this respect by the Supreme Court dismissed the 

unconstitutionality claim filed by the claimant with respect to Section 54 of that Law. 

 

 

NOTE 8 – PROVISIONS AND OTHER CHARGES 

 

8.1. Judicial, administrative and other proceedings 

 

a) As from November 1, 2002 and until December 31, 2017, COMFER, then AFSCA, now ENACOM have 

initiated summary administrative proceedings against Cablevisión and Multicanal (merged into Cablevisión) for 

infringements of regulations relating to programming content. Accordingly, a provision has been set up in this 

regard. 

 

b) The CNDC initiated three legal actions following complaints filed by other cable television companies under 

Law No. 25,156 alleging an improper refusal by Dayco Holdings Ltd. ("Dayco"), a subsidiary of Fintelco group, to 

sell rights to broadcast South American qualifying football matches for the Korea/Japan 2002 World Cup. On 

February 14, 2003, the CNDC served Cablevisión notice of the complaint in one of those legal actions to provide 

 

explanations. 

 

Subsequently, the Technical Coordination Secretary of the Ministry of Economy and Production decided that the 

proceedings related to one of the actions above should be closed. Although Dayco timely submitted the answers 

required and Cablevisión did the same on March 10, 2003, the CNDC 

 

has not made any material decision. 

 

On July 16, 2010, the SCI served notice to Cablevisión and Multicanal of Resolution No. 219/2010 whereby the 

Secretariat of Domestic Trade found that both companies had engaged in market sharing practices in connection 

with the paid-television service in the City of Santa Fe and imposed a fine of Ps. 2,500,000 on each of them. On 

July 26, 2010, both companies appealed the resolution, presenting new arguments in connection with the application 

of statutes of limitation, which had already been alleged prior to the issuance of the appealed resolution. 

 

On June 4, 2012, the Federal Court of Appeals of Rosario partially confirmed SCI Resolution No. 219/2010, 

whereby the Secretariat of Domestic Trade found that Cablevisión and Multicanal had engaged in market sharing 

practices in connection with the paid-television service in the City of Santa Fe and reduced the fine imposed on each 

of the companies involved from Ps. 2.5 million to Ps. 2 million. However, this decision is not yet final, because 

Cablevisión and Multicanal and the Ministry of Economy filed appeals, which are still pending before that Court of 

Appeals. On October 21, 2014, the Argentine Supreme Court dismissed the appeals; therefore, Resolution No. 

219/2010 became final. The case is currently pending with the Court of Appeals of Rosario, which shall order its 

referral to the SCI. The SCI, in turn, shall serve notice to the companies involved in order for them to pay the fine. 
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On March 1, 2011, the SCI served notice to Multicanal and Cablevisión of Resolution No. 19/11 whereby the 

Secretariat of Domestic Trade found that both companies had engaged in market sharing practices in connection 

with the paid-television service in the City of Paraná and imposed a fine of Ps. 2.5 million on each of them. 

Cablevisión filed an appeal in due time and form. This appeal was dismissed by the Federal Court of Appeals of 

Paraná. Therefore, Cablevisión filed an appeal with the Argentine Supreme Court. On November 4, 2011, the 

appeal of SCI Resolution No. 19/11 filed by Cablevisión with the Supreme Court was partially granted by the 

Federal Court of Appeals of Paraná. 

 

On August 30, 2012, the Argentine Supreme Court dismissed the appeal filed by Cablevisión; therefore, Resolution 

No. 19/11 became final. The case is currently pending with the Court of Appeals of Paraná, which shall order its 

referral to the SCI. The SCI, in turn, shall serve notice to the companies involved in order for them to pay the fine. 

 

The ongoing investigations of the CNDC and SCI may lead to the imposition of fines pursuant to Law No. 25,156, 

which would be appealable. The eventual fines would be graduated based on: (i) the loss incurred by the people 

affected by the allegedly prohibited activity; (ii) the benefit obtained by all the people involved in the prohibited 

activity and (iii) the value of the assets involved owned by the people indicated in item (ii) above at the time the 

alleged violation was committed. To date, there is not any standard criterion on the application of the above-

mentioned parameters. 

 

While Cablevisión believes that its conduct and that of Multicanal have always been within the bounds of the 

Argentine Antitrust Law and regulations and that their positions in each of these proceedings are reasonably 

grounded, it can give no assurance that any of these cases will be resolved in its favor. 

 

c) In 2003, ELP Investments filed a criminal complaint in Argentina against certain individuals related to the Hicks 

Muse Tate & Furst Group (“HMTF”), including some who were Directors of Cablevisión. That criminal complaint, 

which was filed by a person that is not a shareholder or creditor of Cablevisión, challenged certain operations 

undertaken by Cablevisión. Although Cablevisión believed that the party filing the complaint was not entitled to do 

so, and that the allegations by ELP Investments were false or wrongly presented, the court handling this case 

ordered searches at Cablevisión's offices, as well as the seizure of certain of Cablevisión's corporate books. On June 

27, 2003, the criminal court appointed an agent to gather information at Cablevisión's offices regarding the case 

within a forty five-day period. On September 16, 2003, this period was extended for forty five additional days. 

Cablevisión and certain Directors of that company each denied the challenges alleged by ELP Investments and 

offered supporting evidence and Cablevisión appealed the court’s appointment of the agent. On October 21, 2003, 

Chamber IV of the Criminal and Correctional Court of Appeals declared the nullity of all the decisions made and 

actions taken by the lower court judges. The litigation, however, continued through the filing of remedies before the 

highest criminal court of appeals (Cámara de Casación) and the Supreme Court of Argentina. The Cámara de 

Casación partially revoked the decision rendered by Chamber IV. The majority of the judges of this court of appeals 

upheld the principles and grounds held by Chamber IV. Notwithstanding the above-mentioned, the Cámara de 

Casación held that the proceedings related to the preliminary injunctions that are still pending should be resolved in 

the first place. It should be noted that, given the share transfers made in 2006, the companies represented by the 

parties involved in the above-mentioned case have ceased to be shareholders of Cablevisión. Cablevisión was never 

a party to the case. On July 3, 2009, Chamber IV of the Criminal Court of Appeals held that the intervention of 

Cablevisión was no longer in effect and, therefore, declared moot the claims that had been brought against that 

intervention. 

 

On May 11, 2010, the Criminal Court of First Instance declared that the legal action had become barred by the 

statute of limitations and permanently acquitted the accused from all the criminal offenses claimed by ELP 

Investments. That decision was appealed by the acting Prosecutor and is now pending before Chamber IV of the 

Criminal and Correctional Court of Appeals. That Chamber suspended the application of the statutes of limitation to 

the criminal action. The suspension is due to the fact that the former claimant ELP Investments brought a new claim 

requesting to be a party to this proceeding. To date, Chamber IV of the Criminal and Correctional Court of Appeals 

has not allowed the former claimant ELP Investments to be a party to this proceeding. ELP Investments filed an 

appeal against this decision, which is still pending. 
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d) The Government of the City of Mar del Plata enacted Ordinance No. 9,163, governing the installation of cable 

television networks. Such ordinance was amended and restated by Ordinance No. 15,981 dated February 26, 2004, 

giving cable companies until December 31, 2007 to adapt their cable networks to the new municipal requirements. 

The ordinance sets forth that in those areas where street lighting has underground wiring, cable television networks 

are to be placed underground. In this sense, the Executive Department of the Municipality of General Pueyrredón 

has submitted to the Municipal Council a proposed ordinance extending the term provided until December 31, 2015. 

The term for legislators to discuss that proposed ordinance within the legislative period in which it was presented 

has expired. Even though the ordinance provides for certain penalties/ fines that may be imposed, the city has not 

imposed such penalties to cable systems that are not in compliance with such ordinance. 

 

e) Multicanal has brought several legal actions requesting the nullification of: i) all the Ordinary Shareholders’ 

Meetings of Supercanal Holding S.A. held from 2000 to date, and ii) the guarantees granted by Supercanal Holding 

S.A. on bank loans exclusively in favor of the group controlling Supercanal Holding S.A. (Grupo Uno S.A. and its 

affiliates). In addition, a claim for the dissolution and liquidation of Supercanal Holding S.A. was brought jointly 

with the action for the removal of all the members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Committee, and 

the dissolution of Supercanal Capital N.V. On March 29, 2000, Supercanal filed for insolvency proceedings before 

the National Court of First Instance on Commercial Matters No. 20, Clerk’s Office No. 40, which was admitted by 

the Court on March 27, 2001. On December 26, 2007, the Court rendered a decision whereby it dismissed the 

claims and approved the settlement proposal. That approval was appealed by the pledgees. On October 30, 2009, the 

Court of Appeals, rendered a decision whereby it revoked the approval of the proposal and requested the debtor to 

provide certain explanations and clarifications about the submitted proposal and to provide guarantee to the 

pledgees on the shares of the original shareholders. Supercanal made a filing stating that it complied with both 

requirements and provided a Ps. 2 million escrow for the pledgees. On March 3, 2011, the Court of First Instance 

approved once again the insolvency proceeding. That decision was once again appealed by the pledgees. On 

December 28, 2011, Chamber A of the Court of Appeals partially revoked the decision rendered by the Court of 

First Instance upholding the approval of the proposal submitted by Supercanal Holding S.A. but ordering that the 

guarantee for the pledgees should be of USD 30 million. 

 

On April 23, 2012, a decision was rendered on one of the claims brought by Multicanal against Supercanal ordering 

the nullification of the decisions made at Supercanal’s Shareholders’ Meeting held on January 25, 2000 in 

considering points 2, 4, 5 and 6 relating to: i) the capital reduction to Ps. 12,000; ii) the cancellation of the shares 

corresponding to the reduced capital; iii) the capital increase to Ps. 83,012,000; iv) the delegation to the Board of 

Directors of the fixing of the term for the subscription and payment of the increase and the cancellation and 

registration of outstanding shares; and v) the amendment of the by-laws in connection with the changes in the 

capital stock in a new shareholders’ meeting. 

 

Such decision was appealed by both parties and the appeal is pending before the Court of Appeals. 

 

Upon the revocation of a preliminary injunction initially granted in favor of Multicanal in re “Multicanal S.A. v/ 

Supercanal Holding S.A. on summary proceedings” for the request for nullification of the Shareholders’ Meeting of 

Supercanal Holding S.A. held on January 25, 2000 at which the shareholders of that company decided to reduce the 

capital stock of Supercanal Holding S.A. to Ps. 12,000 and to subsequently increase the capital stock to Ps. 

83,012,000, Multicanal was served on December 12, 2001 with a claim filed by Supercanal Holding S.A. for 

damages caused by the above-mentioned preliminary injunction which was subsequently revoked. Supercanal 

Holding S.A. alleges that the suspension of the effects of its Shareholders’ Meeting that had been held on January 

25, 2000 caused its insolvency. Multicanal answered the claim denying any liability stating that the claimant’s 

insolvency took place, as per the documentary evidence provided by the very same claimant, before the date of the 

Shareholders’ Meeting, which effects were suspended by the preliminary injunction. On the other hand, the 

suspension of the effects of the Shareholders’ Meeting did not preclude the capitalization of Cablevisión by other 

alternative means. Based on legal and factual precedents of the case, Cablevisión, as successor of Multicanal’s 

operations, believes that the claim filed should be rejected in its entirety, and that the legal costs should be borne by 

the plaintiff. The proceeding is in the discovery stage. The Court of First Instance dismissed Supercanal Holding 

S.A.’s request that it be allowed to sue without paying court fees or costs. This decision has been ratified by the 

Federal Court of Appeals. 
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Cablevisión cannot assure that, as a result of the actions brought, it may obtain a favorable economic or equity 

outcome. Currently and due to the ancillary jurisdiction of the insolvency proceedings of Supercanal Holding S.A. 

all the claims brought are pending before the above-mentioned court. 

 

f) Multicanal, which was merged into Cablevisión, has taken notice of a claim (with which it has not been served as 

of the date of these parent company only financial statements) brought against it by an entity representing 

consumers and alleged financial victims (and by six other individuals). Claimants are Multicanal noteholders -

individuals who are not investment professionals or consumers- who claim to be allegedly affected by Multicanal’s 

APE Since neither Multicanal nor Cablevisión, as successor of Multicanal, has been served with that claim, we 

cannot estimate the impact it will have on Cablevisión. 

 

g) On January 22, 2010, Cablevisión was served notice of CNDC Resolution No. 8/10 issued within the framework 

of file No. 0021390/2010 entitled “Official Investigation of Cable Television Subscriptions (C1321)”. Pursuant to 

this Resolution, Cablevisión, among other companies, was ordered to refrain from conducting collusive practices 

and, particularly, from increasing the price of cable television subscriptions for a term of 60 days, counted as from 

the date compliance with all required notices is certified in the records of the case. As established by that 

Resolution, companies that have already increased the price of the subscriptions shall return to the price applicable 

in November 2009 and maintain such price for the above-mentioned term. 

 

On February 2, 2010, by means of Resolution No. 13/10, the CNDC ordered Cablevisión to refund to its subscribers 

in the March 2012 invoices the amount of any price increase made after the date of CNDC Resolution No. 8/10. 

 

Cablevisión appealed both resolutions in due time and form and their effects were suspended by an injunction 

issued by Chamber No. 2 of the National Court of Appeals on Federal Civil and Commercial Matters at the request 

of Cablevisión. The National Government filed an appeal with the Supreme Court against this decision, and the 

appeal has been dismissed. 

 

On October 4, 2011, Chamber No. 2 of the National Court of Appeals on Federal Civil and Commercial Matters 

granted the appeal filed against both decisions in re “Cablevisión and Other on Appeal against the Decision 

rendered by the National Antitrust Commission” (File 1,473/2010), declaring Resolution No. 8/10 moot and 

nullifying Resolution No. 13/10. 

 

The National Government filed an appeal with the Supreme Court of Argentina against the decision rendered by 

Chamber No. 2, which was granted, but it was dismissed by the Supreme Court of Argentina. 

 

h) The Secretariat of Domestic Trade issued Resolution No. 50/10, whereby it approved certain rules for the sale of 

pay television services. These rules provide that cable television operators must apply a formula to estimate their 

monthly subscription prices. The price arising from the application of the formula was to be informed to the Office 

of Business Loyalty (Dirección de Lealtad Comercial) between March 8 and March 22, 2010. Cable television 

operators must adjust such amount semi-annually and inform the result of such adjustment to said Office.  

 

Even though as of the date of these parent company only financial statements Cablevisión cannot assure the actual 

impact of the application of this formula, given the vagueness of the variables provided by the Resolution to 

calculate the monthly subscription prices, Cablevisión believes that Resolution No. 50/10 is arbitrary and bluntly 

disregards its freedom to contract, which is part of the right to freedom of industry and trade. Therefore, it has filed 

the pertinent administrative claims and has brought the necessary legal actions requesting the suspension of the 

Resolution’s effects and ultimately requesting its nullification. 

 

Even though Cablevisión, like other companies in the industry, has strong constitutional arguments to support its 

position, it cannot be assured that the final outcome of this issue will be favorable. Therefore, Cablevisión may be 

forced to modify the price of its pay television subscription, a situation that could significantly affect the revenues 

of its core business. This situation generates uncertainties about Cablevisión’s business, which could significantly 

affect the recoverability of the Company's relevant assets. Notwithstanding the foregoing, as of the date of these 

parent company only financial statements, in accordance with the decision rendered on August 1, 2011 in re “LA 

CAPITAL CABLE S.A. v/ Ministry of Economy-Secretariat of Domestic Trade”, the Federal Court of Appeals of 
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the City of Mar del Plata has ordered the SCI to suspend the application of Resolution No. 50/10 with respect to all 

cable television licensees represented by the ATVC. Upon being served on the SCI and the Ministry of Economy on 

September 12, 2011, such decision became fully effective and may not be disregarded by the SCI. The National 

Government filed an appeal against the decision rendered by the Federal Court of Appeals of Mar del Plata to have 

the case brought before the Supreme Court. Such appeal was dismissed and so the National Government filed a 

direct appeal with the Supreme Court, which was also dismissed. 

 

On June 1, 2010, the SCI imposed a Ps. 5 million fine on Cablevisión alleging that it had failed to comply with the 

information regime set forth by Resolution No. 50/10, and invoking the Antitrust Law to impose such penalty. The 

fine was appealed and submitted to the National Court of Appeals on Federal Administrative Matters, Chamber No. 

5, which decided to reduce the fine to Ps. 300,000. Cablevisión appealed this decision by filing an extraordinary 

appeal with the Supreme Court of Argentina.  

 

On March 10, 2011 SCI Resolution No. 36/11 was published in the Official Gazette. This Resolution falls within 

the framework of SCI Resolution No. 50/10. Resolution No. 36/11 sets forth the parameters to be applied to the 

services rendered by Cablevisión to its subscribers from January through April 2011. These parameters are as 

follows: 1) the monthly basic subscription price shall be Ps. 109 for that period; 2) the price of other services 

rendered by Cablevisión should remain unchanged as of the date of publication of the resolution; and 3) the 

promotional benefits, existing rebates and/or discounts already granted as of that same date shall be maintained. The 

resolution also provides that Cablevisión shall reimburse users for any amount collected above the price set for that 

period. 

 

Cablevisión believes that Resolution No. 36/10 is illegal and arbitrary, since it is grounded on Resolution No. 50/10, 

which is absolutely null and void. Since the application of Resolution No. 50/10 has been suspended, the application 

of Resolution No. 36/11, which falls within the framework of the former, is also suspended. 

 

The claim filed by Cablevisión seeking the nullification of Resolution No. 50/10 is currently pending before the 

Federal Administrative Court of First Instance No. 7 of the City of Buenos Aires. This claim was dismissed in view 

of the claim pending in the City of Mar del Plata. 

 

Subsequently, the SCI issued Resolutions Nos. 65/11, 92/11, 123/11, 141/11, 10/11, 25/12, 97/12, 161/12, 29/13, 

61/13, 104/13, 1/14, 43/14 and 93/14 pursuant to which the SCI extended the effectiveness of Resolution No. 36/11 

up to and including September 2014, and adjusted the cable television subscription price to Ps. 152. Cablevisión 

believes, however, that given the terms under which the Federal Court of the City of Mar del Plata granted the 

preliminary injunction, that is, ordering the SCI to suspend the application of Resolution No. 50/10 with respect to 

all cable television licensees represented by ATVC (among them, Cablevisión and its subsidiaries), and also given 

the fact that Resolutions No. 36/11, 65/11, 92/11, 123/11, 141/11, 10/11, 25/12, 97/12, 161/12, 29/13, 61/13, 

104/13, 1/14, 43/14 and 93/14 merely apply Resolution No. 50/10, Cablevisión continues to be protected by said 

preliminary injunction, and, therefore, the ordinary course of its business will not be affected. 

 

On April 23, 2013, Cablevisión was served notice of a decision rendered in re “Ombudsman of Buenos Aires v. 

Cablevisión S.A. on Complaint for the protection of constitutional rights Law 16,986 (Motion for Preliminary 

Injunction)” pending before Federal Court No. 2, Civil Clerk’s Office No. 4 of the City of La Plata in connection 

with the price of cable television subscriptions, whereby the court imposed on Cablevisión a cumulative daily fine 

of Ps. 100,000 per day on Cablevisión.  

 

Cablevisión appealed the fine on the grounds that Resolution No. 50/10 issued by Mr. Moreno, as well as its 

extensions and/or amendments were suspended, as mentioned above, by an injunction with respect to Cablevisión 

and its branches and subsidiaries prior to the imposition of the fine; pursuant to the collective injunction issued by 

the Federal Court of the City of Mar del Plata on August 1, 2011 in re “La Capital Cable and Others v. National 

Government and Others on Preliminary Injunction”. That injunction suspended the application of all the criteria set 

by the Secretariat of Domestic Trade under Mr. Guillermo Moreno. 

 

The Federal Court of Appeals of the City of La Plata reduced the fine to Ps. 10,000 per day. Cablevisión filed an 

appeal against that decision in due time and form. On October 16, 2013, the Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal 
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filed by Cablevisión. As of the date of these parent company only financial statements, Cablevisión had settled the 

fine in the amount of Ps. 1,260,000 and compliance was recorded in the file. 

 

On June 11, 2013, Cablevisión was served notice of a resolution rendered in the above-mentioned case; whereby the 

court ordered the appointment of an expert overseer (perito interventor) specialized in economic sciences to: (i) 

verify whether or not the invoices corresponding to the basic cable television subscription issued by Cablevisión to 

subscribers domiciled in the Province of Buenos Aires, are actually prepared at the headquarters located at Gral. 

Hornos 690, and/or at Cablevisión’s branch offices, precisely detailing that process, (ii) identify the individuals 

responsible for that area, (iii) determine whether or not the administrative actions tending towards the effective 

compliance with the injunction issued on that case are underway, and (iv) identify the senior staff of Cablevisión 

that must order the invoice issuance area to prepare the invoices as decided under that injunction. 

 

Cablevisión timely appealed the appointment of said expert on the same grounds stated above. This appeal is also 

pending before the Federal Court of Appeals of the City of La Plata. 

 

For the purposes of enforcing the injunction, the court issued letters rogatory to the competent judge of the City of 

Buenos Aires. Upon the initiation of that proceeding, both the National Court on Federal Administrative Matters 

and the National Court on Federal Civil and Commercial Matters declined jurisdiction to enforce the injunction 

ordered by the Federal Judge of La Plata. Cablevisión has appealed the decision in connection with the lack of 

jurisdiction in due time and form. Chamber 1 of the Federal Court of Appeals on Civil and Commercial Matters 

confirmed the appealed decision. Accordingly, Cablevisión will file an extraordinary appeal in due time and form to 

have the case decided by the Supreme Court of Argentina. 

 

It should be noted that, in the light of the corporate reorganization and at the request of both parties, that company 

requested in the file to suspend the procedural terms for 180 days, which was granted by the judge. Therefore, the 

procedural terms have been suspended until December 11, 2014. Given the decision rendered by the Supreme Court 

of Argentina in re “Municipality of Berazategui v. Cablevisión” mentioned below, the procedural periods remain 

suspended until the Federal Court of Mar del Plata renders a decision thereon. 

 

The file initiated by the Ombudsman before the Federal Court of La Plata, was sent to Mar del Plata, as established 

by the decision rendered in re Municipality of Berazategui v. Cablevisión referred to below, ordering that the 

preliminary injunction be revoked because it contradicts the injunction ordered in the proceeding initiated by 

ATVC. 

 

After the Federal Court of the City of Mar del Plata issued its injunction, several Municipal Offices of Consumer 

Information and several individuals filed claims requesting that Cablevisión comply with Resolution No. 50/10 and 

the subsequent resolutions that extended its effectiveness. In some cases, preliminary injunctions were granted. In 

every case, Cablevisión appealed such preliminary injunctions alleging that Resolution No. 50/10, as amended, 

and/or the subsequent resolutions that extended its effectiveness, had been suspended with respect to Cablevisión, 

its branches and subsidiaries prior to the issuance of such preliminary injunctions. 

 

On September 23, 2014, the Supreme Court of Argentina rendered a decision in re "Municipality of Berazategui v. 

Cablevisión" and ordered that the cases related to these resolutions continue under the jurisdiction of the Federal 

Court of Mar del Plata that had issued the decision on the collective action in favor of ATVC. 

 

Currently, all the claims related to this matter are pending before the Federal Courts of Mar del Plata. The judge has 

not yet ordered discovery proceedings in respect of the main claim, “La Capital Cable v. National Government on 

Ordinary Proceeding”. 

 

Decisions made on the basis of these parent company only financial statements should consider the eventual impact 

that the above-mentioned resolutions might have on Cablevisión and its subsidiaries, and the Company's financial 

statements should be read in light of such uncertainty. 

 

i) On October 28, 2010, Cablevisión was served notice of the National Administration of Domestic Trade’s 

resolutions imposing two fines of Ps. 5 million each, for allegedly failing to observe the typographic character 
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requirements under applicable regulations (Resolution No. 906/98) when informing its subscribers of the increase in 

the price of their cable television subscriptions. Cablevisión appealed the fines on November 12, 2010 because it 

believes it has strong grounds in its favor. However, it cannot assure that the outcome will be favorable. One of the 

files was assigned No. 1,280 and is pending before Chamber No. 1 of the Federal Administrative Court of Appeals, 

and the other one was assigned No. 1,278 and is pending before Chamber No. 5 of the Federal Administrative Court 

of Appeals. 

 

j) On January 13, 2012, the Secretariat of Domestic Trade issued Resolution No. 2/2012 granting Cablevisión 24 

hours to resume service to those subscribers who had duly paid their subscription fee in the amount established by 

the National Government. In its sixth section, the Resolution provides that, if the company does not comply with its 

obligations thereunder, penalties may be imposed as provided by Law No. 20,680. 

 

On February 10, 2012, Cablevisión received a fine of Ps. 1,000,000 for alleged non-compliance with such 

Resolution. Such fine has been appealed but no decision has been rendered on the matter yet. 

 

k) On November 27, 2012 the National Administration of Domestic Trade served Cablevisión with Resolution No. 

308/2012, whereby it imposed a Ps. 5 million fine on that company alleging that it had failed to comply with 

Section No. 4 of the Antitrust Law (increase in the subscription price of cable television services/wrongful 

information provided by Customer Service, which informed by mail SECOM Resolution No. 50 and the 

supplementing resolutions are suspended on grounds of unconstitutionality, when in fact they have been suspended 

by an injunction). On December 11, 2012 Cablevisión appealed Resolution No. 308/2012. The administrative file 

No. S01:0312056/2011 was sent by the National Administration of Domestic Trade to the National Court of 

Appeals on Federal Administrative Matters. It is now pending before Chamber No. 1 in re “Cablevisión SA v. 

DNCI Res. 308/12 and Other” (File 140/13). A decision has not been rendered yet. 

 

Cablevisión and its legal advisors believe that the company has strong arguments in its favor. Nevertheless, 

Cablevisión cannot assure that the fine will be revoked. 

 

l) On April 9, 2013, Cablevisión was served notice of AFIP Resolution No. 45/13 dated April 3, 2013, whereby 

such agency imposed penalties in a summary proceeding against Cablevisión with respect to compliance with 

General Resolution No. 3,260/12. Cablevisión filed an appeal, which has staying effects on the execution of those 

penalties. 

 

m) On May 30, 2013, Pem S.A. was served with a claim in re “TELEVISORA PRIVADA DEL OESTE S.A. v. 

GRUPO CLARÍN S.A. AND OTHERS on ORDINARY” File No. 99078/2011, which is pending before the Federal 

Commercial Court No. 16 of First Instance, Clerk’s Office No. 32. The claim seeks damages resulting from certain 

decisions made with respect to Televisora Privada del Oeste S.A. Cablevisión and Grupo Clarín, among others, are 

defendants in such lawsuit. Cablevisión was served with the claim and filed a response in due time and form. Notice 

of the claim is being served on the other co-defendants. According to Cablevisión’s legal advisors, the chances of 

success of the claim are low because the damages claimed are clearly overstated, the actual damage invoked does 

not exist and the claim is procedurally inappropriate, on both a factual and legal basis. Pem S.A. filed a response 

and the proceeding is now in the discovery stage. In view of the level of conflict that has arisen among the parties 

and the length of time it is taking to reach a solution, Cablevisión cannot ascertain the outcome of this claim. 

 

n) On July 5, 2013, the National Administration of Domestic Trade served notice to Cablevisión of Resolution No. 

134/2013, whereby it imposed a fine of Ps. 500,000 for breach of Section 2 of Resolution ex S.I.C. y M. No. 

789/98, which regulates the Business Loyalty Law No. 22,802. Cablevisión appealed that resolution on July 16, 

2013. The administrative file was sent by the National Administration of Domestic Trade to the National Court of 

Appeals on Federal Administrative Matters. It is now pending before Chamber No. 3 in re “Cablevisión SA v. 

DNCI Res. 134/13 and Other” (File 36044/13). On May 20, 2014, Chamber No. 3 partially granted the appeal filed 

by Cablevisión and reduced the fine to Ps. 300,000 and ordered that each party shall bear its own legal costs. On 

June 9, 2014, Cablevisión filed an appeal with the Argentine Supreme Court. On September 18, 2014, Cablevisión 

was served notice of the extraordinary appeal filed by the National Government and on October 2, 2014 that 

company filed a response. On October 9, 2014, the Chamber dismissed both appeals. 
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On October 08, 2010, the National Administration of Domestic Trade served notice to Cablevisión of Resolution 

No. 697/2010, whereby it imposed a fine of Ps. 500,000 for breach of Section 21 of the Business Loyalty Law No. 

22,802. Cablevisión appealed that resolution on October 26, 2010. The administrative file was sent by the National 

Administration of Domestic Trade to the National Court of Appeals on Federal Administrative Matters. It is now 

pending before Chamber No. 3 in re “Cablevisión SA v. DNCI Res. 697/2010 (File S01:80822/10) and Other” (File 

1,277/2011). On December 29, 2011 the Court of Appeals dismissed the appeal filed by Cablevisión, and imposed 

court costs on Cablevisión. On February 22, 2012, Cablevisión filed an appeal with the Argentine Supreme Court. 

The appeal was dismissed by the Chamber on April 10, 2012. On April 26, 2012, Cablevisión filed an appeal 

against the above-mentioned dismissal. The Supreme Court of Argentina granted the appeal and revoked the 

decision against which Cablevisión had filed the appeal with legal costs to be borne by the National Administration 

of Domestic Trade, and ordered that the case be sent back to the court of first instance for it to render a new decision 

based on the precedent indicated in its ruling. 

 

o) As a result of a report on suspicious activities reported by the Argentine Federal Revenue Service (“AFIP”) 

concerning transactions carried out between Grupo Clarín and some of its subsidiaries, the Financial Information 

Unit pressed criminal charges against Cablevisión and its officers in office in the corresponding fiscal year for 

alleged money laundering in connection with intercompany movements between Cablevisión and certain 

subsidiaries during fiscal period 2008. The action is now pending before Federal Court No. 9, under Dr. Luis 

Rodriguez. 

 

During March 2014, the intervening prosecutor Dr. Miguel Angel Osorio broadened the request for evidence. 

 

Cablevisión and its legal advisors believe that there are strong arguments in the Company's favor, since the 

suspected movements were regular and had been duly recorded, and have gathered evidence that supports the non-

existence of any such illegal maneuvers. However, they cannot assure that the outcome of this action will be 

favorable. 

 

p) Cablevisión, together with its merged companies and ATVC, brought a claim requesting the Judicial Branch, 

through a final decision rendered in a contradictory trial, to declare: 1) that the National Government undertook the 

obligation to provide an alternative solution to the repeal of the regime established under Section 52 of Decree No. 

1,387/01 for companies that render supplementary broadcasting services and cable television services, which shall 

contemplate the reasons for excluding these companies from the repeal of Decree No. 1,387/01 through Decree No. 

746/03, and 2) that while the Government considers the situation of those companies to find such an alternative 

solution, it shall maintain the effectiveness of the regime established under Section 52 of Decree No. 1,387/01 (cfr. 

fs.2/12). 

 

On October 1, 2015, Chamber II of the Court of Appeals on Federal Administrative Matters, in a single joint 

decision in re “AEDBA and other v. National Government - Decree No. 746/03 - AFIP on Incidental Procedure”, 

decided that, among other things, even though ATVC was not among the claimants that had been granted an 

injunction in the other two above-mentioned related cases, the situation was also applicable to the sector 

encompassed by that association, therefore, the decision shall also apply to this association. Under these conditions, 

the claims brought by the claimants shall be admitted - in the joinder of the three claims - and the claimants and the 

companies represented by them are entitled to have a differential VAT regime applicable to the sectors involved 

which shall be created, enforced and regulated by the authorities duly empowered by the Constitution to such end. 

This regime shall guarantee the full exercise of the rights recognized under Section 14 of the National Constitution, 

as well as the maintenance of the exception provided under Section 2 of Decree N° 746/03 from the repeal of 

Section 52 of Decree No. 1,387/01. On December 3, 2015, the Supreme Court of Argentina dismissed the appeal 

filed by the Executive Branch. Therefore, the decision rendered by the Court of Appeals became firm and final. 

 

As a result of the foregoing, Cablevisión and its subsidiaries started to calculate employer’s contributions as tax 

credit on VAT as from September 2015.  

 

q) On April 5, 2017, a subsidiary of the Cablevisión received a notification from the Under-Secretary of State for 

Taxation of the Treasury ("SET") of the Republic of Paraguay, whereby that subsidiary was informed that it had 
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failed to determine the additional IRACIS rate on the accumulated results of the companies merged in 2014. The 

Company's subsidiary considers that it has solid arguments to support its position. 

 

8.2. Re-allocation of Frequencies in Uruguay 

 

The Executive Branch of Uruguay issued Decree No. 73/012, published in the Official Gazette on March 16, 2012, 

whereby it expressly repealed Decree No. 231/011, which had revoked certain signals' broadcast frequencies. 

However, the new decree ratified and repeated – virtually in identical terms - the decree that was being repealed, 

and added certain provisions that caused further detriment to the two affected companies with which a subsidiary of 

Cablevisión has contractual arrangements in place. Consequently, on March 23, 2012 the affected companies filed 

an appeal requesting that Decree No. 73/012 be revoked. The appeal is still pending resolution. 

 

In May 2012, the aforesaid companies brought a legal action with the Court in Administrative Litigation Matters 

requesting the nullification of the resolution and the suspension of its execution. This motion to suspend the 

execution of the challenged resolution was brought as a separate case, and progressed through the corresponding 

instances. The Office of the Attorney General for Administrative Litigation Matters, in its opinion No. 412/013 

advised the Court on Administrative Litigation Matters to grant the motion to suspend the execution of the 

challenged resolution for formal reasons, but the Court dismissed the motion of suspension. Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, as of the date of these financial statements, the governmental authorities have not yet enforced the 

decree. 

 

On September 30, 2014, the Court on Administrative Litigation Matters through its decisions No. 416/2014 and No. 

446/2014 revoked for formal reasons Decrees No. 73/012 and No. 231/011, respectively. 

 

On March 9, 2015, Decree No. 82/015 was published in the Official Gazette, whereby the Executive Branch 1) 

repealed Decree No. 73/012; 2) 16 common stations are awarded to be held in common (the same stations) by 

BERSABEL S.A. and VISION SATELITAL S.A. (companies related to Adesol S.A.) for a term of 15 years: Two 

of the 16 stations are awarded on a secondary basis, which means that they may be exposed to interferences and 

they do not have the right to bring any claim in connection thereto; 3) use of existing stations must cease within 18 

months of their award to mobile service operators; 4) both companies are expressly authorized to increase the 

number of TV signals (stations) included in their respective services making use of digitization techniques; 5) both 

companies shall submit before the Communication Services Regulatory Agency (“URSEC”, for its Spanish 

acronym), within a fixed term of 60 calendar days as from the date of publication of the Decree, a technical plan for 

the migration and release of stations, which plan shall be assessed and approved by such agency (such plan was 

submitted on May 7, 2015); 6) the Bidding Terms governing the bid for frequency bands that were owned by both 

companies shall include an economic compensation mechanism for both companies to cover the expenses incurred 

in adapting their systems to the new stations awarded to them, in the amount of USD 7,000,000. 

 

Even though both companies' request for the annulment of Decree No. 153/012 was granted for formal reasons 

(failure to serve prior notice) by the Court on Administrative Litigation Matters (decision 455 of June 11, 2015), this 

decision does not change prior considerations about the terms of Decree No. 82/015 with respect to both companies 

due to the fact that Decree No. 305/015 (which substituted Decree No. 153/012) confirmed the allocation of 

channels 21 through 36 (512 MHz - 608 MHz) and 38 through 41 (614 MHz - 638 MHz), of 6 MHz each, in the 

UHF band exclusively for rendering accessible, free, digital broadcast television services all over the country, 

except for channels 35 (596-602 MHz), 36 (602-608 MHz) and 38 through 41 (614-638 MHz) only in the 

geographic area for which BERSABEL S.A. and VISION SATELITAL S.A. had received authorization, which will 

be used solely for rendering television services to subscribers through the codified UHF system, as it had been 

previously and expressly stated in Section 5 of Decree No. 82/015 (which repealed and amended the language of 

Section 1 of the above-mentioned Decree No. 153/012). 

 

On January 11, 2018, Decree No. 387/017 dated December 28, 2017 was published in the Official Gazette. Among 

other things, the Decree:  

 

i) provides that all subscription TV services provided through the Codified UHF System in the 512 MHZ - 

698 MHz band shall be migrated to the TDH Satellite system, without it entailing any changes to the original 



CABLEVISIÓN HOLDING S.A. 

Registration number with the IGJ: 1,908,463 
 

See our report dated 

 March 8, 2018 

  

PRICE WATERHOUSE & CO. S.R.L. 

 

(Partner) 

 

Carlos Alberto Pedro Di Candia 

 Supervisory Committee 

 

 

C.P.C.E.C.A.B.A. Vol. 1 Fol. 17   

 - 50 -   

 

 

authorizations to operate or to the rest of the conditions established in the respective licenses. Such 

authorizations shall not undergo any changes in the authorized service areas;  

 

ii) sets a maximum term of 18 months counted as from the date the Decree was published, for the holders of 

subscription TV services licenses that use the UHF codified system to complete the migration to TDH systems. 

Upon expiration of said term, all the concessions for use and allocations to those holders of all the radio electric 

channels in the UHF band, shall cease; 

 

iii) entrusts the URSEC with the evaluation and approval of the technical migration plan that all the holders of 

subscriber TV services licenses that use UHF Codified systems must submit—within a term of 60 calendar days, 

counted as from the date the Decree was published—in connection with the migration from their UHF Codified 

system to the TDH system; and 

 

iv) maintains the effectiveness of the provision which establishes that Decrees Nos. 82/015 and 155/017 for all 

the aspects not expressly contemplated by the new Decree.  

 

On February 9, 2018, BERSABEL S.A. and VISION SATELITAL S.A. filed the plan described under iii), above, 

with the URSEC. 

 

 

 

NOTE 9 – FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

The relevant information about the financial assets and liabilities directly held by the Company is detailed below: 

 

9.1 Financial Risks Management 

 

The Company is a party to transactions involving financial instruments, which entail exposure to market, currency 

and interest rate risks. The management of these risks is based on the particular analysis of each situation, taking 

into account its own estimates and those made by third parties of the evolution of the respective factors.  

 

9.1.1 Capital Risk Management 

 

The Company manages its capital structure seeking to ensure its ability to continue as an ongoing concern, while 

maximizing the return to its shareholders through the optimization of debt and equity balances. 

 

As part of this process, the Company monitors its capital structure through the debt-to-equity ratio, which is equal to 

the quotient of its net debt (Bank and Financial Debt less Cash and Cash Equivalents) divided by shareholders’ 

equity. 

 

The debt-to-equity ratio for the year is as follows: 

 
 December 31, 

2017 
 

   
Loans (i) 13,804,020,807  
Less: Cash and Cash Equivalents (465,529,965)  

Net Debt 13,338,490,842  
   
Equity 7,590,757,133  

   
Debt-to-Equity Ratio 1.76  
   
(i) Long-term and short-term loans, including derivatives and financial guarantee agreements. 

 

The debt-to-equity ratio is reasonable compared to other industry players and considering the particular situation of 

Argentina and of the companies that make up Cablevisión Holding.  
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9.1.2 Categories of Financial Instruments  

 
 December 31, 

2017 

  

Financial Assets    

Loans and Receivables    

Cash and Cash Equivalents 363,469,235   

Other Receivables (1) 1,528,476,486   

Other Assets 377,510,288   

At fair value with an impact on net income    

Cash and Cash Equivalents 102,060,730   

Total Financial Assets 2,371,516,739   

    
 

Financial Liabilities    

At amortized cost    

Bank and Financial Debt 13,804,020,807   

Accounts Payable and Other Payables  29,475,052   

Total Financial Liabilities 13,833,495,859   
(1) Includes receivables with related parties in the amount of Ps. 1,400 million. 

 

 

9.1.3 Objectives of Financial Risk Management 

 

The Company monitors and manages the financial risks related to its operations; these risks include market risk 

(including exchange risk, interest rate risk and equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 

 

The Company does not enter into financial instruments for speculative purposes as common practice. 

 

9.1.4 Exchange Risk Management 

 

The Company enters into foreign currency transactions, therefore, it is exposed to fluctuations of exchange rates.  

 

The Company does not currently enter into foreign exchange hedging transactions to manage foreign currency 

fluctuation risk. In case the Company enters into such transactions, it cannot assure that those operations will protect 

its financial position from the eventual negative effect of exchange rate fluctuations. 

 

The following table shows the monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency (USD) as of 

December 31, 2017: 

 
 USD   

 
December 31, 

2017   

ASSETS     

CURRENT ASSETS    

Other Receivables 6,266,919   

Other Assets 20,352,056   

Cash and Cash Equivalents 23,422,460   

    
Total Current Assets 50,041,435   

Total assets  50,041,435   

    
 
 USD   

 
December 31, 

2017   

LIABILITIES    
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NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Bank and Financial Debt 591,389,689   

    
Total Non-Current Liabilities 591,389,689   

    
CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Bank and Financial Debt 148,811,973   

 
   

Total Current Liabilities 148,811,973   

Total Liabilities 740,201,662   

    

Bid/offered exchange rates as of December 31, 2017 were of Ps. 18,549 and Ps. 18,649; respectively. 

 

9.1.4.1 Foreign Exchange Sensitivity Analysis  

 

The Company is exposed to exchange risk, mainly with respect to the US dollar. 

 

The following table shows the Company’s sensitivity to an increase in the exchange rate of the US dollar. The 

sensitivity rate represents the assessment of the possible reasonable changes in exchange rates. The sensitivity 

analysis only includes the outstanding monetary items denominated in foreign currency and adjusts its translation at 

the end of the year with a 20% increase in the exchange rate, assuming that all the remaining variables remain 

constant. 

 
 Effect in Ps. 

(million) 
  

 December 31, 2017   

Net Income (Loss) (2,575)   

 

The sensitivity analysis presented above is hypothetical since the quantified impact is not necessarily an indicator of 

the actual impact, because exposure levels may vary over time. 

 

9.1.5. Interest Rate Risk Management  

 

As of December 31, 2017, the Company is exposed to the interest rate risk due to the fact that the Company has 

taken a loan at a variable interest rate (see Note 4.9) and that it has not entered into hedge agreements to mitigate 

these risks. If interest rates had eventually been 100 basis points higher and all the variables had remained constant, 

the additional estimated loss before taxes would have been of approximately Ps. 36.5 million as of December 31, 

2017. 

 

9.1.6. Equity Price Risk Management 

 

Cablevisión Holding is exposed to equity price risk in connection with its holdings of mutual funds. 

 

Its sensitivity to the variation in the price of these instruments is detailed below:  

 

 December 31, 

2017 

 

   

Investments valued at quoted prices at closing (Level 1) 30,647,080  

 

The estimated impact of an eventual 10% favorable/unfavorable fluctuation of the quoted price of investments 

valued at closing, assuming that all the other variables remain constant, would generate an income/loss before taxes 

of approximately Ps. 3 million as of December 31, 2017. 

 

A potential 10% favorable/unfavorable fluctuation of the quoted price of investments valued as Level 2 would 

generate an income/loss before taxes of approximately Ps. 7 million as of December 31, 2017. 
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9.1.7. Credit Risk Management 

 

Credit risk is defined as the risk that one of the parties may breach its contractual obligations, generating an eventual 

financial loss for the Company. The Company renders services solely to companies of the same economic group. 

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited due to the fact that the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings 

issued by credit rating agencies. 

 

The following table details the maturities of the Company’s financial assets as from December 31, 2017. The 

amounts disclosed in the table are the undiscounted contractual cash flows. 

 

 December 31, 2017    

     
Without any established term 1,834    

Due     

Within three months(1) 1,708,445,397    

More than three months and up to six months 197,539,543    

 1,905,986,774    

     
(1) Includes receivables with related parties in the amount of Ps. 1,400 million. 

 

 

9.1.8. Liquidity Risk Management 

 

The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for liquidity management. Accordingly, it has established an 

adequate framework to manage liquidity so that it can meet short, medium and long-term financing requirements, as 

well as the Company's liquidity management. The Company manages liquidity risk maintaining an adequate level of 

reserves, financial facilities and loans, monitoring on an ongoing basis projected cash flows against actual cash 

flows and reconciling the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 

 

9.1.9. Interest Rate Risk and Liquidity Risk Table 

 

The following table details the maturities of the Company’s financial liabilities as from December 31, 2017. The 

amounts disclosed in this table represent undiscounted cash flows (principal plus contractual interest): 

 

 
Accounts 

Payable and 

Other Payables   

Bank and Financial 

Debt  

Total as of  

December 31, 2017 

 

        
Without any established term        
        
Due        

Up to three months 29,475,052   2,943,626,785  2,973,101,838  
More than three months and up to six 

months 
-   191,554,639  191,554,639  

 More than six months and up to nine 

months 
-   191,554,639  191,554,639  

In more than nine months and up to 

twelve months 
-   206,167,197  206,167,197  

 More than one and up to two years -   11,424,923,673  11,424,923,673  

 29,475,052   14,957,826,933  14,987,301,986  

 

 

9.1.10. Financial Instruments at Fair Value 
 

The following table shows the Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value as of December 31, 

2017: 
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December 31, 2017 

 

Quoted Prices (Level 1) 

 Other Significant 

Observable Items (Level 

2) 

Assets       

Current Investments  102,060,730  30,647,080  71,413,650 

 

      

 

Financial assets are valued using quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities (Level 1), or the prices of similar 

instruments arising from sources of information available in the market (Level 2). As of December 31, 2017, the 

Company did not have any asset or liability for which a comparison had not been conducted against observable 

market data to determine their fair value (Level 3). 

 

9.1.11. Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

 

The book value of cash and banks, accounts receivable and short-term liabilities is similar to the fair value because 

these are instruments with short-term maturities. 

 

The following table shows the estimated fair value of non-current financial liabilities (amounts stated in thousands 

of Argentine pesos) are the following (in millions of Argentine pesos):  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NOTE 10 - CAPITAL STOCK STRUCTURE 

 

The Company's capital stock as of May 1, 2017, date on which it started operating, was established at Ps. 

180,642,580, represented by: 

 

- 47,753,621 Class A common, registered, non-endorsable shares, with nominal value of Ps. 1 each and 

entitled to 5 votes per share. 

 

- 117,077,867 Class B book-entry common shares, with nominal value of Ps. 1 each and entitled to 1 vote 

per share. 

 

- 15,811,092 Class C common, registered, non-endorsable shares, with nominal value of Ps. 1 each and 

entitled to 1 vote per share. 

 

On March 21, 2017, the Company made a filing with the CNV in order to request admission to the public offering 

regime. On May 29, 2017, Cablevisión Holding requested the BCBA the listing of its Class B common shares.  

 

On August 10, 2017, the CNV approved the prospectus for admission to the public offering regime filed by 

Cablevisión Holding and, consequently, the Company fulfilled the conditions detailed in Resolution No. CNV 

18818. On August 11, 2017, the BCBA notified the Company of its admission to the public offering regime. 

 

Having obtained all of the required regulatory authorizations, on August 30, 2017, Grupo Clarín and Cablevisión 

Holding exchanged their shares pursuant to the exchange ratio approved by Grupo Clarín's shareholders at the time 

of approval of the spin-off process. As a result of the exchange of shares and payment of fractions in cash, the 

Company holds 1,578 treasury shares as of December 31, 2017. 

 

  December 31, 2017  

  Book Value  Fair Value  

      

Bank and Financial Debt  11,029  10,700  
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On September 26, 2017, the Company's Board of Directors approved, pursuant to Section five of the By-Laws, the 

conversion request submitted by the shareholder GS Unidos LLC of 4,028,215 Class C non-endorsable registered 

common shares with nominal value of Ps. 1 each and entitled to 1 vote per share for the same number of Class B 

book-entry common shares with nominal value of Ps. 1 each and entitled to 1 vote per share. Pursuant to the By-

Laws, the Company informed the CNV and the BCBA of the conversion and: (i) on October 5, 2017, the CNV 

authorized, through Resolution No. DI 20178APN-G #CNV, the public transfer from the conversion of 4,028,215 

Class C non-endorsable registered common shares and, (ii) on October 6, 2017, the BCBA informed the Company 

of the transfer of authorization for the listing of 4,028,215 non-endorsable registered common shares with nominal 

value of Ps. 1 each and entitled to 1 vote per share for the same number of Class B book-entry common shares with 

nominal value of Ps. 1 each and entitled to 1 vote per share. 

 

On February 16, 2018, the United Kingdom Listing Authority (“UKLA”) approved the prospectus related to the 

listing of the Company's Class B shares in the form of global depositary shares (GDSs) to be traded on the London 

Stock Exchange. Those GDSs were admitted to the official list of the UKLA on February 21, 2018. 

 

The Company's capital stock as of December 31, 2017 is of Ps. 180,642,580 and is represented by: 

 

- 47,753,621 Class A common, registered, non-endorsable shares, with nominal value of Ps. 1 each and 

entitled to 5 votes per share. 

 

- 121,106,082 Class B book-entry common shares, with nominal value of Ps. 1 each and entitled to 1 vote 

per share. 

 

- 11,782,877 Class C common, registered, non-endorsable shares, with nominal value of Ps. 1 each and 

entitled to 1 vote per share. 

 

 

NOTE 11 - RESERVES, ACCUMULATED INCOME AND DIVIDENDS 

 

1. Cablevisión Holding 

 

The Company’s bylaws set forth that retained earnings shall be appropriated as follows: (i) 5% to the Company's 

legal reserve until such reserve equals 20% of the Company's capital stock; and (ii) the balance, in whole or in part, 

to the payment of the fees of the members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Committee, to dividends 

on common shares, or reserve accounts, or as otherwise determined by the Shareholders, among other situations. 

 

2. Cablevisión 

 

On March 30, 2017, at the Annual General Ordinary and Extraordinary Shareholders’ Meeting of Cablevisión, its 

shareholders decided to appropriate the net income for the year ended December 31, 2016, which amounted to Ps. 

4,045,337,263, as per the following detail: (i) Ps. 1,600,000,000 to the distribution of cash dividends payable to the 

shareholders in proportion to their equity interests in Argentine Pesos or US Dollars, in two installments, the first 

one to be paid within a term of thirty days as from the date of such Shareholders’ Meeting and the second one to be 

paid on December 31, 2017 or earlier, as determined by the Board of Directors, and delegated on the Board of 

Directors the power to establish the time and payment method, (ii) Ps. 200,479,147 to the increase of the Legal 

reserve, and (iii) Ps. 2,244,858,116 to the Optional reserve to maintain Cablevisión’s level of capital expenditures 

and its current solvency level”. As of the date of these parent company only financial statements, Cablevisión paid 

all of the distributed dividends. 

 

On December 18, 2017, the Shareholders of Cablevisión at the General Extraordinary Shareholders' Meeting 

decided: (i) to partially reverse the Optional reserve to maintain the Company’s level of capital expenditures and its 

current solvency level in the amount of Ps. 4,000,000,000 and allocate such amount to increase the “Optional 

reserve for future dividend distribution” which, as a result, will amount to Ps. 4,151,000,000 and (ii) to delegate on 

the Board of Directors the power to reverse, totally or partially, the Optional reserve for future dividend distribution 

and distribute it as dividends in the manner (in cash or cash in periodic installments), amounts, currency, and on the 
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dates to be established by the Board of Directors under the terms of applicable regulations provided that the Board 

of Directors of Telecom Argentina S.A. has previously approved the payment of dividends in advance of the 

Effective Date of the Merger and that the amount Cablevisión's Board of Directors decides to distribute is such that, 

taking into consideration the dividends approved by Telecom Argentina S.A., it will not be necessary to make 

changes to the Exchange Ratio. 

 

On December 18, 2017, the Board of Directors of Cablevisión, pursuant to its delegated powers, approved the 

partial reversal of the Optional reserve for future dividend distribution in the amount of Ps. 4,077,790,056 for the 

distribution of dividends to shareholders in one or more installments within 30 days as from that date, which 

comprises (i) Ps. 77,790,056 which added to the Ps. 800,000,000 already distributed total USD 50,000,000 allowed 

under the Pre-Merger Commitment without making any changes to the Exchange Ratio; and (ii) Ps. 4,000,000,000, 

which equalize the relative proportions taken into consideration at the time the Exchange Ratio was set. 

 

On January 8, 2018, Telecom Argentina S.A., surviving company of Cablevisión, effective as of January 1, 2018, 

settled all of Cablevisión's outstanding dividends owed to its shareholders in the amount of Ps. 4,077,790,056.  

 

3. Telecom Argentina 

 

On January 31, 2018, the shareholders of Telecom Argentina S.A. held a General Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting 

at which they approved the changes in the composition of the Board of Directors and the delegation of the powers 

vested in the Board of Directors to decide on the total or partial reversal of the “Reserve for future cash dividends” 

of Telecom Argentina as of December 31, 2017 and the distribution of the funds so reversed as cash dividends, in 

the amounts and on the dates to be established by the Board of Directors.  

 

On January 31, 2018, the Board of Directors of Telecom Argentina approved: (i) pursuant to the powers delegated 

by the shareholders at the General Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting mentioned above, the reversal of Ps. 

9,729,418,019 of the “Reserve for future cash dividends” of Telecom Argentina as of December 31, 2017, and its 

distribution as cash dividends in two installments, the first one of Ps. 2,863,000,000 on February 15, 2018 and the 

second one of Ps. 6,866,418,019 on April 30, 2018, the Board being empowered to make such payment on an earlier 

date if it deemed it convenient in the future; (ii) the distribution of Ps. 5,640,728,444, paid on February 15, 2018, as 

interim cash dividends, corresponding to the net profit of the period between January 1, 2017 and September 30, 

2017, as reflected in the Special-Purpose Unconsolidated Financial Statements of Telecom Argentina as of 

September 30, 2017; and (iii) the distribution of Ps. 4,502,777,155, paid on February 15, 2018, as distribution of 

interim cash dividends, corresponding to the net profit of the period between January 1, 2017 and September 30, 

2017, as reflected in the Special-Purpose Unconsolidated Financial Statements of Cablevisión S.A.-absorbed by 

Telecom Argentina- as of September 30, 2017, which were audited by external auditors. 

 

On February 15, 2018, Telecom paid dividends for Ps. 13,006,505,599, corresponding to the above-mentioned 

distributions. Of that amount, approximately Ps. 5,083 million belong to the Company on account of its direct and 

indirect interest in Telecom as of that date. 

 

 

NOTE  12 – CNV GENERAL RESOLUTION No. 629/2014 - RECORD KEEPING 

 

On August 14, 2014, the Argentine Securities Commission issued General Resolution No. 629, which provides for 

record keeping regulations. 

 

The Company keeps certain supporting documentation related to the record of its operations and economic-financial 

events at GCGC located at Patagones 2550, City of Buenos Aires, and at the warehouse located at Ruta 36 Km 

31.500, Florencio Varela, of the supplier AdeA - Administración de Archivos S.A., during the periods established 

by effective laws. 

 

NOTE 13 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
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a) Note 6 describes the main events that took place after December 31, 2017 relating to the acquisition of 

companies and corporate reorganization processes. 

 

b) Note 4.9 describes the main events that took place after December 31, 2017 relating to bank and financial 

indebtedness. 

 

c) Note 11 describes the main events that took place after December 31, 2017 related to the distributions of 

dividends. 

 

 

NOTE 14 - APPROVAL OF PARENT COMPANY ONLY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

 

The Board of Directors of Cablevisión Holding has approved these parent company only financial statements and 

authorized their issuance for March 8, 2018. 

 

 



CABLEVISIÓN HOLDING S.A. 

Registration number with the IGJ: 1,908,463 
 

See our report dated 
 March 8, 2018 

  

PRICE WATERHOUSE & CO. S.R.L. 

 

(Partner) 

 

Carlos Alberto Pedro Di Candia 

 Supervisory Committee 

 

Alejandro Alberto Urricelqui 

Chairman 
C.P.C.E.C.A.B.A. Vol. 1 Fol. 17   

 - 58 -  

 

 

 

 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REQUIRED UNDER SECTION No. 12, CHAPTER III, TITLE IV OF THE 

2013 RESTATED RULES ISSUED BY THE ARGENTINE SECURITIES COMMISSION 

  

PARENT COMPANY ONLY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2017 

 

 

1.a) There are no specific material regulatory regimes currently applicable to the Company that may entail the contingent 

loss or acquisition of legal benefits. 

 

1.b) Note 1 to the parent company only financial statements includes additional information about the date on which the 

Company began operating. Note 6.d details the reorganization process between Cablevisión S.A. and Telecom Argentina 

S.A. 

 

2) The classification of receivables and liabilities by maturity is detailed in Note 4.13 to the parent company only 

financial statements. 

 

3) The classification of receivables and liabilities according to their related financial effects is detailed in Note 4.13 to the 

parent company only financial statements. 

 

4) Equity interest under Section 33 of Law No. 19,550 is detailed in Note 4.5 of the parent company only financial 

statements. Accounts receivable from and payable to related parties are disclosed under Note 5 to the parent company 

only financial statements. The following table summarizes the breakdown of such accounts payable and receivable as 

per the above points 2) and 3). 

 

  Receivables (1)  

    

Without any established term  1,834  

Due    

Within three months   1,400,279,124  

    
Total  1,400,280,958  

 

(1) Balances are denominated in local currency and do not accrue any interest. 

 

5) There are no trade receivables or loans to directors, members of the Supervisory Committee and their relatives up to, 

and including, the second degree of kinship and no such trade receivables or loans existed during the fiscal year. 

 

6) The Company does not have any inventories. 

 

7) The Company is not subject to the restrictions under section 31 of Law No. 19,550, since its main corporate purposes 

are investment and finance.  

 

8) The Company assesses the recoverable value of its long-term investments each time it prepares its financial 

statements. In the case of investments for which the Company does not book goodwill with an indefinite useful life, it 

assesses their recoverable value when there is any evidence of impairment. In the case of investments for which the 

Company books goodwill with an indefinite useful life, it assesses their recoverable value by comparing the book 

value with cash flows discounted at the corresponding discount rate, considering the weighted average capital cost, 

and taking into consideration the projected performance of the main operating variables of the respective companies. 

 

9) As of December 31, 2017, the Company does not have any tangible property, plant and equipment. 

 

10.a) Booked provisions for contingencies do not exceed, either individually or as a whole, two percent (2%) of the 

Company's shareholders’ equity. 
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10.b) As of the date of these financial statements, the Company does not have any contingent situations, the financial 

effects of which, if any, have not been booked (see Notes 7 and 8 to the parent company only financial statements). 

 

11) The Company does not have any irrevocable contributions on account of future share subscriptions. 

 

12) The Company does not have any unpaid cumulative dividends on preferred shares 

 

13) In Note 11.1 to the parent company only financial statements reference is made to the treatment given to retained 

earnings. 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

Free translation from the original prepared in Spanish  

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

  

To the Shareholders, President and Directors of  
Cablevisión Holding S.A.  
Legal domicile: Tacuarí 1842, Floor 4°  
Autonomous City of Buenos Aires  
CUIT No 30-71559123-1  
  

Report on the Financial Statements  

  

We have audited the attached parent company only financial statements of Cablevisión 
Holding S.A. (the “Company”) which comprise the parent company only balance sheet at 
December 31, 2017, the parent company only statements of comprehensive income, of 
changes in equity and of cash flows for the irregular eight-month fiscal year beginning May 1, 
2017 and ended December 31, 2017 and a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information.  
  

Board of Directors’ responsibility  

  

The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for the reasonable preparation and 
presentation of the parent company only financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the Argentine Federation of Professional 
Councils in Economic Sciences (FACPCE, for its Spanish acronym) as professional accounting 
standards and incorporated by the Argentine Securities Commission (CNV, for its Spanish 
acronym) into its regulations, as adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB). Further, the Board of Directors is responsible for the existence of adequate internal 
control to prepare the parent company only financial statements free from material 
misstatements due to errors or irregularities.   
  

Auditor’s responsibility  

  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the accompanying parent company only financial 
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs), as adopted in Argentina by the FACPCE through Technical 
Resolutions No. 32 and its respective Adoption Communications. Those standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the parent company only financial statements are free from material 
misstatements. 



 

2 
 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and other 
information disclosed in the parent company only financial statements. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement in the parent company only financial statements due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor must consider internal control relevant to the Company’s 
preparation and reasonable presentation of the parent company only financial statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of significant estimates made by the Company’s management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the parent company only financial statements.  
  
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.  
  

Opinion  

  

In our opinion, the parent company only financial statements mentioned in the first paragraph 
of this report present fairly, in all material respects, the parent company only financial position 
of Cablevisión Holding S.A. as of December 31, 2017, its parent company only comprehensive 
income and parent company only cash flows for the irregular eight-month fiscal year beginning 
May 1, 2017 and ended December 31, 2017, in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.  
 
Emphasis of Matter paragraph  

 
Without qualifying our opinion, we would like to emphasize the information contained in Note 
8.1.h., to the parent company only financial statements, which describes the situation related to 
the resolution issued by the regulator to calculate the monthly fee payable by the users of cable 
television services, whose decisions cannot be foreseen to date. 
   

Report on compliance with current regulations  

  

In accordance with current regulations in respect to Cablevisión Holding S.A., we report that:  
  

a) the parent company only financial statements of Cablevisión Holding S.A. have been 
transcribed to the “Inventory and Balance Sheet” book and comply with the General 
Associations Law and pertinent resolutions of the Argentine Securities Commission, as 
regards those matters within our competence;  
  

b) the parent company only financial statements of Cablevisión Holding S.A. arise from 
accounting records kept in all formal respects in conformity with legal regulations 
which maintain the security and integrity conditions on the basis of which they were 
authorized by the Argentine Securities Commission;  

  

c) we have read the additional information to the Notes to the parent company only 
financial statements required by Article 12°, Chapter III, Title IV of the regulations of 
the Argentine Securities Commission, on which, as regards those matters that are 
within our competence, we have no observations to make;  
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d) at December 31, 2017 there is no debt accrued by Cablevisión Holding S.A. in favor of 

the Argentine Integrated Social Security System, according to the Company’s 
accounting records; 

 

e) in accordance with the requirements of Article 21°, Subsection b), Chapter III, Section 
VI, Title II of the regulations of the Argentine Securities Commission, we report that 
the total fees for auditing and related services billed to the Company during the 
irregular eight-month fiscal year beginning May 1, 2017 and ended December 31, 2017 
represent:  
  

e.1) 100% on the total fees for services invoiced to the Company for all 
concepts in that irregular fiscal year;  

e.2) 16% on the total fees for audit and related services invoiced to the 
Company, its parent companies, subsidiaries and affiliates in that 
irregular fiscal year;  

e.3) 13% on the total fees for services invoiced to the Company, its parent 
companies, subsidiaries and affiliates for all concepts in that irregular 
fiscal year.  

  

f) we have applied the procedures on prevention of asset laundering and terrorism 
funding set forth in the relevant professional rules issued by the Professional Council 
for Economic Sciences of the Autonomous City of Buenos Aires.  

  

Autonomous City of Buenos Aires, March 8, 2018 
 
 
 
PRICE WATERHOUSE & CO. S.R.L. 

 

(Socio) 
C.P.C.E.C.A.B.A. Tº 1 Fº 17 

Dr. Carlos A. Pace 
Contador Público (UBA) 

C.P.C.E.C.A.B.A. T° 150  F° 106 
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SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE’S REPORT 
 
 

To the Shareholders of: 
Cablevisión Holding S.A. 
CUIT (Taxpayer Identification Number): 30-71559123-1 
Registered office: Tacuarí 1842, Piso 4°  
City of Buenos Aires 
 
 
I. REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
In our capacity as members of the Supervisory Committee of Cablevisión Holding S.A. (hereinafter, the 
Company) and pursuant to Subsection 5, Section 294, of the Argentine General Associations Law (Law 
No. 19,550, as amended), the regulations of the Argentine Securities Commission ("CNV", for its Spanish 
acronym) and of the Buenos Aires Stock Exchange ("BCBA", for its Spanish acronym), we have 
performed a review of the documents mentioned below: 
 
Documents subject to review: 
 
a) The attached Parent Company Only Financial Statements of Cablevisión Holding S.A. comprising the 
Parent Company Only Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2017, the Parent Company Only Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, the Parent Company Only Statement of Changes in Equity and the Parent 
Company Only Statement of Cash Flows for the irregular eight-month fiscal year beginning May 1, 2017 
and ended on that date, and a summary of the significant accounting policies and other supplementary 
information. 
 
b) The attached Consolidated Financial Statements of Cablevisión Holding S.A. and its subsidiaries 
comprising the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2017, the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and the Consolidated 
Statement of Cash Flows for the irregular eight-month fiscal year beginning May 1, 2017 and ended on 
that date, and a summary of the significant accounting policies and other supplementary information. 
 
c) Annual Report prepared by the Board of Directors for the irregular eight-month fiscal year as of 
December 31, 2017. 

 

d) Inventories as of December 31, 2017. 
 
 
II. RESPONSIBILITY OF THE COMPANY'S MANAGEMENT 
 
The Company's Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and reasonable presentation of the 
Parent Company Only and Consolidated Financial Statements indicated in Section I. in accordance with 
the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted as Argentine professional accounting 
standards by the Argentine Federation of Professional Councils of Economic Sciences, FACPCE, for its 
Spanish acronym) and incorporated by the CNV to its regulations, as approved by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The Board of Directors is also responsible for an adequate internal 
control as deemed necessary so that the consolidated and parent company only financial statements are 
free from material misstatements arising from errors or irregularities. 
 
III. RESPONSIBILITY OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE 
 
Our responsibility is to report on the documents indicated in Section I. based on our statutory audit and 
the audit work carried out by the Company's external auditors. We conducted our review in accordance 
with Technical Resolution No. 15 issued by the FACPCE. (amended by Technical Resolution No. 45 
issued by the FACPCE). Said standards require that the review of the financial statements be conducted 
in accordance with effective auditing standards for the review of financial statements; that the documents 
be checked for consistency with the information on corporate decisions stated in minutes and that such 
decisions conform to the law and the by-laws, in all formal and documentary aspects. 
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In order to conduct our professional work on the documents detailed in Section I. of this report, we have 
reviewed the work performed by the Company's external auditor Carlos A. Pace, a partner of Price 
Waterhouse & Co. S.R.L., who issued his audit reports on March 8, 2018. He conducted his audit in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing (IAS). Our work included the review of the work plan, 
the nature, scope and timeliness of the procedures applied, and the results of the audit carried out by the 
external auditor. 
 
IAS were adopted as auditing standards in Argentina through Technical Resolution No. 32 issued by the 
FACPCE and its respective adoption communications and require that the auditor comply with ethical 
requirements, plan and perform the audit in order to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatements. An audit involves performing procedures to 
obtain evidence supporting the amounts and other information disclosed in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatements in the financial statements due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor must consider the internal control related to the preparation and fair presentation by the Company 
of the financial statements, in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used, the reasonableness of 
significant estimates made by the Company's management, and the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 
 
We believe that our work and that of the Company's external auditors, detailed in their respective reports, 
provides a sufficient and appropriate basis to support our opinion. We have not performed any 
management control and, therefore, we have not assessed the business criteria and decisions on 
administrative, financing, commercialization and production matters, since these issues are the exclusive 
responsibility of the Company's Board of Directors. 
 
IV. OPINION 
 
Based on our review, within the scope described in Section III. of this report: (i) the parent company only 
financial statements mentioned in Section I. a), present fairly, in all material respects, the parent company 
only financial position of Cablevisión Holding S.A. as of December 31, 2017, the results disclosed in the 
parent company only statement of comprehensive income and in the parent company only statement of 
cash flows for the irregular eight-month fiscal year beginning May 1, 2017 and ended on that date, in 
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards; and (ii) the consolidated financial 
statements mentioned in Section I. b), present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of Cablevisión Holding S.A. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2017, and the results 
disclosed in the consolidated statement of comprehensive Income and in the consolidated statement of 
cash flows for the irregular eight-month fiscal year beginning May 1, 2017 and ended on that date in 
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
 
V. EMPHASIS OF MATTER 
 
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to the information disclosed under Note 8.1.h. to the 
Parent Company Only Financial Statements and under Note 10.1.h. to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements, which describe the situations related to the resolution issued by the regulatory agency for the 
calculation of the monthly fee payable by the users of cable television services, whose decision cannot be 
foreseen to date. 
 
 
VI. REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH EFFECTIVE REGULATIONS 
 
In accordance with effective regulations, we report with respect to Cablevisión Holding S.A. that: 
 
a) The attached financial statements detailed in Section I. a) and b) comply with the provisions of the 
General Associations Law No. 19,550, as amended, and the regulations concerning accounting 
documentation issued by the CNV, and have been transcribed to the Inventory and Balance Sheet Book. 
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b) The attached financial statements detailed under Section I. a) arise from accounting records kept, in 
all formal aspects, in accordance with effective legislation, which maintain the security and integrity 
conditions based on which they were authorized by the Argentine Securities Commission. 
 
c) We have reviewed the Inventory and the Board of Directors' Annual Report for the irregular eight-
month year ended December 31, 2017. In this regard, as regards those matters within our competence, 
we have no observations to make. The representations about future events included in the Annual Report 
are the Board of Directors’ exclusive responsibility. 
 
d) Furthermore, we report that in exercise of the legality control as regards those matters within our 
competence, during the irregular eight-month year ended December 31, 2017, we have applied the 
procedures set forth in Section 294 of Argentine General Associations Law (Law No. 19,550, as 
amended), as deemed necessary based on the circumstances and we have no observations to make in 
that regard. 
 
e) We have reviewed the information included in Exhibit I to the Annual Report about the degree of 
compliance with the Code of Corporate Governance required under CNV Regulations and we have no 
observations to make in that regard. 
 
f) As required by CNV regulations, regarding the independence of the external auditors and the quality 
of the audit policies applied by them and the accounting polices applied by the Company, the above-
mentioned external auditor's report includes the representation concerning the application of the 
International Auditing Standards as they were adopted in Argentina by the FACPCE through Technical 
Resolution No. 32 and the respective adoption communications, which provide for independence 
requirements, and was issued without qualifications as to the application of such regulations or 
discrepancies as to the professional accounting standards applied. 
 
g) We have applied the asset laundering and terrorist financing crimes prevention procedures provided 
under the professional standards issued by the Professional Council in Economic Sciences of the City of 
Buenos Aires, within the scope mentioned in Section III of this report. 
 

h) We have read the additional information to the notes to the financial statements detailed in Section I 
a) required under section 12, Chapter III, Title IV of CNV regulations, on which, as regards those matters 
within our competence, we have no observations to make. 
 
 
City of Buenos Aires, March 8, 2018 
 
 
 
 

Supervisory Committee 

 

 

Carlos Alberto Pedro Di Candia 

Chairman 
 

 


